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From the Forewords of the First Two Editions ...

Excerpt from the foreword to the second edition:

Members of audit committees will find this second edition an invaluable resource
in meeting their oversight responsibilities and give them an increasing awareness
of their current duties as well as an insight into future developments.

—Richard S. Hickok, CPA
Chairman, Hickok Associates, Inc.,
and Chairman Emeritus of KMG/Main Hurdman
(now KPMG Peat Marwick)

Excerpt from the foreword of the first edition:

Audit committee members will find this book a useful reference in performing
their oversight responsibilities. It should also help them develop a constructive re-
lationship between their function and the activities of the full corporate board,
management, and internal and external auditors.

—John C. Biegler, CPA
Chairman Emeritus, Price Waterhouse International
(now PricewaterhouseCoopers)
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Preface

Since the publication of the third edition of The Audit Committee Handbook in
1999, a number of major accounting scandals (e.g., Enron, WorldCom, and others)
as well as the demise of the international accounting firm of Anderson LLP have
shaken the global capital markets. As a result, the U.S. Congress enacted the Sar-
banes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Securities and Exchange Commission adopted
final rules amending the securities laws. Likewise, the Self-Regulatory Organiza-
tions set forth a number of amendments to their listing standards with respect to
corporate governance and accountability. The major thrust of these reforms is to
create a new regulatory and legal environment and corporate accountability frame-
work, which, in turn, provides an effective financial reporting system with relevant
and reliable financial information. The primary goal is to restore investor confi-
dence through an efficient securities market system.

Historically, the role and responsibilities of the audit committee as a key insti-
tution in corporate governance has been accepted as an important oversight mech-
anism to help the board of directors discharge its fiduciary financial responsibility
and stewardship accountability to the shareholders. However, the aforementioned
events have caused a reexamination of the audit committee’s role in the context of
corporate governance. In fact, these events have caused a number of best practices
for the audit committee to become federal statute. Given these mandates, members
of audit committees must adhere to higher standards in corporate accountability to
ensure the quality of financial information and investor protection against ac-
counting scandals. Audit committees in a global securities marketplace continue to
respond to the investing public’s demand for oversight protection. (See Appendix D
on this book’s website.) As noted, such committees not only help engender a high
degree of integrity in both the internal and external audit processes and financial
reporting process, but they also help provide for an efficient and transparent secu-
rities market. For example, many countries with developed equity markets or
emerging markets have adopted audit committees through public and/or private
sector initiatives to ensure price protection of their securities to investors. More-
over, the recent initiatives to develop and adopt harmonized international ac-
counting and auditing standards accentuate the need to achieve uniformity in
oversight protection to investors. It should be noted that companies will use the en-
dorsement of these standards by the International Organization of Securities Com-
missions in their stock offering documents to raise capital in a global securities
marketplace.

XV
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Although many countries have recognized that the establishment and benefits
of audit committees help to ensure integrity in the corporate accountability
process, it is imperative that such committees conduct their activities in an effi-
cient and effective manner to help their boards of directors discharge their finan-
cial and fiduciary responsibilities to stockholders. As noted in the text, the recent
enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 will influence significantly how
boards of directors through their audit committees can meet their oversight re-
sponsibilities in both the auditing and financial reporting areas. This fourth edition
provides comprehensive guidance to all functions, duties, and responsibilities of
audit committees as well as their direction in the corporate governance context. It
retains the thrust of the third edition, focusing on current trends and developments
that maximize the effectiveness of audit committees. Numerous references are
made to the pronouncements of leading organizations in both the public and pri-
vate sectors to bring an element of authority to the handbook.

Recognizing that audit committees interact with the internal auditor, indepen-
dent auditor, chief financial officer, internal legal counsel, and independent legal
counsel, the fourth edition continues to offer practical guidance in developing a
constructive relationship between the committees’ jurisdictional responsibilities
and the activities of these executives. This revised professional reference work en-
ables the aforementioned parties to help audit committees plan their agendas and
achieve their mission in corporate governance. It provides a perspective that will
help the members of the audit committee develop the appropriate requisite knowl-
edge with respect to such matters as:

e Understanding the role and responsibilities of the audit committee with a gen-
eral update and reality check on auditing cycle activities.

e Identifying the developments that impact audit committee practices and the lat-
est techniques and strategies for committee meetings.

e Understanding the latest authoritative sources that enable audit committee
members to develop a repertoire of effective strategies to help the board of di-
rectors discharge its fiduciary responsibility to the stockholders.

* Developing a comprehensive professional development program that enables
committee members to prepare a periodic assessment of their activities and an
informed review of both audit processes and financial reporting process.

e Understanding the legal aspects of the audit committee and role of legal coun-
sel as well as fraudulent financial reporting.

The book is divided into four parts. Part 1 includes a discussion on corporate
accountability, the audit committee’s basic roles and responsibilities, the external
users of accounting information, and the legal position of the audit committee. In
addition, the broad framework of generally accepted auditing standards and their
integration with generally accepted accounting principles are dealt with in one
chapter to show their interrelationship.

Part 2 covers the planning function of the audit committee. An initial overview
of the concept of audit planning is presented and followed with a discussion of the
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audit director’s role in planning the audit. This part includes a discussion of the se-
lection or reappointment of the public accounting firm.

Part 3 describes the monitoring and reviewing functions of the audit commit-
tee. Here the book focuses on the system of internal control, the internal audit
function, accounting policy disclosures, fraud and the auditor, and sensitive busi-
ness practices.

Part 4 covers the reporting function of the audit committee. Special attention
initially is given to an overview of the independent auditor’s opinions and reports.
The final chapter explains the purpose of the audit committee’s report and dis-
cusses the guidelines for preparing it.

This book seeks to provide useful information and guidance for the audit
committee and to point out opportunities for auditors and management to better
serve the audit committee.

Louis BRAIOTTA, Jr., C.P.A.
Binghamton, New York
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Chapter 1

Corporate Accountability:
The New Environment

To properly understand the importance of the corporate director’s position on the
audit committee, one must understand the nature and importance of the concept of
corporate accountability in the new legal and regulatory framework under statu-
tory law. Therefore, the major objectives of this chapter are: first, to revisit the
meaning and significance of corporate accountability; second, to explain the sig-
nificance of major audit committee developments in the context of corporate ac-
countability with special emphasis on those of the past five years; and third, to
show the impact of corporate accountability on the audit committee and its cor-
porate relationships.

Although the recent failures of major corporations, such as Enron, WorldCom,
and others, have accelerated the need for legal and regulatory reforms, the concept
and meaning of corporate accountability in relation to the institution of the audit
committee remains the same both before and after accounting scandals. However,
with the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the substantive meaning of
corporate accountability has caused many best practices for audit committees to
become statutory law. Moreover, the new legislation has caused an institutional re-
structuring of the accounting profession as well as additional resources for the Se-
curities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to curb abuses of fraudulent financial
reporting.

THE NATURE AND IMPORTANCE
OF CORPORATE ACCOUNTABILITY

The Meaning of Corporate Accountability

With the recent establishment of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB) with its oversight and enforcement authority over the independent audit
process and the concomitant effect on strengthening the institution of the audit
committee, it is reasonable to expect that shareholders and other constituencies of
corporations will receive relevant and reliable financial information. Thus, such
congressional legislative action will help to ensure an efficient capital market sys-
tem. As James S. Turley, chairman and chief executive officer of Ernst & Young
LLP, points out;

The biggest problem today is the loss of confidence, in not just our profession, but
in financial management, executive management. audit committees and boards.
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[While] I see no silver bullet to turn that around, I think it is going to be turned
around by sustained, outstanding performance, high quality [and] high integrity by
all parties—management, audit committees, audit firms.!

Strictly speaking, the concept of corporate accountability may be stated in
this way:

The board of directors is charged with safeguarding and advancing the interest of the
stockholders, acting as their representatives in establishing corporate policies, and
reviewing management’s execution of those policies. Accordingly, the directors have
a fiduciary responsibility to the stockholders. They have an obligation to inform
themselves about the company’s affairs and to act diligently and capably in fulfilling
their responsibilities.”

The board of directors is charged with protecting the interests of the stock-
holders because the position of the board is determined by state laws. The powers
and responsibilities of the board are defined in the corporate charter and the cor-
porate bylaws. Therefore, from a legal point of view, the basic purpose of corpo-
rate accountability is to provide a legal framework within which the directors must
discharge their stewardship accountability to the stockholders. Furthermore, the
board is directly answerable to the stockholders because the stockholders, as the
owners of the enterprise, have entrusted their capital resources to the management
of the corporation. (See Appendix H on this book’s website.)

The Business Roundtable described corporate accountability in this way:

The board of directors is ultimately accountable to the shareholders for the long-term
successful economic performance of the corporation consistent with its underlying
public purpose. Directors are held accountable for their performance in a variety of
ways.

First, there is the powerful accountability imposed by markets. The impact of con-
sumer dissatisfaction with products and services is quick and visible. Financial mar-
kets also quickly reflect their evaluation of the quality of accountability through the
price of equity and debt.

Accountability is also imposed through the numerous statutes and regulations en-
acted by governmental bodies to limit and control corporate action. Directors are
held accountable to regulatory mechanisms.

There is also a body of law—part statutory, part court-made—which defines the du-
ties of directors and the principles and boundaries within which they must keep their
decisions. If they overstep, their decisions are subject to reversal by the courts. Di-
rectors can also be held personally liable, without limitation, to the extent of their
personal assets if they violate their duty of loyalty to the corporation.

A final form of board accountability comes through the election of directors by the
shareholders at the corporation’s annual meeting. Annual meetings may also include
shareholder resolutions which are a form of governance by referendum.

James S. Turley, “The Future of Corporate Reporting: From the Top,” Financial Executive 70 (De-
cember 2002), p. 2.

2American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Audit Committees, Answers to Typical Questions
about Their Organization and Operations (New York: AICPA, 1978), p. 7.
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Each of these forms of accountability is dynamic, not static. The developing specifics
of each form of accountability must be judged as to its overall potential to contribute
to the successful long-term performance of the corporation. Each specific new item
of accountability carries with it the potential for harm as well as good.?

More recently, the Business Roundtable restated its guiding principles of cor-
porate governance:

First, the paramount duty of the board of directors of a public corporation is to select
a chief executive officer and to oversee the CEO and other senior management in the
competent and ethical operation of the corporation on a day-to-day basis.

Second, it is the responsibility of management to operate the corporation in an effec-
tive and ethical manner in order to produce value for stockholders. Senior management
is expected to know how the corporation earns its income and what risks the corpora-
tion is undertaking in the course of carrying out its business. Management should
never put personal interests ahead of or in conflict with the interests of the corporation.

Third, it is the responsiblity of management, under the oversight of the board and its
audit committee, to produce financial statements that fairly present the financial
condition and results of operations of the corporation, and to make the timely dis-
closures investors need to permit them to assess the financial and business soundness
and risks of the corporation.

Fourth, it is the responsibility of the board and its audit committee to engage an in-
dependent accounting firm to audit the financial statements prepared by management
and to issue an opinion on those statements based on Generally Accepted Account-
ing Principles. The board, its audit committee, and management must be vigilant to
ensure that no actions are taken by the corporation or its employees that compromise
the independence of the outside auditor.

Fifth, it is the responsibility of the independent accounting firm to ensure that it is in
fact independent, is without conflicts of interest, employs highly competent staff, and
carries out its work in accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards. It is
also the responsibility of the independent accounting firm to inform the board,
through the audit committee, of any concerns the auditor may have about the appro-
priateness or quality of significant accounting treatments, business transactions that
affect the fair presentation of the corporation’s financial condition and results of op-
erations, and weaknesses in internal control systems. The auditor should do so in a
forthright manner and on a timely basis, whether or not management has also com-
municated with the board or the audit committee on these matters.

Sixth, the corporation has a responsibility to deal with its employees in a fair and eq-
uitable manner.

These responsibilities, and others, are critical to the functioning of the modern public
corporation and the integrity of the public markets. No law or regulation alone can be
a substitute for the voluntary adherence to these principles by corporate directors and
management and by the accounting firms retained to serve American corporations.

The Business Roundtable continues to believe that the most effective way to enhance
corporate governance is through conscientious and forward-looking action by a

3The Business Roundtable, Corporate Governance and American Competitiveness (New York: The
Business Roundtable, 1990), pp. 15-16.
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business community that focuses on generating long-term stockholder value with the
highest degree of integrity.

The principles discussed here are intended to assist corporate management and
boards of directors in their individual efforts to implement best practices of corporate
governance, and also to serve as guideposts for the public dialogue on evolving gov-
ernance standards.*

With respect to establishing and maintaining corporate policies, the board of di-
rectors is responsible to the stockholders for ensuring that management fulfills its
responsibilities in the execution of the corporate policies. For example, the board
can authorize the establishment of an audit committee to assist the board with the
development of the financial accounting policies. In addition, the audit committee
can be authorized to review the preparation of the financial statements as well as to
select the independent auditors. Although the board has the power to delegate au-
thority to the various standing committees, such as the audit committee or the ex-
ecutive committee, the board must render an accountability to the stockholders. In
short, the board has a fiduciary relationship with the stockholders and, as a result,
must report periodically on the status of the corporation’s economic resources.

As John Shandor points out:

Audit committees have become crucial to the audit process. Also, the audit commit-
tee has been considered essential in an organizational approach to making boards of
directors more effective in their interaction with financial management and chief ex-
ecutive officers as well as with internal audit staff and independent auditors.’

In addition to the directors’ fiduciary responsibility, they are expected to attend
board meetings and their appropriate standing committee meetings. A director
must keep informed on the affairs of the corporation and use reasonable care and
diligence in the performance of his or her duties. It is imperative that the director
keep abreast of the corporate developments since he or she is directly responsible
for participating in the decisions that affect the management of the corporation.
Thus the director may be held liable for losses sustained by the corporation as a re-
sult of his or her neglect.

Practically speaking, the concept of corporate accountability extends not only
to the stockholders but also to the other constituencies of the board of directors,
such as credit grantors and governmental agencies. The extension of corporate ac-
countability to the other constituencies is evidenced by a meeting of the American
Assembly. The discussion leaders focused their attention on questions central to
running the corporation vis-a-vis its many constituencies. With respect to a frame-
work for corporate accountability, the participants generally agreed on this:

Boards of directors have a primary role in interpreting society’s expectations and
standards for management.

“The Business Roundtable, Principles of Corporate Governance (Washington, DC: The Business
Roundtable, May 2002), pp. iv—Vi.

3John Shandor, “Audit Committees Take a Broader Role in Corporate Policy,” Corporate Controller 2
(November/December 1989), pp. 46—48.
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The five key board functions are:

(a) Appraisal of management performance and provision for management and
board succession;

(b) Determination of significant policies and actions with respect to present and fu-
ture profitability and strategic direction of the enterprise;

(c) Determination of policies and actions with a potential for significant financial,
economic, and social impact;

(d) Establishment of policies and procedures designed to obtain compliance with the
law; and

(e) Responsibility for monitoring the totality of corporate performance.

Boards should continue to be the central focus in improving the way corporations are
governed.®

In addition to the American Assembly’s recommendations, to establish and
maintain a successful program of corporate accountability, the following three
prerequisites are necessary:

1. The board of directors and the officers must assume prime responsibility for
corporate accountability as well as define and clarify the objectives and re-
sponsibilities concerning the different levels of the organization. Therefore, the
individuals who are assigned responsibility at the middle and lower manage-
ment levels should be held accountable for their activities.

2. The organization chart of the corporation is central to establishing corporate
accountability since the jurisdiction for each area within the corporation must
be defined. Also, the extent of authority should not only be clearly outlined but
also commensurate with the individual’s responsibilities.

3. Executive management should create a management environment whereby the
middle and lower management levels understand the nature of corporate ac-
countability. Thus management should maintain an effective communications
network within the organizational structure.

As a case in point, Bruce W. McCuaig and Paul G. Makosz report that Gulf
Canada Resources, Ltd., has developed a new approach to corporate governance
through the use of an internal control assessment strategy. Such a strategy was de-
veloped based on a clear definition of internal control as a combination of (1) orga-
nization controls, (2) systems development and change controls, (3) authorization
and reporting controls, (4) accounting systems controls, (5) safeguarding controls,
(6) management supervisory controls, and (7) documentation controls. With the
implementation of a management-by-objectives framework and related control
mechanisms, the authors observed that the board of directors and senior manage-
ment are far better informed.”

®The American Assembly, Corporate Governance in America, Pamphlet 54 (New York: Columbia
University, April 1978), p. 6.

"Bruce W. McCuaig and Paul G. Makosz, “Is Everything Under Control? A New Approach to Corpo-
rate Governance,” Financial Executive 6, No. 1 (January/February 1990), p. 25.
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The subject of corporate accountability is a dynamic concept in the governance
of the corporation. It is dynamic because the directors not only must assess the
changing needs of their constituencies but also render a stewardship accountabil-
ity based on legal pressures from their constituencies.

The Need for Corporate Accountability

In view of the size and scope of modern corporations as well as the increasing de-
mands in the legal and regulatory environment, the need for corporate account-
ability has become very important in the evaluation of the performance of the
board of directors. For example, the sales figures of these corporations amount to
billions of dollars, which far exceed the gross national product of several coun-
tries. In addition, large corporations have control over the major economic re-
sources of society. Furthermore, the board of directors is subject to numerous
public laws, such as the Environmental Protection Act, the Occupational Safety
and Health Act, federal securities laws, and antitrust laws. Thus many of these cor-
porate enterprises play a significant role in the future of our society, since the de-
cisions of corporate management have a direct impact on the economy.

Unfortunately, corporations are confronted with the problem of a lack of cred-
ibility because they often have been subject to corporate self-interest as opposed
to the public interest. As one former executive partner of Price Waterhouse Inter-
national asserts:

We have all been stunned by the shocking disclosures of alleged improper payments
and similar activities, not by funny fly-by-night firms nobody ever heard of, but by
some of the finest names on the roster of American enterprise. . . . As one inevitable
result, reinforced by uneasy business conditions, public confidence in American
business has plunged to its lowest level since the great depression. It is as if these
events simply confirmed a gathering suspicion that such transgressions are not ex-
ceptional—a suspicion that American business is built on bribery and deceit.?

Samuel A. DiPiazza, Jr., CEO, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, and Robert G.
Eccles, president, Advisory Capital Partners, echo that observation:

Public trust has shaken in the institutions on which this value creation depends.
These institutions share a collective responsibility for producing the information on
which people of many levels—investors, lenders, trading partners, customers, em-
ployees—depend to make a wide range of economic decisions. The challenge now
is to institute the necessary reforms to ensure that public trust does not disappear, and
the foundation for those reforms lies in corporate reporting.’

In an effort to close the credibility gap or the expectation gap with respect cor-
porate accounting scandals, the U.S. Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act on

8John C. Biegler, “Rebuilding Public Trust in Business,” Financial Executive 45 (June 1977), p. 28.
9Samuel A. DiPiazza and Robert Eccles, Building Public Trust: The Future of Coporate Reporting
(New York: John Wiley & Sons, 2002), p. 2. See also John Morrissey, Securities and Exchange Com-
mission, “Corporate Responsibility and the Audit Committee,” March 21, 2000, www.sec.gov/news/
speech/spch357.htm.
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July 25, 2002, and President George W. Bush signed the bill into law on July 30,
2002.!° Now the standards of corporate accountability have been enacted into
statutory law, including securities laws and self-regulatory organizations’ listing
standards. Such legislation will provide a framework that can be used to measure
the performance of audit committee members, independent auditors, chief execu-
tive officers, and chief financial officers. Consequently, directors of publicly help
corporations may be more vulnerable to lawsuits as well as to the increased risk of
liability. As a result, many qualified persons may be reluctant to accept a position
on a board of directors.

Although the standards of corporate accountability have been addressed re-
cently in the U.S. Congress, the call for higher standards in corporate gover-
nance and financial reporting has remained a top priority, as evidenced by these
observations.

The need to resolve the credibility gap is evident. Corporate management must
adopt standards of corporate accountability. As one proponent points out:

Every corporation’s business is conducted by some standard. If it is not formulated
systematically at the top, it will be formulated haphazardly and impulsively in the
field. And top management will be called on to defend practices that were unneces-
sary and unintended."!

Consequently, the need for corporate accountability is not only apparent but es-
sential in shaping and projecting a corporate image to the public.

Shaun F. O’Malley, former co-chairman of Price Waterhouse World Firm (now
PricewaterhouseCoopers), points out that dramatic changes have occurred in the
roles of boards of directors, auditors, and management and in the relationships be-
tween these groups. Corporate accountability is a question of balance among the
three groups as well as between government and the private sector. Shareholders
and other constituencies of the company will continue their demands for protect-
ing the company from fraud along with communicating warning signals of possi-
ble business failures.!?

Daniel J. McCauley and John C. Burton comment on the changing expecta-
tions of director responsibility and audit committees:

The limited responsibility of the directors for financial matters, as it formerly ex-
isted, has been significantly changed in recent years. The public’s loss of confidence
in the business community has been accompanied by a correlative demand for
greater director vigilance over company financial integrity. This oversight function
of the board has been promoted as one of the means for restoring business’s
image."?

10Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, H.R. Rep. No. 107-610, July 25, 2002, and Title 1 of Public Law No.
107-204, July 30, 2002.

Biegler, “Rebuilding Public Trust in Business,” p. 29.

12Shaun F. O’Malley, “Auditing, Directors, and Management: Promoting Accountability,” Internal Au-
diting 5, No. 3 (Winter 1990), p. 3.

PDaniel J. McCauley and John C. Burton, Audit Committees, C.P.S. No. 49 (Washington, DC: The
Bureau of National Affairs, 1986), p. A-3.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN CORPORATE ACCOUNTABILITY

As previously discussed, during the late 1990s, unprecedented public attention
was focused on the role and responsibility of audit committees in promoting cor-
porate accountability and investor confidence in the integrity of the audit processes
and financial reporting process. Although the concept and practices of audit com-
mittees were recognized and accepted over the past 20 years, unexpected failures
of major corporations and disclosures of questionable financial reporting practices
diluted investors’ confidence in the capital marketplace. Notwithstanding, the
common question asked by investors was “Where were the auditors?”” Another
question was “Where was the audit committee?”” As a result, a number of public
and private sector initiatives were undertaken in the late 1990s and the post—Enron,
post—WorldCom period in response to high-profile accounting scandals and the
demise of a large accounting firm.

This time line provides a chronology of the important developments and/or stud-
ies related to audit committees. (The time line presents major developments; the
reader may wish to visit the websites noted parenthetically for further reading.)

1998 SEC chairman Arthur Levitt’s speech, “The Numbers Game” (Remarks
at New York University’s Center for Law and Business and the SEC’s
Nine-Point Action Plan)

1999  Blue Ribbon Committee on Improving the Effectiveness of Corporate
Audit Committees,
Report and Recommendations of the Blue Ribbon Committee on Improv-
ing the Effectiveness of Corporate Audit Committees
Securities and Exchange Commission,
Final Rules, Audit Committee Disclosure, and approval of the New York
Stock Exchange, Nasdaq, and American Stock Exchange
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Auditing Standards
Board
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 90, “Audit Committee Communi-
cation”
National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) Blue Ribbon Com-
mission on Audit Committees,
Report of the NACD Blue Ribbon Commission on Audit Committees (Visit
the NACD website, www.nacdonline.org.)
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission,
Fraudulent Financial Reporting: 1987—-1997 An Analysis of U.S. Public
Companies (visit the AICPA website, www.aicpa.org.)
Independence Standards Board
No. 1 “Independence Discussion with Audit Committees” (Visit the ISB
website, www.cpaindependence.org; see also Appendix D on this book’s
website.)

2000  Public Oversight Board
Panel on Audit Effectiveness (O’Malley Panel),
The Panel on Audit Effectiveness,
Report and Recommendations
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2001 Chairman Arthur Levitt’s Letter to Audit Committees
Public Oversight Board, Final Annual Report
(May 1, 2002 the POB terminated its existence; visit the POB website,
www.POB.org.)

2002  The Business Roundtable
Principles of Corporate Governance
NYSE Corporate Accountability and Listing Standards Committee,
Report on Proposed Changes to the Corporate Governance Listing
Standards
Nasdaq Listing and Hearing Review Council, Letter of recommendations
proposing corporate governance reforms (Visit the NASD website,
www.nasdagnewsroom.com.)
U.S. Congress, Corporate Responsibility Act and the Public Company
Accountability Public Oversight Board
(Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
CEO/CFO Certification Statement Day
(Visit the SEC website, www.sec.gov.)
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(Visit the SEC website, www.sec.gov.)

2003  Implementation of the sections of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
through amendments to Sec. 10A of the Securities Exchange of 1934

Public and Private Sector Initiatives

Securities and Exchange Commission In September 1998, Arthur Levitt,
chairman of the Securities and Exchange Commission and now chairman emeri-
tus, expressed his concerns about “hocus pocus accounting” in a keynote speech
entitled “The Numbers Game.” In addition to his remarks regarding the decline in
the quality of financial reporting (e.g., earnings management strategies to meet
analyst and market quarterly expectations via creative acquisition accounting, pre-
mature revenue recognition, restructuring charges, “cookie jar reserves,” and ma-
teriality judgments) as well as the related decline in market capitalization, Levitt
stated that with respect to audit committees:

qualified, committed, independent and toughminded audit committees represent the
most reliable guardians of the public interest. Sadly, stories abound of audit com-
mittees whose members lack expertise in the basic principles of financial reporting
as well as the mandate to ask probing questions.!*

Recognizing the problem with respect to the decline in the integrity and cred-
ibility of financial reporting, Levitt set forth the SEC’s nine-point action plan (see
Exhibit 1.1). Strengthening the audit committee process was number 8 of the ac-
tion items. As a result, the SEC, the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), and the

!4See remarks by Chairman Arthur Levitt, Securities and Exchange Commission, “The Numbers
Game,” NYU Center for Law and Business, New York, September 28, 1998, (www.sec.gov/news/
speeches/spch220.txt).
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Exhibit 1.1 Summary of the Securities and Exchange’s Nine-Point Action Plan

First, I have instructed the SEC staff to require well-detailed disclosures about the
impact of changes in accounting assumptions. This should include a supplement to the
financial statement showing beginning and ending balances as well as activity in
between, including any adjustments. This will, I believe, enable the market to better
understand the nature and effects of the restructuring liabilites and other loss accruals.

Second, we are challenging the profession, through the AICPA, to clarify the ground
rules for auditing of purchased R&D. We also are requesting that they augment existing
guidance on restructurings, large acquisition write-offs, and revenue recognition
practices. It’s time for the accounting profession to better qualify for auditors what’s
acceptable and what’s not.

Third, I reject the notion that the concept of materiality can be used to excuse deliberate
misstatements of performance. I know of one Fortune 500 company who had recorded a
significant accounting error, and whose auditors told them so. But they still used a
materiality ceiling of six percent earnings to justify the error. I have asked the SEC staff
to focus on this problem and publish guidance that emphasizes the need to consider
qualitative, not just quantitative factors of earnings. Materiality is not a bright line cutoff
of three or five percent. It requires consideration of all relevant factors that could impact
an investor’s decision.

Fourth, SEC staff will immediately consider interpretive accounting guidance on the do’s
and don’ts of revenue recognition. The staff will also determine whether recently
published standards for the software industry can be applied to other service companies.

Fifth, I am asking private sector standard setters to take action where current standards
and guidance are inadequate. I encourage a prompt resolution of the FASB’s projects,
currently underway, that should bring greater clarity to the definition of a liability.

Sixth, the SEC’s review and enforcement teams will reinforce these regulatory
initiatives. We will formally target reviews of public companies that announce
restructuring liability reserves, major write-offs or other practices that appear to manage
earnings. Likewise, our enforcement team will continue to root out and aggressively act
on abuses of the financial reporting process.

Improved Outside Auditing in the Financial Reporting Process

Seventh, I don’t think it should surprise anyone here that recent headlines of accounting
failures have led some people to question the thoroughness of audits. I need not remind
auditors they are the public’s watchdog in the financial reporting process. We rely on
auditors to put something like the good housekeeping seal of approval on the
information investors receive. The integrity of that information must take priority over a
desire for cost efficiencies or competitive advantage in the audit process. High quality
auditing requires well-trained, well-focused and well-supervised auditors.

As I'look at some of the failures today, I can’t help but wonder if the staff in the trenches
of the profession have the training and supervision they need to ensure that audits are
being done right. We cannot permit thorough audits to be sacrificed for re-engineered
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approaches that are efficient, but less effective. I have just proposed that the Public
Oversight Board form a group of all the major constituencies to review the way audits
are performed and assess the impact of recent trends on the public interest.

Strengthening the Audit Committee Process

And, finally, qualified, committed, independent and tough-minded audit committees
represent the most reliable guardians of the public interest. Sadly, stories abound of audit
committees whose members lack expertise in the basic principles of financial reporting
as well as the mandate to ask probing questions. In fact, I've heard of one audit
committee that convenes only twice a year before the regular board meeting for 15
minutes and whose duties are limited to a perfunctory presentation.

Compare that situation with the audit committee which meets twelve times a year before
each board meeting; where every member has a financial background; where there are
no personal ties to the chairman or the company; where they have their own advisers;
where they ask tough questions of management and outside auditors; and where,
ultimately, the investor interest is being served.

The SEC stands ready to take appropriate action if that interest is not protected. But, a
private sector response that empowers audit committtees and obviates the need for public
sector dictates seems the wisest choice. I am pleased to announce that the financial
community has agreed to accept this challenge.

As part eight of this comprehensive effort to address earnings management, the New
York Stock Exchange and the National Association of Securities Dealers have agreed to
sponsor a “blue-ribbon” panel to be headed by John Whitehead, former Deputy
Secretary of State and retired senior partner of Goldman, Sachs, and Ira Millstein, a
lawyer and noted corporate governance expert. Within the next 90 days, this
distinguished group will develop a series of far-ranging recommendations intended to
empower audit committees and function as the ultimate guardian of investor interests
and corporate accountability. They are going to examine how we can get the right people
to do the right things and ask the right questions.

Need for a Cultural Change

Finally, I’m challenging corporate management and Wall Street to re-examine our
current environment. I believe we need to embrace nothing less than a cultural change.
For corporate managers, remember, the integrity of the numbers in the financial
reporting system is directly related to the long-term interests of a corporation. While the
temptations are great, and the pressures strong, illusions in numbers are only that—
ephemeral, and ultimately self-destructive.

To Wall Street, I say, look beyond the latest quarter. Punish those who rely on deception,
rather than the practice of openness and transparency.

Source: See remarks by Chairman Arthur Levitt, Securites and Exchange Commission, “The
Numbers Game,” NYU Center for Law and Business, New York, September 28, 1998,
www.sec.gov/news/speeches/spch220.txt.
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National Association of Securities Dealers agreed that both self-regulatory organiza-
tions sponsor a Blue Ribbon Committee (BRC) called Improving the Effectiveness
of Corporate Audit Committees. In September 1998, the BRC was formed. It issued
its final report and recommendations in February 1999. The BRC’s primary goal was
to produce a report “geared toward effecting pragmatic, progressive changes in the
functions and expectations placed on corporate boards, audit committees, senior
and financial management, the internal audit, and the outside auditors regarding fi-
nancial reporting and the oversight process.”!> Furthermore, the BRC noted that its
final recommendations were based on two essentials: “First, an audit committee,
with actual practice and overall performance that reflects the professionalism
embodied by the full board of which it is a part, and second, a legal, regulatory, and
self-regulating framework that emphasizes disclosure and transparency and ac-
countability.”'® (See Exhibit 1.2 for a summary of the BRC’s recommendations. )
During the period between February and December 1999, boards of directors
and their audit committees studied the BRC’s recommendations and reevalu-
ated the responsibilities of their audit committees.!” Additionally, the SEC and

Exhibit 1.2 Summary of Recommendations of the Blue Ribbon Committee on
Improving the Effectiveness of Corporate Audit Committees

The first two recommendations are aimed at strengthing the independence of the audit
committee:

Recommendation 1
The Committee recommends that both the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and the Na-
tional Association of Securities Dealers (NASD) adopt the following definitions of inde-
pendence for purposes of service on the audit committee for listed companies with a
market capitalization above $200 million (or a more appropriate measure for identifying
smaller-sized companies as determined jointly by the NYSE and the NASD):

Members of the audit committee shall be considered independent if they have no rela-
tionship to the corporation that may interfere with the exercise of their independence from
management and the corporation. Examples of such relationships include:

» adirector being employed by the corporation or any of its affiliates for the current year
or any of the past five years;

¢ adirector accepting any compensation from the corporation or any of its affiliates other
than compensation for board service or benefits under a tax-qualified retirement plan;

 adirector being a member of the immediate family of an individual who is, or has been in
any of the past five years, employed by the corporation or any of its affiliates as an exec-
utive officer;

(continued)

SThe report is available on the Internet at www.nyse.com and www.nasd.com.

1Tbid., p. 8.

17See for example, Report of the NACD Blue Ribbon Commission on Audit Committees (Washington,
DC: NACD, 1999); see also Financial Executives Institute and Arthur Andersen, “The Audit Sympo-
sium: A Balanced Reponsibility” (Morristown, NJ: Financial Executives Institute); Fraudulent Finan-
cial Reporting: 1987—-1997, An Analysis of U.S. Public Companies (New York: COSO of the
Treadway Commission, 1999).
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» adirector being a partner in, or a controlling shareholder or an executive officer of, any
for-profit business organizations to which the corporation made, or from which the cor-
poration received, payments that are or have been significant™* to the corporation or busi-
ness organization in any of the past five years;

» adirector being employed as an executive of another company where any of the corpo-
ration’s executives serves on that company’s compensation committee.

A director who has one or more of these relationships may be appointed to the audit
committee, if the board, under exceptional and limited circumstances, determines that
membership on the committee by the individual is required by the best interests of the cor-
poration and its shareholders, and the board discloses, in the next annual proxy statement
subsequent to such determination, the nature of the relationship and the reasons for that de-
termination.

Recommendation 2

The Committee recommends that in addition to adopting and complying with the defini-
tion of independence set forth above for purposes of service on the audit committee, the
NYSE and the NASD require that listed companies with a market capitalization above
$200 million (or a more appropriate measure for identifying smaller-sized companies as
determined jointly by the NYSE and the NASD) have an audit committee comprised solely
of independent directors.

The Committee recommends that the NYSE and the NASD maintain their respective
current audit committee independence requirements as well as their respective definitions
of independence for listed companies with a market capitalization of $200 million or
below (or a more appropriate measure for identifying smaller-sized companies as deter-
mined jointly by the NYSE and the NASD).

Our second set of recommendations is aimed at making the audit committee more
effective:

Recommendation 3

The Committee recommends that the NYSE and the NASD require listed companies with
a market capitalization above $200 million (or a more appropriate measure for identifying
smaller-sized companies as determined jointly by the NYSE and the NASD) to have an
audit committee comprised of a minimum of three directors, each of whom is financially
literate (as described in the section of this report entitled “Financial Literacy”) or becomes
financially literate within a reasonable period of time after his or her appointment to the
audit committee, and further that at least one member of the audit committee have ac-
counting or related financial management expertise.

The Committee recommends that the NYSE and the NASD maintain their respective
current audit committee size and membership requirements for companies with a market
capitalization of $200 million or below (or a more appropriate measure for identifying
smaller-sized companies as determined jointly by the NYSE and the NASD).

Recommendation 4

The Committee recommends that the NYSE and the NASD require the audit committee of
each listed company to (i) adopt a formal written charter that is approved by the full board
of directors and that specifies the scope of the committee’s responsibilities, and how it

*The committee views the term “significant” in the spirit of Section 1.34(a)(4) of the American
Law Institute Principles of Corporate Governance and the accompanying commentary to that
section.

(continued)
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Exhibit 1.2 (Continued)

carries out those responsibilities, including structure, processes, and membership require-
ments, and (ii) review and reassess the adequacy of the audit committee charter on an an-
nual basis.

Recommendation 5
The Committee recommends that the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) pro-
mulgate rules that require the audit committee for each reporting company to disclose in
the company’s proxy statement for its annual meeting of shareholders whether the audit
committee has adopted a formal written charter, and, if so, whether the audit committee
satisfied its responsibilities during the prior year in compliance with its charter, which
charter shall be disclosed at least triennially in the annual report to shareholders or proxy
statement and in the next annual report to shareholders or proxy statement after any sig-
nificant amendment to that charter.

The Committee further recommends that the SEC adopt a “safe harbor” applicable to
all disclosure referenced in the Recommendation 5.

Our final group of recommendations addresses mechanisms for accountability
among the audit committee, the outside auditors, and management:

Recommendation 6

The Committee recommends that the listing rules for both the NYSE and the NASD re-
quire that the audit committee charter for every listed company specifiy that the oustide au-
ditor is ultimately accountable to the board of directors and the audit committee, as
representatives of shareholders, and that these shareholder representatives have the ulti-
mate authority and responsibility to select, evaluate, and, where appropriate, replace the
outside auditor (or to nominate the outside auditor to be proposed for shareholder approval
in any proxy statement).

Recommendation 7

The Committee recommends that the listing rules for both the NYSE and the NASD
require that the audit committee charter for every listed company specify that the audit
committee is responsible for ensuring its receipt from the outside auditors of a formal
written statement delineating all relationships between the auditor and the company,
consistent with Independence Standards Board Standard 1, and that the audit committee
is also responsible for actively engaging in a dialogue with the auditor with respect to
any disclosed relationships or services that may impact the objectivity and independence
of the auditor and for taking, or recommending that the full board take, appropriate
action to ensure the independence of the outside auditor.

Recommendation 8

The Committee recommends that Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS) re-
quire that a company’s outside auditor discuss with the audit committee the auditor’s
judgments about the quality, not just the acceptability, of the company’s accounting prin-
ciples as applied in its financial reporting; the discussion should include such issues as the
clarity of the company’s financial disclosures and degree of aggressiveness or conser-
vatism of the company’s accounting principles and underlying estimates and other signif-
icant decisions made by management in preparing the financial disclosure and reviewed by
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the outside auditors. This requirement should be written in a way to encourage open, frank
discussion and to avoid boilerplate.

Recommendation 9
The Committee recommends that the SEC require all reporting companies to include a let-
ter from the audit committee in the company’s annual report to shareholders and Form 10-
K Annual Report disclosing whether or not, with respect to the prior fiscal year: (i)
management has reviewed the audited financial statements with the audit committee, in-
cluding a discussion of the quality of the accounting principles as applied and significant
judgments affecting the company’s financial statements; (ii) the outside auditors have dis-
cussed with the audit committee the outside auditors’ judgments of the quality of those
principles as applied and judgments referenced in (i) above under the circumstances; (iii)
the members of the audit committee have discussed among themselves, without manage-
ment or the outside auditors present, the information disclosed to the audit committee de-
scribed in (i) and (ii) above; and (iv) the audit committee, in reliance on the review and
discussions conducted with management and the outside auditors pursuant to (i) and (ii)
above, believes that the company’s financial statements are fairly presented in conformity
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in all material aspects.

The Committee further recommends that the SEC adopt a “safe harbor” applicable to
any disclosure referenced in this Recommendation 9.

Recommendation 10

The Committee recommends that the SEC require that a reporting company’s outside
auditor conduct a SAS 71 Interim Financial Review prior to the company’s filing of its
Form 10-Q.

The Committee further recommends that SAS 71 be amended to require that a report-
ing company’s outside auditor discuss with the audit committee, or at least its chairman,
and a representative of financial management, in person, or by telephone conference call,
the matters described in AU Section 380, Communications With the Audit Committee,
prior to the filing of the Form 10-Q (and preferably prior to any public announcement of
financial results), including significant adjustments, management judgments and account-
ing estimates, significant new accounting policies, and disagreements with management.

Source: Blue Ribbon Committee on Improving the Effectiveness of Corporate Audit Committees,
Report and Recommendations of the Blue Ribbon Committee on Improving the Effectiveness of
Corporate Audit Committees (New York: The Blue Ribbon Committee on Improving the
Effectiveness of Corporate Audit Committees, 1999), pp. 10-16.

self-regulatory organizations (SROs) issued proposed rules and changes to the
SRO’s listing standards. Finally, in December 1999, the SEC, the SRO’s, and the
AICPA’s Auditing Standards Board adopted new rules, listing standards, and au-
diting standards for improving the effectiveness of audit committees. Exhibit 1.3
contains a flow chart that delineates the items to meet the new SEC disclosure
rules, the SRO’s listing standards, and professional auditing standards.



Exhibit 1.3 New Requirements and Disclosure Rules for Audit Committees:
A Flow Chart

Start

Noncompliance with the size
requirement (18-month transition
period from December 14, 1999):
Independence impaired (Effective

for year 2000 proxy statement

and meeting—NY SE only)

Is the
audit committee
composed of three
independent
directors?*
Note A

Noncompliance with the
financial knowledge requirement
(Effective for year 2000
proxy statement and
meeting—NYSE only

audit committee
‘composed of independent
directors who are finan-
cially literate?
Note B

Does the
audit committee
have a writen charter
issued by the board
of directors?
Note C

Noncompliance with the
written charter requirement
(6-month transition period from
December 14, 1999)

‘audit committee
addressed the required
disclosures to the
appropriate stock
exchange?
Note D

Noncompliance with the
annual certification requirement
(NYSE) and one-time certification
(Nasdag/AMEX)

Yes

(to opposite page)

Notes: A. If the board of directors determines in its business judgment that the relationship (e.g., certain
business relationships and/or one nonindependent member relationship) does not interfere with the direc-
tor’s exercise of independent judgment, then independence is not impaired.

B. The board of directors determines in its business judgment whether each member of the audit committee
is financially literate. Based on the board’s business judgment, at least one member must have accounting
or related financial management expertise.

C. Each listed company must have an audit committee charter that guides its activities.

D. Each listed company (NYSE) is required to furnish a written certification letter, submitted annually,
affirming the aforementioned points in A, B, and C. Nasdaq/AMEX listed companies require a one-time
certification with respect to A, B, and C above.

E. After December 15, 2000, the SEC requires proxy statement disclosure of a report from the audit com-
mittee indicating whether the committee: (1) reviewed and discussed financial statements with management
and the external auditors; (2) discussed with the external auditors matters required by SAS No. 61;

18



(from preceding page)

prepared a report to be
included in the annual
proxy statements?
Note E

Noncompliance with the SEC
proxy statement disclosure

audit committee
discussed the items
covered by SAS No. 61
with the external
auditors?
Note E

Noncompliance with the SEC
rule regarding SAS No. 61

‘audit committee
responded to the
external auditors’ required
review of quarterly
financial
statements?
Note F

No SEC rule, listing standard by
the stock exchange(s) or auditing
standard has been violated

Yes

Document the activities of
the audit committee. ™

(3) received a written letter from the external auditors required by ISBS No. 1 and discussed independence
issues; and (4) based on the aforementioned review and discussions, recommended to the board that the
audited financial statements be included in the company’s annual SEC 10-K report. Additionally, after
December 15, 2000, the SEC requires proxy statement disclosures of whether the audit committee is gov-
erned by a written charter, and if it is, each registrant must attach a copy to the proxy statement once every
three years. Finally, each SEC registrant is required to disclose in its proxy statements whether audit com-
mittee members are independent and provide information about members that are not. (See Note A above).
F. Starting with the fiscal quarter ending on or after March 15, 2000, SEC rules mandate that the external
auditors review the quarterly financial statements prior to the filing of Form 10-Q or 10-QSB. In its 1987
report, the National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting (NCFFR) recommended that “the audit
committee oversight responsibilites undertaken on behalf of the board of directors extend to the quarterly
reporting process. The audit committee should review the controls that management has established to pro-
tect the integrity of the quarterly reporting process. This review should be ongoing” (p. 48). In February
1999, the Blue Ribbon Committee reaffirmed the NCFFR’s position (p. 16).

“The SEC approved amendments to the NYSE, NASD, and AMEX listing standards that require all audit
committee members to be independent; however, one nonindependent member can serve on the committee.
See Order Approving Proposed Rule Change SEC Release No. NYSE 34-42233, SEC Release No. NASD
34-42231, and SEC Release No. AMEX 34-42232.

Source: This flow chart, prepared by Louis Braiotta, Jr., is included and adopted from an article by
Robert W. Rouse and Mark R. Borrelli, “Audit Committees in an Era of Increased Scrutiny.” CPA
Journal 70, No. 6 (June 2000), pp. 30-31. Copyright © 2000 by the New York State Society of
Certified Public Accountants, 530 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10036-5101. All rights reserved.

“It may be advisable to have in-house general counsel review the above documentation as well as a
review by outside legal counsel.

19
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In January 1999, the Public Oversight Board agreed to sponsor the Panel on
Audit Effectiveness. The major objective of the panel was to review and evaluate
ways to improve independent audits in the financial reporting process and to as-
sess the impact of recent trends on the public interest. In August 2000, the panel
issued its report and recommendations. With respect to audit committees, the
panel made these recommendations:

2.88 The Panel recommends that audit committees increase the time and attention
they devote to discussions of internal control with management and both the internal
and external auditors. Specifically, audit committees should:

e Obtain a written report from management on the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting (ordinarily using the criteria in the 1992 report of the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission [COSO]).
Annual reporting by management on internal control to the audit committee is
necessary for the effective discharge of the audit committee’s responsibilities and
will serve as a catalyst for its more substantive involvement in the area of inter-
nal control and a more meaningful dialogue with the internal and external audi-
tors about controls. It also should provide a basis for discussions about the degree
of the external auditor’s involvement with internal control during the financial
statement audit.

» Establish specific expectations with management and the internal and external
auditors about the qualitative information needs of the committee related to in-
ternal control. Particular emphasis should be given to understanding manage-
ment’s and the auditors’ views on (1) the control environment and (2) the controls
(or lack thereof) over financial reporting, with particular attention to controls in
higher-risk areas of the company’s information systems. In addition, these dis-
cussions should include the effects of technology on current and future informa-
tion systems. [pp. 32-33]

2.164 The Panel recommends that audit committees evaluate the nature of entities’
reserves and review activity in them with both management and the auditors. [p. 55]

2.219 The Panel recommends that audit committees:

* Specify in their charters and reflect in their actions, as recommended by the Blue
Ribbon Committee, “that the outside auditor is ultimately accountable to the
board of directors and the audit committee, as representatives of the shareholders,
and that these shareholder representatives have the ultimate authority and re-
sponsibility to select, evaluate, and where appropriate, replace the outside audi-
tors (or to nominate the outside auditors to be proposed for shareholder approval
in any proxy statement).”

e Develop a formal calendar of activities related to those areas of responsibility pre-
scribed in the committee charter, including a meeting plan that is reviewed and
agreed to by the entire board. The meeting plan should include communications
between the committee chair or full committee and the auditor before the release
of interim or year-end financial data. In addition, the Panel recommends a mini-
mum of two face-to-face meetings during the year with the external auditor and
at least one executive session with the internal and external auditors without man-
agement’s presence.

e Take charge of their agenda and ensure, in particular, that it focuses on, among
other matters, risks directly affecting the financial statements, key controls, in-
terim financial information, policies and practices for management’s communi-
cations with analysts, and the qualitative aspects of financial reporting.
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Inquire about time pressures on the auditor, including pressures on the timing of
audit procedures; the degree of management’s cooperation with the auditor; and
their potential effects on audit effectiveness.

Review the internal and external auditors’ performance on an annual basis; exercise
responsibility, as the external auditor’s primary client, to assess the auditor’s re-
sponsiveness to the committee’s and board of directors’ expections; and be satisfied
that the auditor is appropriately compensated for performing a thorough audit.

Require the auditor and management to advise the committee of the entity’s plans
to hire any of the audit firm’s personnel into high-level positions, and the actions,
if any, that the auditor and management intend to take to ensure that the auditor
maintains independence. [pp. 68—69]

3.54 The Panel recommends that audit committees:

.

Request management to report on the control environment within the entity and
how that environment and the entity’s policies and procedures (including man-
agement’s monitoring activities) serve to prevent and detect financial statement
fraud. Such reporting should acknowledge, in explicit terms, that fraud preven-
tion and detection are primarily the responsibility of management. It also should
help audit committees assess the strength of management’s commitment to a cul-
ture of intolerance for improper conduct. Furthermore, audit committees should
seek the views of auditors on their assessment of the risks of financial statement
fraud and their understanding of the controls designed to mitigate such risks.

Accept responsibility for ascertaining that the auditors receive the necessary co-
operation from management to carry out their duties in accordance with the
strengthened auditing standards to be developed by the ASB [Accouting Stan-
dards Board]. [p. 94]

5.30 The Panel recommends that audit committees pre-approve non-audit services
that exceed a threshold determined by the committee. This recommendation is con-
sistent with the recommendations of the Blue Ribbon Committee on Improving the
Effectiveness of Corporate Audit Committees regarding auditors’ services. The
threshold should be at a level that ensures that significant services are pre-approved,
but not so low that the committee assumes a management function.

When audit committees determine whether to approve specific non-audit services,
the Panel recommends that they consider the same guiding principle and the factors
suggested above for use by the ISB. [p. 117]'8
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In addition to the panel’s recommendations, Arthur Levitt issued a letter to the
chairmen of audit committees of the top 5,000 corporations. The letter is shown in
Exhibit 1.4.

In May 2002, the Business Roundtable issued a white paper, Principles of Cor-
porate Governance, with respect to how boards of directors perform their over-
sight function through the audit committee. The Business Roundtable provides
these guidelines:

Every publicly owned corporation should have an audit committee comprised
solely of independent directors.

8Panel on Audit Effectiveness, Panel on Audit Effectiveness Report and Recommendations (Stanford,
CT: POB, 2000).
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Exhibit 1.4 Chairman Arthur Levitt’s Letter to Audit Committees

Washington, DC, January 5, 2001—Securities and Exchange Commission Chairman
Arthur Levitt today sent the following letter to the audit committee chairmen of the top
5,000 public companies.

Dear Members of the Audit Committee:

Almost a year ago, the Commission, our major markets and standard setters—building
on the work of the Blue Ribbon Committee on Audit Committee Effectiveness—adopted
rules that strengthen the audit committee’s independence, and give its members the tools
and the wherewithal to fulfill their duty to the investing public. In addition, the rules im-
prove communications, through greater disclosure, among the board, outside auditors and
management.

When auditors and the board engage in frank and meaningful discussions about the sig-
nificant, but sometimes gray areas of accounting, both the company’s and its shareholders’
interests are served. In this way, the board, including the audit committee, manage-
ment, and outside auditors, form a “three-legged stool” of responsible disclosure and ac-
tive oversight.

In recent months, the Commission and the accounting profession have been engaged in
a discussion on the vital issue of auditor independence. Among other reasons, increased
economic pressures on the profession, coupled with greater competition and consolidation,
mandated that we modernize and further clarify independence requirements. This discus-
sion has led to a combination of rules and disclosures that establish clear guidelines on the
non-audit services an auditor may provide to an audit client, as well as the meaningful in-
volvement of the audit committee in consideration of consulting services that may impair
independence. More specifically, the Commission’s rules require companies to state in
their proxy statement whether the audit committee has considered whether the provision
of non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the auditor’s independence.

In August, the Panel on Audit Effectiveness issued its final report recommending that,
among other things, audit committees obtain annual reports from mangement assessing the
company’s internal controls, specify in their charters that the outside auditor is ultimately
accountable to the board of directors and audit committee, inquire about time pressures on
the auditor, and pre-approve non-audit services provided by the auditor.

The Panel, more specifically, provided guidance an audit committee can use to deter-
mine the appropriateness of a service. This guidance includes:

1. Whether the service is being performed principally for the audit committee.

The effects of the service, if any, on audit effectiveness or on the quality and timeli-
ness of the entity’s financial reporting process.

3. Whether the service would be performed by specialists (e.g., technology specialists)
who ordinarily also provide recurring audit support.

4. Whether the service would be performed by audit personnel, and if so, whether it will
enhance their knowledge of the entity’s business and operations.

5. Whether the role of those performing the service would be inconsistent with the au-
ditors’ role (e.g., a role where neutrality, impartiality, and auditor skepticism are
likely to be subverted).

6. Whether the audit firm personnel would be assuming a management role or creating

a mutual or conflicting interest with management.

Whether the auditors, in effect, would be “auditing their own numbers.”

Whether the project must be started and completed very quickly.

Whether the audit firm has unique expertise in the service.

10. The size of the fee(s) for the non-audit service(s).

O 0=
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I encourage your audit committee to discuss the Panel’s recommendations as well as
these ten factors and consider them in relevant discussions with your auditor. The Panel’s
report can be found at www.pobauditpanel.org/. 1 also encourage you to read the Com-
mission’s rule release at www.sec.gov.rules/final/33-7919.htm.

During my almost eight years at the Commission, I have come to believe that one of the
most reliable guardians of the public interest is a competent, committed, independent and
tough-minded audit committee. The audit committee stands to protect and preserve the in-
tegrity of America’s financial reporting process. I encourage your committee to take every
step possible to ensure that the integrity of the financial statements, and by extension, the
interest of shareholders, remains second to none.

Sincerely,

Arthur Levitt

Source: www.sec.gov/news.htm.

e Audit committees typically consist of three to five members. The listing standards
of the major securities markets require audit committees and require that an audit
committee have at least three members and that all members of the audit com-
mittee qualify as independent under the applicable listing standards, subject to
limited exceptions.

¢ Audit committee members should meet minimum financial literacy standards,
and at least one of the committee members should have accounting or financial
management expertise, as required by the listing standards of the major securities
markets. However, more important than financial expertise is the ability of audit
committee members, as with all directors, to understand the corporation’s busi-
ness and risk profile and to apply their business experience and judgment to the
issues for which the committee is responsible with an independent and critical
eye.

¢ The audit committee is responsible for oversight of the corporation’s financial re-
porting process. The primary functions of the audit committee are the following:

* Risk profile. The audit committee should understand the corporation’s risk
profile and oversee the corporation’s risk assessment and management
practices.

e Outside auditor. The audit committee is responsible for supervising the cor-
poration’s relationship with its outside auditor, including recommending to the
full board the firm to be engaged as the outside auditor, evaluating the auditor’s
performance, and considering whether it would be appropriate to rotate senior
audit personnel or for the corporation periodically to change its outside audi-
tor. The selection of an outside auditor should involve an annual due diligence
process in which the audit committee reviews the qualifications, work product,
independence, and reputation of the proposed outside auditor. The audit com-
mittee should base its decisions about selecting and possibly changing the out-
side auditor on its assessment of what is likely to lead to more effective audits.
Based on its due diligence, the audit committee should make an annual rec-
ommendation to the full board about the selection of the outside auditor.



24

Corporate Accountability: The New Environment

* Auditor independence. The audit committee should consider the indepen-
dence of the outside auditor and should develop policies concerning the pro-
vision of nonaudit services by the outside auditor. The provision of some
types of audit-related and consulting services by the outside auditor may not
be inconsistent with independence or the attestation function. In considering
whether the outside auditor should provide certain types of nonaudit services,
the audit committee should consider the degree of review and oversight that
may be appropriate for new and existing services. When making indepen-
dence judgments, the audit committee should consider the nature and dollar
amount of all services provided by the outside auditor.

e Critical accounting policies, judgments, and estimates. The audit committee
should review and discuss with management and the outside auditor the cor-
poration’s critical accounting policies and the quality of accounting judg-
ments and estimates made by management.

* Internal controls. The audit committee should understand and be familiar
with the corporation’s system of internal controls and on a periodic basis
should review with both internal and outside auditors the adequacy of this
system.

e Compliance. Unless the full board or another committee does so, the audit
committee should review the corporation’s procedures addressing compliance
with the law and important corporate policies, including the corporation’s
code of ethics or code of conduct.

e Financial statements. The audit committee should review and discuss the cor-
poration’s annual financial statements with management and the outside au-
ditor and, based on these discussions, recommend that the board approve the
financial statements for publication and filing. Most audit committees also
find it advisable to implement processes for the committee or its designee to
review the corporation’s quarterly financial statements prior to release.

» Internal audit function. The audit committee should oversee the corporation’s
internal audit function, including review of reports submitted by the internal
audit staff, and should review the appointment and replacement of the senior
internal auditing executive.

e Communication. The audit committee should provide a channel of communi-
cation to the board for the outside auditor and internal auditors and may also
meet with and receive reports from finance officers, compliance officers, and
the general counsel.

e Hiring auditor personnel. Under audit committee supervision, some corpora-
tions have implemented “revolving door” policies covering the hiring of au-
ditor personnel. For example, these policies may impose “cooling off”” periods
prohibiting the corporation from employing members of the audit engagement
team in senior financial management positions for some period of time after
their work as auditors for the corporation. The audit committee should con-
sider whether to adopt such a policy. Any policy on the hiring of auditor per-
sonnel should be flexible enough to allow exceptions, but only when
specifically approved by the audit committee.

Audit committee meetings should be held frequently enough to allow the com-
mittee to appropriately monitor the annual and quarterly financial reports. For
many corporations, this means four or more meetings a year. Meetings should be
scheduled with enough time to permit and encourage active discussions with
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management and the internal and outside auditors. The audit committee should
meet with the internal and outside auditors, without management present, at every
meeting and communicate with them between meetings as necessary. Some audit
committees may decide that specific functions, such as quarterly review meetings
with the outside auditor or management, can be delegated to the audit committee
chairman or other members of the audit committee."

In addition to the Business Roundtable’s Principles of Corporate Governance,
both the NYSE and Nasdaq proposed new changes to their corporate governance
listing standards. The NYSE’s proposed rule changes are:

6. Add to the “independence” requirement for audit committee membership the re-
quirements of Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act, subject to the exemptions
provided for in Rule 10A-3(c).

Commentary Applicable to All Companies: While it is not the audit committee’s
responsibility to certify the company’s financial statements or to guarantee the audi-
tor’s report, the committee stands at the crucial intersection of management, inde-
pendent auditors, internal auditors and the board of directors. The Exchange supports
additional directors’ fees to compensate audit committee members for the significant
time and effort they expend to fulfill their duties as audit committee members, but
does not believe that any member of the audit committee should receive any com-
pensation other than such director’s fees from the company. If a director satisfies the
definition of “independent director” set out in Section 303A(2), then his or her re-
ceipt of a pension or other form of deferred compensation from the company for
prior service (provided such compensation is not contingent in any way on contin-
ued service) will not preclude him or her from satisfying the requirement that direc-
tor’s fees are the only form of compensation he or she receives from the company.

An audit committee member may receive his or her fee in cash and/or company stock
or options or other in-kind consideration ordinarily available to directors, as well as
all of the regular benefits that other directors receive. Because of the significantly
greater commitment of audit committee members, they may receive reasonable com-
pensation greater than that paid to the other directors (as may other directors for
other committee work). Disallowed compensation for an audit committee member
includes fees paid directly or indirectly for services as a consultant or a legal or fi-
nancial advisor, regardless of the amount. Disallowed compensation also includes
compensation paid to such a director’s firm for such consulting or advisory services
even if the director is not the actual service provider. Disallowed compensation is not
intended to include ordinary compensation paid in another customer or supplier or
business relationship that the board has already determined to be immaterial for pur-
poses of its basic director independence analysis. To avoid any confusion, note that
this requirement pertains only to audit committee qualification and not to the inde-
pendence determinations that the board must make for other directors.

Commentary Applicable to All Companies Other than Foreign Private Issuers: Each
member of the committee must be financially literate, as such qualification is inter-
preted by the company’s board in its business judgment, or must become financially
literate within a reasonable period of time after his or her appointment to the audit

The Business Roundtable, Principles of Corporate Governance (Washington, DC: The Business
Roundtable, May 2002), pp. 12-16.
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committee. In addition, at least one member of the audit committee must have ac-
counting or related financial management expertise, as the company’s board inter-
prets such qualification in its business judgment. A board may presume that a person
who satisfies the definition of audit committee financial expert set out in Item 401(e)
of Regulation S-K has accounting or related financial management expertise.

Because of the audit committee’s demanding role and responsibilities, and the time
commitment attendant to committee membership, each prospective audit committee
member should evaluate carefully the existing demands on his or her time before ac-
cepting this important assignment. Additionally, if an audit committee member si-
multaneously serves on the audit committee of more than three public companies,
and the listed company does not limit the number of audit committees on which its
audit committee members serve, then in each case, the board must determine that
such simultaneous service would not impair the ability of such member to effectively
serve on the listed company’s audit committee and disclose such determination in the
annual proxy statement or, if the company does not file an annual proxy statement,
in the company’s annual report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC.

(a) Each company is required to have a minimum three person audit committee
composed entirely of independent directors that meet the requirements of Section
303A(6).

(b) The audit committee must have a written charter that addresses:
(i) the committee’s purpose—which, at minimum, must be to:

(A) assist board oversight of (1) the integrity of the company’s financial
statements, (2) the company’s compliance with legal and regulatory require-
ments, (3) the independent auditor’s qualifications and independence, and
(4) the performance of the company’s internal audit function and indepen-
dent auditors; and

(B) prepare the report required by the SEC’s proxy rules to be included in the
company’s annual proxy statement, or, if the company does not file a proxy
statement, in the company’s annual report filed on Form 10-K with the SEC;

(ii) the duties and responsibilities of the audit committee set out in Section 303A
(7)(c) and (d); and

(iii) an annual performance evaluation of the audit committee.

(c) As required by Rule 10A-3(b)(2), (3), (4) and (5) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, and subject to the exemptions provided for in Rule 10A-3(c), the audit com-
mittee must:

(i) directly appoint, retain, compensate, evaluate and terminate the company’s
independent auditors;

Commentary: In connection with this requirement, the audit committee must have
the sole authority to approve all audit engagement fees and terms, as well as all sig-
nificant non-audit engagements with the independent auditors. In addition, the inde-
pendent auditor must report directly to the audit committee. This requirement does
not preclude the committee from obtaining the input of management, but these re-
sponsibilities may not be delegated to management. The audit committee must be di-
rectly responsible for oversight of the independent auditors, including resolution of
disagreements between management and the independent auditor and pre-approval
of all non-audit services.



Recent Developments in Corporate Accountability

(ii) establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints
from listed company employees on accounting, internal accounting controls or
auditing matters, as well as for confidential, anonymous submissions by listed
company employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing
matters;

(iii) obtain advice and assistance from outside legal, accounting or other advi-
sors as the audit committee deems necessary to carry out its duties; and

Commentary: In the course of fulfilling its duties, the audit committee may wish to
consult with independent counsel and other advisors. The audit committee must be
empowered to retain and compensate these advisors without seeking board approval.

(iv) receive appropriate funding, as determined by the audit committee, from the
listed company for payment of compensation to the ouside legal, accounting or
other advisors employed by the audit committee.

(d) In addition to the duties set out in Section 303(A)(7)(c), the duties of the audit
committee must be, at a minimum, to:

(i) at least annually, obtain and review a report by the independent auditor de-
scribing: the firm’s internal quality-control procedures; any material issues
raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the
firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional au-
thorities, within the preceding five years, respecting one or more independent
audits carried out by the firm, and any steps taken to deal with any such issues;
and (to assess the auditor’s independence) all relationships between the inde-
pendent auditor and the company;

Commentary: After reviewing the foregoing report and the independent auditor’s
work throughout the year, the audit committee will be in a position to evaluate the
auditor’s qualifications, performance and independence. This evaluation should in-
clude the review and evaluation of the lead partner of the independent auditor. In
making its evaluation, the audit committee should take into account the opinions of
management and the company’s internal auditors (or other personnel responsible for
the internal audit function). In addition to assuring the regular rotation of the lead
audit partner as required by law, the audit committee should further consider
whether, in order to assure continuing auditor independence, there should be regular
rotation of the audit firm itself. The audit committee should present its conclusions
with respect to the independent auditor to the full board.

(ii) discuss the annual audited financial statements and quarterly financial
statements with management and the independent auditor, including the com-
pany’s disclosures under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”;

(iii) discuss earnings press releases, as well as financial information and earn-
ings guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies;

Commentary: The audit committee’s responsibility to discuss earnings releases as
well as financial information and earnings guidance may be done generally (i.e., dis-
cussion of the types of information to be disclosed and the type of presentation to be
made). The audit committee need not discuss in advance each earnings release or
each instance in which a company may provide earnings guidance.

(iv) discuss policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management;
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Commentary: While it is the job of the CEO and senior management to assess and
manage the company’s exposure to risk, the audit committee must discuss guidelines
and policies to govern the process by which this is handled. The audit committee
should discuss the company’s major financial risk exposures and the steps manage-
ment has taken to monitor and control such exposures. The audit committee is not re-
quired to be the sole body responsible for risk assessment and management, but, as
stated above, the committee must discuss guidelines and policies to govern the
process by which risk assessment and management is undertaken. Many companies,
particularly financial companies, manage and assess their risk through mechanisms
other than the audit committee. The processes these companies have in place should
be reviewed in a general manner by the audit committee, but they need not be re-
placed by the audit committee.

(v) meet separately, periodically, with management, with internal auditors (or
other personnel responsible for the internal audit function) and with indepen-
dent auditors

Commentary: To perform its oversight functions most effectively, the audit commit-
tee must have the benefit of separate sessions with management, the independent au-
ditors and those responsible for the internal audit function. As noted herein, all listed
companies must have an internal audit function. These separate sessions may be more
productive than joint sessions in surfacing issues warranting committee attention.

(vi) review with the independent auditor any audit problems or difficulties and
management’s response;

Commentary: The audit committee must regularly review with the independent au-
ditor any difficulties the auditor encountered in the course of the audit work, includ-
ing any restrictions on the scope of the independent auditor’s activities or on access
to requested information, and any significant disagreements with management.
Among the items the audit committee may want to review with the auditor are: any
accounting adjustments that were noted or proposed by the auditor but were
“passed” (as immaterial or otherwise); any communications between the audit team
and the audit firm’s national office respecting auditing or accounting issues pre-
sented by the engagement; and any “management” or “internal control” letter issued,
or proposed to be issued, by the audit firm to the company. The review should also
include discussion of the responsibilities, budget and staffing of the company’s in-
ternal audit function.

(vii) set clear hiring policies for employees or former employees of the inde-
pendent auditors; and

Commentary: Employees or former employees of the independent auditor are often
valuable additions to corporate management. Such individuals’ familiarity with the
business, and personal rapport with the employees, may be attractive qualities when
filling a key opening. However, the audit committee should set hiring policies taking
into account the pressures that may exist for auditors consciously or subconsciously
seeking a job with the company they audit.

(viii) report regularly to the board of directors.

Commentary: The audit committee should review with the full board any issues that
arise with respect to the quality or integrity of the company’s financial statements,
the company’s compliance with legal or regulatory requirements, the performance
and independence of the company’s independent auditors, or the performance of the
internal audit function.
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General Commentary to Section 303A(7)(d): While the fundamental responsibility
for the company’s financial statements and disclosures rests with management and
the independent auditor, the audit committee must review: (A) major issues regard-
ing accounting principles and financial statement presentations, including any sig-
nificant changes in the company’s selection or application of accounting principles,
and major issues as to the adequacy of the company’s internal controls and any spe-
cial audit steps adopted in light of material control deficiencies; (B) analyses pre-
pared by management and/or the independent auditor setting forth significant
financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the preparation of
the financial statements, including analyses of the effects of alternative GAAP meth-
ods on the financial statements; (C) the effect of regulatory and accounting initia-
tives, as well as off-balance sheet structures, on the financial statements of the
company; and (D) the type and presentation of information to be included in earnings
press releases (paying particular attention to any use of “pro forma,” or “adjusted”
non-GAAP, information), as well as review any financial information and earnings
guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies.

General Commentary to Section 303A(7): To avoid any confusion, note that the
audit committee functions specified in Section 303A(7) are the sole responsibility of
the audit committee and may not be allocated to a different committee.

(e) Each listed company must have an internal audit function.

Commentary: Listed companies must maintain an internal audit function to provide
management and the audit committee with ongoing assessments of the company’s
risk management processes and system of internal control. A company may choose
to outsource this function to a firm other than its independent auditor.?

CORPORATE ACCOUNTABILITY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Role of the Audit Committee

The audit committee has a critical role within the framework of corporate ac-
countability since the jurisdiction of the committee is to oversee and monitor the
activities of the corporation’s financial reporting system and the internal and ex-
ternal audit processes. The audit committee assists the board of directors with the
development and maintenance of the corporate accountability framework, because
the committee compels the board to be accountable for its stewardship account-
ability. Thus the audit committee helps create an environment in which the activ-
ities of corporate management are subject to scrutiny.
As Harold M. Williams, former chairman of the SEC, asserted:

It should be evident, but perhaps bears repeating, that integrity in reporting financial
data is vital both to an efficient and effective securities market and to capital forma-
tion. One key to increasing public confidence in that data long advocated by many
segments of the financial community, including public accounting firms, is more
direct involvement by boards of directors in the auditing process and the integrity
of reported financial information. The vehicle which the Securities and Exchange

2Securities and Exchange Commission Release No. 34-47672, File No. SR-NYSE-2002-33, Pro-
posed Rule Change Relating to Corporate Governance (Washington DC: April 11, 2003). See also
SEC Release No. 34-47672, File No. SR-NASD-2002-141, for the NASD, Proposed Rule Change Re-
lating to Corporate Governance.
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Commission, the New York Stock Exchange and an increasing number of public cor-
porations have turned to has been the independent audit committee.”!

As a standing committee appointed by the board of directors, the audit commit-
tee is directly accountable for its actions to the board. The audit committee operates
in an advisory capacity. Thus the audit committee has limited authority, because a
final decision concerning its recommendations is made by the board. The board
seeks guidance from the audit committee in formulating or amending the financial
accounting policies to service properly the needs of its various constituencies.

With respect to the expectations of the various constituencies, Russell E.
Palmer, former managing partner of Touche Ross and Co. (now Deloitte and
Touche), stated:

Every audit committee will be expected to weigh the appropriateness of the corpora-
tion’s accounting policies as they apply to the corporation and its industry. It seems rea-
sonable that committee members will be expected to assess and be satisfied with the
corporation’s entire disclosure system—the financial statements, the published stock-
holders’ reports, and even discussions between management and the financial media.?

To further illustrate the role of the audit committee, Exhibit 1.5 diagrams the
direct relationship between the committee and its constituencies in the internal
corporate environment.

Important Surveys

In their survey of audit committees, Joseph F. Castellano, Harper A. Roehm, and
Albert A. Vondra found that the corporate community is building a strong case for
self-regulation by complying with the recommendation of the Treadway Com-
mission. Such compliance has improved the quality of financial reporting.>* Their
survey results are further supported by Ivan Bull. He found that in a survey of 13
chairpersons of publicly held corporations in Illinois, “most boards were either al-
ready following or have since implemented the Treadway Commission recom-
mendations” to prevent fraudulent misstatements in their financial statements.
“Audit committee chairpeople generally believe their committees are ‘informed,
vigilant, and effective overseers’ described in the Treadway report.”>*

In another survey of audit partners, directors of internal auditing, and chief
financial officers associated with audit committees of 90 U.S. corporations,
Lawrence P. Kalbers and Timothy J. Fogarty investigated the relationship between
audit committee effectiveness and the types and extent of the committee’s power.
They concluded:

2Harold M. Williams, “Audit Committees—The Public Sector’s View,” Journal of Accountancy 144,
No. 3 (September 1977), p. 71.

22Russell E. Palmer, “Audit Committees—Are They Effective? An Auditor’s View,” Journal of Ac-
countancy 144, No. 3 (September 1977), p. 77.

2Joseph F. Castellano, Harper A. Roehm, and Albert A. Vondra, “Audit Committee Compliance with
the Treadway Commission Report: A Survey,” OHIO CPA Journal 48, No. 4 (Winter 1989), p. 42.
>Tvan Bull, “Board of Director Acceptance of Treadway Responsibilities,” Journal of Accountancy
171, No. 2 (February 1991), p. 67.
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Exhibit 1.5 The Audit Committee’s Accountability Relationship

External environment — external users of accounting information
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This study suggests that the fundamental types of power needed by audit committees
to perform effectively are (1) institutional support, (2) actual authority (written and
implied), and (3) diligence. With the possible exception of written mandates (such as
audit committee charters), these factors are especially difficult to evaluate with any
traditional means of regulation. Perhaps more effective regulation should aim for
more substantive reviews of power within the organization.?

ZLawrence P. Kalbers and Timothy J. Fogarty, “Audit Committee Effectiveness: An Empirical Inves-
tigation of the Contribution of Power,” Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory 12, No. 1 (Spring
1993), p. 45. For additional information, consult Dana Wechsler, “Giving the Watchdog Fangs,”
Forbes 144 (November 13, 1989), pp. 130, 132-133; Nelson Luscombe, “More Power to Audit Com-
mittees” CA Magazine 122, No. 5 (May 1989), pp. 26-37; Dorothy A. McMullen, “Audit Committee
Performance: An Investigation of the Consequences Associated with Audit Committees,” Auditing:
A Journal of Practice & Theory 15, No. 1 (Spring 1996), pp. 87-103; Donald J. Kirk and Arthur
Siegel, “How Directors and Auditors Can Improve Corporate Governance,” Journal of Accountancy
181, No. 1 (January 1996), pp. 53-57; Zabihollah Rezaee, “Corporate Governance and Accountabil-
ity: The Role of Audit Committees,” Internal Auditing 13, No. 1 (Summer 1997), pp. 27-41; and
Michael A. Mackenzie, “The Evolving Board: The Mechanism of Board Oversight,” Canadian Busi-
ness Law Journal 26 (1996), pp. 140-144. Also see additional suggested readings.
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The Audit Committee and the Chief Executive Officer The chief executive
officer has an obligation not only to the board but also to the standing committees
of the board. The chief CEO is responsible primarily for recommending major pol-
icy decisions to the board of directors. Since the CEO participates in the decisions
concerning the financial accounting policies, he or she should have direct com-
munication with the audit committee.

However, it is essential that the audit committee be totally independent from
the CEO because he or she is a “managing director.” As a managing director, the
CEO participates in the general administration of the corporation as well as as-
suming ultimate responsibility for the decisions.

Based on a close examination of the audit committees of 13 corporations listed
on the NYSE, Michael L. Lovdal found that:

Effective audit committees permit the chief executive to attend by invitation only. . . .
After all, he is the best source concerning questions related to the business and he can
ensure quick action on committee requests. In achieving the appropriate relationship
with the chief executive, a key ingredient is the quality of the audit committee chair-
man. He must have both the sensitivity to know when to bring the CEO into the
group’s deliberations and the strength to stand up to him when the committee wants
to pursue an inquiry or change policy.?

In short, the audit committee should determine its own agenda items, which should
not be based on the chief executive officer’s prerogatives. As Ivan Bull observed:

Concern about other environmental factors, such as legal liability, also may have in-
fluenced board agendas and operating practices. The board’s practice of allowing
and listening to dissent and advice from outside members is healthier than the pop-
ular belief that CEOs dominate passive boards.?’

The Audit Committee and the Chief Financial Officer?® In most corpora-
tions, the chief financial officer (CFO) is responsible for the functions of the con-
troller. In turn, the CFO is accountable to the president for the conduct of the
various administrative functions of the controller. Although the controller is re-
sponsible for the general administration and supervision of the accounting opera-
tions, the CFO has executive responsibility for the financial accounting policies.
Since the audit committee is responsible for assuring that management fulfills
its responsibilities in the preparation of the financial statements, the CFO should

2Michael L. Lovdal, “Making the Audit Committee Work,” Harvard Business Review 55
(March-April 1977), p. 110.

2"Bull, “Board of Director Acceptance,” p. 71. Also see J. Michael Cook, “The CEO and the Audit
Committee,” Chief Executive, No. 76 (April 1993), pp. 44-47.

2For further discussion, see Louis Braiotta, Jr., and Jay R. Olson, “Guiding the Audit Committee: A
CFO’s Concern,” Financial Executive 51, No. 9 (September 1983), pp. 52-54. See also Chapter 13 for
a discussion of the audit committee’s review of the quarterly reporting process.
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consult with the committee in order to coordinate the financial accounting activi-
ties. Thus the audit committee should have a dialogue with the CFO to consider
any questions concerning the financial reporting practices. For example, if the
CFO has certain reservations or exceptions to certain accounting policies and prac-
tices, the audit committee would recommend the necessary course of action sub-
sequent to its consultation with the independent auditors.

The Audit Committee and the Internal Audit Group The internal audit
executive is essentially responsible for the establishment and maintenance of an
effective and efficient system of internal auditing. With respect to the audit com-
mittee’s involvement with the internal audit group, Lovdal points out:

The internal audit group can be an avenue for the committee in reaching the source
of a variety of problems. One committee I examined uses internal auditors regularly
for investigations in such areas as computer security, transfer pricing, and capital
budgeting. For these activities, the committee should deal directly with the head of
internal audit, rather than solely through other finance or control executives, and
should make itself knowledgeable about the organization, staffing, and budgets of
the internal audit department.

The reporting responsibility of the internal audit group varies from one organi-
zation to the next. For example, the director of internal auditing may report to the
controller or CFO and meet with the audit committee on a separate or joint basis.
However, the director of internal auditing should have access to the audit commit-
tee to provide for a forum whereby the internal audit group can resolve question-
able matters between the audit staff and corporate management. (See Chapter 9.)

Exhibit 1.6 presents more recent academic research studies. To the extent that
the audit committee maintains an independent posture in the corporate environ-
ment, the committee will represent a check on the corporate management with re-
spect to its corporate power and stewardship accountability. The primary objective
is to foster the accountability relationship between the audit committee and the
representatives of management and thereby create an environment in which man-
agement will be responsive to its constituencies.

Subsequent to the aforementioned proxy statement seasons, a number of ac-
counting scandals and the demise of a large international accounting firm provided
the impetus for the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and proposed amendments to the
SRO’s listing standards. Exhibit 1.7 presents a summary of selected sections and
titles of the act. Each section is presented in Chapter 2. Also, Exhibit 1.8 summa-
rizes the SEC releases to implement the sections of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act avail-
able at the time of this writing. Exhibit 1.9 contains a corporate accountability
self-assessment checklist.

Lovdal, “Making the Audit Committee Work,” p. 111.
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Exhibit 1.6 Summaries of Recent Research Studies

DeZoort, F. Todd, Dana R. Hermanson, and Richard W. Houston, “Audit Committee Sup-
port for Auditors: The Effects of Materiality Justification and Accounting Precision.” Jour-
nal of Accounting and Public Policy 22, (2003), pp. 175-199.

Summary: The authors find that, in the context of auditor-management disagreements,
independent auditors and audit committees need to discuss the qualitative aspects of
materiality with respect to undrecorded adjustments. Additionally, the authors con-
clude that both accounting and auditing standard setters should consider approaches to
enhance accounting estimates in the financial reporting process, including communi-
cations with audit committees. Finally, they find that audit committees with CPAs pro-
vide greater support for independent auditors.

Klein, April, “Audit Committees, Board of Director Characteristics, and Earnings Man-
agement.” Journal of Accounting & Economics 33 (2002), pp. 375-400.

Summary: Klein concludes that reductions in the independence of boards of directors
or audit committees cause large increases in abnormal accruals. The results suggest that
boards of directors that are more independent of the CEO are more effective in moni-
toring earnings management in the financial reporting process.

Beasley, Mark S. and Steven E. Salterio, “The Relationship between Board Characteristics
and Voluntary Improvements in Audit Committee Composition and Experience.” Contem-
porary Accounting Research 18, No. 4 (Winter 2001), pp. 539-570.

Summary: Beasley and Salterio find that Canadian firms that voluntarily include more
outside directors on the audit committee than the minimum mandated by Canadian cor-
porate law have larger boards of directors with more outside directors and thus
are more likely to segregate the board chair and CEO/president positions. Like-
wise, audit committees with financial reporting knowledge and experience and
larger boards with outside members are less likely to be chaired by the CEO/president.
Thus the researchers conclude that one person serving as both chairman and CEO/pres-
ident increases the potential for less effective monitoring by the audit committee.

Klein, April, “Economic Determinants of Audit Committee Independence.” Accounting
Review 77, No. 2 (April 2002), pp. 435-452.

Summary: Klein reports that audit committee independence increases with board size
and the percentage of outsiders on the board of directors. However, audit committee in-
dependence decreases with an increase in a firm’s growth opportunities or when a firm
reports net losses. Klein confirms the findings of the Blue Ribbon Committee on Im-
proving the Effectiveness of Corporate Audit Committees that “one size doesn’t fill all”
when it comes to audit committees. The results suggest that the stock exchanges should
allow boards flexibility with respect to audit committee composition.

Carcello, Joseph V. and Terry L. Neal, “Audit Committee Composition and Auditor Re-
porting.” Accounting Review 75, No. 4 (October 2000), pp. 453—467.

Summary: Carcello and Neal find that the greater the percentage of affiliated directors
on the audit committee, the lower the probability the auditor will issue a going-concern
report. Thus their evidence supports the proposition that the audit committee should be
composed of independent, outside directors.

Beasley, Mark S., Joseph V. Carcello, Dana R. Hermanson, and Paul D. Lapides, “Fraud-
ulent Financial Reporting: Consideration of Industry Traits and Corporate Governance
Mechanisms.” Accounting Horizons 14, No. 4 (December 2000), pp. 441-454.
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Summary: The authors confirm earlier findings that fraudulent firms and no-fraud
firms differ to the extent that audit committees exist and such committees are indepen-
dent, including the board’s independence from management. With the identification of
no-fraud industry benchmarks (e.g., number of audit committee meetings and internal
audit experience), they find that the sample fraud firms have weak governance mecha-
nisms. Moreover, independent auditors should consider the industry context with re-
spect to their fraud risk assessment on client audit engagements.

Abbott, Lawrence J. and Susan Parker, “Auditor Selection and Audit Committee Charac-
teristics.” Auditing: A Journal of Practice and Theory 19, No. 2 (Fall 2000), pp. 47-66.

Summary: The authors conclude that the requirement for financial experts on audit
committees is more likely to change the structure and focus of audit committee dis-
cussions about the quality of the financial reporting process. Their results suggest that
audit committee members who are financially literate are more likely to focus on re-
porting treatments that are prominent in the press and nonrecurring, while financial ex-
perts are more likely to focus on the relevance of reporting treatments as well as
recurring activities.

Abbott, Lawrence J. and Susan Parker, “Auditor Selection and Audit Committee Charac-
teristics.” Auditing: A Journal of Practice and Theory 19, No. 2 (Fall 2000), pp. 47-66.

Summary: Abbott and Parker find that independent and active audit committee mem-
bers are more likely to select an industry-specialist auditor because they demand a high
level of audit quality. Their results suggest that an industry-specialist auditor helps min-
imize the client’s reputational or monetary losses.

McDaniel, Linda, Roger D. Martin, and Laureen A. Maines, “Evaluating Financial Re-
porting Quality: The Effects of Financial Expertise vs. Financial Literacy.” Accounting Re-
view 77 (Supplement 2002), pp. 139-167.

Summary: The authors conclude that the requirement for financial experts on audit
committees is more likely to change the structure and focus of audit committee dis-
cussions about the quality of the financial reporting process. Their results suggest that
audit committee members who are financially literate are more likely to focus on re-
porting treatments that are prominent in the press and nonrecurring, while financial ex-
perts are more likely to focus on the relevance of reporting treatments as well as
recurring activities.

Carcello, Joseph V., and Terry L. Neal, “Audit Committee Characteristics and Auditor
Dismissals Following ‘New’ Going-Concern Reports.” Accounting Review 78, No. 1 (Jan-
uary 2003), pp. 95-117.

Summary: Carcello and Neal find as a follow-on to their 2000 study that the higher the
percentage of affiliated directors on the audit committee, the more likely a client will
dismiss its independent auditors because of a going-concern audit report. Moreover,
they report that the probability of client dismissal of the independent auditors subse-
quent to the going-concern report increases as audit committee ownership of client
stock increases. In contrast, audit committee members with more governance expertise
are less likely to dismiss their independent auditors after receiving a going-concern re-
port. Likewise, the turnover rate of independent audit committee members who retain
their independent auditors is less significant compared to audit committee members
who dismiss their independent auditors.
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Exhibit 1.7 Summary of Sections of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Impacting

Audit Committees

Sections Title

2 Definitions

101 Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

201 Services Outside the Scope of Practice of Auditors

202 Preapproval Requirements (audit and nonaudit services)

203 Audit Partner Rotation (5-year rotation period)

204 Auditor Reports to Audit Committees

206 Contlicts of Interest (1-year cooling-off period)

207 Study of Mandatory Rotation of Registered Public Accounting Firms

301 Public Company Audit Committees

302 Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports

303 Improper Influence on Conduct of Audits

307 Rules of Professional Responsibility for Attorneys

401 Disclosure in Periodic Reports

402 Enhanced Conflict of Interest Provisions (Personal Loans to Executives)

403 Disclosures of Transactions Involving Management and Principlal
Stockholders

404 Management Assessment of Internal Controls

406 Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers

407 Disclosure of Audit Committee Financial Expert

409 Real Time Issues Disclosures

906 Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports (Failure of Corporate

Officers to Certify Financial Reports and Criminal Penalties)

Source: The act is contained in Public Law No. 107-204, July 30, 2002.
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Exhibit 1.8 Summary of SEC Releases Issued to Implement the Provisions of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Relating to Audit Committees (as of June 2003)

Release No.
34-46421

33-8124

33-46685

33-8138
33-8176

34-47225

33-8177

33-8180

33-8182

33-8183

33-8185

33-8212

33-8177a

33-8220

34-47672

2003-66

33-8238

Date
August 27, 2002

August 28, 2002
October 18, 2002

October 22, 2002
January 22, 2003

January 22, 2003
January 23, 2003
January 24, 2003
January 28, 2003
January 28, 2003
January 29, 2003
March 21, 2003
March 26, 2003
April 9, 2003

April 11, 2003

May 27, 2003

June 5, 2003

Title

Ownership Reports and Trading by Officers,
Directors and Principal Security Holders
Certification of Disclosures in Companies’
Quarterly and Annual Reports

Proposals Regarding Improper Influence on
Conduct of Audits

Proposals Regarding Internal Control Reports
Conditions for Use on Non-GAAP Financial
Information

Insider Traders During Pension Plan Blackout
Periods

Disclosure Regarding Audit Committee Finan-
cial Experts and Company Codes of Ethics
Retention of Records Relevant to Audits and
Reviews

Disclosure About Off-Balance Sheet
Arrangements

Strengthening the Commission’s Requirements
Regarding Auditor Independence
Implementation of Standards of Professional
Conduct for Attorneys

Certification of Disclosure in Certain Exchange
Act Reports

Disclosure Required by Sections 406 and 407 of
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Standards Relating to Listed Company Audit
Committees

Self-Regulating Organizations; Notice of Filing
of Proposed Rule Changes and Amendment No.
1 thereto by the NYSE Relating to Corporate
Governance

SEC Implements Internal Control Provisions of
Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Management’s Reports on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting and Certification of Disclo-
sure in Exchange Act Periodic Reports

Source: www.sec.gov/rules/final/htm; www.sec.gov/new/press/htm; and www.sec.gov/rules/
proposed/htm.




Exhibit 1.9 Corporate Accountability: Self-Assessment Checklist

Services available
Sarbanes-Oxley Act

from:
Board of Directors

Management
Internal Auditors
External Auditors
Legal counsel

SEC
SROs
ASB

Audit Committee Practice Area

Comments

Legal liabilities under,
State statutes

Fiduciary liability

Business judgment rule

ANANAY

Standards of conduct

Federal Statutes™

<
AN
<

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995

Securities Act of 1933

ASANAS

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

ANANASAS

Legal Cases

Corporate Governance Principles
and Rules v

ANAS

Formation®

Membership

Number of members (size)

Appointments

Term of Service

Qualifications

ANANANANAY

Composition

AYASAS

Meetings, frequency and type

Knowledge Areas

Type of business and industry (4

<

Internal audit process

External audit process

Internal control concepts*

Management’s risk assessment

Industry accounting practices

Complex business transactions

Financial reporting process

ANASANANAS
ANASAYASASAS
ANASASASASANAS

Internal communication process® ViV V|V|V

External communication process vV|iV|iV|V|V

“See Chapter 4 and Appendix D in this book’s website for other acts.

"Board resolution or corporate bylaws and a format written charter.

“Includes conflicts of interest (e.g., code of conduct, related party transactions).
$Related to the above areas.
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Chapter 2

Audit Committees:
Basic Roles and
Responsibilities

The major purpose of this chapter is not only to examine the organizational and
functional characteristics of the audit committee but also to introduce the nature
and importance of the external and internal auditing processes. Conceptually, one
should understand the following:

e The basic considerations in forming the audit committee
e The basic audit committee functions

e The role of the audit committee with respect to the external and internal audit-
ing processes

ORGANIZATION OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Nature of the Audit Committee

In view of the complexity of the modern corporation and the increased demands
for corporate accountability, the audit committee’s role has become an increas-
ingly important consideration in the conduct of corporate affairs.! As defined by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accounts (AICPA), “An audit commit-
tee should be organized as a standing committee of the board composed mainly

'With respect to critical issues, Korn/Ferry International found in its annual survey of 327 chief exec-
utive officers that:

According to our respondents, chief executive officers believe their attention should focus on
financial results, followed by maximizing shareholder value and executive leadership. Eighty-
five percent ranked financial results as most deserving of their time and 83 percent ranked
maximizing shareholder value as most important. Executive leadership was seen as the most
important issue by 81 percent of responding CEOs. (p. 12)

In another survey of 1,020 directors, Korn/Ferry International found that among the greatest chal-
lenges facing boards of directors are “board independence, shareholder value and effective strategic
planning” along with two dominant challenges, namely, “management succession and recruiting good
directors” (p. 5). As Richard M. Ferry, chairman of Korn/Ferry International, points out:

Two overwhelming trends are cited as the most important developments during the past 25
years in board policy and structure—the emerging independence of the audit, compensation
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of nonofficer directors.”? In Section 2 (a) (3) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
the U.S. Congress reaffirmed the AICPA’s definition of the audit committee,
stating:

(3) AUDIT COMMITTEE—The term “audit committee” means—

(A) a committee (or equivalent body) established by and amongst the board of
directors of an issuer for the purpose of overseeing the accounting and fi-
nancial reporting processes of the issuer and audits of the financial state-
ments of the issuer; and

(B) if no such committee exists with respect to an issuer, the entire board of di-
rectors of the issuer.’

In contrast to the other standing committees of the board, such as the executive or
finance committees, the audit committee is unique because it consists of outside or
independent directors. Independent directors are individuals who are not directly
involved in managing the corporation. For example, the chief executive officer and
chief financial officer are considered management directors because not only are
they immediately involved in managing corporate affairs, they are also employees
of the corporation. Thus the independent audit committee is composed of individ-
uals who are nonmanagement directors.

The Corporate Organization Policy Committee of The Business Roundtable
concluded that the board of directors should be served by an audit committee be-
cause it would allow committee members to focus their attention on corporate
matters in greater depth than would be practical for the full board. Moreover, a
Conference Board study on audit committees found that “93 percent of the sur-
veyed companies have such a committee. The recent action of the New York Stock
Exchange requiring the 1,200 or so listed companies to establish by mid-1978
such a committee made up solely of directors independent of management rein-
forces this development.”* (See also Appendix D on the book’s website.)

In a subsequent survey of 692 companies (628 companies compared with
1978), the Conference Board found a significant increase in the audit committee’s
involvement in such activities as reviewing the internal audit function and the
independent status of the outside auditors, approving both audit and nonaudit

and nominating committees and the presence of fewer inside directors. Other major changes
are the rise in formal evaluations of CEO [chief executive officer] performance, the increased
strictness regarding directors with conflicting interests, the increasing popularity of corporate
governance committees, the increasing diversity of board composition and, somewhat surpris-
ingly, the trend toward paying directors in stock. (p. 9)

See Korn/Ferry International, Twentieth Annual Board of Directors Study, and Twenty-fifth Annual
Board of Directors Study (New York: Korn/Ferry International, 1993 and 1998).

2American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Audit Committees, Answers to Typical Questions
About Their Organization and Operations (New York: AICPA, 1978), p. 11.

3The act is contained in Title 1 of Public Law No. 107-204, July 30, 2002.

“The Business Roundtable, The Role and Composition of the Board of Directors of the Large Publicly
Owned Corporation (New York: The Business Roundtable, 1978), pp. 21-22.



44 Audit Committees: Basic Roles and Responsibilities

services and related fees, and preparing a written agenda in advance of the meet-
ings. They concluded that:

Audit committees are larger: median sizes are now 4 members for manufacturing and
nonfinancial services companies—up from 3 in 1978—and 4.5 for financial firms,
up from 4.

Their members include fewer directors with relationships that might interfere with
the exercise of independent judgment, especially former executives of the company
and directors affiliated with banks serving the company. Ninety percent of the com-
mittees have no members with such a potential conflict of interest.’

Notwithstanding the Conference Board survey results, the National Commission
on Fraudulent Financial Reporting (NCFFR) endorsed the principle that “the
board of directors of all public companies should be required by SEC rule to es-
tablish audit committees composed solely of independent directors.”® The Com-
mission recommended that senior management set the tone for the corporation’s
control environment, which includes an effective audit committee of the board of
directors. The Commission asserted that “Audit Committees should be informed,
vigilant, and effective overseers of the financial reporting process and the com-
pany’s internal controls.””

Ray Bromark and Ralph Hoffman note that the role of the audit committee is ex-
panding because of its value to the board of directors and to management and be-
cause of the need to meet the challenges of constantly changing business conditions.
They point out that the audit committee has the following primary responsibilities:

Assisting the board to fulfill its oversight responsibilities as they relate to the finan-
cial reporting process and the internal structure

Maintaining, by way of regularly scheduled meetings, direct lines of communication be-
tween the board, financial management, the independent accountant, and internal audit

Additional responsibilities include:

Reviewing corporate policies relating to compliance with laws and regulations,
ethics, conflict of interests, and the investigation of misconduct and fraud

Conducting periodic reviews of current pending litigation of regulatory proceedings
bearing on corporate governance in which the corporation is a party

SJeremy Bacon, The Audit Committee: A Broader Mandate, Report No. 914 (New York: The Confer-
ence Board, 1988), p. vii.

%National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting, Report of the National Commission on
Fraudulent Financial Reporting (Washington, DC: NCFFR, 1987), p. 40. This principle has become
statutory law under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the federal securities laws.

Moreover, a recent American Society of Corporate Secretaries study on current board practices
found in a survey of 804 companies that most respondents (85.6 percent) have no management direc-
tor on the audit committee (p. 12). In a subsequent survey of 648 companies, they found that such a
board practice continued to rank high among the most commonly adopted practices (p. 14). See
ASCS, Current Board Practices (New York: ASCS, 1996), and Current Board Practices, Second
Study (New York: ASCS, 1998).

'NCFFR Report, p. 41.
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Coordinating annual reviews of compliance with corporate governance policies
through internal audit or the company’s independent accountants

Performing or supervising special investigations
Reviewing executive expenses
Reviewing policies on sensitive payments

Reviewing past or proposed transactions between the corporation and members of
management

Reviewing the corporation’s benefits programs

Assessing the performance of financial management®

Making the Audit Committee Effective

To organize an effective and efficient audit committee, consideration should be
given to the proper delegation of responsibility and authority as well as to its writ-
ten charter, membership, and size.

Delegation of Responsibility and Authority As a prerequisite to the effec-
tive performance of the committee, the board of directors should formulate a clear
definition of the committee’s responsibilities and authority. Moreover, the board
should either pass a formal resolution or amend the bylaws of the corporation in
order to document the establishment of the committee. Wayne Zetzman reports
that an audit committee can best serve a corporation when “it is a viable, inde-
pendent group with a definite mission and it has full access to the company’s fi-
nancial information.”® One study noted that 51 companies with financial reporting
problems, namely Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) enforcement ac-
tions and/or material misstatements of quarterly earnings, were much less likely to
have audit committees consisting solely of outside directors. Additionally, the re-
searchers found that accounting and finance knowledge as well as frequent meet-
ings are minimum steps needed to improve the quality in financial reporting.'® In
addition to both the internal and external auditors’ guidance and assistance, Zetz-
man notes that the chief financial officer must educate and guide the audit com-
mittee to enable it to serve the company effectively.'!

8Ray Bromark and Ralph Hoffman, “An Audit Committee for Dynamic Times,” Directors and Boards
16, No. 3 (Spring 1992), pp. 52, 53, 60.

"Wayne Zetzman, “How to Organize and Use the Audit Committee,” Financial Executive 5, No. 4
(July/August 1989), p. 54.

10See Dorothy A. McMullen and K. Raghunandan, “Enhancing Audit Committee Effectiveness,”
Journal of Accountancy 182, No. 2 (August 1996), pp. 79-81. Also see Eugene M. Katz, “Keys to an
Effective Audit Committee,” Credit World 86, No. 4 (March/April 1998), pp. 21-23; Krishnagopal
Menon and Joanne D. Williams, “The Use of Audit Committees for Monitoring,” Journal of Account-
ing & Public Policy 13, No. 2 (Summer 1994), pp. 121-139; E. Todd De Zoort, “An Investigation of
Audit Committees’ Oversight Responsibilities,” Abacus 33, No. 2 (September 1997), pp. 208-227;
Robert Lear, “The Decline of the Audit Committee,” Chief Executive, No. 111 (March 1996), p. 10;
William W. Warrick and Duncan J. Galloway, “The Governance Audit: How Can We Make Sure We
Don’t Get Surprised?” Directorship 22, No. 5 (May 1996), pp. 1-4.

1Zetzman, “How to Organize and Use the Audit Committee,” p. 57.
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An example of the board’s delegation of responsibility and authority to the
audit committee is that of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.:

BOARD COMMITTEES

Committee Members Functions and Additional Information
Audit Stanley C. Gault » Reviews financial reporting, policies, procedures,
Roland A. and internal controls of Wal-Mart
Hernandez * Recommends appointment of outside auditors
J. Paul Reason » Reviews related party transactions

* The Board has determined that the members
are “independent” as defined by the current
listing standards of the New York Stock
Exchange
and

» The Board has adopted a written charter for the
Audit Committee'?

In addition, the activities of the audit committee are further disclosed in the annual
stockholders’ report, which states in part:

Wal-Mart’s Audit Committee consists of three directors, each of whom is “indepen-
dent” as defined by the current listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.
The members of the Committee are Stanley C. Gault, Roland A. Hernandez, who is
the Committee’s chairperson, and J. Paul Reason. The Audit Committee is governed
by a written charter adopted by the Board. Given the current trends in corporate gov-
ernance, recent legislation by Congress, and the proposed New York Stock Exchange
corporate governance listing standards, the Audit Committee and the Board recently
adopted a revised Audit Committee charter in March 2003. A copy of the revised
charter is available on our website at www.walmartstores.com.

Wal-Mart’s management is responsible for Wal-Mart’s internal controls and financial
reporting, including the preparation of Wal-Mart’s consolidated financial statements.
Wal-Mart’s independent auditors are responsible for auditing Wal-Mart’s annual
consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and ensuring that the financial statements fairly present Wal-Mart’s results
of operations and financial position. The independent auditors also are responsible
for issuing a report on those financial statements. The Audit Committee monitors and
oversees these processes. The Audit Committee annually recommends to the Board
for its approval an independent accounting firm to be Wal-Mart’s independent audi-
tors. Beginning with the June 6, 2003 shareholders’ meeting, ratification of the
Board’s approval of the independent auditors is being sought. Ernst & Young LLP is
Wal-Mart’s current independent auditor.

As part of the oversight process, the Audit Committee regularly meets with man-
agement, the outside auditors, and Wal-Mart’s internal auditors. The Audit Com-
mittee often meets with these groups in closed sessions. Throughout the year, the

12Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement, (June 6,
2003), pp. 4-6.
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Audit Committee had full access to management, and the outside and internal au-
ditors for the Company. To fulfill its responsibilities, the Audit Committee did the
following:

e reviewed and discussed with Wal-Mart’s management and the independent audi-
tors Wal-Mart’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended Janu-
ary 31, 2003;

* reviewed management’s representations that those consolidated financial state-
ments were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples and fairly present the results of operations and financial positions of the
Company;

¢ discussed with the independent auditors the matters required by Statement on Au-
diting Standards 61, including matters related to the conduct of the audit of Wal-
Mart’s consolidated financial statements;

¢ received written disclosures and the letter from the independent auditors required
by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 relating to their independence
from Wal-Mart, and discussed with Ernst & Young LLP their independence from
‘Wal-Mart;

¢ based on the discussions with management and the independent auditors, the in-
dependent auditors’ disclosures and letter to the Audit Committee, the represen-
tations of management to the Audit Committee and the report of the independent
auditors, the Audit Committee recommended to the board that Wal-Mart’s au-
dited annual consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2003 be included in
Wal-Mart’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31,
2003, for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission;

* reviewed all non-audit services performed for Wal-Mart by Ernst & Young LLP
and considered whether Ernst & Young LLP’s provision of non-audit services
was compatible with maintaining its independence from Wal-Mart;

e recommended that the Board select Ernst & Young LLP as Wal-Mart’s indepen-
dent auditors to audit and report on the annual consolidated financial statements
of Wal-Mart filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission prior to Wal-
Mart’s annual shareholders meeting to be held in calendar year 2004; and

¢ consulted with advisors regarding the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the New York
Stock Exchange’s proposed corporate governance listing standards and the cor-
porate governance environment in general and considered any additional re-
quirements placed on the Audit Committee as well as additional procedures or
matters that the Audit Committee should consider.

The Audit Committee submits this report:

Stanley C. Gault
Roland A. Hernandez, Chairperson
J. Paul Reason

The Board of Directors, through the activities of its Audit Committee consisting
solely of outside directors, provides oversight of the process of reporting financial in-
formation. The Committee stays informed of the financial condition of the Company
and regularly reviews its financial policies and procedures, the independence of the
Company’s independent auditors, its internal accounting controls and the objectivity
of its financial reporting. Both the Company’s independent auditors and the internal
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auditors have free access to the Audit Committee and meet with the Committee pe-
riodically, both with and without management present.

H. Lee Scott Thomas M. Schoewe
President and Chief Executive Vice President and Chief
Executive Officer Financial Officer!?

Audit Committee Charter

As noted in Chapter 1, both the SEC and SROs require that the audit committee
adopt and annually reassess its written charter, which describes the scope of the
committee’s responsibilities and how it fulfills these responsibilities. Moreover,
the rules require that the audit committee charter be included in the proxy state-
ment at least every three years.

Exhibit 2.1 presents the audit committee charter of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.

Membership and Size of the Audit Committee The effectiveness of the
audit committee depends on the backgrounds of the members and of the chairman.

Audit Committee Independence

Under Section 301 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Section 10A of the Secu-
rities Exchange Act of 1934 is amended by adding (m) Standards Relating to
Audit Committees, which states in part:

(2) RESPONSIBILITIES RELATING TO REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNT-
ING FIRMS—The audit committee of each issuer, in its capacity as a committee of
the board of directors, shall be directly responsible for the appointment, compensa-
tion, and oversight of the work of any registered public accounting firm employed by
that issuer (including resolution of disagreements between management and the au-
ditor regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit
report or related work, and each such registered public accounting firm shall report
directly to the audit committee.

(3) INDEPENDENCE—

(A) IN GENERAL—Each member of the audit committee of the issuer shall
be a member of the board of directors of the issuer, and shall otherwise be
independent.
(B) CRITERIA—In order to be considered to be independent for purposes of
this paragraph, a member of an audit committee of an issuer may not, other than
in his or her capacity as a member of the audit committee, the board of directors,
or any other board committee—
(i) accept any consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from the
issuer; or

(ii) be an affiliated person of the issuer or any subsidiary thereof.

13Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 2003 Annual Report, p. 52.
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Exhibit 2.1 Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Audit Committee Charter

WAL-MART STORES, INC.
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

Purpose

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board to: (1) assist the Board in monitoring (a)
the integrity of the financial reporting process, systems of internal controls and financial
statements and reports of the Company, (b) the performance of the Company’s internal
audit function, and (c) the compliance by the Company with legal and regulatory require-
ments; and (2) be directly responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of
the Company’s independent auditor employed by the Company for the purpose of prepar-
ing or issuing an audit report or related work (the “Outside Auditor”).

Committee Membership

The Audit Committee shall consist of no fewer than three members, as determined annu-
ally by the Board on the recommendation of the Compensation, Nominating and Gover-
nance Committee. The members of the Audit Committee shall meet the independence and
expertise requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, any other exchange on which the
Company’s securities are traded, Section 10A(m)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Commission”). Audit Committee members shall not serve simultane-
ously on the audit committees of more than two other public companies without the ap-
proval of the full Board.

The members of the Audit Committee shall be appointed annually by the Board on the rec-
ommendation of the Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committee. Audit Com-
mittee members may be replaced by the Board at any time. The Board shall designate the
Chairman or Chairwoman (“Chairperson”) of the Audit Committee.

Committee Authority and Responsibilities

The basic responsibility of the members of the Audit Committee is to exercise their busi-
ness judgment to act in what they reasonably believe to be in the best interests of the Com-
pany and its shareholders. In discharging that obligation, members should be entitled to
rely on the honesty and integrity of the Company’s senior executives and its outside advi-
sors and auditors, to the fullest extent permitted by law.

The Audit Committee shall prepare the report required by the rules of the Commission to
be included in the Company’s annual proxy statement.

The Audit Committee shall be responsible directly for the appointment (subject, if applic-
able, to shareholder ratification), retention, termination, compensation and terms of en-
gagement, evaluation, and oversight of the work of the Outside Auditor (including
resolution of disagreements between management and the Outside Auditor regarding fi-
nancial reporting). The Outside Auditor shall report directly to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee shall oversee the integrity of the audit process, financial reporting and
internal accounting controls of the Company, oversee the work of the Company’s manage-
ment, internal auditors (the “Internal Auditors”) and the Outside Auditor in these areas,
oversee management’s development of, and adherence to, a sound system of internal ac-
counting and financial controls, review whether the Internal Auditors and the Outside Au-
ditor objectively assess the Company’s financial reporting, accounting practices and internal

(continued)
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controls, and provide an open avenue of communication among the Outside Auditor, the
Internal Auditors and the Board. It is the responsibility of: (i) management of the Company
and the Outside Auditor, under the oversight of the Audit Committee and the Board, to plan
and conduct financial audits and to determine that the Company’s financial statements and
disclosures are complete and accurate in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) and applicable rules and regulations and fairly present, in all material
respects, the financial condition of the Company; (ii) management of the Company, under
the oversight of the Audit Committee and the Board, to assure compliance by the Company
with applicable legal and regulatory requirements; and (iii) the Internal Auditors, under the
oversight of the Audit Committee and the Board, to review the Company’s internal trans-
actions and accounting which do not require involvement in the detailed presentation of the
Company’s financial statements.

The Audit Committee shall pre-approve all audit services and non-audit services (includ-
ing the fees and terms thereof) to be performed for the Company by the Outside Auditor
to the extent required by and in a manner consistent with the applicable law.

The Audit Committee shall meet as often as it determines necessary or appropriate, but not
less frequently than quarterly. The Chairperson shall preside at each meeting and, in the
absence of the Chairperson, one of the other members of the Audit Committee shall be des-
ignated as the acting chair of the meeting. The Chairperson (or acting chair) may direct ap-
propriate members of management and staff to prepare draft agendas and related
background information for each Audit Committee meeting. The draft agenda shall be re-
viewed and approved by the Audit Committee Chairperson (or acting chair) in advance of
distribution to the other Audit Committee members. Any background materials, together
with the agenda, should be distributed to the Audit Committee members in advance of the
meeting. All meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held pursuant to the by-laws of the
Company with regard to notice and waiver thereof, and written minutes of each meeting,
in the form approved by the Audit Committee, shall be duly filed in the Company records.
Reports of meetings of the Audit Committee shall be made to the Board at its next regu-
larly scheduled meeting following the Audit Committee meeting accompanied by any rec-
ommendations to the Board approved by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee may form and delegate authority to subcommittees consisting of one
or more members when appropriate.

The Audit Committee shall have the authority, to the extent it deems necessary or appro-
priate, to retain independent legal, accounting or other advisers. The Company shall pro-
vide for appropriate funding, as determined by the Audit Committee, for payment of
compensation to the Outside Auditor for the purpose of rendering or issuing an audit re-
port and to any advisers employed by the Audit Committee, subject only to any limitations
imposed by applicable rules and regulations. The Audit Committee may request any offi-
cer or associate of the Company or the Company’s outside counsel or Outside Auditor to
attend a meeting of the Audit Committee or to meet with any members of, or consultants
to, the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee shall meet with management, the Internal
Auditors and the Outside Auditor in separate executive sessions at least quarterly to discuss
matters for which the Audit Committee has responsibility.

The Audit Committee shall make regular reports to the Board. The Audit Committee shall
review and reassess the adequacy of this Charter annually and recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee shall annually review its own
performance.
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In performing its functions, the Audit Committee shall undertake those tasks and respon-
sibilities that, in its judgment, would contribute most effectively to and implement the pur-
poses of the Audit Committee. In addition to the general tasks and responsibilities noted
above, the following are the specific functions of the Audit Committee:

Financial Statement and Disclosure Matters

1. Review and discuss with management, and to the extent the Audit Committee
deems necessary or appropriate, the Internal Auditors and the Outside Auditor, the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that the
reports the Company files with the Commission comply with the Commission’s rules
and forms.

2. Review and discuss with management, the Internal Auditors and the Outside Auditor
the annual audited financial statements, including disclosures made in manage-
ment’s discussion and analysis, and recommend to the Board whether the audited
financial statements should be included in the Company’s Form 10-K.

3. Review and discuss with management, the Internal Auditors and the Outside Auditor
the Company’s quarterly financial statements, including disclosures made in man-
agement’s discussion and analysis, prior to the filing of its Form 10-K, including the
results of the Outside Auditor’s reviews of the quarterly financial statements.

4. Review and discuss quarterly reports from the Outside Auditor on:

(a) All critical accounting policies and practices to be used;

(b) All alternative treatments within GAAP for policies and practices related to
material items that have been discussed with management, including ramifica-
tions of the use of such alternative disclosures and treatments, and the treatment
preferred by the Outside Auditor;

(c) The internal controls adhered to by the Company, management, and the Com-
pany’s financial, accounting and internal auditing personnel, and the impact of
each on the quality and reliability of the Company’s financial reporting; and

(d) Other material written communications between the Outside Auditor and man-
agement, such as any management letter or schedule of unadjusted differences.

5. Discuss in advance with management the Company’s practice with respect to the
types of information to be disclosed and the types of presentations to be made in
earnings press releases, including the use, if any, of “pro forma” or “adjusted” non-
GAAP information, as well as financial information and earnings guidance provided
to analysts and rating agencies.

6. Review and discuss with management, the Internal Auditors and the Outside Auditor:
(a) Significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the

preparation of the Company’s financial statements;

(b) The clarity of the financial disclosures made by the Company;

(c) The development, selection and disclosure of critical accounting estimates and
the analyses of alternative assumptions or estimates, and the effect of such
estimates on the Company’s financial statements;

(d) Potential changes in GAAP and the effect such changes would have on the
Company’s financial statements;

(e) Significant changes in accounting principles, financial reporting policies and
internal controls implemented by the Company;

(f) Significant litigation, contingencies and claims against the Company and
material accounting issues that require disclosure in the Company’s financial
statements;

(g) Information regarding any “second” opinions sought by management from an
independent auditor with respect to the accounting treatment of a particular

(continued)
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event or transaction;

(h) Management’s compliance with the Company’s processes, procedures and
internal controls;

(1) The adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal accounting and

financial controls and the recommendations of management, the Internal Audi-

tors and the Outside Auditor for the improvement of accounting practices and
internal controls; and

Any difficulties encountered by the Outside Auditor or the Internal Auditors in

the course of their audit work, including any restrictions on the scope of activi-

ties or access to requested information, and any significant disagreements with
management.

7. Discuss with management and the Outside Auditor the effect of regulatory and
accounting initiatives as well as off-balance sheet structures and aggregate contrac-
tual obligations on the Company’s financial statements.

8. Discuss with management the Company’s major financial risk exposures and the
steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures, including the
Company’s risk assessment and risk management policies.

9. Discuss with the Outside Auditor the matters required to be discussed by Statement
on Auditing Standards (“SAS”) No. 61 relating to the conduct of the audit. In partic-
ular, discuss:

(a) The adoption of, or changes to, the Company’s significant internal auditing and
accounting principles and practices as suggested by the Outside Auditor, Internal
Auditors or management; and

(b) The management letter provided by the Outside Auditor and the Company’s
response to that letter.

10. Receive and review disclosures made to the Audit Committee by the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer during their certification process for the
Company’s Form 10-K and Form 10-Q about (a) any significant deficiencies in the
design or operation of internal controls or material weakness therein, (b) any fraud
involving management or other associates who have a significant role in the Company’s
internal controls and (c) any significant changes in internal controls or in other factors
that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation.

G

=

Oversight of the Company’s Relationship with the Outside Auditor

11. Review the experience and qualifications of the senior members of the Outside
Auditor team.

12. Obtain and review a report from the Outside Auditor at least annually regarding (a)
the Outside Auditor’s internal quality-control procedures, (b) any material issues
raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the firm,
or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities,
within the preceding five years respecting one or more independent audits carried
out by the firm, (c) any steps taken to deal with any such issues, and (d) all relation-
ships between the Outside Auditor and the Company, including the written disclo-
sures and the letter required by Independence Standards Board Standard 1, as that
standard may be modified or supplemented from time to time.

13. Evaluate the qualifications, performance and independence of the Outside Auditor,
including considering whether the Outside Auditor’s quality controls are adequate
and the provision of non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the Outside
Auditor’s independence, and taking into account the opinions of management and the




Organization of the Audit Committee

53

14.

15.

16.

17.

19.

20.

23.

24.

25.

26.

217.

28.

Internal Auditor. The Audit Committee shall present its conclusions to the Board.
Oversee the rotation of the lead (or coordinating) audit partner having primary
responsibility for the audit and the audit partner responsible for reviewing the audit
at least once every five years, and oversee the rotation of other audit partners, in
accordance with the rules of the Commission.

Recommend to the Board policies for the Company’s hiring of present and former
associates of the Outside Auditor who have participated in any capacity in the audit
of the Company, in accordance with the rules of the Commission.

To the extent the Audit Committee deems necessary or appropriate, discuss with the
national office of the Outside Auditor issues on which they were consulted by the
Company’s audit team and matters of audit quality and consistency.

Discuss with management, the Internal Auditors and the Outside Auditor any ac-
counting adjustments that were noted or proposed by the Outside Auditor, but were
not adopted or reflected.

. Meet with management, the Internal Auditors and the Outside Auditor prior to the

audit to discuss and review the scope, planning and staffing of the audit.

Obtain from the Outside Auditor the information required to be disclosed to the
Company by generally accepted auditing standards in connection with the conduct
of an audit, including topics covered by SAS 54, 60, 61 and 82.

Require the Outside Auditor to review the financial information included in the
Company’s Form 10-Q in accordance with Rule 10-01(d) of Regulation S-X of the
Commission prior to the Company filing such reports with the Commission and to
provide to the Company for inclusion in the Company’s Form 10-Q any reports of
the Outside Auditor required by Rule 10-01(d).

Oversight of the Company’s Internal Audit Function

21.
22.

Ensure that the Company has an internal audit function.

Review and concur in the appointment, replacement, reassignment or dismissal of
the senior auditing executive, and the compensation package for such person.
Review the significant reports to management prepared by the internal auditing
department and management’s responses.

Communicate with management and the Internal Auditors to obtain information
concerning internal audits, accounting principles adopted by the Company, internal
controls of the Company, management, and the Company’s financial and accounting
personnel, and review the impact of each on the quality and reliability of the Com-
pany’s financial statements.

Evaluate the internal auditing department and its impact on the accounting practices,
internal controls and financial reporting of the Company.

Discuss with the Outside Auditor the internal audit department’s responsibilities,
budget and staffing and any recommended changes in the planned scope of the
internal audit.

Compliance Oversight Responsibilities

Obtain from the Outside Auditor the reports required to be furnished to the Audit
Committee under Section 10A of the Exchange Act and obtain from the Outside
Auditor any information with respect to illegal acts in accordance with Section 10A.
Obtain reports from management, the Company’s senior internal auditing executive
and the Outside Auditor concerning whether the Company and its subsidiary/foreign
affiliated entities are in compliance with applicable legal requirements and the
Statement of Ethics. Obtain and review reports and disclosures of insider and

(continued)
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affiliated party transactions. Advise the Board with respect to the Company’s
policies and procedures regarding compliance with applicable laws and regulations
and the Statement of Ethics.

29. Establish procedures for (a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints re-
ceived by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or audit-
ing matters, and (b) the confidential, anonymous submission by associates of the
Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

30. Discuss with management and the Outside Auditor any correspondence between the
Company and regulators or governmental agencies and any associate complaints or
published reports that raise material issues regarding the Company’s financial state-
ments or accounting policies.

31. Discuss with the Company’s Chief Legal Officer legal matters that may have a
material impact on the financial statements or the Company’s compliance policies.

Additional Responsibilities

32. Prepare annually a report for inclusion in the Company’s proxy statement relating to
its annual shareholders meeting. In that report, the Audit Committee will state
whether it has: (a) reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with
management; (b) discussed with the Outside Auditor the matters required to be
discussed by SAS No. 61, as that statement may be modified or supplemented from
time to time; (c) received from the Outside Auditor the written disclosures and the
letter required by Independence Standards Board Standard 1, as that standard may
be modified or supplemented from time to time, and has discussed with the Outside
Auditor, the Outside Auditor’s independence; and (d) based on the review and
discussions referred to in clauses (a), (b) and (c) above, recommended to the Board
that the audited financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the last fiscal year for filing with the Commission.

33. Conduct or authorize investigations into any matters within the Audit Committee’s
scope of responsibilities.

34. Review the Company’s Related-Party Transaction Policy and recommend any
changes to the Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committee and then to
the Board for approval. Review and determine whether to approve or ratify transac-
tions covered by such policy, as appropriate.

Source: Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders, June 6, 2003
(Bentonville, Arkansas: Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., April 15, 2003); www.walmartstores.com.

(C) EXEMPTION AUTHORITY—The Commission may exempt from the re-
quirements of subparagraph (B) a particular relationship with respect to audit
committee members, as the Commission determines appropriate in light of the
circumstances.

(4) COMPLAINTS—Each audit committee shall establish procedures for—
(A) the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by the issuer re-
garding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters; and

(B) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the issuer of con-
cerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.
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(5) AUTHORITY TO ENGAGE ADVISERS—Each audit committee shall have the
authority to engage independent counsel and other advisers, as it determines neces-
sary to carry out its duties.

(6) FUNDING—Each issuer shall provide for appropriate funding, as determined
by the audit committee, in its capacity as a committee of the board of directors, for
payment of compensation—

(A) to the registered public accounting firm employed by the issuer for the pur-
pose of rendering or issuing an audit report; and

(B) to any advisers employed by the audit committee under paragraph (5).'*

The standard of independence is also disclosed in the Federal Deposit Insur-
ance Corporation Improvement Act (FDICIA) as noted in the historical perspec-
tive. See Appendixes D and F on this book’s website.

With respect to additional SEC and SRO audit committee independence re-
quirements, the next section of this chapter contains the Standards Relating to
Listing Company Audit Committees.

One academic study provides empirical evidence on the status of the standard
of independence and demonstrates the need for regulatory reforms. Recognizing
the importance of the standard of independence rules, David Vicknair, Kent Hick-
man, and Kay C. Carnes investigated proxy statement data from the period 1980
to 1987 of 100 New York Stock Exchange companies to determine “grey” area di-
rector representation on audit committees. Proxy statements report such grey areas
as interlocking directorships, related-party transactions, affiliations with the firm’s
bank, lawyers receiving fee income, service by retirees of corporation, consulting
fees, and kinship relationships. They found that “approximately one-third of the
418 audit committee members could be classified as ‘grey’ area directors. Inter-
locking directorships (12 percent) and other related-party transactions (11.5 per-
cent) individually account for more than ten percent of the directors.” The
remaining categories individually account for approximately 3 percent or less.
They concluded that such directors may be a potential source of violations of
audit committee independence.'’

In addition to those outlined in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, other basic qualifica-
tions of the audit committee are:

e A general understanding of the company’s industry and the social, political,
economic, and legal forces that affect the industry

* A knowledge of the company with respect to its history, organization, and op-
erational policies

* An understanding of the fundamental problems of planning and control, as
well as the fundamentals of the functional aspects of the company

!4Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, H.R. Rep. No. 107-610, July 25, 2002. See also remarks by Commis-
sioner Paul S. Atkins, Securities and Exchange Commission, “The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002:
Goals, Content, and Status of Implementation,” University of Cologne, Germany, February 5, 2003
(www.sec.gov/news/speech/spch020503psa.htm).

>David Vicknair, Kent Hickman, and Kay C. Carnes, “A Note on Audit Committee Independence: Evi-
dence from the NYSE on ‘Grey’ Area Directors,” Accounting Horizons 7, No. 1 (March 1993), pp. 55-56.
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In short, the membership of the committee should consist of both financial and
nonfinancial people so that the board can draw on members from various profes-
sions, such as accounting, economics, education, psychology, and sociology. As
Richard T. Baker, retired managing partner of E&W (now E&Y) and now a mem-
ber of several audit committees, points out:

Having one or two nonfinancial people can make a committee more effective. They
bring a different and useful perspective. Over the years I have come to greatly respect
these people. . . . They add balance to a committee.'®

Thus, a committee that has members with diverse backgrounds is advantageous
since it provides the audit committee with the kind of perspective and experience
desirable in assessing both the internal and external audit functions.

Equally important, the chairman has a critical role in coordinating the commit-
tee’s task. The success or failure of the operation could depend on the chairman,
and therefore such an individual should be chosen with great care. Specifically, the
chairman should possess the same basic qualifications listed earlier as well as:

e The ability to stimulate the audit directors’ thinking without dominating the
meeting

e The ability to retain not only each member’s personal interest in the work of
the committee but also the willingness to contribute to its objectives

e A general understanding of the objectives and jurisdictional aspects

e The ability to plan the agenda and to coordinate and disseminate information
to the committee and the board members

In a study of 42 publicly held companies dealing with leadership styles of
audit committee effectiveness, William D. Spangler and Louis Braiotta, Jr., report
that transformational leadership and active management by exception have a sub-
stantial impact on the performance of audit committees. They found that “correla-
tions of transformational leadership (charisma, intellectual stimulation, and
individualized considerations), contingent rewards, and active management by ex-
ception with effectiveness were significant in the predicted positive direction and
passive management by exception was nonstatistically related to audit committee
effectiveness as predicted.”!” Their findings and conclusions were based on
Bernard M. Bass’s theoretical leadership perspective, which states: “Transforma-
tional leadership is somewhat independent of organizational structure and relies on
the personality, beliefs, and behavior of leaders and subordinates. Indeed, trans-
formational leaders are likely to emerge in times of crises when traditional orga-
nizational and social structures and values are weak.”!8

1Ernst & Whinney, E&W People Booklet No. 46302, Cleveland, OH. (1980), p. 7.

7William D. Spangler and Louis Braiotta, Jr., “Leadership and Audit Committee Effectiveness,”
Group and Organization Studies 15, No. 2 (June 1990), p. 134. See also Lawrence Kalbers and Timo-
thy J. Fogarty, “Organizational and Economic Explanations of Audit Committee Oversight,” Journal
of Managerial Issues 10, No. 2 (Summer 1998), pp. 129-150.

18Bernard M. Bass, Leadership and Performance Beyond Expectations (New York: Free Press, 1985),
p. 37.
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With respect to the size of the audit committee, the American Institute of Cer-
tified Public Accountants indicates that:

A survey of corporations with audit committees revealed that nearly 90 percent had
audit committees of three to five members. In general, the audit committee should be
large enough to have members with a good mix of business judgment and experi-
ence, but not so large as to be unwieldy."”

This survey is further supported by the Conference Board survey, which reports
that the median sizes are now 4 members for manufacturing and nonfinancial ser-
vice companies and 4.5 for financial firms.?

Although there is general consensus regarding the size, obviously, the number
of members will vary from corporation to corporation. The number of members
depends not only on the committee’s responsibility and authority but also on the
size of both the board of directors and the corporation. For example, Wal-Mart
Stores, Inc., has 14 members on the board of directors. Ten are nonemployee di-
rectors, including three who are members of the audit committee. Furthermore,
Wal-Mart’s audit committee members are individuals from the fields of commu-
nications and industry.?!

Financial Expert

Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act provides that:

(a) RULES DEFINING “FINANCIAL EXPERT”—The Commission shall issue
rules, as necessary or appropriate in the public interest and consistent with the pro-
tection of investors, to require each issuer, together with periodic reports required
pursuant to sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, to dis-
close whether or not, and if not, the reasons therefor, the audit committee of that is-
suer is comprised of at least 1 member who is a financial expert, as such term is
defined by the Commission.

(b) CONSIDERATIONS—In defining the term “financial expert” for purposes of
subsection (a), the Commission shall consider whether a person has, through educa-
tion and experience as a public accountant or auditor or a principal financial officer,
comptroller, or principle accounting officer of an issuer, of from a position involving
the performance of similar functions—

(1) an understanding of generally accepted accounting principles and financial
statements;
(2) experience in—
(A) the preparation or auditing of financial statements of generally compa-
rable issuers; and
(B) the application of such principles in connection with the accounting for
estimates, accruals, and reserves;

19 American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Audit Committees, p. 12.
2Bacon, The Audit Committee: A Broader Mandate, p. 5.
2'Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders, June 6, 3003, pp. 2-3.
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(3) experience with internal accounting controls; and

(4) an understanding of audit committee functions.??

Audit Committee Meetings

Although the Sarbanes-Oxley Act does not address audit committee meetings, the
New York Stock Exchange issued a proposed rule change that states:

Meet separately, periodically, with management, with internal Auditors (or other per-
sonnel responsible for the internal audit Function) and with independent auditors.?®

Furthermore, the National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting rec-
ommended the “audit committee oversight responsibilities undertakes on behalf of
the board of directors extend to the quarterly reporting process. The audit com-
mittee should review the controls that management has established to protect the
integrity of the quarterly reporting process. This review should be ongoing.”’>*

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FUNCTIONS

Audit Committee Functions as Defined
by the American Bar Association

The Committee on Corporate Laws of the American Bar Association has defined
the functions of the audit committee in this way:

In its capacity as the communication link between the board of directors as repre-
sentative of stockholders, on the one hand, and the independent auditors, on the
other hand, the audit committee should have prime responsibility for the discharge
of at least the following four functions:

1. To recommend the particular persons or firm to be employed by the corporation
as its independent auditors;

2. To consult with the persons so chosen to be the independent auditors with regard
to the plan of audit;

3. To review, in consultation with the independent auditors, their report of audit, or
proposed report of audit, and the accompanying management letter, if any; and

4. To consult with the independent auditors (periodically, as appropriate, out of the
presence of management) with regard to the adequacy of internal controls, and if
need be, to consult also with the internal auditors (since their product has a strong
influence on the quality and integrity of the resulting independent audit).?

22Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, H.R. Rep. No. 107-610, July 25, 2002. See also SEC Release No. 33-
8177, January 23, 2003.

23Securities and Exchange Commission Release No. 34-47672, File No. SR-NYSE-2002-33 Proposed
Rule Change Relating to Corporate Governance (April 11, 2003), p. 13.

24 National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting, Report of the National Commission on
Fraudulent Reporting (Washington, DC: NCFFR, 1987), p. 48.

2 American Bar Association, Corporate Director’s Guidebook (Chicago: ABA, 1978), pp. 32-33.
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Subsequently, the Committee on Corporate Laws expanded its definitions to in-
clude in substantial part the American Law Institute’s Principles of Corporate
Governances:

1.

10

Recommend which firm to engage as the corporation’s external auditor and
whether to terminate that relationship.

Review the external auditor’s compensation, the proposed terms of its engage-
ment, and its independence.

Review the appointment and replacement of the senior internal auditing execu-
tive, if any.

Serve as a channel of communication between the external auditor and the board
and between the senior internal auditing executive, if any, and the board.

Review the results of each external audit, including any qualifications in the ex-
ternal auditor’s opinion, any related management letter, management’s re-
sponses to recommendations made by the external auditor in connection with
the audit, reports submitted to the Audit Committee by the internal auditing de-
partment that are material to the corporation as a whole, and management’s re-
sponses to those reports.

Review the corporation’s annual financial statements and any significant dis-
putes between management and the external auditor that arose in connection
with the preparation of those financial statements.

Consider, in consultation with the external auditor and the senior internal audit-
ing executive, if any, the adequacy of the corporation’s internal financial con-
trols. Among other things, these controls must be designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the corporation’s publicly reported financial statements are pre-
sented fairly in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
Consider major changes and other major questions of choice regarding the ap-
propriate auditing and accounting principles and practices to be followed when
preparing the corporation’s financial statements.

Review the procedures employed by the corporation in preparing published fi-
nancial statements and related management commentaries.

Meet periodically with management to review the corporation’s major financial
risk exposures.?®

In addition to the American Bar Association’s definition on the function of the
audit committee, the National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting
recommends these functions:

As part of its ongoing oversight of the effectiveness of internal controls, a company’s
audit committee should review annually the program management establishes to
monitor compliance with the code of conduct. (p. 35)

All public companies should develop a written charter setting forth the duties and re-
sponsibilities of the audit committee. The board of directors should approve the
charter, review it periodically, and modify it as necessary. (p. 42)

2 American Bar Association, Corporate Director’s Guidebook (Chicago: ABA, 1994), pp. 28-29.
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Audit committees should have adequate resources and authority to discharge their re-
sponsibilities. (p. 43)

Audit committees should oversee the quarterly reporting process. (p. 47)

Management and the audit committee should ensure that the internal auditors’ in-
volvement in the audit of the financial reporting process is appropriate and properly
coordinated with the independent public accountant. (p. 39)

The audit committee should review management’s evaluation of factors related to the
independence of the company’s public accountant. Both the audit committee and man-
agement should assist the public accountant in preserving his independence. (p. 43)

Before the beginning of each year, the audit committee should review management’s
plans for engaging the company’s independent public accountant to perform man-
agement advisory services during the coming year, considering both the types of ser-
vices that may be rendered and the projected fees. (p. 43)

All public companies should be required by SEC rule to include in their annual re-
port to stockholders a letter signed by the chairman of the audit committee describ-
ing the committee’s responsibilities and activities during the year. (p. 46)

Management should advise the audit committee when it seeks a second opinion on
a significant accounting issue. (p. 47)*’

Basic Audit Committee Functions

In addition to the preceding conclusions on the functions of the audit committee,
the basic functions should include:

e The planning function
e The monitoring function

e The reporting function

The Planning Function Since the primary objective of the committee is to
oversee and monitor the financial accounting and auditing processes, it should
adopt its own coordinated plan of administration that is consistent with this ob-
jective. Such a plan should be designed to provide assurance to the full board of
directors that both the internal and external resources allocated to the audit func-
tion are adequate and used effectively. The Committee on Corporate Organization
Policy of The Business Roundtable agreed on two core functions of the board that
are directly related to the committee’s planning function:

1. Although the board cannot effectively conduct day-to-day operations, the board
does have a major role in, and a major accountability for, the financial perfor-
mance of the enterprise. This clearly requires a continuing check on corporate fi-
nancial results and prospects.

2INCFFR, Report of the National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting, 1987. For further
discussion, see the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO),
International Control-Integrated Framework 4, COSO of the Treadway Commission (1992), pp.
8-10.
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2. Directors and top management cannot be the guarantors of the lawful conduct of
every employee or manager in a large organization. . . . Policies and procedures
should be designed to promote corporate law compliance.?®

Thus, in view of the committee’s oversight and advisory capacity, its plan
should include:

* A review and appraisal of the overall purpose, objectives, and resources avail-
able for the entity’s overall audit plan in accordance with the committee’s char-
ter as well as the committee’s recommendation of the audit goals and
objectives to the board for its approval

* A review and consolidation of the audit plans of the internal and external au-
diting groups

e An appraisal of the corporate audit plan annually®

Furthermore, the committee should consider an integrated approach whereby its
plan is oriented toward the segments of the auditing cycle, which are: (1) initial
planning segment, (2) preaudit segment, and (3) postaudit segment. For example,
during the initial planning segment, it should develop a basic understanding of the
entity’s business and its industry. Such an understanding of the qualitative charac-
teristics of the entity and its position in the industry will enhance the committee’s
ability to discharge its responsibilities more effectively. In addition, during the
preaudit and postaudit segments, it should develop an understanding of manage-
ment’s business risk assessment process and the audit risk assessment process re-
lated to financial reporting risk as well as the analytical review process with
respect to the financial statements.

New Responsibilities under Sarbanes-Oxley (S-Ox) Act of 2002
S-Ox Section 201—Services Outside the Scope of Practice of Auditors

(a) PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES—Section 10A of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (15 U.S.C. 78j-1) is amended by adding at the end the following:

(g) PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES—Except as provided in subsection (h), it shall be
unlawful for a registered public accounting firm (and any associated person of that
firm, to the extent determined appropriate by the Commission) that performs for any
issuer any audit required by this title or the rules of the Commission under this title
or, beginning 180 days after the date of commencement of the operations of the Pub-
lic Company Accounting Oversight Board established under section 101 of the

28The Business Roundtable, The Role and Composition of the Board of Directors of the Large Publicly
Owned Corporations, pp. 10-13.

2See Chapters 6 and 7 for more information on the committee’s role in the planning function. It
should be noted that the chairman of the audit committee usually will ask the audit engagement part-
ner, the director of internal audit, and the chief financial officer to suggest agenda items for the com-
mittee meetings. These individuals are a major source of guidance and information to the committee.
In addition, it is essential that agenda and supporting documents are prepared and distributed in ad-
vance for each meeting.
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Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (in this section referred to as the “Board”), the rules of
the Board, to provide to that issuer, contemporaneously with the audit, any non-audit
service, including—

(1) bookkeeping or other services related to the accounting records or financial
statements of the audit client;

(2) financial information systems design and implementation;

(3) appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinions, or contribution-in-kind
reports;

(4) actuarial services;

(5) internal audit outsourcing services;

(6) management functions or human resources;

(7) broker or dealer, investment adviser, or investment banking services;

(8) legal services and expert services unrelated to the audit; and

(9) any other service that the Board determines, by regulation, is impermissible.

(h) PREAPPROVAL REQUIRED FOR NON-AUDIT SERVICES—A registered
public accounting firm may engage in any non-audit service, including tax services,
that is not described in any of paragraphs (1) through (9) of subsection (g) for an
audit client, only if the activity is approved in advance by the audit committee of the
issuer, in accordance with subsection (i).

(b) EXEMPTION AUTHORITY—The Board may, on a case-by-case basis, exempt
any person, issuer, public accounting firm, or transaction from the prohibition on the
provision of services under section 10A(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(as added by this section), to the extent that such exemption is necessary or appro-
priate in the public interest and is consistent with the protection of investors, and sub-
ject to review by the Commission in the same manner as for rules of the Board under
section 107.%

S-Ox Section 202—Preapproval of Audit and Non-Audit Services

Section 10A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78j-1), as amended
by this Act, is amended by adding at the end the following:

(i) PREAPPROVAL REQUIREMENTS—
(1) IN GENERAL—

(A) AUDIT COMMITTEE ACTION—AII auditing services (which may
entail providing comfort letters in connection with securities underwritings
or statutory audits required for insurance companies for purposes of State
law) and non-audit services, other than as provided in subparagraph (B), pro-
vided to an issuer by the auditor of the issuer shall be preapproved by the
audit committee of the issuer.

(B) DE MINIMUS EXCEPTION—The preapproval requirement under sub-
paragraph (A) is waived with respect to the provision of non-audit services
for an issuer, if—
(i) the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to the
issuer constitutes not more than 5 percent of the total amount of rev-

30Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, H.R. Rep. No. 107-610, July 25, 2002.
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enues paid by the issuer to its auditor during the fiscal year in which the
nonaudit services are provided;

(ii) such services were not recognized by the issuer at the time of the en-
gagement to be non-audit services; and

(iii) such services are promptly brought to the attention of the audit
committee of the issuer and approved prior to the completion of the
audit by the audit committee or by 1 or more members of the audit com-
mittee who are members of the board of directors to whom authority to
grant such approvals has been delegated by the audit committee.

(2) DISCLOSURE TO INVESTORS—Approval by an audit committee of
an issuer under this subsection of a non-audit service to be performed by the
auditor of the issuer shall be disclosed to investors in periodic reports re-
quired by section 13(a).

(3) DELEGATION AUTHORITY—The audit committee of an issuer may
delegate to 1 or more designated members of the audit committee who are in-
dependent directors of the board of directors, the authority to grant preap-
provals required by this subsection. The decisions of any member to whom
authority is delegated under this paragraph to preapprove an activity under
this subsection shall be presented to the full audit committee at each of its
scheduled meetings.

(4) APPROVAL OF AUDIT SERVICES FOR OTHER PURPOSES—In
carrying out its duties under subsection (m)(2), if the audit committee of an
issuer approves an audit service within the scope of the engagement of the
auditor, such audit service shall be deemed to have been preapproved for pur-
poses of this subsection.’!

S-Ox Section 203—Audit Partner Rotation

Section 10A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78j-1), as amended
by this Act, is amended by adding at the end the following:

(j) AUDIT PARTNER ROTATION—It shall be unlawful for a registered public ac-
counting firm to provide audit services to an issuer if the lead (or coordinating) audit
partner (having primary responsibility for the audit), or the audit partner responsible
for reviewing the audit, has performed audit services for that issuer in each of the 5
previous fiscal years of that issuer.*?

S-Ox Section 204—Auditors’ Reports to Audit Committees

Section 10A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78j-1), as amended
by this Act, is amended by adding at the end the following:

(k) REPORTS TO AUDIT COMMITTEES—Each registered public accounting
firm that performs for any issuer any audit required by this title shall timely report to
the audit committee of the issuer—

(1) all critical accounting policies and practices to be used;

(2) all alternative treatments of financial information within generally accepted
accounting principles that have been discussed with management officials of the

31bid., Sec. 202.
Ibid., Sec. 203.
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issuer, ramifications of the use of such alternative disclosures and treatments, and
the treatment preferred by the registered public accounting firm; and

(3) other material written communications between the registered public ac-
counting firm and the management of the issuer, such as any management letter
or schedule of unadjusted differences.>

S-Ox Section 206—Confflicts of Interest

Section 10A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78j-1), as amended
by this Act, is amended by adding at the end the following:

(I) CONFLICTS OF INTEREST—It shall be unlawful for a registered public ac-
counting firm to perform for an issuer any audit service required by this title, if a chief
executive officer, controller, chief financial officer, chief accounting officer, or any per-
son serving in an equivalent position for the issuer, was employed by that registered in-
dependent public accounting firm and participated in any capacity in the audit of that
issuer during the 1-year period preceding the date of the initiation of the audit.**

S-Ox Section 403—Disclosure of Transactions Involving Management
and Principal Stockholders

(a) AMENDMENT—Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.
78p) is amended by striking the heading of such section and subsection (a) and in-
serting the following:

SEC. 16. DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, AND PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS.
(a) DISCLOSURES REQUIRED—

(1) DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, AND PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS RE-
QUIRED TO FILE—Every person who is directly or indirectly the beneficial
owner of more than 10 percent of any class of any equity security (other than an
exempted security) which is registered pursuant to section 12, or who is a direc-
tor or an officer of the issuer of such security, shall file the statements required by
this subsection with the Commission (and, if such security is registered on a na-
tional securities exchange, also with the exchange).

(2) TIME OF FILING—The statements required by this subsection shall be
filed—

(A) at the time of the registration of such security on a national securities ex-
change or by the effective date of a registration statement filed pursuant to
section 12(g);

(B) within 10 days after he or she becomes such beneficial owner, director,
or officer;

(C) if there has been a change in such ownership, or if such person shall have
purchased or sold a security-based swap agreement (as defined in section
206(b) of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (15 U.S.C. 78c note)) involving such
equity security, before the end of the second business day following the day
on which the subject transaction has been executed, or at such other time as

3bid., Sec. 204.
Hbid., Sec. 206.



The Audit Committee Functions

3

“

the Commission shall establish, by rule, in any case in which the Commis-
sion determines that such 2-day period is not feasible.

CONTENTS OF STATEMENTS—A statement filed—

(A) under subparagraph (A) or (B) of paragraph (2) shall contain a statement
of the amount of all equity securities of such issuer of which the filing per-
son is the beneficial owner; and

(B) under subparagraph (C) of such paragraph shall indicate ownership by
the filing person at the date of filing, any such changes in such ownership,
and such purchases and sales of the security-based swap agreements as have
occurred since the most recent filing under such subparagraph.

ELECTRONIC FILING AND AVAILABILITY—Beginning not later than 1

year after the date of enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002—

(A) a statement filed under subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) shall be filed
electronically;

(B) the Commission shall provide each such statement on a publicly acces-
sible Internet site not later than the end of the business day following that fil-
ing; and

(C) the issuer (if the issuer maintains a corporate website) shall provide that
statements on that corporate website, not later than the end of the business
day following that filing.

(b) EFFECTIVE DATE—The amendment made by this section shall be effective 30
days after the date of the enactment of this Act.*

S-Ox Section 404—Management Assessment of Internal Controls

(a) RULES REQUIRED—The Commission shall prescribe rules requiring each an-
nual report required by section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)) to contain an internal control report, which shall—

e))

state the responsibility of management for establishing and maintaining an

adequate internal control structure and procedures for financial reporting; and

@)

contain an assessment, as of the end of the most recent fiscal year of the is-

suer, of the effectiveness of the internal control structure and procedures of the is-
suer for financial reporting.

(b) INTERNAL CONTROL EVALUATION AND REPORTING—With respect to
the internal control assessment required by subsection (a), each registered public ac-
counting firm that prepares or issues the audit report for the issuer shall attest to, and
report on, the assessment made by the management of the issuer. An attestation
made under this subsection shall be made in accordance with standards for attesta-
tion engagements issued or adopted by the Board. Any such attestation shall not be
the subject of a separate engagement.>

S-Ox Section 406—Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers

(a) CODE OF ETHICS DISCLOSURE—The Commission shall issue rules to re-
quire each issuer, together with periodic reports required pursuant to section 13(a) or

bid., Sec. 403.
*Tbid., Sec. 404.
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15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, to disclose whether or not, and if not,
the reason therefor, such issuer has adopted a code of ethics for senior financial
officers, applicable to its principal financial officer and comptroller or principal ac-
counting officer, or persons performing similar functions.

(b) CHANGES IN CODES OF ETHICS—The Commission shall revise its regula-
tions concerning matters requiring prompt disclosure on Form 8-K (or any succes-
sor thereto) to require the immediate disclosure, by means of the filing of such form,
dissemination by the Internet or by other electronic means, by any issuer of any
change in or waiver of the code of ethics for senior financial officers.

(c) DEFINITION—In this section, the term “code of ethics” means such standards
as are reasonably necessary to promote—

(1) honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or ap-
parent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships;

(2) full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in the periodic re-
ports required to be filed by the issuer; and

(3) compliance with applicable governmental rules and regulations.
(d) DEADLINE FOR RULEMAKING—The Commission shall—

(1) propose rules to implement this section, not later than 90 days after the date
of enactment of this Act; and

(2) issue final rules to implement this section, not later than 180 days after that
date of enactment.*’

The Monitoring Function Obviously, the audit committee cannot participate
in the accounting and auditing functions on a day-to-day basis, because such a task
is contrary to its overall purpose. However, since the board of directors has the ul-
timate responsibility for these functions, the audit directors should monitor the
corporation’s activities based on their jurisdiction. The monitoring function should
be administered so that the planning function is accomplished. Consequently, the
committee can assist the board by obtaining information from the accounting and
auditing executives in order to discharge the board’s responsibility. The consensus
seems to be that the audit directors should monitor:

e The internal auditing function

e The internal control system and related business risks

e The financial reporting disclosures

¢ Conflicts of interest, ethics audit, and fraud audit activities
* Corporate perquisites

 Corporate contributions®®

e Information technology systems

e Other tasks as requested by the board

3bid., Sec. 406.
3The board of directors may request that the audit committee review corporate contributions to ensure
compliance with the corporate giving policy.
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In administering the monitoring function, it may be advisable for the committee to
retain the necessary professional expertise, such as the corporation’s outside legal
counsel or outside data processing experts.

S-Ox Section 806—Protection for Employees of Publicly Traded Compa-
nies Who Provide Evidence of Fraud

(a) IN GENERAL—Chapter 73 of title 18, United States Code, is amended by in-
serting after section 1514 the following:

Sec. 1514A. Civil action to protect against retaliation in fraud cases

(a) WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION FOR EMPLOYEES OF PUBLICLY
TRADED COMPANIES—No company with a class of securities registered under
section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C 78l), or that is required
to file reports under section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.
780(d))), or any officer, employee, contractor, subcontractor, or agent of such com-
pany, may discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or in any other manner dis-
criminate against an employee in the terms and conditions of employment because
of any lawful act done by the employee—

(1) to provide information, cause information to be provided, or otherwise assist
in an investigation regarding any conduct which the employee reasonably be-
lieves constitutes a violation of section 1341, 1343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or
regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of Fed-
eral law relating to fraud against shareholders, when the information or assistance
is provided to or the investigation conducted by—

(A) a Federal regulatory or law enforcement agency;
(B) any Member of Congress or any committee of Congress; or

(C) a person with supervisory authority over the employee (or such other
person working for the employer who has the authority to investigate, dis-
cover, or terminate misconduct); or

(2) to file, cause to be filed, testify, participate in, or otherwise assist in a pro-
ceeding filed or about to be filed (with any knowledge of the employer) relating
to an alleged violation of section 1341, 1343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or regula-
tion of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of Federal law
relating to fraud against shareholders.

(b) ENFORCEMENT ACTION—

(1) IN GENERAL—A person who alleges discharge or other discrimination by
any person in violation of subsection (a) may seek relief under subsection (c), by—

(A) filing a complaint with the Secretary of Labor; or

(B) if the Secretary has not issued a final decision within 180 days of the fil-
ing of the complaint and there is no showing that such delay is due to the bad
faith of the claimant, bringing an action at law or equity for de novo review
in the appropriate district court of the United States, which shall have juris-
diction over such an action without regard to the amount in controversy.

PROCEDURE—
(A) IN GENERAL—An action under paragraph (1)(A) shall be governed

under the rules and procedures set forth in section 42121(b) of title 49,
United States Code.

2
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(B) EXCEPTION—Notification made under section 42121(b)(1) of title 49,
United States Code, shall be made to the person named in the complaint and
to the employer.

(C) BURDENS OF PROOF—An action brought under paragraph (1)(B)
shall be governed by the legal burdens of proof set forth in section 42121(b)
of title 49, United States Code.

(D) STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS—An action under paragraph (1) shall be
commenced not later than 90 days after the date on which the violation occurs.

(c) REMEDIES—

(1) IN GENERAL—An employee prevailing in any action under subsection
(b)(1) shall be entitled to all relief necessary to make the employee whole.

(2) COMPENSATORY DAMAGES—Relief for any action under paragraph (1)
shall include—

(A) reinstatement with the same seniority status that the employee would
have had, but for the discrimination;

(B) the amount of back pay, with interest; and

(C) compensation for any special damages sustained as a result of the dis-
crimination, including litigation costs, expert witness fees, and reasonable at-
torney fees.

(d) RIGHTS RETAINED BY EMPLOYEE—Nothing in this section shall be
deemed to diminish the rights, privileges, or remedies of any employee under any
Federal or State law, or under any collective bargaining agreement.

(b) CLERICAL AMENDMENT—The table of sections at the beginning of chapter
73 of title 18, United States Code, is amended by inserting after the item relating to
section 1514 the following new item:

“1514A. Civil action to protect against retaliation in fraud cases.”

S-Ox Section 303—Improper Influence on Conducts of Audits

(a) RULES TO PROHIBIT—It shall be unlawful, in contravention of such rules or
regulations as the Commission shall prescribe as necessary and appropriate in the
public interest or for the protection of investors, for any officer or director of an is-
suer, or any other person acting under the direction thereof, to take any action to
fraudulently influence, coerce, manipulate, or mislead any independent public or cer-
tified accountant engaged in the performance of an audit of the financial statements
of that issuer for the purpose of rendering such financial statements materially mis-
leading.

(b) ENFORCEMENT—In any civil proceeding, the Commission shall have exclusive
authority to enforce this section and any rule or regulation issued under this section.

(c) NO PREEMPTION OF OTHER LAW—The provisions of subsection (a) shall
be in addition to, and shall not supersede or preempt, any other provision of law or
any rule or regulation issued thereunder.

(d) DEADLINE FOR RULEMAKING—The Commission shall—

¥1bid., Sec. 806.
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(1) propose the rules or regulations required by this section, not later than 90
days after the date of enactment of this Act; and

(2) issue final rules or regulations required by this section, not later than 270
days after that date of enactment.*’

S-Ox Section 402—Enhanced Conflict of Interest Provisions

(a) PROHIBITION ON PERSONAL LOANS TO EXECUTIVES—Section 13 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m), as amended by this Act, is
amended by adding at the end the following:

(k) PROHIBITION ON PERSONAL LOANS TO EXECUTIVES—

(1) IN GENERAL—TIt shall be unlawful for any issuer (as defined in section 2
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), directly or indirectly, including through
any subsidiary, to extend or maintain credit, to arrange for the extension of
credit, or to renew an extension of credit, in the form of a personal loan to or for
any director or executive officer (or equivalent thereof) of that issuer. An ex-
tension of credit maintained by the issuer on the date of enactment of this sub-
section shall not be subject to the provisions of this subsection, provided that
there is no material modification to any term of any such extension of credit or
any renewal of any such extension of credit on or after that date of enactment.

(2) LIMITATION—Paragraph (1) does not preclude any home improvement
and manufactured home loans (as that term is defined in section 5 of the Home
Owners’ Loan Act (12 U.S.C. 1464)), consumer credit (as defined in section
103 of the Truth in Lending Act (15 U.S.C. 1602)), or any extension of credit
under an open end credit plan (as defined in section 127(c)(4)(e) of the Truth in
Lending Act (15 U.S.C. 1637(c)(4)(e)), or any extension of credit by a broker
or dealer registered under section 15 of this title to an employee of that broker
or dealer to buy, trade, or carry securities, that is permitted under rules or reg-
ulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System pursuant to
section 7 of this title (other than an extension of credit that would be used to
purchase stock of that issuer), that is—

(A) made or provided in the ordinary course of the consumer credit busi-
ness of such issuer;

(B) of a type that is generally made available by such issuer to the public;
and

(C) made by such issuer on market terms, or terms that are no more favor-
able than those offered by the issuer to the general public for such exten-
sions of credit.

(3) RULE OF CONSTRUCTION FOR CERTAIN LOANS—Paragraph (1)
does not apply to any loan made or maintained by an insured depository insti-
tution (as defined in section 3 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C.
1813)), if the loan is subject to the insider lending restrictions of section 22(h)
of the Federal Reserve Act (12 U.S.C. 375b).4!

“0Ibid., Sec. 303.
“bid., Sec. 402.

69



70 Audit Committees: Basic Roles and Responsibilities

With respect to the internal audit function, the NYSE’s proposed listing stan-
dards (Section 303A(7)(e) provides that:

Each listed company must have an internal audit function.

Commentary: Listed companies must maintain an internal audit function to provide
management and the audit committee with ongoing assessments of the company’s
risk management processes and system of internal control. A company may choose
to outsource this function to a firm other than its independent auditor.*?

The Reporting Function** The audit committee should report directly to the
board of directors and not to the chief executive officer. Since the members are in-
dependent or nonmanagement directors, they provide an objective appraisal of
management’s accounting and auditing performance. Furthermore, the reporting
function is directly related to both the planning and monitoring functions. The
general content of the audit directors’ report should be based on the review pro-
grams regarding the planning function. Although the minutes of the committee
meetings are a record of the proceedings, the nature of its function warrants a for-
mal report. The report should contain a summary of its findings and recommen-
dations with the appropriate figures and narrative remarks. In developing the
reports for the board, the committee should focus its attention on the board’s in-
terests in such matters as:

e The financial accounting policies and the related industry accounting practices
(e.g., depreciation methods, inventory pricing, basis for consolidation)

e The reports of the independent auditors and the internal auditors (e.g., the au-
ditors’ opinion on the system of internal control)

e The reports of legal counsel with respect to significant commitments, contin-
gencies, and governmental compliance

e The reports of a special investigation concerning the review of the corpora-
tion’s financial affairs, such as political contributions

In short, the report of the audit committee may vary in form; however, the com-
mittee should render a concise report that fulfills the needs and interests of the
board.

S-Ox Section 302—Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports

(a) REGULATIONS REQUIRED—The Commission shall, by rule, require, for
each company filing periodic reports under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m, 780(d)), that the principal executive officer
or officers and the principal financial officer or officers, or persons performing sim-
ilar functions, certify in each annual or quarterly report filed or submitted under ei-
ther such section of such Act that—

42Securities and Exchange Commission, Release No. 34-47672; File No. SR-NYSE-2002-33, Pro-
posed Rule Change Relating to Corporate Governance (Washington, DC: SEC, April 11, 2003), p. 13.
“For further discussion, see Chapter 14.
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(1) the signing officer has reviewed the report;

(2) based on the officer’s knowledge, the report does not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such state-
ments were made, not misleading;

(3) based on such officer’s knowledge, the financial statements, and other finan-
cial information included in the report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition and results of operations of the issuer as of, and for, the peri-
ods presented in the report;

(4) the signing officers—
(A) are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls;

(B) have designed such internal controls to ensure that material information
relating to the issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to such
officers by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which the periodic reports are being prepared;

(C) have evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer’s internal controls as of a
date within 90 days prior to the report; and

(D) have presented in the report their conclusions about the effectiveness of
their internal controls based on their evaluation as of that date;

(5) the signing officers have disclosed to the issuer’s auditors and the audit com-
mittee of the board of directors (or persons fulfilling the equivalent function)—

(A) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls
which could adversely affect the issuer’s ability to record, process, summa-
rize, and report financial data and have identified for the issuer’s auditors any
material weaknesses in internal controls; and

(B) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the issuer’s internal controls; and

(6) the signing officers have indicated in the report whether or not there were sig-

nificant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly af-

fect internal controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation, including any

corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
(b) FOREIGN REINCORPORATIONS HAVE NO EFFECT—Nothing in this sec-
tion 302 shall be interpreted or applied in any way to allow any issuer to lessen the
legal force of the statement required under this section 302, by an issuer having rein-
corporated or having engaged in any other transaction that resulted in the transfer of
the corporate domicile or offices of the issuer from inside the United States to out-
side of the United States.

(c) DEADLINE—The rules required by subsection (a) shall be effective not later
than 30 days after the date of enactment of this act.**

S-Ox Section 906—Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports

(a) IN GENERAL—Chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code, is amended by in-
serting after section 1349, as created by this Act, the following:

#Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, H.R. Rep. No. 107-610, July 25, 2002.
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Sec. 1350. Failure of corporate officers to certify financial reports

(a) CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC FINANCIAL REPORTS—Each periodic re-
port containing financial statements filed by an issuer with the Securities Exchange
Commission pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d)) shall be accompanied by a written statement by the chief
executive officer and chief financial officer (or equivalent thereof) of the issuer.

(b) CONTENT—The statement required under subsection (a) shall certify that the
periodic report containing the financial statements fully complies with the require-
ments of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.
78m or 780(d)) and that information contained in the periodic report fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the issuer.

(c) CRIMINAL PENALTIES—Whoever—

(1) certifies any statement as set forth in subsections (a) and (b) of this section
knowing that the periodic report accompanying the statement does not comport
with all the requirements set forth in this section shall be fined not more than
$1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 10 years, or both; or

(2) willfully certifies any statement as set forth in subsections (a) and (b) of this
section knowing that the periodic report accompanying the statement does not
comport with all the requirements set forth in this section shall be fined not more
than $5,000,000, or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.

(b) CLERICAL AMENDMENT—The table of sections at the beginning of chapter
63 of title 18, United States Code, is amended by adding at the end the following:

1350. Failure of corporate officers to certify financial reports.*

An example of the CEO and CFO certification in the annual SEC 10-K report
by Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., is shown in Exhibits 2.2 and 2.3.

S-Ox Section 401: Disclosure of Periodic Reports

(a) DISCLOSURES REQUIRED—Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m) is amended by adding at the end the following:

(i) ACCURACY OF FINANCIAL REPORTS—Each financial report that contains
financial statements, and that is required to be prepared in accordance with (or
reconciled to) generally accepted accounting principles under this title and filed
with the Commission shall reflect all material correcting adjustments that have
been identified by a registered public accounting firm in accordance with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles and the rules and regulations of the Com-
mission.

(j) OFF-BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS—Not later than 180 days after the
date of enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Commission shall
issue final rules providing that each annual and quarterly financial report re-
quired to be filed with the Commission shall disclose all material off-balance
sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligations),
and other relationships of the issuer with unconsolidated entities or other per-
sons, that may have a material current or future effect on financial condition,

+Ibid., Sec. 906.



The Audit Committee Functions

73

Exhibit 2.2. CEO and CFO Certification (Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
Section 302)

2.

CERTIFICATIONS

I, H. Lee Scott, Jr., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (the
“registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of
a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material infor-
mation relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entries, particularly during the period in
which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and proce-
dures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report
(the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation
Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most
recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the regis-
trant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which
could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any mater-
ial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employ-
ees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report
whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors
that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most
recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant defi-
ciencies and material weaknesses.

Date: April 15, 2003

/s/H. Lee Scott, Jr.
H. Lee Scott, Jr.
President and
Chief Executive Officer

(continued)
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Exhibit 2.2 (Continued)

I, Thomas M. Schoewe, certify that:

1. I'have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (the
“registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of
a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material infor-
mation relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entries, particularly during the period in
which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and proce-
dures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report
(the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation
Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most
recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the regis-
trant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which
could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any mater-
ial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report
whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors
that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most
recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant defi-
ciencies and material weaknesses.

Date: April 15, 2003
/s/Thomas M. Schoewe
Thomas M. Schoewe
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

Source: Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., SEC Form 10-K Report, April 15, 2003, pp. 25-26.




Exhibit 2.3 CEO and CFO Certification

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 (AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (the “Company”) on
Form 10-K for the period ending January 31, 2003, as filed with the Securities and Ex-
change Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, H. Lee Scott, Jr., President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify to my knowledge and in my capacity as
an officer of the company, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for
the periods expressed in the Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate, effective as
of April 15, 2003

H. Lee Scott, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. and will be retained by Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 (AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (the “Company”’) on
Form 10-K for the period ending January 31, 2003, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas M. Schoewe, Execu-
tive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify to my knowledge
and in my capacity as an officer of the company, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for
the periods expressed in the Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate, effective as
of April 15, 2003

Thomas M. Schoewe
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. and will be retained by Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Source: Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., SEC Form 10-K Report, April 15, 2003, Exhibit 99.1.
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changes in financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expendi-
tures, capital resources, or significant components of revenues or expenses.

(b) COMMISSION RULES ON PRO FORMA FIGURES—Not later than 180 days
after the date of enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Commission shall
issue final rules providing that pro forma financial information included in any peri-
odic or other report filed with the Commission pursuant to the securities laws, or in
any public disclosure or press or other release, shall be presented in a manner that—

(1) does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a ma-
terial fact necessary in order to make the pro forma financial information, in light
of the circumstances under which it is presented, not misleading; and

(2) reconciles it with the financial condition and results of operation of the issuer
under generally accepted accounting principles.

(c) STUDY AND REPORT ON SPECIAL PURPOSES ENTITIES—

(1) STUDY REQUIRED—The Commission shall, not later than 1 year after the
effective date of adoption of off-balance sheet disclosure rules required by section
13(j) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as added by this section, completes
a study of filings by issuers and their disclosures to determine—

(A) the extent of off-balance sheet transactions, including assets, liabilities,
leases, losses, and the use of special purpose entities; and

(B) whether generally accepted accounting rules result in financial state-
ments of issuers reflecting the economics of such off-balance sheet transac-
tions to investors in a transparent fashion.

(2) REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS—Not later than 6 months after the
date of completion of the study required by paragraph (1), the Commission shall
submit a report to the President, the Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban
Affairs of the Senate, and the Committee on Financial Services of the House of
Representatives, setting forth—

(A) the amount or an estimate of the amount of off-balance sheet transac-
tions, including assets, liabilities, leases, and losses of, and the use of special
purpose entities by, issuers filing periodic reports pursuant to section 13 or 15
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;

(B) the extent to which special purpose entities are used to facilitate off-bal-
ance sheet transactions;

(C) whether generally accepted accounting principles or the rules of the
Commission result in financial statements of issuers reflecting the econom-
ics of such transactions to investors in a transparent fashion;

(D) whether generally accepted accounting principles specifically result in
the consolidation of special purpose entities sponsored by an issuer in cases
in which the issuer has the majority of the risks and rewards of the special
purpose entity; and

(E) any recommendations of the Commission for improving the trans-
parency and quality of reporting off-balance sheet transactions in the finan-
cial statements and disclosures required to be filed by an issuer with the
Commission.*

“Tbid., Sec. 401.
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S-Ox Section 409—Real Time Issuer Disclosures

Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m), as amended by
this Act is amended by adding at the end the following:

(1) REAL TIME ISSUER DISCLOSURES—Each issuer reporting under section
13(a) or 15(d) shall disclose to the public on a rapid and current basis such additional
information concerning material changes in the financial condition or operations of
the issuer, in plain English, which may include trend and qualitative information and
graphic presentations, as the Commission determines, by rule, is necessary or useful
for the protection of investors and in the public interest.*’

SEC Final Rules—Standards Relating to Listing Company Audit Com-
mittee On April 9, 2003, the SEC issued a release that mandates changes in the
SROs listing standards. As directed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the SEC
issued a directive to the SROs to prohibit the listing of any security of an issuer
that is not in compliance with the audit committee requirements mandated by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. These requirements relate to:

* The independence of audit committee members

e The audit committee’s responsibility to select and oversee the issuer’s inde-
pendent accountant

e Procedures for handling complaints regarding the issuer’s accounting practices
e The authority of the audit committee to engage advisors

* Funding for the independent auditor and any outside advisors engaged by the
audit committee*®

Audit Committee Member Independence In an effort to tighten the inde-
pendence requirements for audit committee members, the SEC final rules con-
tained two criteria:*

1. Audit committee members are barred from accepting any consulting, advisory
or other compensatory fee from the issuer or any subsidiary thereof, other than
in the member’s capacity as a member of the board of directors and any board
committees;" and

2. Audit committee members of an issuer that are not an investment company
may not be an affiliated person of the issuer or any subsidiary of the issuer

“Nbid., Sec. 409.

“8Securities and Exchange Commission, Release No. 38-8220, Standards Relating to Listing Com-
pany Audit Committee (Washington, DC: SEC, April 9, 2003).

“For further information regarding the SRO’s proposed additional standards, see SEC Release No.
34-47672.

'More specifically, disallowed payments to an audit committee member include payments made di-
rectly or indirectly. See SEC Release No. 33-8220 for examples of relationships. Also, de minimis ex-
ception for independence is non-existent and will be removed from the listing requirements.
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apart from his or her capacity as a member of the board and any board
committee.’!

Responsibilities Relating to Registered Public Accounting Firms To in-
crease investor confidence in the audit process, the SEC adopted the requirement
that the audit committee of a listed issuer will be directly responsible for the ap-
pointment, compensation, retention, and oversight of the work of any registered
public accounting firm engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit re-
port or performing other audits, or review or attest services. The independent au-
ditor will report directly to the audit committee.>?

Procedures for Handling Complaints Each audit committee must establish
procedure for:

e The receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by the issuer re-
garding accounting, internal controls or auditing matters

e The confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the issuer of con-
cerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters

The SEC pointed out that audit committees should be provided with flexibil-
ity to develop and utilize procedures appropriate for their circumstances.

Authority to Engage Advisors The SEC’s final rule requires audit commit-
tees to have authority to engage outside advisors, including accounting and legal
experts. Hence this rule supports the SEC’s position that the audit committee must
have the necessary resources to fulfill its function.

Funding The SEC’s final rule on funding requires the issuer to provide for
payment of compensation to:

e Any registered public accounting firm engaged for the purpose of preparing or
issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review, or attest services

e Any advisor employed by the audit committee
The final rule does not set funding limits. Finally, the final rule provides that the

issuer must provide funding for the ordinary administrative expenses of the audit
committee.

S!The SEC defines “affiliate” and “affiliated person™ as a person that directly or indirectly, through
one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, the person
specified. Under the final rule, only executive officers, directors who are also employees of an affili-
ate, general partner, and managing members of an affiliate, will be deemed to be affiliates. Moreover,
the limitation on directors will exclude outside directors of an affiliate as well as individuals with pas-
sive, noncontrol positions, and non-policymaking functions. For further information on investment
company issuers and new issuers, see the aforementioned release number.

S2With respect to clarifications regarding possible conflicts with other requirements, see the release for
such matters as the application of noncountry laws or listing requirements for the appointment of laws
or listing requirements for the appointment of the independent auditors. However, if the issuer provides
a recommendation or nomination for the independent auditors, then the audit committee (or body per-
forming similar functions) must be responsible for making the recommendation on nomination.
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Compliance and Curing Defects In addition to the listing or delisting re-
quirement, for issuers not in compliance with the standards, the SEC adopted a
final rule stating that the SROs must require a listed issuer to notify the applicable
SRO of any material noncompliance with the audit committee requirements.

With respect to the SEC’s final rule on curing defects, the SROs are required
to establish procedures before they prohibit the listing of or delist any security of
an issuer. The SEC believes that the SRO’s existing continued listing procedures
will suffice.>

Disclosure Changes Regarding Audit Committees—Disclosure Regard-
ing Exemptions The SEC requires issuers to disclose their reliance on an ex-
emption and their assessment of whether, and if so, how such reliance will
materially adversely affect the ability of their audit committee to act indepen-
dently and to satisfy the other requirements. Such disclosure will need to appear
in, or be incorporated by reference into, annual reports filed with the Commission.
The disclosure also will need to appear in proxy statements or information state-
ments for shareholders’ meetings at which elections for directors are held.>*

Identification of the Audit Committee in Annual Reports 1In an effort to
readily determine basic information about the composition of a listed issuer’s
audit committee, the SEC requires that disclosure of audit committee members be
included or incorporated by reference in the issuer’s annual report. Additionally,
if a listed issuer does not have an audit committee, then it must disclose that the
entire board of directors is acting as the audit committee.

Updates to Existing Audit Committee Disclosure Regarding the indepen-
dence disclosure for audit committees, all national exchanges and national securi-
ties associations will need to have independence standards for audit committee
members, not just the NYSE, AMEX, and Nasdagq.

Nonlisted issuers that have separately designated audit committees still will be
required to disclose whether their audit committee members are independent.
Such issuers may choose any definition for audit committee independence of a na-
tional securities exchange or national securities association that has been approved
by the Commission.

Audit Committee Financial Expert Disclosures for Foreign Private Is-
suers® A foreign private listed issuer must disclose whether its audit commit-
tee’s financial expert is independent, as defined by the SRO listing standard
applicable to that issuer, the issuer may choose one of the SRO definitions of audit

3See the text of the release regarding rare situations that may occur when the audit committee mem-
ber ceases to be independent as well as SRO implanting rules.

#The SEC’s final rule on listed issuers that are not required to provide disclosure on their reliance on
one of the exemptions to the rule, such as a subsidiary relying on multiple listing exemption, a foreign
government issuer, or an asset-backed issuer are excluded from the requirement to disclose, whether
they have a separate audit committee or not.

>For additional information regarding proposed rule changes by the New York Stock Exchange, see
SEC Release No. 34-47672, Sections 303A (6) and 303 A (7).
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committee independence (SEC approval) to determine whether its audit commit-
tee financial expert, if it has one, is independent.

THE EXTERNAL AND INTERNAL AUDITING PROCESS
The Nature of External Auditing

External auditing is the process not only of examining the financial statements but
also of testing the underlying accounting records of the company. The examination
is conducted by the independent auditors, who express an objective opinion re-
garding the fairness of presentation of the financial statements. The audit exami-
nation is conducted within a predetermined set of generally accepted auditing
standards that are promulgated by the Auditing Standards Board, formerly named
the Auditing Standards Executive Committee of the American Institute of Certi-
fied Public Accountants (AICPA).>® Since the audit examination is performed by
certified public accountants who are independent of the company’s management,
the objective opinion of the independent auditing firm strengthens the reliability
and credibility of the company’s financial reporting practices.

More specifically, corporate management has full responsibility for the finan-
cial statements because such statements represent a report on management’s stew-
ardship accountability to its outside constituencies. The Auditing Standards Board
of the AICPA asserts:

The financial statements are management’s responsibility. The auditor’s responsibil-
ity is to express an opinion on the financial statements. Management is responsible
for adopting sound accounting policies and for establishing and maintaining internal
control that will, among other things, record, process, summarize, and report trans-
actions (as well as events and conditions) consistent with management’s assertions
embodied in the financial statements. The entity’s transactions and the related assets,
liabilities, and equity are within the direct knowledge and control of management.
The auditor’s knowledge of these matters and internal control is limited to that ac-
quired through the audit. Thus, the fair presentation of financial statements in con-
formity with generally accepted accounting principles is an implicit and integral
part of management’s responsibility. The independent auditor may make suggestions
about the form or content of the financial statements or draft them, in whole or in
part, based on information from management during the performance of the audit.
However, the auditor’s responsibility for the financial statements he or she has au-
dited is confined to the expression of his or her opinion on them.>’

Increasingly, management’s responsibilities for financial statements are typi-
cally acknowledged in a Report of Management in the annual stockholders’ report,
which states in part:

%As noted in Chapter 13, the name of this committee has been changed to the Auditing Standards
Board. However, the former name of this group will be used in connection with the appropriate State-
ments on Auditing Standards as discussed in the text.

STAICPA, Professional Standards, U.S. Auditing Standards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1 (New York:
AICPA, 2003), AU Sec. 110.03.
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Report of Management

Management of Wal-Mart Stores Inc. is responsible for the integrity and objectivity
of the financial statements and other information presented in this report. These fi-
nancial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States. The preparation of financial statements requires
certain estimates and judgments, which are based upon currently available informa-
tion and management’s view of current conditions and circumstances.

Management has developed and maintains a system of internal and disclosure controls,
including an extensive internal audit program. These controls are designed to provide
reasonable assurance that the Company’s assets are protected from improper use and
that Wal-Mart’s accounting records provide a reliable basis for the preparation of fi-
nancial statements. We continually review, improve and modify these systems and
programs in response to changes in business conditions and operations and the recom-
mendations made by Wal-Mart’s internal and external auditors. We believe that the sys-
tem of internal and disclosure controls provides reasonable assurance that Wal-Mart’s
assets are safeguarded and that the financial information disclosed is reliable.

Our Company was founded on the belief that open communications and the highest
standard of ethics are necessary to be successful. Our long-standing “open door”
communication policy helps management be aware of and deal with issues in a
timely and effective manner. Through the open door policy all Associates are en-
couraged to inform management at the appropriate level when they are concerned
about any matter pertaining to the Company.

Wal-Mart has adopted a Statement of Ethics to guide our Associates in the continued
observance of high ethical standards such as honesty, integrity and compliance with
the law in the conduct of the Company’s business. Familiarity and compliance with
the Statement of Ethics is periodically reviewed and acknowledged in writing by all
management Associates. The Company also has in place a Related Party Transaction
Policy. This policy applies to all Officers and Directors of the Company and requires
material related party transactions to be reviewed by the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors. Annually, the Company’s Officers and Directors report material
related party transactions to the Company and Officers acknowledge their familiar-
ity and compliance with the policy.

We retain Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, to audit the Company’s finan-
cial statements. Their audits are performed in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards. We have made available to Ernst & Young LLP all financial
records and related data.

The Board of Directors, through the activities of its Audit Committee consisting
solely of outside directors, provides oversight of the process of reporting financial in-
formation. The Committee stays informed of the financial condition of the Company
and regularly reviews its financial policies and procedures, the independence of the
Company’s independent auditors, its internal accounting controls and the objectivity
of its financial reporting. Both the Company’s independent auditors and the internal
auditors have free access to the Audit Committee and meet with the Committee
periodically, both with and without management present.

H. Lee Scott Thomas M. Schoewe
President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer>®

3Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 2003 Annual Report, p. 52.
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The audit opinion is presented in the independent auditors’ or accountants’ re-
port. Such a report may be addressed to the board of directors, to the stockholders,
or to both the board and the stockholders. For example, if the independent auditors
were employed by the stockholders, then the report would be addressed to them. It
should be noted that the report is included in the corporate annual report.

The report consists of three paragraphs. The first is the introductory paragraph,
which sets forth the responsibilities of management and the auditors. The second is
the scope paragraph, which describes the nature of the audit, and the third paragraph
states the opinion. The standard form of an unqualified audit report is as follows:

(Introductory paragraph)

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December
31, 19X2 and 19X1, and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and
cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibil-
ity of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

(Scope paragraph)

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also in-
cludes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

(Opinion paragraph)

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 19X2 and 19X1,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in confor-
mity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.”

In the introductory paragraph, the auditors indicate that they are responsible for
their audit report and that management has primary responsibility for the financial
statements. In regard to the scope of the examination, the auditors state that they
have performed not only certain auditing procedures based on their professional
judgment but have also conducted their examination within the general guidelines
or standards set forth by the AICPA. This scope paragraph communicates to the
reader of the financial statements that the auditors’ compliance with auditing stan-
dards provides reasonable assurance that such statements are free of material mis-
statements and/or omitted material facts. Furthermore, in the opinion paragraph,
the auditors state that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles that are widely accepted in the practice of accounting
and, therefore, that such statements are fairly presented. An illustration of the au-
ditors’ report follows.

M“Reports on Audited Financial Statements,” Statement on Auditing Standards No. 58 (New York:
AICPA, 1988), par. 8, as amended by ASB interpretation.
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Shareholders,
‘Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Wal-Mart Stores,
Inc. as of January 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of in-
come, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended January 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-
cial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of mate-
rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes as-
sessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all mate-
rial respects, the consolidated financial position of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. at January
31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2003, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective February
1, 2002, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.®

Ernst & Young LLP
Tulsa, Oklahoma
March 19, 2003

Role of the Audit Committee The work of the audit committee and the inde-
pendent auditors is very closely related because both groups have common objec-
tives regarding the financial affairs. The audit committee members are responsible
for overseeing the independent audit examination as well as the recommendations of
the independent auditors. The audit committee members must assure themselves that
the financial statements and the system of internal accounting controls are based on
acceptable accounting principles and procedures. Moreover, they need assurance
that the executives and their staff are reasonably competent and trustworthy.
Although the extent of the audit committee’s activities has led to some contro-
versy, it is clearly evident that its effectiveness has been increased by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, the U.S. Congress (FDICIA) (Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002), and other private-sector initiatives (National Commission on
Fraudulent Financial Reporting, the MacDonald Commission (Canada), and the
Cadbury Committee, Hampel Committee, and Committee on Corporate Gover-
nance (UK) as well as self-regulatory organizations. The reality of the situation is
that the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the Private Securities Litigation Reform

OIbid., p. 51.
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Act, and the aforementioned initiatives place greater responsibilities on the audit
committee. Thus, it is critically important that the committee keep a perspective
and focus on its oversight role for the system of internal control and financial re-
porting areas of the company. If the audit committee becomes too deeply involved
in management’s operational activities, its effectiveness will be diluted. As Ray
Groves, E&Y former managing partner, has indicated:

This does not mean a committee cannot rely on management and the internal and ex-
ternal auditors to see that controls are in good order. The committee’s responsibility
is to satisfy itself that these groups are performing and the necessary documentation
exists.®!

The audit committee members are in an excellent position to contribute to the ex-
ternal auditing process. For example, the independence of the auditing firm is en-
hanced because the independent auditors establish a line of communication to the
board of directors through the audit committee. In addition, since the audit commit-
tee members nominate and select the auditing firm, they are in a position to examine
the qualifications of this firm as well as to assess the results of the audit examination.®?

In a survey of 34 publicly held companies dealing with the effectiveness of
audit committees as perceived by both external auditors and audit committee
members of those companies, Lawrence P. Kalbers found that practicing audit
committees are not uniformly effective and that the auditors rate committee mem-
bers significantly lower than do members on responsibilities, attributes, and ef-
fectiveness. He concludes that the audit committee, management, and auditors
need to work toward the right balance of the committee’s involvement with audit
fees, audit scope, audit results, and internal controls. He believes that training and
educating the committee members can help them meet their responsibilities.®

The Nature of Internal Auditing
As defined by the Institute of Internal Auditors:

Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed
to add value and improve an organization’s operations. It helps an organization accom-
plish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and im-
prove the effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance processes.*

For example, internal auditors may evaluate the internal control of a company
as well as review management’s adherence to the company’s policies. They can
also help the audit committee with special investigations and compliance audits.

%Ernst & Whinney, E&W People, p. 7.

©2For further discussion on communication with audit committees, see Chapter 5.

%Lawrence P. Kalbers, “An Examination of the Relationship Between Audit Committees and External
Auditors,” Ohio CPA Journal 51, No. 6 (December 1992), p. 27. Similarly, Price Waterhouse noted
that: “The single most important findings, and the key to audit committee effectiveness, is: back-
ground information and training.” See Price Waterhouse, Improving Audit Committee Performance:
What Works Best (Altamonte Springs, FL: IIA, 1993), p. 2. For further discussion on training and ed-
ucating audit committee members, see Chapter 5 and Chapter 7 of the second edition, 2000.
%“Institute of Internal Auditors, The Professional Practice Framework (Altamonte Springs, FL: IIA,
2002), p. 3.
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However, it is important to recognize that the internal auditing group is not
completely independent from corporate management, because the members of the
group are employees of the company. To enhance their independence and objec-
tivity, the Institute of Internal Auditors recommends that the chief audit executive
should be responsible to an individual whose authority is sufficient to promote in-
dependence and provide the necessary internal auditing coverage.® Thus, the chief
audit executive should report not only to a senior executive, such as the chief fi-
nancial officer with access to the chief executive officer, but also to the indepen-
dent audit committee. To ensure the independence of the internal auditing group,
the chief audit executive must have free access to meeting regularly with the com-
mittee. The internal audit function is discussed more extensively in Chapter 9.

Role of the Audit Committee The interface between the audit committee and
the internal auditing group provides a logical relationship because these groups
have common goals.® It is important that both groups establish a working rela-
tionship which is not counterproductive. More specifically, to maximize the pro-
ductivity of the internal auditing group, the audit committee should:

* Assist in the overall internal auditing policy determination and approve such
policies to ensure that the internal auditing group has authority that is com-
mensurate with its responsibilities

e Review the coordination of the work and schedules of the internal and exter-
nal auditing groups

* Review not only the qualifications of the chief audit executive and his or her
support staff but also the professional development activities of the group

* Review the copies of the internal auditing reports and critically evaluate find-
ings, recommendations, and management’s response

As noted in Chapter 1, audit committees have become a key institution in the
corporate accountability process. Given the congressional enactment of the Sar-
banes-Oxley Act of 2002, many of the past guidelines of the professional and reg-
ulatory organizations regarding audit committees have become law. Thus the role
and responsibilities of audit committees have become a federal statute by which
such committees measure their performance.

To assist audit committees with their new roles and responsibilities, Exhibit 2.4
contains a summary of the sections of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and SRO’s listing
standards, and SEC final rules on audit committee disclosures. Clearly, boards of
directors and their audit committees need to reexamine and update their charters
to reflect the laws and regulations. Exhibit 2.5 discusses an approach to continu-
ous improvement for audit committees.

%Institute of Internal Auditors, The Professional Practice Framework, p. 7.

%For further discussion of the audit committee’s role, see Internal Auditing and the Audit Committee:
Working Together Toward Common Goals (Altamonte Springs, FL: IIA, 1987); and Barbara A. Apos-
tolou and Raymond Jeffords, Working with the Audit Committee (Altamonte Springs, FL: IIA, 1990).
Also see the video, Audit Committees and Internal Auditing: An Essential Alliance for Effective Gov-
ernance (Altamonte Springs, Fla.: ITA, 1994).



Exhibit 2.4 Audit Committees: Roles and Responsibilities under the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, SROs, and SEC

Applicability
Audit Committee Practice Area Section® SOA* | SROs | SEC¢
Organization of the Audit Committee
¢ Charter (4 (4
* Membership 4 4
¢ Meetings v
* Independence 301 v v v
* Financial Literacy/Expertise 407 v Vi vi
Activities
Internal Control 404 v v v
Annual and Interim Financial Statements,
CEO/CFO Certification 302/906 v v v
Loans to Directors or Offices 402 (4
Corporate Code of Conduct v
Code of Ethics for CFOs 406 v
Auditors
Internal Auditors v
External Auditors
* Retention and Fees 301 v (4
* Hiring 206 v v
¢ Non-Audit Services 202 (4 (4
 Auditor Rotation 203/207 v v
* Disagreements 301 v v
e Critical Accounting Policies and
Disclosures 204, 401, 409 (4 (4
Communication
¢ Opinions from Legal Counsel and
Other Advisers 301, 307 (4 (4
* Whistleblowing Protection 301, 307, 806 (4 Ve
 Stock Exchange Listing Requirements
(annual certification) v
 Stock Exchange Listing Requirements
(one-time certification) v
» Education and Training v

2 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
" NYSE, Nasdaq, AMEX Listing Standards.
¢ SEC Final Rules, Audit Committee Disclosures.

4 NYSE Listing Standards only; see also SEC Release No. 34-47672.

¢ Nasdaq Listing Standards only.

T At least one member must have accounting or related financial management expertise.
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Exhibit 2.5 Corporate Audit Committees: An Approach to Continuous
Improvement

CORPORATE AUDIT COMMITTEES:
AN APPROACH TO CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

Audit committees today are faced with the sizable task of overseeing both the auditing and
financial reporting processes. The final rules of the SEC, national stock exchanges, and the
AICPA’s Auditing Standards Board cover corporate governance of audit committees, in-
cluding independence, qualifications, charters, external auditor involvement, and reports

Nonetheless, it remains up to audit committees to ensure that they continuously im-
prove their oversight role. Continuous improvement requires a constructive relationship
between audit committees and management, internal auditors, external auditors, and legal
counsel. Audit committees should function as team members and be empowered by their
boards to ask tough-minded questions about the audit and financial reporting processes as
well as to probe into the entity’s affairs. Continuous improvement helps minimize the
costs of achieving quality in both financial management services and audit services. Thus,
boards of directors are assured that such resources are allocated efficiently and effectively
to prevent the costs of poor quality in the board’s corporate accountability process.

Continuous improvement approach To achieve continuous improvement, audit com-
mittees should consider the following three-step approach:

® Complete a profile worksheet with details of the committee’s role, responsibilities, and
organization;

B Develop a customized review and action plan to achieve the committee’s goals in the
board-approved charter; and

® Develop a quality assurance review based on the elements that guide the committee in
adopting quality assurance policies and procedures.

Audit Committee’s Profile Worksheet

Audit committees are now required to disclose their written charter in the entity’s annual
proxy statement. This document provides a clear presentation of the committee’s oversight
role, responsibilities, and organization. It defines the jurisdictional charge to the commit-
tee, minimizing potential litigation risk as well as avoiding the dilution of the committee’s
activities. See Exhibit 1 for a suggested format for a profile worksheet.

Audit committees need knowledge about—

the entity’s business and industry,
significant risks,

internal control concepts,

industry accounting practices, and
complex business transactions.

Likewise, audit committees need to review the following:

B Industry and business data in terms of vulnerability of the industry to changing eco-
nomic conditions and operating characteristics of the business. Such a review would
usually include the annual stockholders’ report, SEC filings, (10Qs, 10Ks, annual proxy
statement), the entity’s website, analytical review procedures, absolute data compar-
isons, and financial ratio data.

B Management’s risk assessment process

® The components of COSO’s Internal Control-Integrated Framework (control environment,
risk assessment, information and communication, control activities, and monitoring)

(continued)
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Exhibit 2.5 (Continued)

EXHIBIT 1
AUDIT COMMITTEE’S PROFILE WORKSHEET
= @ |4 g oM
£ Sl el 5| 5l52
T Ol5| 2| 2| E|E|zg
: B2 3|S5 88
S . I - g © 5 B2
HEH I
AE| 2| E| Al 3| 2 |0wn
Audit Committee Practice Area Comments:
Organizational Structure
and Composition
Formation”
Membership
Number of members (size) vV |V
Appointments v
Term of Service (4
Qualification vV |V
Composition vV | v
Meetings
Frequency (4
Type v
Knowledge Areas
Type of business and industry v
Internal audit process v
External audit process 4
Internal control concepts vV | v
Management’s risk assessment vV | v |V
Industry accounting practices vV | v |V
Complex business transactions vV | v |V |V
Financial reporting process vV | v |V
Internal communication process™ | ¢ | ¢ | vV |V | V | ¢
External communication process vV |V

“Board resolution or corporate by-laws and a formal written charter
“Related to the above areas

B [ndustry accounting practices, with particular emphasis on the appropriateness of ac-
counting principles
B Complex business transactions (e.g., restructuring charges and pre-acquisition audits).

Additionally, audit committees should perform a review in connection with other mat-
ters, such as—

B code of conduct;

m conflict of interest statements (related party transactions);

B corporate perquisites;

B computer security, business continuity plan, and planned systems modifications; and
B biographical information on senior management and financial management.
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Audit Committee’s Action Plan

Based on the audit committee’s profile worksheet, the chair can develop a customized re-
view and action plan (Exhibit 2). This plan serves as an oversight compass for the finan-
cial management, audit, legal, and communication process.

Financial management. Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the infor-
mation in financial reports rests with the entity’s management. Audit committees should
review background information on the competence and integrity of important members of
the financial management group.

EXHIBIT 2
AUDIT COMMITTEE’S REVIEW AND ACTION PLAN
T |z 5|22 5|5
= ||| 2|22¢
3] %l 3| 8| O S E=R%)
.| S| el E|l =] = |
SE| 52| 2| 2| |58
BE | 2| S| @] A A|0On
Audit Committee Practice Area Comments:
Agendas
Pre-audit Meeting (Audit Scope)
Audit plan vV | v |V
Analytical review 4
Accounting and auditing
developments vV |V |V
Financial reporting matters vV | v |V
Risk assessment vV |V |V
Risk control processes vV | v |V
Interim meeting (optional)
Problem areas vV |V |V
Audit progress (4
Post-audit Meeting
Audit findings vV |V
Analytical review
Annual financial statements v v

SEC Form 10-K Report v v
Other Concerns

Unresolved matters vV |V |V |V

Disagreements with management vV |V

Significant audit adjustments vV |V

Completeness of disclosure and

risks and uncertainties vV |V |V |V
Appropriateness of accounting

policies vV | v |V
Management’s representations

(client representation letter) (4 (4
Lawyer’s letter vV |V

(continued)
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Exhibit 2.5 (Continued)

Services available

from:

Management

Internal Auditors

External Auditors

Legal Counsel

Board of Directors

Compliance with
SEC, SROs, ASB

Follow-up Meeting

Management letter

Evaluation of the external auditors

Appointment of the external
auditors

Audit and nonaudit fees

Auditor’s independence letter

Evaluation of the internal auditors
and selection or reappointment

Internal audit plan for the next
fiscal year

Outsourcing activities

Evaluation of financial management

Compliance with laws and
regulations (disclosure matters)

Impact of proposed legislation on
the financial statements

AN

AN

AN NN

AN

ANAN

R S KN

AN

ANAN

Other Matters
Special investigations
Information technology
(computer security, EDI,
business continuity plan)

Conlflict of Interest

Corporate perquisites (officers’
expense accounts, etc.)

Corporate contributions

Code of conduct

Related party transactions

Illegal, improper or sensitive
payments

AN AN

ANANA AN

R X K~

S S~

Quarterly Reporting Process
Quality of earnings and disclosures
Income tax assessments
Pre-acquisition audits
Material transactions and contracts

(e.g., restructuring charges, etc.)

R S~

Reporting to the Board of Directors
Formal report

Reporting to the Stockholders
Proxy-statement disclosures

Reporting to the national stock
exchange(s)
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Likewise, management is responsible for a system of internal control. Audit commit-
tees may request management and auditors to present a review of the COSO components
of internal control in order to ensure that internal controls provide a reasonable assurance
that the financial accounts are maintained and accounted for under the entity’s policies. For
financial reporting purposes, audit committees need assurance that management is man-
aging identified risks so that financial statement assertions will not be misstated.

Internal auditing. As part of the monitoring component of the entity’s system of in-
ternal control, the scope of the internal audit effort extends to several types of audits: fi-
nancial, operational, compliance, ethics and fraud, systems, and risk audits. Audit
committees should review the internal audit plan as well as the organizational structure and
composition of the internal audit group. Audit committees want assurance that the entity’s
comprehensive internal audit program evaluates the adherence to management’s policies
and procedures.

External auditing. The audit committee’s meetings and agendas should be directly
linked to the auditing cycle, consisting of a pre-audit interview, an optional interim audit
interview, a post-audit interview, and a follow-up interview.

During the pre-audit interview, the agenda ordinarily includes a review and discussion
of matters such as the audit plan, accounting and auditing developments that impact the fi-
nancial statements, risk assessment and related risk control processes, an analytical review,
the personnel assigned to the audit team, an internal financial audit plan, and estimated
audit and nonaudit fees.

Audit committees or external auditors might request an interim audit interview to ad-
dress problem areas and discuss the progress of the audit.

The major objective of the post-audit interview is to review the audit findings and the
draft of the annual stockholders’ report. Typically, audit committees focus on deviations
from the audit plan, the analytical review, significant discoveries, resolved and unresolved
matters, and disagreements with management, and material audit adjustments as well as
immaterial uncorrected misstatements. Additionally, audit committees should review the
appropriateness of accounting policies (e.g., conformity with industry practice and alter-
native accounting principles) and any changes in accounting principle.

During the follow-up interview, audit committees generally focus on recommendations
for improvement in internal control, approving the internal audit plan for the following
year, and recommending the appointment of the external auditors. They might also engage
in a performance review of management, the internal audit group, or the external auditors.
Audit committees might also review the external audit and nonaudit fees that must now be
disclosed in the annual proxy statement.

Legal process. Both in-house general counsel and outside legal counsel interact with
audit committees on various issues:

B The standard of independence for the audit committee members

B The committee’s written charter, as described in the entity’s annual proxy statement

B Significant litigation, claims, and assessments against the entity

B Any pending litigation against the external auditors, as well as any impairment of their
independence

® Compliance with key legislative acts (e.g., the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act)

B Proposed special investigations

Material contracts, related party transactions, and contingencies

® Compliance with the entity’s code of conduct and conflict of interest statements.

Communications. During the audit committee’s audit cycle interviews, the internal
communication process consists of both executive and joint sessions. Executive sessions
may be used for the audit committee’s performance reviews of management, the internal

(continued)
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Exhibit 2.5 (Continued)

auditing group, and the external auditors, as well as a discussion of external audit and
nonaudit fees, and any disagreements with management.

With respect to external communications, audit committees are required to disclose the
following items in the entity’s annual proxy statement:

B A review and discussion of the entity’s consolidated financial statements with manage-
ment and the independent auditors

B A review of management’s representations that the consolidated financial statements
were prepared in accordance with GAAP

B Discussion with the independent auditors about SAS 61 matters

B Written disclosures and the ISB 1 letter from the external auditor regarding their inde-
pendence from the entity

B A consideration of whether the external auditors’ provision of nonaudit services is con-
sistent with independence

B A recommendation of whether the audited financial statements should be included in
SEC filings

B A recommendation as to the selection of the audit firm

B Presentation of an audit committee charter

| A letter to the appropriate stock exchange certifying the number and qualifications of in-
dependent audit committee members.

Audit Committee’s Quality Assurance Review

The major objective of this third step in the evaluative process is to effectively strive for
zero defects in performing the first two steps. The audit committee’s oversight role is to en-
sure efficiency and effectiveness in these processes, which, in turn, should lead to a high
level of assurance of the board’s corporate accountability. Given the demand for strong
boards and audit committees, the audit committee should reflect and assess their overall
operating performance and that of each committee member. This assessment process may
be accomplished through a series of targeted questions that effectively address financial
accounting and auditing issues affecting the financial statements. For example, audit
committees might benchmark their performance review against their formal written char-
ter. Exhibit 3 contains six quality assurance elements that enable the committee to develop
an effective oversight strategy. Comprehensive reporting, combined with an ongoing dia-
logue between audit committee members and all interested parties, is the key to effective
performance.
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EXHIBIT 3
AUDIT COMMITTEE’S QUALITY ASSURANCE
ELEMENTS, POLICIES, AND PROCEDURES

Quality
Assurance
Quality Assurance Policies &
Elements Purpose Procedures
Independence Avoid a relationship with the entity
that would interfere with the director’s
exercise of independent judgment. A
Financial knowledge Directors need to be financially literate. B
Written charter Provides a clear understanding of the
committee’s oversight role, responsi-
bilities, and organization. C
Performance review Work performed meets the audit
committee’s charter. D
Continuing education Directors need an ongoing program
of additional courses. E
Monitoring Annual review for each of the
above elements. F

Examples of related policies and procedures that an audit committee might implement include:

A: Provide for legal counsel’s monitoring compliance with independent rules.

B: Establish review procedures for information about new accounting and auditing standards.
C: Communicate the scope of oversight responsibilities to audit committee members.

D: Establish procedures for benchmarking the audit committee’s performance review.

E: Establish review procedures for a continuing education program.

F: Provide for reporting monitoring activities to the full board of directors.

Source: This discussion is adapted from an article by Louis Braiotta, Jr., “Corporate Audit
Committees: An Approach to Continuous Improvement,” CPA Journal 72, No. 7 (July 2002), pp.
48-51. Reprinted with permission from CPA Journal, Copyright © 2002, New York State Society of
Certified Public Accountants, 530 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10036-5101. All rights reserved.
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In this overview of the audit committee’s role in the auditing process, it is in-
teresting to note some general observations:

e The audit committee has become an integral part of the corporate framework
to help fulfill the board of directors’ stewardship accountability to its outside
constituencies.

e The work of the audit committee is dynamic since the accounting and auditing
processes are subject to change.

e Authoritative bodies at home and abroad, such as the U.S. Congress, the na-
tional stock exchanges, the Cadbury Committee, the Hampel Committee, and
the Committee on Corporate Governance (UK), have established standards for
both the board of directors and the auditors to improve the financial reporting
process. (See Appendix D on this book’s website.)

e The audit committee is fundamental to the concept of corporate accountability.
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Chapter 3

The External Users of
Accounting Information

The objective of this chapter is to provide a broad perspective on the importance
of the enterprise’s outside constituencies as well as their need for accounting in-
formation. In addition, this chapter will examine the role of audit committees and
the ways in which their work is affected by these external groups.

INTRODUCTION

Since the board of directors, through the audit committee, is responsible for as-
suring that management fulfills its financial reporting obligations, audit commit-
tees have an indirect accountability to the external users of accounting information.
According to the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB):

Members and potential members of some groups—such as owners, creditors, and em-
ployees—have or contemplate having direct economic interests in particular business
enterprises. . . . Members of other groups—such as financial analysts and advisors,
regulatory authorities, and labor unions—have derived or indirect interests because
they advise or represent those who have or contemplate having direct interests. !

To respond to the needs of these groups as well as to formulate a basis for fi-
nancial accounting and reporting standards, the FASB has developed a conceptual
framework that consists of six Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts
(SFAC) relative to financial reporting for business enterprises:

SFAC No. 1 ~ “Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises” (No-
vember 1978)

SFAC No. 2 “Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information” (May 1980)

SFAC No. 3  “Elements of Financial Statements of Business Enterprises” (De-
cember 1980)

SFAC No. 5  “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Busi-
ness Enterprises” (December 1984)

SFAC No. 6 “Elements of Financial Statements” (December 1985)>

'Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts, No. 1 (Stam-
ford, CT.: FASB, 1978), p. 11.

2SFAC No. 4, “Objectives of Financial Reporting by Nonbusiness Organizations,” December 1980. It
should be noted that SFACs No. 2 and No. 6 apply to nonbusiness enterprises.

97



98 The External Users of Accounting Information

SFAC No. 7  “Using cash flow Information and Present Value in Accounting
Measurements” (February 2000)

The accounting profession has developed and continues to promulgate ac-
counting standards based on a prescribed set of objectives, definitions, and prin-
ciples, as set forth in the conceptual framework that is discussed in Chapter 5.3
Notwithstanding the objectives of complete and accurate information in the fi-
nancial accounting process, it should be noted that both internal accountants and
external auditors exercise judgment in the selection of accounting standards for a
fair presentation of the financial statements. Thus, if management has presented
the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples, then such statements are fairly presented. However, the Auditing Standards
Board states in part:

11. In connection with each SEC engagement . . ., the auditor should discuss with
the audit committee the auditor’s judgments about the quality, not just the accept-
ability, of the entity’s accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting.
Since the primary responsibility for establishing an entity’s accounting principles
rests with management, the discussion generally would include management as an
active participant. The discussion should be open and frank and generally should in-
clude such matters as the consistency of the entity’s accounting policies and their ap-
plication, and the clarity and completeness of the entity’s financial statements, which
include related disclosures. The discussion should also include items that have a sig-
nificant impact on the representational faithfulness, verifiability, and neutrality of the
accounting information included in the financial statements.® Examples of items that
may have such an impact are the following:

e Selection of new or changes to accounting policies
» Estimates, judgments, and uncertainties
* Unusual transactions

e Accounting policies relating to significant financial statement items, including
the timing of transactions and the period in which they are recorded

Objective criteria have not been developed to aid in the consistent evaluation of
the quality of an entity’s accounting principles as applied in its financial statements.
The discussion should be tailored to the entity’s specific circumstances, including ac-
counting applications and practices not explicitly addressed in the accounting liter-
ature, for example, those that may be unique to an industry.*

%These characteristics of accounting information are discussed in the Financial Ac-
counting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No.
2, Qualitative characteristics of Accounting Information. FASB Concepts Statement
No. 2 notes that consistently understating results or overly optimistic estimates of re-
alization are inconsistent with these characteristics.

3The terms standards and principles are used interchangeably in practice and throughout this book.
4Statement on Auditing Standards, No. 90, “Audit Committee Communications” (New York: AICPA,
1999), par. 1.
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Moreover, in the absence of more authoritative accounting literature concern-
ing the accounting treatment of a particular item, account, or transaction, practi-
tioners can use the conceptual framework to solve the problem.’ In an article
dealing with the subjects of minority interest, stock issues, and legally enforceable
contracts, Steven Rubin indicated how the conceptual framework could be used
for the appropriate accounting treatment, and he concluded that:

Concepts statements can provide helpful guidance in resolving knotty practice prob-
lems involving liabilities and other matters. Consult them as you would other sources
of established accounting principles. You may be surprised to find that these basic
statements will provide the help you need.®

One way of classifying the external users is to divide them into groups of in-
vestors, credit grantors, regulatory agencies, and other outside constituencies.
Such classification is useful from the audit committee’s point of view, because
each constituent has different informational needs and objectives. Thus, the four-
way classification of the users is a useful framework for discharging the board of
directors’ financial accountability. To the extent that the audit committee can mon-
itor the accounting information as well as understand the perceived needs of the
outside constituencies, it can provide a balance in the corporate financial report-
ing process.

THE INVESTORS
Importance of the Investors

Investors are the largest users of accounting information. As a group, investors in-
clude not only potential investors but also the stockholders. As the American As-
sembly indicates:

Shareholders are among the major groups in the community to which the corporation
must respond. As the undisputed owners of the corporation, they possess great po-
tential influence. Vocal shareholders, even if a minority, should be heard. Share-
holders can sensitize management and directors to social as well as economic issues
and should exercise this power.’

SStatement on Auditing Standards, No. 69, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity with Gener-
ally Accepted Accounting Principles in the Independent Auditor’s Report” (New York: AICPA, 1992),
par. 11.

%Steven Rubin, “How Concepts Statements Can Solve Practice Problems,” Journal of Accountancy
166, No. 4 (October 1988), p. 126. Two authors have developed a flow chart, “An Overview of FASB’s
Concepts Statements.” See Gwen Richardson Pate and Keith G. Stanga, “A Guide to the FASB’s Con-
cepts Statements,” Journal of Accountancy 168, No. 2 (August 1989), pp. 28-31.

"The American Assembly, Corporate Governance in America, Pamphlet 56 (New York: Columbia
University, April 1978), p. 5. The American Assembly convenes annually and has a national session at
the Arden House in Harriman, New York. The Assembly conducts forums on national and multina-
tional issues. See The American Assembly Report 1991—-1992 (New York: Columbia University, 1992).
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The New York Stock Exchange Fact Book in 2001 reported that institutional in-
vestors held 46.7 percent, or $6.4 trillion, which represents the market value of
13.6 trillion of all New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) listed stock at the end of the
third quarter 2001.% In addition, the American Stock Exchange Fact Book reported
that institutional activity was 74.7 percent of $162.2 billion, which is the value of
all stock listed on the American Stock Exchange (AMEX) in 1997.° Although the
individual investors held 40 percent and others held 13.3 percent of the dollar
value of the NYSE stock and 25.3 percent of the dollar value of the AMEX stock
for the respective years, the equity investments of institutional investors cannot be
overlooked because of their market impact on the volume of trading. These in-
vestors represent a dominant force in daily stock trading. Their influential role is
important, because they can concentrate their investments in large corporations
and, thus, increase their market power.

Furthermore, the SEC reported that “the total dollar amount of securities filed
for registration with the SEC during 2002 reached a record of 2.0 trillion”'* Thus,
the investing public is of paramount importance to the nation’s capital market as
well as to the international marketplace, and corporate management must appraise
its position regarding the investor’s interests.

The Business Roundtable concluded that:

Corporations are chartered to serve both their shareholders and society as a whole.
The interests of the shareholders are primarily measured in terms of economic return
over time. The interests of others in society (other stakeholders) are defined by their
relationship to the corporation.

The other stakeholders in the corporation are its employees, customers, suppliers,
creditors, the communities where the corporation does business, and society as a
whole. The duties and responsibilities of the corporation to the stakeholders are ex-
pressed in various laws, regulations, contracts, and custom and practice.!!

In addition to their significance concerning capital markets, investors have an
impact on corporate policies. For example, stockholders can influence corporate
policies through their votes at the annual stockholders’ meeting. They can vote on
such issues as:

e The election and removal of the board of directors
* Amendments to the corporate charter and bylaws
* Proposals of the stockholders to corporate management

8New York Stock Exchange, New York Stock Exchange Fact Book 2001 (New York: NYSE, 2001), p.
61. Visit the web site at www.nyse.com/marketinfo/shareownersurvey.html.

9American Stock Exchange, American Stock Exchange Fact Book 1998 (New York: ASE, 1998), p. 15,
and Security Industry Automation Corporation database, 1998. More recent information was not
available at the time of this writing.

10Securities and Exchange Commission, 2002 Annual Report (Washington, DC: U.S. Government
Printing Office, 2002), p. 80.

"The Business Roundtable, Corporate Governance and American Competitiveness (New York: The
Business Roundtable, 1990), p. 4.
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* The board of directors’ proposals

e The authorization of a new stock or bond issue

e Corporate management’s conduct with respect to corporate affairs
* The selection of the independent auditing firm

As a result of the stockholders’ voting power, it is essential that the audit com-
mittee develop stockholder profiles. For example, committee members should
identify the number of stockholders and their related stockholdings in order to iso-
late the degree of voting power. Voting power may be concentrated in a family
group. Such a group can greatly influence corporate policies due to its percentage
of stock ownership. Although the board has other demands from its outside con-
stituencies, the audit committee can aid the board through its understanding and
familiarity with investors’ interests and investments in the corporation. In short,
the primary concern of the committee is to give consideration to the stockholders’
interests because of their relationship to corporate policy decisions.

In 1992, Richard C. Breeden, former chairman of the SEC, stated in his annual
report to Congress:

The Commission adopted significant revisions of the proxy rules to facilitate effec-
tive communications among shareholders and between shareholders and their cor-
porations. The reforms will encourage greater participation by shareholders in
corporate governance by removing unnecessary regulatory barriers, reducing the
costs of complying with the proxy rules and improving disclosure.

In addition, the Commission revised its rules to ensure that shareholders receive bet-
ter information about executive compensation. Among other things, the new execu-
tive compensation disclosure rules require new tables that will disclose clearly and
concisely the compensation received by a corporation’s highest paid executives.'?

The Commission adopted important amendments to its executive compensation dis-
closure requirements. The amendments are designed to (1) ensure that shareholders
receive comprehensible, relevant, and complete information about compensation
paid to executives upon which to base their voting and investment decisions; and (2)
foster accountability of directors to shareholders by permitting shareholders to vote
on the proposals of other shareholders with regard to executive and director com-
pensation, and thereby advise the board of directors of the shareholders’ assessment
of the compensation policies and practices applied by the board.

After three years of study, two releases for public comment, a two-day public con-
ference, and more than 1,700 public comment letters, the Commission substantially
revised its rules governing proxy solicitations. The revisions were adopted to (1) fa-
cilitate effective communications among shareholders and between shareholders and
their corporations, as well as participation by shareholders in corporate governance,
by removing unnecessary regulatory barriers, (2) reduce the costs of complying with
the proxy rules, (3) improve disclosures to shareholders, and (4) restore a balance be-
tween the free speech rights of shareholders and Congress’ concern that solicitation
of proxy voting authority be conducted on a fair, honest and informed basis.!?

12Securities and Exchange Commission, 71992 Annual Report, p. Viii.
Blbid., p. 53.
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Recognizing the significance of the financial reporting process and demands
for full disclosure, several investor associations, such as the Investor Responsibility
Research Center (IRRC), the National Investor Relations Institute, and the Associ-
ation for Investment Management and Research, have conducted annual forums
dealing with various issues related to the investing public. For example, Maryellen
F. Andersen, former chair of the board, and Margaret Carroll, former executive di-
rector, of the IRRC, note:

Increasing numbers of corporate officers and directors looked to IRRC to help in-
form their policies and decisions on such diverse questions as assessing environ-
mental liability (through our Environmental Information Service); anticipating
questions at annual meetings, challenging shareholder proposals at the SEC, prepar-
ing responses for the proxy statement, gauging levels of institutional investor inter-
est in key issues and their likely reaction when those issues are raised (through
our Proxy Information Service); and deciding whether or when to enter or re-
enter South Africa (through our South Africa Review Package). Corporations
in other countries, too, began to look to IRRC for many of the same kinds of
information.'

In 1998, Arthur Levitt, former SEC chairman, reported that:

[a]n area of great concern to the Commission is inappropriate earnings manage-
ment. While this is not a new problem, it has risen in a market unforgiving of com-
panies that miss Wall Street’s estimates. During the year, our staff issued guidance on
various issues relating to the presentation of earnings per share.”!

Likewise, in 1999, Levitt stated that:

[a]n area of continued concern to the Commission is inappropriate earnings man-
agement. Abusive earnings management involves the use of various forms of gim-
mickry to distort a company’s true financial performance in order to achieve a
desired result. Staff Accounting Bulletin 99 reemphasizes that the exclusive reliance
on any percentage or numerical threshold in assessing materiality for financial re-
porting has no basis in the accounting literature or in the law. The staff also issued
two other bulletins to provide guidance on the criteria necessary to recognize re-
structuring liabilities and asset impairments and the conditions prerequisite to rec-
ognizing revenue.'

More recently, the SEC reported the initiation of these enforcement actions:!’

“Investor Responsibility Research Center, Annual Report 1992 (Washington, DC:IRRC, 1992), p. 3.
15Securities and Exchange Commission, 1998 Annual Report (Washington, DC: U.S. Government
Printing Office, 1998), p. vi.

16Securities and Exchange Commission, 1999 Annual Report (Washington, DC: U.S. Government
Printing Office, 1999), p. vi. For further discussion, see Chapter 5.

17Securities and Exchange Commission, 2002 Annual Report (Washington, DC: U.S. Government

Printing Office, 2002), p.2.
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FY98 FY99 FY00 FYO01 FY02

Civil Injunctive Actions 214 198 223 205 270
Administrative Proceedings 248 298 244 248 280
Contempt Proceedings 15 29 36 31 47
Reports of Investigation 0 0 0 0 1
Total 477 525 503 484 598

Recall in Chapter 1 the discussion about the erosion of the quality of financial
reporting and the quality of earnings. Stockholders and potential investors realize
that if a company does not meet or beat Wall Street expectations, then investors
will punish the market price of company’s stock. Consequently, management has
an incentive to manage current and expected earnings because net income is used
to measure earnings per share and return on equity as well as the value of man-
agement’s stock options. Therefore, the quality of earnings may be affected by
management’s choice of accounting methods and estimates, including nonoperat-
ing items on the income statement.

For further discussion, the reader may wish to revisit Arthur Levitt’s nine-
point action plan in Chapter 1.

As a case in point, the SEC reported:

In the Matter of W.R. Grace & Co. Former senior management of W.R. Grace & Co.
and its main health care subsidiary, National Medical Care, Inc., falsely reported re-
sults of operations and made false and misleading statements in press releases and at
teleconferences with analysts. The managers deferred reporting income, by improp-
erly increasing or establishing reserves, to bring reported earnings into line with tar-
geted earnings. Grace consented to the entry of a cease and desist order, and agreed
to establish a $1 million fund for programs to further awareness and education about
financial statements and generally accepted accounting principles.'®

This case illustrates management’s use of “cookie jar reserves”” whereby man-
agement makes unrealistic assumptions to estimate liabilities, which in turn can be
reduced in the future to increase net income.

The Need for Accounting Information

As the principal constituency of the corporation, investors make decisions based
on financial accounting information. Such data is essentially discretionary, since
it is predicated on management’s judgment. Although regulatory agencies, such as
the SEC, can dictate the form and content of their reports, the investors must rely
on corporate management. Moreover, investors must not only evaluate the effec-
tiveness of management but also decide whether to increase or decrease their
stockholding based on management’s financial accounting representations.

18Securities and Exchange Commission, 1999 Annual Report, p. 5. For further discussion, see Securi-
ties and Exchange Commission, In the Matter of W.R. Grace & Co., Release No. 34-41578, Account-
ing and Auditing Enforcement Release No. 1140 (June 30, 1999). See also Ann Davis, “SEC Case
Claims Profit ‘Management’ by Grace, Wall Street Journal. April 7, 1999, p. C1.
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More important, because of its stewardship accountability, corporate manage-
ment must periodically communicate its financial accounting information to its
constituencies. The corporate financial statements are the principal reports that are
used to communicate accounting data. In November 1978, the FASB released its
first statement as part of its conceptual framework project for financial accounting
and reporting. As a Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts, the board con-
cluded the following on objectives of financial reporting:

Financial reporting should provide information that is useful to present and potential
investors and creditors and other users in making rational investment, credit, and
similar decisions. The information should be comprehensible to those who have a
reasonable understanding of business and economic activities and are willing to
study the information with reasonable diligence.

Financial reporting should provide information to help present and potential in-
vestors and creditors and other users in assessing the amounts, timing, and uncer-
tainty of prospective cash receipts from dividends or interest and the proceeds from
the sale, redemption, or maturity of securities or loans. Since investors’ and creditors’
cash flows are related to enterprise cash flows, financial reporting should provide in-
formation to help investors, creditors, and others assess the amounts, timing, and un-
certainty of prospective net cash inflows to the related enterprise.

Financial reporting should provide information about the economic resources of an
enterprise, the claims to those resources (obligations of the enterprise to transfer re-
sources to other entities and owners’ equity), and the effects of transactions, events,
and circumstances that change its resources and claims to those resources. '

With respect to the first objective of financial reporting, it is apparent that in-
vestors need useful information for investment decisions. However, one must ad-
dress the usefulness of the financial statements to the users. To resolve this
controversy in financial reporting, Kenneth S. Most and Lucia S. Chang found
that:

[t]he accounting contents of the corporate annual report are regarded as its most im-
portant contents, and conversely that the president’s letter to the stockholders and the
pictorial material presented are viewed as relatively unimportant.?’ . . . The authors
believe that the results of their research indicate strongly that investors regard finan-
cial statement information as useful for their decisions.?!

The second objective of financial reporting means that the investors need fi-
nancial information in order to evaluate their investment objectives. Obviously, in-
vestors wish to safeguard the principal amount of their investment and maximize
the income and capital appreciation. Furthermore, investors must assess their will-
ingness and ability to accept risk. Similarly, management must effectively use the
economic resources of the enterprise in order to generate a monetary return to its

YFinancial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts, No. I, p. viii.
2Kenneth S. Most and Lucia S. Chang, “An Empirical Study of Investor Views Concerning Financial
Statements and Investment Decisions,” Collected Papers of the American Accounting Association’s
Annual Meeting (Sarasota, FL:AAA, August 1978), pp. 245-246.

2bid., p. 249.
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investors. Thus, “since an enterprise’s ability to generate favorable cash flows af-
fects both its ability to pay dividends and interest and the market prices of its se-
curities, expected cash flows to investors and creditors are related to expected
cash flows to the enterprise.”?

Finally, the third objective of financial reporting relates to the enterprise’s fi-
nancial condition and operating performance. Investors need information on the
current and future financial strength of the corporation to appraise the soundness
of their investment. Such information is critical. Not only does it indicate the abil-
ity of the enterprise to meet its short-term and long-term financial commitments,
but it allows investors to evaluate their risk and return on investment. Furthermore,
investors need information regarding the uses of economic resources in the opera-
tions. Although the enterprise may have an adequate financial position, such a po-
sition may deteriorate because of poor operational performance. In short, investors
want financial information on the use and disposition of the enterprise’s economic
resources in order to assess their investment policy.”* More recent developments re-
garding investors’ need for financial information are discussed later in this chapter.

Role of the Audit Committee

In order to discharge their responsibilities in the area of financial reporting effec-
tively, the audit committee should establish operational objectives.?* The opera-
tional objectives should be based on the investor’s need for financial accounting
information, which is manifested in the board of directors’ stewardship account-
ability. Such operational objectives should be consistent with the FASB’s objec-
tives of financial reporting, because the primary purpose of the committee is to
provide assurance regarding the usefulness of the accounting information in the fi-
nancial statements.

Moreover, in addition to the quantitative representations in the financial state-
ments, the committee should use the following qualitative characteristics to assess
the financial reporting policies and practices of the corporation:

The qualitative characteristics of financial statements, like objectives, should be
based largely upon the needs of users of the statements. Information is useless unless
it is relevant and material to a user’s decision. Information should be as free as pos-
sible from any biases of the preparer. In making decisions, users should not only un-
derstand the information presented, but also should be able to assess its reliability
and compare it with information about alternative opportunities and previous expe-
rience. In all cases, information is more useful if it stresses economic substance
rather than technical form.>

22Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement on Financial Accounting Concepts, No. 1, p. 19.
Z3For further discussion, see SRI International, Investor Informational Needs and the Annual Report
(Morristown, NJ: Financial Executive Research Foundation, 1987).

24For further discussion on the director’s role in reviewing financial information and management’s
statements, see Chapters 10, 13, and 14.

2 American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Report of the Study Group on the Objectives of
Financial Statements (New York: AICPA, 1973), p. 60. For further discussion, see Financial Account-
ing Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2, “Qualitative Characteristics
of Accounting” ( Stamford, CT: FASB, May 1980).



106 The External Users of Accounting Information

The preceding discussions on the operational objectives and the criteria for
evaluating the usefulness of the financial statements provide the necessary guide-
lines for evaluating management’s responsibilities in the preparation of the finan-
cial statements. In addition, the audit committee should give consideration to the
following criteria, which were used by the Financial Analysts Federation in its
Awards for Excellence in Corporate Reporting program:

1. Responsiveness of management to analysts’ and investors’ desire for information
prerequisite to real understanding of companies and their problems.

2. Efforts by companies to supply financial and other information going well be-
yond the level of disclosure required by the SEC, the exchanges, and the FASB.

3. A coordinated and consistent program of personal contact with investors and
their representatives—both through provision of experienced and helpful officials
in the investor relations function and via regular management presentations to an-
alyst groups, company-sponsored field trips, and so on.

4. A high “candor quotient” in both oral and written communications to the invest-
ment community. Too many managements prejudice an otherwise creditable in-
formation program by ignoring or glossing over unfavorable developments with
a thick patina of corporate optimism.?

Subsequently, the Association for Investment Management and Research is-
sued its Corporate Information Committee Report (1995-1996). A checklist of cri-
teria for evaluating financial communications effort stated in part:

Annual Published Information

A. Annual Report
1. Financial Highlights: Are they clear and unambiguous?
2. President’s Letter Review: Does it hit the highlights of the year in an objective manner?
Is it relevant to the company’s results and candid in appraising problems? It should
include:
Review of the year.
Insights into operating rates, unit production levels, and selling prices.
Acquisitions and divestments, if any.
Government business, if material.
Capital expenditures program; start-up expenses.
Research and development efforts.
Employment costs, labor relations, union contracts.
Energy cost and availability.
Environmental and OSHA costs.
Backlogs.
New products.
Legislative and regulatory developments.
. Outlook.
Unusual income or expense.
3. Officers and Directors:
a. Age, background, and responsibilities.

PR AT SR S0 a0 o

*Financial Analysts Federation, “Awards for Excellence in Corporate Reporting,” Financial Analysts
Federation News Release (New York: FAF, January 1978), p. 1.
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b.
c.
d.

Description of company organization.
Outside affiliations of directors.
Principal personnel changes.

4. Statement of Corporate Goals:
What are the short-term and long-term corporate goals, and how and when does man-
agement expect to achieve them? (This section could be included in several areas of the
report, but separate treatment is preferred.)

5. Discussions of Divisional and/or Segment Operations:

a.
b.

C.

How complete is the breakdown of sales, materials, costs, overhead, and earnings?
Are the segments logical for analytical purposes? Do they parallel lines of business?
Are unusual developments explained, and do the explanations include manage-
ment’s response?

Comparisons with relevant industry developments should include:

i. Market size and growth.

ii. Market penetration.

iii. Geographical divergencies.

Foreign operations:

i. Revenues, including export sales.

ii. Consolidated foreign earnings versus equity interest.

iii. Market and/or regional trends.

iv. Tax status.

6. Financial Summary and Footnotes:

a.

Statement of accounting principles, including explanation of changes and their

effects.

Adjustments to EPS for dilution.

Affiliates’ operating information.

Consolidated finance subsidiary’s disclosure of separate balance sheet information

and operating results.

Cash flow statement (FAS No. 95).

Tax accounting investment tax credits identified, breakdown of current and deferred

taxes for U.S. and non-U.S. tax jurisdictions, reconciliation of effective and statu-

tory tax rates, impact of changes in tax law, early application of FAS No. 96.

Clarity of explanation of currency exchange rate accounting:

i. Impact on earnings from Balance Sheet translation, if any.

ii. Indication of “Operating” or Income Statement Effect of exchange rate fluctuations.

Property accounts and depreciation policies:

i. Methods and asset lives used for tax and for financial reporting.

ii. Quantification of effect on reported earnings of use of different method and/or
asset lives for tax purposes.

Investments: composition and market values disclosed.

Inventories: method of valuation and identifying different methods for various

product or geographic segments.

Leases and rentals: terms and liability.

Debt repayment schedules.

. Pension funds: costs charged to income, interest rate, and wage-inflation assump-

tions; amount of any unfunded past service liability; amortization period for un-
funded liability (FAS No. 87).

Other postemployment benefits: pay-as-you-go amount, discussion of potential
liability, impact of FAS No. 106, including plans to fund or amend, and impact of
FAS No. 112.

Capital expenditure programs and forecasts, including costs for environmental
purposes.

Acquisitions and divestitures (if material):

i. Description of activity and operating results.
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ii. Type of financial transaction.

iii. Effect on reported sales and earnings.

iv. Quantification of purchase acquisitions or small poolings that do not require
restatement of prior years’ results. (When restating for pooling, both old and new
data are useful for comparison.)

q. Year-end adjustments.

r. Restatement of quarterly reports to year-end accounting basis.

s. Research and development and new products; amount and types of outlays and
forecasts.

t. Contingent liabilities, particularly environmental.

u. Derivation of number of shares used for calculating primary and fully diluted earn-
ings per share.

v. Disclosures of the fair values of financial instruments (FAS No. 107).

w. Goodwill amount being amortized and number of years.

x. Ten-year statistical summary:

i. Adequacy of income statement and balance sheet detail.

ii. Helpfulness of “nonstatement” data (e.g., number of employees, adjusted num-
ber of shares, price of stock, capital expenditures, etc.)

B. 10-Ks, 10-Qs, and Other Required Published Information

Quarterly and Other Published Information Not Required

A. Quarterly Reports

1.

Depth of commentary on operating results and developments.

2. Discussion of new products, management changes, and problem areas.

3. Degree of detail of profit and loss statement, including divisional or segmental break-
down.

4. Inclusion of a balance sheet and cash flow statement.

5. Restatement of all prior- and current-year quarters for major pooling acquisitions and
quantification of effect of purchase acquisitions and/or disposals.

6. Breakout of nonrecurring or exceptional income or expense items, including effects
from inventory valuation and foreign currency translation factors.

7. Explicit statement of accounting principles underlying quarterly statements.

8. Timeliness of reports.

9. Separate fourth quarter report.

B. Other Published Material

1. Availability of proxy statements (even though this is required public information).

2. Annual meeting report; available with questions and answers and identity of those
posing questions.

3. Addresses to analysts’ groups: available with questions and answers.

4. Statistical supplements and fact books.

5. Company magazines, newsletters, and explanatory pamphlets.

6. Press releases: Are they sent to shareholders and analysts? Are they timely? Do they
include earnings numbers?

7. How are documents filed with public agencies (SEC, Federal Trade Commission,
Department of Labor, court cases, etc.) made available? Does the company disseminate
all material information in 10-K, 10-Q, and similar reports?

Other Aspects

A. Is there a designated and advertised individual (or individuals) for shareholder and analyst
contacts?
B. Interviews



The Investors 109

1. Knowledgeability and responsiveness of company contact.
2. Access to policymakers and operational people.
3. Candor in discussing negative developments.
C. Presentations to analyst groups: frequency and content
D. Company-sponsored field trips and meetings
E. Annual meetings
1. Accessibility.
2. Worthwhile to shareholders and analysts.?’

Finally, the audit committee should be aware of the independent auditing
firm’s quality control policies and procedures, which provide reasonable assurance
that the firm has followed professional standards.?® The Auditing Standards Board
has issued the Statements on Quality Control Standards, which identifies five ele-
ments of quality control:

1. Independence, integrity, and objectivity

2. Personnel management

3. Acceptance and continuance of clients and engagements
4. Engagement performance

5. Monitoring

Such quality control standards provide a framework for the firm’s quality review
program. For example, member firms of the SEC Practice Section are required to
rotate engagement partners at least every seven years, and audit engagements are
subject to a second-partner review process. As noted in Chapter 2, Section 203 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act limits both the lead partner and concurring partners to a
maximum of five consecutive years of service with a five-year time-out.

In an article dealing with the subject of quality review by independent auditors,
Brian H. Maclver, James Welch, and Priscilla A. Burnaby report that three of the
previous nine quality control standards—namely, independence, supervision, and
consultation—are misunderstood or inadequately addressed. The authors note,
“The most common inadequacies cited by the team captain in review reports in-
cluded inadequate and deficient financial statement disclosures, inadequate check-
lists or failure to prepare checklists properly, and too many hours of continuing
professional education in the tax area rather than in the audit area.”?

?TAssociation for Investment Management and Research, Corporate Information Committee Report
1995-96 (Charlottesville, VA: AIMR, 1997), pp. 75-77. Also see Association for Investment Manage-
ment and Research, Financial Reporting in the 1990s and Beyond (Charlottesville, VA: AIMR,1993).
BStatement on Auditing Standards No. 25, “The Relationship of Generally Accepted Auditing Stan-
dards to Quality Control Standards” (New York: AICPA, 1979). For further discussion, see Statement
on Quality Control Standards No. 2, “System of Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and
Auditing Practice”; Statement on Quality Control Standards No. 3, “Monitoring a CPA Firm’s Ac-
counting and Auditing Practice”; AICPA Peer Review Board, Standards for Performing and Reporting
on Peer Reviews (New York: AICPA, 1996). The audit committee’s knowledge and understanding of
the independent accounting firm’s quality control policies and procedures is important to provide as-
surance to the full board of directors that the independent auditors are discharging their responsibili-
ties to the client company and the general public.

2Brian H. Maclver, James Welch, and Priscilla A. Burnaby, “Quality Review—Observations of a
Team Captain,” Ohio CPA Journal 50, No. 1 (January—April 1991), pp. 54-55.
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In their survey of 42 audit partners and managers, Ganesh Krishnamoorthy,
Arnie Wright, and Jeffrey Cohen concluded that:

[o]ne must go beyond just determining whether the committees comply with exist-
ing regulations. In fact, 81% of the respondents believe that you need to look at the
substance (the actual effectiveness of the audit committee) and not just the form of
audit committees. Thus, an audit committee might comply with all existing regula-
tions, but if they are not providing active oversight to the quality and integrity of the
financial reporting process, they cannot be relied upon.*

An example of the audit committee’s role and responsibilities in the financial
statement and disclosure matters of Wal-Mart Stores follows.

1. Review and discuss with management, and to the extent the audit Committee
deems necessary or appropriate, the Internal Auditors and the Outside Auditors,
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure
that the reports the Company files with the Commission comply with the Com-
mission’s rules and forms.

2. Review and discuss with management, the Internal Auditors and the Outside Au-
ditor the annual audited financial statement, including disclosures made in man-
agement’s discussion and analysis, and recommended to the Board whether the
audited financial statements should be included in the Company’s Form 10-K.

3. Review and discuss with management, the Internal Auditors and the Outside Au-
ditor the Company’s quarterly financial statements, including disclosures made in
management’s discussion and analysis, prior to the filing of its Form 10-Q, in-
cluding the results of the Outside Auditor’s reviews of the quarterly financial
statements.

4. Review and discuss quarterly reports from the Outside Auditor on:
(a) All critical accounting policies and practices to be used;

(b) All alternative treatments within GAAP [generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples] for policies and practices related to material items that have been dis-
cussed with management, including ramifications of the use of such
alternative disclosures and treatments and the treatment preferred by the Out-
side Auditor;

(c) The internal controls adhered to by the Company, management, and the
Company’s financial, accounting and internal auditing personnel, and the
impact of each on the quality and reliability of the Company’s financial re-
porting; and

(d) Other material written communications between the Outside Auditor and
management, such as any management letter or schedule of unadjusted
differences.

5. Discuss in advance with management the Company’s practice with respect to the
types of information to be disclosed and the types of presentations to be made in
earnings press releases, including the use, if any, of “pro forma” or “adjusted”
non-GAAP information, as well as financial information and earnings guidance
provided to analysts and rating agencies.

Ganesh Krishnamoorthy, Arnie Wright, and Jeffrey Cohen. “Auditors’ Views on Audit Committees
and Financial Reporting Quality,” CPA Journal 75, No. 10, (October 2002), p. 56.
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6. Review and discuss with management, the Internal Auditors and the Outside
Auditor:

(a) Significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with
the preparation of the Company’s financial statements;

(b) The clarity of the financial disclosures made by the Company;

(c) The development, selection, and disclosure of critical accounting estimates

and the analyses of alternative assumptions or estimates, and the effect of
such estimates on the Company’s financial statements;

d

=

Potential changes in GAAP and the effect such changes would have on the
Company’s financial statements;

(e) Significant changes in accounting principles, financial reporting policies and
internal controls implemented by the Company;

(f) Significant litigation, contingencies and claims against the Company and
material accounting issues that require disclosure in the Company’s financial
statements;

(g) Information regarding any “second” opinions sought by management from
an independent auditor with respect to the accounting treatment of a particu-
lar event or transaction;

(h) Management’s compliance with the company’s internal accounting and fi-
nancial controls and the recommendations of management, the Internal Au-
ditors and the Outside Auditor for the improvement of accounting practices
and internal controls; and

(i) The adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal accounting nd fi-
nancial controls and the recommendations of management, the Internal Au-
ditors and the Outside Auditor for the improvement of accounting practices
and internal controls; and

(j) Any difficulties encountered by the Outside Auditor or the Internal Auditors
in the course of their audit work, including any restrictions on the scope of
activities or access to requested information, and any significant disagree-
ments with management.

7. Discuss with management and the Outside Auditor the effect of regulatory and
accounting initiatives as well as off-balance sheet structures and aggregate con-
tractual obligations on the Company’s financial statements.

8. Discuss with management the company’s major financial risk exposures and the
steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures, including the
Company’s risk assessment and risk management policies.

9. Discuss with the Outside Auditor the matters required to be discussed by State-
ment on Auditing Standards (“SAS”) No. 61 relating to the conduct of the audit.
In particular, discuss:

(a) The adoption of, or changes to, the Company’s significant internal auditing
and accounting principles and practices as suggested by the Outside Auditor,
Internal Auditors or management; and

(b) The management letter provided by the Outside Auditor and the Company’s
response to that letter

10. Receive and review disclosures made to the Audit Committee by the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer during their certification
process for the Company’s Form 10-K and Form 10-Q about (a) any significant
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deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls or material weakness
therein, (b) any fraud involving management or other associates who have a sig-
nificant role in the Company’s internal controls and (c) any ignificant changes in
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of their evaluation. 3!

CREDIT GRANTORS
Importance of the Credit Grantors

Obviously, credit grantors are a significant group since they are a source of funds
to the enterprise. The group consists of both short-term and long-term lenders of
credit, such as banks, insurance companies, trade creditors, and bondholders.
Short-term creditors are concerned principally with the corporation’s ability to
maintain an adequate cash position because they expect to be paid in a short pe-
riod of time. Hence they focus their attention on the working capital position of the
enterprise, which represents the relationship between cash and near-cash assets,
such as short-term securities, receivables, inventories, and short-term liabilities.
Such information is central to this group’s decision-making process because the
particular assets may be converted readily into cash. Conversely, long-term credi-
tors are concerned not only with the corporation’s ability to generate cash but also
with its potential profitability. For example, they are interested in the ability of the
enterprise to secure a loan with the necessary assets in relationship to its commit-
ments and contingencies, such as a pending lawsuit. Thus credit grantors are pri-
marily interested in the current solvency position of the corporation and its
adherence to the loan covenants. In short, the major objective of the creditors is not
only to safeguard their claim against the assets of the enterprise but also to obtain
assurance with respect to the debt-paying ability of the corporation.

The Need for Accounting Information

Credit grantors need information on the financial and operational conditions of the
enterprise. To judge a credit risk or establish a line of credit, they focus their at-
tention on the financial statements as well as other sources of information, such as
Dun & Bradstreet or National Credit Office credit reports.

In a study of June 1978, Keith G. Stanga and James J. Benjamin concluded that:

1. Bankers assign considerable importance to the basic historical financial state-
ments as information sources for making term loan decisions. The comparative
income statement is ranked as the most important information item.

2. Bankers attribute a fairly high degree of importance to forecast information. This
suggests that accountants should continue striving to improve reporting standards
in this area.

3. In general, bankers assign a fairly high degree of importance to information re-
garding executory contracts. This suggests that the accounting profession should

3'Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Audit Committee Charter, 2003 (www.walmartstores.com), pp. 3-5.
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concern itself not only with the accounting and reporting problems associated
with leases, but also with other types of executory contracts, such as major pur-
chase commitments, labor contracts, and order backlogs.

4. Bankers consider general purchasing power financial statements as relatively
unimportant. As noted earlier, other studies have found that security analysts also
attribute little, if any, importance to these statements. Given the paramount nature
of user needs in financial accounting, it would seem that the FASB should care-
fully reconsider the usefulness of price-level statements before making this in-
formation mandatory in the future.

5. Bankers assign relatively little value to information on corporate social responsi-
bility and to financial breakdowns of amounts relating to human resources. These
feelings are present despite the tremendous interest shown by many accountants
in these areas in recent years.*

More recently, George Cox and associates report that “the recent spate of corpo-
rate disasters almost defies understanding.” Such companies have “credit lines
with premier lending institutions and yet, disaster struck without much warning to
investors, creditors, or employees.” They believe that “the audit committee should
meet with investment and commercial bankers, as well as rating agency personnel,
about the health of the organization.” For example, “are bank loans and credit lines
competitive, meeting ordinary and customary market terms? Strong oversight and
control are the best prescription for company health.”3

Role of the Audit Committee

Although the finance committee is responsible for the financial policies and pro-
gram, the audit committee should give attention to the financial reporting matters
concerning the credit lenders. The audit committee members are in a unique posi-
tion because they must monitor the accounting information that is related to the
corporation’s financial policies. In approaching the financial reporting task, the
committee should consult with the chairperson of the finance committee as well as
the chief financial officer. For example, the committee’s review of the loan agree-
ments and other commitments should be made in view of the preceding discussion
of the objectives of financial reporting and the information needs of the credit
grantors. Thus the audit committee should be concerned primarily with such mat-
ters as:

* The proper disclosure of the short-term and long-term obligations and any out-
standing commitments of the corporation

e The adherence to the loan covenants regarding the necessary working capital
ratios

* A summary of the sources of creditors’ equity and the related cost of debt

32Keith G. Stanga and James J. Benjamin, “Information Needs of Bankers,” Management Accounting
59, No. 12 (June 1978), p. 21. FASB No. 33 was rescinded in 1986 by FASB No. 89, which encour-
ages disclosure on a voluntary basis.

3George Cox, H. Stephen Grace, Jr., John E. Haupert, Peter Howell, and Ronald H. Wilcomes, “A
Prescription for Company Health,” CPA Journal 72, No. 7 (July 2002), pp. 62-63.
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A forecast of the proposed debt financing activities and repayment schedule
and its relationship to the stockholders’ equity

As William H. Dougherty, former president of NCNB Corporation, suggests:

The concern of all involved parties should be with the quality of disclosure—not its
quantity, and involved parties should be more vigorous than anyone else in cost/ben-
efit evaluations. . . . The increasing cost of audit and compliance is important be-
cause it raises corporate prices.**

In his article entitled “The Enron Affair from a Lender’s View,” Neville Grusd,

executive vice president of Merchant Factors, points out that “no one has men-
tioned the loss sustained by the creditors of Enron.” He notes that “most credit
grantors, however, rely upon the very financial statements” that the parties in the
public sector (the President, SEC, and Congress) are worrying about.

Grusd suggests the following to credit grantors:

“Become more active in accounting rule making through the American Bankers
Association and Commercial Finance Association.”

“If a lender knows the client is a major account of the CPA firm issuing its fi-
nancials, the lender should take the necessary steps to ensure the quality of the
financial reporting.”

With respect to review engagements, “lenders and accountants should discuss
the accountant’s procedures, then decide the extent to which the lender’s own
field exam should be extended to cover weak areas.”

Lenders should insist that the financial statements are prepared by “competent
and independent CPAs.”36

In addition to the issues already discussed, several Financial Accounting Stan-

dards Board Statements are relevant to credit grantors:

SFAS No. 95 “Statement of Cash Flows” (November 1987)
SFAS No. 105 “Disclosure of Information about Financial Instruments with

Off-Balance Sheet Risk and Financial Instruments with Con-
centration of Credit Risk” (March 1990)

SFAS No. 107  “Disclosure About Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (De-

cember 1991)

SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”

(June 1998)

3#William H. Dougherty, “Financial Reporting—A Banker Looks at the Scene,” Financial Executive
46, No. 12 (December 1978), p. 53.
3Neville Grusd, “The Enron Affair from a Lender’s View,” CPA Journal 72, No. 12 (December 2002),

p. 8.
Ibid., pp. 8-10.
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These accounting standards are summarized in the following paragraphs.

Reporting Cash Flows In November 1987, the FASB issued SFAS No. 95,
“Statement of Cash Flows.” The board recognized that a presentation of a com-
pany’s cash flows is a better measure of liquidity by the users of financial state-
ments. Prior to the issuance of SFAS No. 95, companies could present their funds
flow statement on either a working capital or a cash basis. Under the new ac-
counting standard, companies are required to classify cash flows as operating, in-
vesting, or financial activities.’” Management is required to provide additional
information on cash flows in its presentation of management’s discussion and
analysis of financial condition and results of operations. Although the FASB has
encouraged management to report cash flows from operating activities by the di-
rect method, which consists of classes of cash transactions, the indirect method is
commonly used. For example, Accounting Trends and Techniques—1990 dis-
closed that in 1989, 583 companies out of 600 used the indirect method.*® Under
this method, the net income is reconciled to net cash flow from operating activi-
ties by adjusting for deferrals, accrual, and noncash charges.

Financial Instruments In the late 1980s, the accounting treatment associated
with financial instruments and transactions received a great deal of attention be-
cause of the lack of financial accounting and disclosure standards. Typically, such
financial instruments were treated as off-balance-sheet financing arrangements or
unaccrued loss recognition in the financial statements. In March 1990, the FASB
issued SFAS No. 105, which deals with disclosures about off-balance-sheet risk,
credit risks, interest rates, and current market values of financial instruments.>® For
example, SFAS No. 105 requires companies to disclose concentrations of credit
risk from accounts receivable financing arrangements and other financial instru-
ments. In the event that there is nonperformance by the parties to the financing
arrangement, management is required to disclose the dollar amount of the loss re-
sulting from credit risk.*

Subsequent to the issuance of SFAS No. 105, in December 1991 the FASB is-
sued SFAS No. 107, which requires all financial and nonfinancial institutions to
disclose the fair value of financial instruments whether recognized in the balance
sheet or not. If management is unable to obtain the quoted market price of a finan-
cial instrument, then it may use the quoted market price of a similar instrument or
use a valuation technique, such as estimated future cash flows. Fair value disclosure

¥Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, “State-
ment of Cash Flows” (Stamford, CT.: FASB, 1987). See SFAS Nos. 102 and 104 for amendments.

3 American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Accounting Trends and Techniques—1990 (New
York: AICPA, 1990).

¥Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, No. 105,
“Disclosure of Information About Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk and Financial
Instruments with Concentrations of Credit Risk” (Norwalk, CT.: FASB, 1990).

“0For further review and discussion, see Chad F. Coben, “Implementing SFAS No. 105’s Disclosure
Requirements,” Journal of Commercial Lending 74, No. 7 (March 1992), pp. 13-23; and Nathan M.
Lubow, “New Disclosures FASB No. 105,” Secured Lender 48, No. 6 (November/December 1992),
pp. 112, 114.
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is required for financial instruments such as accounts and notes receivable and
payable, investment securities, options, future contracts, and interest rate swaps.*!

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which su-
persedes SFAS No. 105 and 119 and amends SFAS No. 107. In summary, this new
accounting standard requires that:

e All derivatives must be measured at fair value and recognized in the balance
sheet as assets or liabilities.

e With the exception for derivatives that qualify as hedges (fair value hedge,
cash-flow hedge, and foreign currency hedge), changes in the fair value of de-
rivatives must be recognized in income.

With respect to derivatives that qualify as hedges, management may elect to
use hedge accounting to defer gains or losses; however, it should be noted that
the deferral of such gains or losses depends on the effectiveness of the deriva-
tive in offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged item or changes in fu-
ture cash flows. In addition, the changes in the fair value of asset, liability, or
firm commitment being hedged must be recognized in income to the extent of
offsetting gains or losses on the hedged instrument.*

The use of market value accounting and the estimate of fair values may cause
positive or negative variability in income because of changes in the market values
and inaccurate estimates of fair values of financial instruments.

The 2002 annual report of a publicly held bank and the 2003 annual report of
the largest retailer included the following footnote disclosures.

Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the Company is a party to certain financial instru-
ments with off-balance-sheet risk, such as commitments to extend credit, unused
lines of credit and standby letters of credit. The Company’s policy is to record such
instruments when funded.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used by the company in estimating its
fair values for financial instruments for purposes of disclosure:

Cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable/payable: The car-
rying amounts reported in the consolidated statements of condition for these
instruments approximate fair value.

“Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, “Dis-
closures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (Norwalk, CT.: FASB, 1991). In October 1994,
the FASB issued SFAS No. 119, “Disclosure about Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value
Instruments.”

“’Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Ac-
counting for Derivatives Instruments and Hedging Activities” (Norwalk, CT.: FASB, 1998). With re-
spect to the different types of hedges, disclosure, and transition requirements, see SFAS No. 133. This
statement is effective for all fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. Also see
SFAS Nos. 138, 149, and 150 for amendments.
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Investment securities and FHLB stock: Fair values for investment securities
are based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes. The fair value of FHLB
stock is assumed to equal the carrying value since the stock is non-marketable
but redeemable at its par value.

Loans and loans held for sale: Fair values for loans are estimated using a dis-
counted cash flow analysis, based on interest rates approximating those cur-
rently being offered for loans with similar terms and credit quality.

Deposits: The fair values disclosed for non-interest-bearing accounts and ac-
counts with no stated maturities are, by definition, equal to the amount
payable on demand at the reporting date. The fair value of time deposits was
estimated by discounting expected monthly maturities at interest rates ap-
proximating those currently being offered on time deposits of similar terms.

Borrowings and trust preferred securities: the carrying amounts of repurchase
agreements and FHLB line of credit advances approximate fair value. Fair
values for FHLB term advances, other borrowings and trust preferred securi-
ties are estimated using discounted cash flows, based on current market rates
for similar borrowings.

Off-balance-sheet instruments: Off-balance-sheet financial instruments consist
of letters of credit and commitments to extend credit. Letters of credit and com-
mitments to extend credit are fair valued based on fees and interest rates cur-
rently charged to enter into agreements with similar terms and credit quality.

Note 10: Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company has used interest rate swap agreements (“swaps”) from time to time
as a part of its overall interest rate risk management strategy. At December 31, 2002,
and during the year then ended, the Company had no swaps outstanding. In 2001 and
2000, the swaps modified the repricing characteristics of certain brokered time de-
posit liabilities. Under the terms of the swaps, the Company received a fixed rate of
interest and paid a variable rate of interest. He swaps were entered into with a coun-
terparty that met the Company’s established credit standards and the agreements
contained collateral provisions protecting the at-risk party. The company considered
the credit risk inherent in these contracts to be negligible. The swaps matched the re-
lated brokered time deposits in notional/face amount, fixed interest rate, interest
payment date and maturity date.

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” Under SFAS No. 133, the swaps
were accounted for as fair value hedges of the brokered time deposit liabilities. The
swaps and the brokered time deposits were recorded at fair value on the consolidated
statement of condition. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 had no material impact on net
income or shareholders’ equity.*3

Financial Instruments

The company uses derivative financial instruments for hedging and non-trading pur-
poses to manage its exposure to interest and foreign exchange rates. Use of deriva-
tive financial instruments in hedging programs subjects the Company to certain risks,
such as market and credit risks. Market risk represents the possibility that the value
of the derivative instrument will change. In a hedging relationship, the change in the
value of the derivative is offset to a great extent by the change in the value of the

4BSB Bancorp, Inc., 2002 Annual Report, pp. 32, 39.
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underlying hedged item. Credit risk related to derivatives represents the possibility
that the counterparty will not fulfill the terms of the contract. Credit risk is monitored
through established approval procedures, including setting concentration limits by
counterparty, reviewing credit ratings and requiring collateral (generally cash) when
appropriate. The majority of the Company’s transactions are with counterparties
rated A or better by nationally recognized credit rating agencies.

Adoption of FASB 133

On February 1, 2001, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative and Hedging Activities” (FAS 133)
as amended. Because most of the derivatives used by the company at the date of
adoption were designated as net investment hedges, the fair value of these instru-
ments was included in the balance sheet prior to adoption of the standard. As a result,
the adoption of this standard did not have a significant effect on the consolidation fi-
nancial statements of the Company.

Fair Value Instruments

The Company enters into interest rate swaps to minimize the risks and costs associ-
ated with its financing activities. Under the swap agreements, the company pays vari-
able rate interest and receives fixed interest rate payments periodically over the life of
the instruments. The notional amounts are used to measure interest to be paid or re-
ceived and do not represent the exposure due to credit loss. All of the Company’s in-
terest rate swaps are designated as fair value hedges. In a fair value hedge, the gain or
loss on the derivative instrument as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged
item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings in the current period.
Ineffectiveness results when gains and losses on the hedged item are not completely
offset by gains and losses in the hedged instrument. No ineffectiveness was recog-
nized in fiscal 2003 related to these instruments. The fair value of these contracts is
included in the balance sheet in the line titled “Other assets and deferred charges.”

Net Investment Instruments

At January 31, 2003, the company is a party to cross-currency interest rate swaps that
hedge its net investment in the United Kingdom. The agreements are contracts to
exchange fixed rate payments in one currency for fixed rate payments in another cur-
rency. The Company also holds approximately GBP 1 billion of debt that is desig-
nated as hedges of net investment.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company terminated or sold cross-
country instruments that hedged portions of the Company’s investments in Canada,
Germany and the United Kingdom. These instruments had notional amounts of $6.7
billion. The Company received $1.1 billion in cash related to the fair value of the in-
struments at the time of the terminations. Prior to the terminations, these instru-
ments were classified as net investment hedges and had been recorded at fair value
as current assets on the balance sheet with a like amount recorded on the balance
sheet shareholders’ equity section in the line “other accumulated comprehensive in-
come.” No gain related to the terminations was recorded in the Company’s income
statement. The fair value of these contracts is included in the balance sheet in the line
titled “Other assets and deferred charges.”

Cash Flow Hedge

The Company entered into a cross-currency interest rate swap to hedge the foreign
currency risk of certain yen denominated intercompany debt. The company has en-



Credit Grantors 119

tered into a cross-currency interest rate swap related to U.S. dollar denominated debt
securities issued by a Canadian subsidiary of the Company. These swaps are desig-
nated as cash flow hedges of foreign currency exchange risk. No ineffectiveness was
recognized during fiscal 2003 related to these instruments. The Company expects that
the amount of gain existing in other comprehensive income that is expected to be re-
classified into earnings within the next 12 months will not be significant. Changes in
the foreign currency spot exchange rate result in reclassification of amounts from
other comprehensive income to earnings to offset transaction gains or losses on for-
eign denominated debt. The fair value of these hedges are included in the balance
sheet in the line titled “Other assets and deferred charges.”

Instrument Not Designated for Hedging

The Company enters into forward currency exchange contracts in the regular course
of business to manage its exposure against foreign currency fluctuations on cross-
border purchases of inventory. These contracts are generally for short durations of six
months or less. Although these instruments are economic hedges, the Company did
not designate these contracts as hedges as required in order to obtain hedge ac-
counting. As a result, the Company marks the contracts to market through earnings.
The fair value of these contracts is included in the balance sheet in the line titled
“Prepaid expenses and other.”

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Instrument Notional Amount Fair Value

(amounts in millions) 1/31/2003  1/31/2002 1/31/2003 1/31/2002

Derivative financial instruments
designated for hedging:

Receive fixed rate, pay floating
rate interest rate swaps
designated as fair value hedges $8,292 $3,792 $803 $172

Receive fixed rate, pay fixed rate

cross-currency interest rate

swaps designated as net invest-

ment hedges (FX notional

amount: GBP 795 at 1/31/2003

and 2002) 1,250 1,250 126 192

Receive fixed rate, pay fixed rate

cross-currency interest rate swap

designated as cash flow hedge

(FX notional amount: CAD 503

at 1/31/2003 and 2002) 325 325 8 8

Receive fixed rate, pay fixed rate

cross-currency interest rate swap

designated as cash flow hedge

(FX notional amount: JPY

52,056 at 1/31/2003 and 2002) 432 — 2 —

10,299 5,367 939 372
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Instrument Notional Amount Fair Value

(amounts in millions) 1/31/2003  1/31/2002 1/31/2003 1/31/2002

Derivative financial instruments

not designated for hedging:

Foreign currency exchange

forward contracts (various

currencies) 185 117 — —

Basis swap 500 500 2 1
685 617 2 1

Non-derivative financial

instruments:

Long-term debt 21,145 17,944 20,464 18,919

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount approximates fair value due to the
short maturity of these instruments.

Long term debt: Fair value is based on the Company’s current incremental borrow-
ing rate for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

Interest rate instruments and net investment instruments: The fair values are esti-
mated amounts the company would receive or pay to terminate the agreements as of
the reporting dates.

Foreign currency contracts: The fair value of foreign currency contracts are esti-
mated by obtaining quotes from external sources.**

REGULATORY AGENCIES
Importance of Regulatory Agencies

In a private enterprise economy, the corporation is a productive resource whereby
corporate management is engaged in the ultimate economic decisions regarding
the use of the enterprise’s economic resources. Such economic decisions are in-
fluenced by the various regulatory agencies, such as the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) and the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), so that manage-
ment is not totally independent. Moreover, regulatory agencies provide a compre-
hensive set of rules and regulations in order to control the enterprise as well as to
safeguard the interests of investors and the general public. For example, the ob-
jective of the Federal Trade Commission is to prevent monopolistic practices and
price discrimination in American industry. Also, several commissions supervise
certain industries, such as the utility and transportation industries, as well as the
area of labor-management relations. Particularly important is the government’s
regulation of the securities market and the taxation process. Such regulation is es-
sential to the economy to eliminate financial abuses and unfair practices in the pri-
vate sector. Thus the audit committee should be concerned with the reporting
requirements of the governmental regulatory agencies.

“Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 2003 Annual Report, pp. 40-42.
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The Need for Accounting Information

In order to formulate sound public policies, the regulatory commissions need ac-
counting information concerning the economic activities of the enterprise. In ad-
dition, they need accounting information to monitor the corporation’s compliance
with the governmental rules and regulations. Although there are many regulatory
agencies, of particular importance are the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the Federal Trade Commission.

Securities and Exchange Commission The principal purpose of the SEC
laws is to provide public disclosure of the relevant facts with respect to new secu-
rities and securities listed on the stock exchanges.* In particular, the SEC requires
aregistration statement that contains background information, such as the size and
competitive position of the corporation. Moreover, a prospective investor must be
furnished a prospectus, which is a summary of the registration statement. For ex-
ample, the prospectus will contain such matters as the offering price of the secu-
rities, the use of the proceeds by the registrant, and the financial statements.*®
Furthermore, the SEC requires periodic reports from the corporations in order to
update its files on each corporation. Such periodic reports include the annual re-
port (10-K) and interim reports (10-Q and 8-K).*

The SEC annual Form 10-K report is used to update the information that is in-
cluded in the registration statement. This report must be filed within 90 days of the
end of a registrant’s fiscal year. The report contains this information:

Part [—Item
1. Business
2. Properties
3. Legal proceedings
4. Submission of matters to a note of security holders

Part II—Item
5. Market for the registrant’s common stock and related stockholder matters
6. Selected financial data
7. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of
operations
7a. Quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk
Financial statements and supplementary data
9. Changes in and disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial
disclosure

@

#Such rules of law are contained in the Accounting Series Releases, Staff Accounting Bulletins, and
Financial Reporting Releases of the SEC.

4For a complete description of all the items in the prospectus, see Part I of Form S-1, which is the reg-
istration statement.

4ISee Appendix C on this book’s website for further information. For further details and description of
all forms, see Regulation S-X and Regulation S-K. Copies may be obtained from the U.S. Govern-
ment Printing Office.
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Part III—Item

10. Directors and executive officers of the registrant

11. Executive compensation

12. Security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management
13. Certain relationships and related transactions

14. Controls and procedures

Part IV—Item
15. Exhibits, financial statement schedules, and reports on Form 8-K

Signatures
Certification (Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Section 302)
Certification (Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Section 906)

The SEC quarterly Form 10-Q report is used to report interim changes in the
financial position and the results of operating the corporation. This particular re-
port must be filed within 45 days after the close of each of the first three quarters
for nonaccelerated filers (market capitalization of $75 million or less).

Accelerated filers are required to file their annual report on Form 10-K within
60 days of their fiscal year-end and their quarterly report on Form 10-Q within 35
days of their quarter-end. The new SEC requirement allows for a three-year phase-
in of the new rules.*®

With respect to the financial information, the report contains information on
the preparation of financial information, reviews by the independent public ac-
countants, and other financial information. Concerning other information, the re-
port discloses information on such matters as legal proceedings, changes in
securities, and other materially important events.

The SEC Form 8-K report is an interim or current report that contains infor-
mation with respect to certain significant special events. For example, a change in
the independent accounting firm must be reported within two business days sub-
sequent to the change. Other events include such items as a change in control of
the registrant or significant legal proceedings. This report is particularly important
since it provides timely information regarding the disclosure of material events.
Consequently, the SEC needs accounting information not only to monitor man-
agement’s compliance with its rules but also to protect the investing public.

SEC Topical Developments

The SEC has focused on a number of financial reporting areas that relate to the
audit committee’s oversight responsibility. The more significant developments in
these reporting areas are discussed in the next paragraphs.

“For further information on additional reportable events, see Securities and Exchange Commission,
Acceleration of Periodic Report Filing Dates and Disclosure Concerning Website Access to Reports,
August 27, 2002, www.sec.gov.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis The quality of information re-
ported to the SEC concerning Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in the registrant’s filings has
been of major concern to the investing public and to the SEC. In response, the SEC
issued Financial Reporting Release No. 36, which is an interpretive release re-
garding disclosures required by Item 303 of Regulation S-K with respect to the
registrants’ filings containing Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.*’ Based on a review project of such filings,
the Commission found that several key disclosure matters, namely, prospective in-
formation, liquidity and capital resources analysis, material changes in financial
statement line items, and business segment analysis, should be considered by reg-
istrants in preparing MD&A disclosures. Apparently the SEC determined that in-
terpretive guidance is needed for disclosures concerning the aforementioned
matters.

The SEC requires management to discuss favorable or unfavorable trends, sig-
nificant events, and uncertainties that impact the various reporting areas. Given
that MD&A reporting is highly subjective and that management must comply
with Item 303 of Regulation S-K, the question is frequently asked: Is the objective
of the MD&A disclosure requirement being accomplished? Clearly, the MD&A
narrative discussion is the appropriate vehicle to provide early warning signals or
red flags to the investing public. As a case in point, Management Accounting re-
cently observed that the SEC issued an order complaining about a registrant’s
MD&A reporting that did not tell investors that nearly 23 percent of its 1989 earn-
ings came from a foreign subsidiary unit—a situation that would not recur. James
Adelman of the SEC’s Enforcement Division stated, “It will no longer be accept-
able for companies to use ‘boilerplate’ language in MD&As when they know un-
folding developments will have an effect on corporate earnings in the future.”>

In addition to management’s involvement with the preparation of MD&A, in-
dependent auditors must review this information to ensure that the narrative dis-
cussion is not inconsistent with their findings and conclusions regarding their
audit report. For example, if management knows of events, trends, or uncertainties
that are reasonably likely to occur, then such information should be reported under
prospective information. Conversely, if management concludes that events, trends,
or uncertainties are not reasonably likely to occur, then no disclosure is required.

#Securities and Exchange Commission, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi-
tion and Results of Operations; Interpretive Release,” Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Secs.
211, 231, 241, and 271 (June 1989), pp. 1-44. See Chapter 10 for additional discussion about the ap-
plication of critical accounting policies.

Stephen Barlas, “SEC Cracks Down on MD&A Sections,” Management Accounting 73, No. 12
(June 1992), p. 8. See Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Release No. 363 (March 31, 1992), 51
SEC Docket 300. Also see Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 8, “Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis” (New York: AICPA, 1998), which provides guidance to independent
accountants engaged to examine or review MD&A as well as the use of agreed-on procedures; Reva
B. Steinberg and Judith Fellner Weiss, “New Rules on Disclosure of Certain Significant Risks and Un-
certainties,” CPA Journal 65, No. 3 (March 1995), pp. 16-20; SEC’s interpretation on year 2000 enti-
tled, Disclosure of Year 2000 Issues and Consequences by Public Companies, Investment Advisers,
Investment Companies, and Municipal Securities Issues (Washington, DC: SEC, 1998).



124 The External Users of Accounting Information

Thus the reasonably likely standard, and whether management knows of the
trends, events, or uncertainties, determines whether such information is disclosed.
If management anticipates such trends, events, or uncertainties, then disclosure is
optional under prospective information. Professional auditing standards, in partic-
ular SAS No. 59, “The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue
as a Going Concern,” dictate that the independent auditors do have the power to
issue an unqualified audit report with an explanatory paragraph describing the ma-
terial uncertainty.’' This type of audit report gives a warning signal or a red flag to
the investing public with respect to the financial condition of the company. An-
thony B. Billings and Larry D. Crumbley assert that auditors have a role in sig-
naling a going concern problem. Their role is governed by SAS No. 59, which
advances categories of conditions that may arise, including adverse financial ra-
tios, negative trends, and loan defaults.> Moreover, John E. Ellingsen, Kurt Pany,
and Peg Fagan point out that “an auditor may have designed and performed audit
procedures—such as analyzing liquidity ratios—to ascertain whether the entity is
complying with certain loan covenants. Evaluation of the liquidity ratios not only
assists the auditor vis-a-vis the loan covenants but also helps the auditor evaluate
whether the ratios raise doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.”> Of course, the auditor must consider the conditions and events in the
aggregate, so that unfavorable liquidity ratios coupled with declining profitability
ratios and increased debt-solvency ratios may cause substantial doubt about the
entity’s going concern ability. Accordingly, SAS No. 59 requires that the inde-
pendent auditors evaluate, in every audit engagement, whether there is substantial
doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Given the continuing debate over business failure versus audit failure and the
continued number of lawsuits against well-known publicly held companies and
public accounting firms, it is imperative that the audit committee focus its atten-
tion on MD&A disclosures in the financial reporting process. The committee
should (1) review and discuss the SEC’s mandate concerning MD&A reporting
and (2) evaluate management’s compliance with the SEC’s mandated disclosures
and its interpretive release. Clearly, one would expect the audit committee to help
improve the quality of MD&A disclosures in light of the SEC’s interpretive re-
lease. This subject is further discussed in Chapter 10.

An example of disclosure of critical accounting policies of Wal-Mart Stores,
Inc. is as follows:

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies

Management strives to report the financial results of the Company in a clear and un-
derstandable manner, even though in some cases accounting and disclosure rules are
complex and require us to use technical terminology. We follow generally accepted
accounting principles in the U.S. in preparing our consolidated financial statements.

SStatement of Auditing Standards, No. 59, “The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Con-
tinue as a Going Concern” (New York: AICPA, 1988).

2Anthony B. Billings and Larry D. Crumbley, “Financial Difficulties of Governmental Units,” CPA
Journal 58, No. 7 (October 1988), p. 52.

3John E. Ellingsen, Kurt Pany, and Peg Fagan, “SAS No. 59: How to Evaluate Going Concern,” Jour-
nal of Accountancy 168, No. 1 (January 1989), p. 27.
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These principles require us to make certain estimates and apply judgments that affect
our financial position and results of operations. Management continually reviews its
accounting policies, how they are applied and how they are reported and disclosed in
our financial statements. Following is a summary of our more significant accounting
policies and how they are applied in preparation of the financial statements.

Inventories

We use the retail last-in, first -out (LIFO) inventory accounting method for the Wal-
Mart Stores segment, cost LIFO for the SAM’S CLUB segment and other cost mea-
sures, including the retail first-in, first-out (FIFO) and average cost methods, for the
international segment. Inventories are not recorded in excess of market value. Histor-
ically, we have rarely experienced significant occurrences of obsolescence or slow-
moving inventory. However, future changes in circumstances, such as changes in
customer merchandise preference or unseasonable weather patterns, could cause the
company’s inventory to be exposed to obsolescence or be slow-moving.

Financial Instruments

‘We use derivative financial instruments for purposes other than trading to reduce our
exposure to fluctuations in foreign currencies and to minimize the risk and cost as-
sociated with financial and global operating activities. Generally, the contract terms
of hedge instruments closely mirror those of the item being hedged, providing a high
degree of risk reduction and correlation. Contracts that are highly effective at meet-
ing the risk reduction and correlation criteria are recorded using hedge accounting.
On February 1, 2001, we adopted financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) State-
ments No. 133, 137, and 138 (collectively “FAS 133”) pertaining to the accounting
or derivatives and hedging activities. FAS 133 requires all derivatives, which are fi-
nancial instruments used by the Company to protect (hedge) itself from certain risks,
to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value and establishes accounting treatment
for hedges. If a derivative instrument is a hedge, depending on the nature of the
hedge, changes in the fair value of the instrument will either be offset against the
change in fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities, or firm commitment through
earnings or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is rec-
ognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of an instrument’s change in fair value
will be immediately recognized in earnings. Most of the company’s interest rate
hedges qualify for the use of the “short-cut” method of accounting to assess hedge ef-
fectiveness. The Company uses the hypothetical derivative method to assess the ef-
fectiveness of certain of its net investments and cash flow hedges. Instruments that do
not meet the criteria for hedge accounting or contracts for which we have not elected
hedge accounting are marked to fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported
currently in earnings. Fair values are based upon management’s expectation of future
interest rate curves and may change based upon changes in those expectations.

Impairment of Assets

We periodically evaluate long-lived assets other than goodwill for indicators of im-
pairment and test goodwill for impairment annually. Management’s judgments re-
garding the existence of impairment indicators are based on market conditions and
operational performance. Future events could cause management to conclude that im-
pairment indicators exist and that the value of long-lived assets and goodwill associated
with acquired businesses is impaired. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment annually
under the provisions of FAS 142 which requires us to make judgments relating to fu-
ture cash flows and growth rates as well as economic and market conditions.
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Revenue Recognition

We recognize sales revenue at the time a sale is made to the customer, except for the
following types of transactions. Layaway transactions are recognized when the cus-
tomer satisfies all payment obligations and takes possession of the merchandise. We
recognize SAM’S CLUB membership fee revenue over the 12-month term of the
membership. Customer purchases of Wal-Mart/SAM’S CLUB shopping cards are
not recognized until the card is redeemed and the customer purchases merchandise
using the shopping card. Defective merchandise returned by customers is either re-
turned to the supplier or is destroyed and reimbursement is sought from the supplier.

Insurance/Self-Insurance

We use a combination of insurance, self-insured retention, and/or self-insurance for
a number of risks including workers’ compensation, general liability, vehicle liabil-
ity and employee-related health care benefits, a portion of which is paid by the As-
sociates. Liabilities associated with the risks that we retain are estimated in part by
considering historical claims experience, demographic factors, severity factors and
other actuarial assumptions. The estimated accruals for these liabilities could be sig-
nificantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these assumptions
and historical trends.

For a complete listing of our accounting policies, please see Note 1 to our consoli-
dated financial statements that appear after this discussion.*

Disagreements with the Independent Auditors®®> As noted in Part II, Item
9, of the SEC annual 10-K report, a registrant is required to disclose disagreements
on accounting and financial disclosure between management and the independent
auditors. In addition, the SEC requires a registrant to file a Form 8-K and the in-
dependent auditors’ response with respect to reporting the reasons for changes in
independent auditors. This action on the part of the SEC, coupled with Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 50, “Reports on the Application of Accounting Princi-
ples,” is designed to restrict management from audit opinion shopping. Thus,
when the principal auditor’s client company requests a report on the application of
an accounting principle from another accounting firm, the reporting auditor is re-
quired to consult with the principal auditor.® Such an auditing standard helps en-
sure the independent auditor’s independence.

Environmental Liabilities®” The board of directors has oversight responsibil-
ity to determine that management is complying with environmental laws. In some
industries with significant environmental exposure, board committees may be

S*Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 2003 Annual Report, pp. 22-23.

3See Jerry E. Serlin, “Shopping Around: A Closer Look at Opinion Shopping,” Journal of Account-
ing, Auditing & Finance 9, No. 1 (Fall 1985), pp. 74-80.

Statement on Auditing Standards, No. 50, “Reports on the Application of Accounting Principles”
(New York: AICPA, 1986), par 1.

>TA National Priority List of potentially responsible parties (PRPs) is issued by the U.S. Environmen-
tal Protection Agency on an annual basis. See also the SEC’s SAB No. 92, “Accounting and Disclosures
Relating to Loss Contingencies,” and the AICPA’s Accounting Standard Executive Committee, State-
ment of Position (SOP) No. 96-1, “Environmental Remediation Liabilities” (New York: AICPA, 1996).
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appointed to deal with the issue. Whether the full board or a committee is as-
signed this responsibility, the audit committee should determine that environ-
mental costs and liabilities are properly reflected in the financial statements and
related disclosure.

The committee may recommend to the board the establishment and monitor-
ing of an environmental auditing program. See Chapter 10 for further discussion
of this subject.

Executive Compensation Disclosure On October 15, 1992, the SEC adopted
amendments to the executive officer and director compensation disclosure re-
quirements applicable to proxy statements, registration statements, and periodic
reports (e.g., 10-Qs and 10-K) under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (Release Nos. 33-6962, 34-31327, and IC-19032 applica-
ble to Regulation S-K).*® In sum, executive compensation disclosures for the chief
executive officer and the four other highest-paid executives are now required.
Although the compensation committee of the board of directors has oversight
responsibility for executive compensation plans, the audit committee should be as-
sured that management has complied with the SEC’s new disclosure requirements.
The National Association of Corporate Directors has issued the Report of the
NACD Blue Ribbon Commission on Executive Compensation: Guidelines for Cor-
porate Directors. The disclosure requirements are summarized as follows:

A summary table containing detailed information on the total compensation for the
last three years of the CEO and the four other most highly paid executives (whose an-
nual compensation exceeds $100,000—up from the $60,000 in effect since 1983).

A compensation committee report describing the factors affecting the committee’s de-
cisions regarding executive compensation, and the rationale for CEO compensation.

A performance graph comparing the company’s five-year shareholder returns with
those of other companies.

Option/SAR tables disclosing various information regarding stock options and stock
appreciation rights (SARs) including potential appreciation rates and the unrealized
gains on outstanding options.

Other revisions require expanded disclosure of beneficial ownership of a registrant’s
securities by its executives, incentive stock option repricing, potential lack of inde-
pendence of compensation committee members, and details of new compensation
plans subject to shareholder approval. Required tables and graphs are included in the
Appendices of this report.>

3Securities and Exchange Commission, “Executive Compensation Disclosure,” Title 17, Code of Fed-
eral Regulations, Parts 228, 299, 240, and 249 (October 1992). In November 1993, the SEC amended
its executive compensation disclosure rules to address such matters as executives covered, restricted
stock holdings, option valuations, and peer group index. See the Federal Register 58, No. 227 (No-
vember 29, 1993), pp. 63010 and 63017, for further details.

*National Association of Corporate Directors, Report of the NACD Blue Ribbon Commission on Ex-
ecutive Compensation: Guidelines for Corporate Directors (Washington, DC: NACD, 1993), p. 21.
See also Report of the NACD Blue Ribbon Commission Executive Compensation: Guidelines for
Corporate Directors (Washington DC: NACD, 2000); the NASD’s Compensation Committee Manual
(Washington DC: NACD, 2002); and James Redda, The Compensation Committee Handbook (New
York: John Wiley & Sons, 2000).
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Federal Trade Commission The major objective of the FTC is to police the
business community to eliminate unfair methods of competition. Essentially, the
FTC is involved with the enforcement of the antitrust laws, such as the Sherman and
Clayton acts. Furthermore, the FTC administers the laws concerning the Robinson-
Patman Act. The Robinson-Patman Act prohibits big businesses from exploiting
their small competitors through price discrimination and quantity discounts. Thus
the FTC needs accounting information regarding distribution costs and related prices
to ensure that the corporation is not engaged in unlawful pricing practices.

Role of the Audit Committee

Since the corporate annual report and the SEC annual 10-K report must be exam-
ined by the independent public accountants, the audit committee should review
these reports with the accountants from a compliance perspective. For example,
the audit committee should be concerned with the protection of the corporation’s
interest against penalties or fines regarding any noncompliance with the laws,
such as environmental protection laws. Such penalties can be very costly and re-
duce the earnings performance of the enterprise. Indeed, there are a myriad of
complex laws and regulations affecting the corporation. The members of the com-
mittee may not have the necessary legal expertise to determine if the firm is com-
plying with the laws. Accordingly, it may be advisable for the committee to retain
the corporation’s in-house counsel or outside legal counsel to gain assurance re-
garding management’s compliance. Such assistance will enable the committee to
be aware of the effect of certain laws on the corporation and thus avoid expensive
or embarrassing fines or penalties. More specifically, the audit committee must
make an informed judgment on management’s efforts to comply with the laws
through a review of the corporation’s history of compliance and the necessary
managerial corrective actions. Thus the committee can minimize the firm’s non-
compliance liability based on the above procedures.

OTHER OUTSIDE CONSTITUENCIES
Importance of Other Outside Constituencies

With respect to the significance of the other external users of accounting informa-
tion, the American Assembly concluded that:

[e]lmployees should be regarded as a crucial part of the constituency of the corpora-
tion. Employee interests will be better served by various means, such as collective
bargaining, direct communications, and participative management approaches rather
than by direct employee representation on boards of directors

Consumers have large roles to play. They act as advance guideposts to the needs and
expectations of the marketplace. Corporations which enhance their long-term prof-
itability should build relationships with future customers.®

®The American Assembly, Corporate Governance in America, Pamphlet 54 (New York: The Ameri-
can Assembly, 1978), p. 6.
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Thus it may be appropriate for corporate management to share the accounting
information with the above groups, since such groups not only provide services
but also receive the goods and services from the enterprise. Because such groups
are vital to the successful operation of the corporation, management should con-
sider sharing its accounting information concerning the economic performance of
the enterprise. Although there is no uniform pattern in communicating financial
accounting information to employees, it may be desirable to consider a special an-
nual report for employees. Similarly, some managements may consider making
available a copy of the annual report to special consumer interest groups.

Through an overview of the importance and the need for accounting informa-
tion, the audit directors can contribute to improving the effectiveness of the audit
function in society. Moreover, the Business Roundtable noted that:

The central corporate governance point to be made about a corporation’s stakehold-
ers beyond the shareholder is that they are vital to the long-term successful economic
performance of the corporation. Some argue that only the interests of the sharehold-
ers should be considered by directors. The thrust of history and law strongly supports
the broader view of the directors’ responsibility to carefully weigh the interests of all
stakeholders as part of their responsibility to the corporation or to the long-term in-
terests of its shareholders.

Resolving the potentially differing interests of various stakeholders and the best
long-term interest of the corporation and its shareholders involves compromises and
tradeoffs which often must be made rapidly. It is important that all stakeholder in-
terests be considered, but impossible to assure that all will be satisfied because com-
peting claims may be mutually exclusive.°!

The Need for Accounting Information

A corporation’s stakeholders need accounting information in order to judge man-
agement’s economic decisions and performance. For example, employees are in-
terested in the solvency position of the corporation since they expect to receive
wages in return for their services. Moreover, they are interested in the enterprise’s
image as a corporate citizen of society. Similarly, consumers need accounting in-
formation regarding the present and future economic status of the corporation be-
cause they rely on the enterprise to provide the necessary goods and services to the
community.

Role of the Audit Committee

To enhance the communication process between the enterprise and stakeholder
groups, the committee should consult with the executive in charge of the public re-
lations program. For example, the audit directors should satisfy themselves that
the information in any special annual reports to employees is consistent with the
financial information in the annual or quarterly reports. In addition, the audit com-
mittee should review management’s commentary in the special reports in view of

'The Business Roundtable, Corporate Governance and American Competitiveness, p. 4.
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the quantitative characteristics of financial reporting. As a participative manage-
ment approach, the committee may suggest an employee report whereby the fi-
nancial information is related to each employee. Such reports enhance not only the
employee’s perception of the organization but also his or her work attitude since
both corporate management and the employees are contributing to the organiza-
tional goals.

Furthermore, the audit directors should determine that adequate management
controls exist with respect to the release of special financial reports to the general
public, such as newspaper and other releases, to ensure that such releases are ap-
propriate and consistent with the company’s policies and plans. In some instances,
it may be desirable to clear such distribution of financial information with the
audit committee.

AICPA Position

The board of directors of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
reported a strategy for making financial reports more useful:

Financial decision-makers confront change on a daily basis. The integration of finan-
cial markets, the impact of technology, the entry of new competitors, the introduction
of new and more complex financial products—all of these have made investing a dif-
ferent business than it was just a few years ago. These innovations automatically
bring with them changes in the kind of financial information needed. If the account-
ing profession is to fulfill its obligation to the public, it must not remain static.

The AICPA has launched an effort to ensure that financial reporting moves with the
times. Our Special Committee on Financial Reporting is looking at far-reaching ways
to make financial reports more relevant to the realities of today’s marketplace by an-
ticipating the financial information needs of the 21st century. This is a wide-ranging
and intensive effort. We are ruling out no possibilities as we examine what changes to
the existing accounting model should be made to meet user needs in the short and
long term. We expect the Special Committee to complete its work within a year.

In the interim, we are taking more immediate steps to improve the utility of financial
reports. In this fast-changing economic environment, investors can’t afford to look
only backwards. They need to anticipate. To serve this need, the AICPA’s Account-
ing Standards Executive Committee, consistent with a recommendation by the POB
[Public Oversight Board], has issued a proposal to require management to disclose
risks and uncertainties that could significantly affect the company’s operations or fi-
nancial condition. We urge AcSEC [Accounting Standards Executive Committee] to
complete its work with all deliberate speed.

To provide further assurance to the investing public, we join the POB in calling for
a statement by management, to be included in the annual report, on the effectiveness
of the company’s internal controls over financial reporting, accompanied by an au-
ditor’s report on management’s assertions. An assessment by the independent audi-
tor will provide greater assurance to investors as to management’s statement. The
internal control system is the main line of defense against fraudulent financial re-
porting. The investing public deserves an independent assessment of that line of de-
fense, and management should benefit from the auditor’s perspective and insights.
We urge the SEC to establish this requirement.
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Finally, the SEC should require audit committees to include a statement in the annual
report describing their responsibilities and how these responsibilities were dis-
charged. This will increase the attention that audit committee members give their
crucial responsibilities. It will also increase the attention paid to their views by man-
agement and other directors.®

IMPORTANT DEVELOPMENTS IN BUSINESS REPORTING
AND ASSURANCE SERVICES

This section briefly highlights and discusses the findings and conclusions of two
major studies conducted by the AICPA Special Committee on Financial Reporting
(Jenkins Committee) and the AICPA Special Committee on Assurance Services
(Elliott Committee). The major objective of this review discussion is to provide an
understanding of the issues and emerging trends impacting the public accounting
profession that, in turn, are of particular concern to audit committees in the latter
half of the 1990s.

In 1991, a Special Committee on Financial Reporting (Jenkins Committee)
was established by the AICPA to study the need for a new financial reporting
model in response to the information needs of users. After completing a three-year
study of the financial reporting system in the United States, in 1994 the AICPA
Special Committee on Financial Reporting issued its final comprehensive report
(202 pages) and summary report (20 pages), entitled Improving Business Report-
ing—A Customer Focus: Meeting the Information Needs of Investors and Credi-
tors. As part of the AICPA’s broad initiative to improve the value of business
information and the public’s confidence in the financial reporting process, the
study examined the relevance and usefulness of business reporting and the inde-
pendent auditors’ association with that type of reporting. The Committee set forth
these recommendations with respect to four broad categories:

1. Improving the Types of Information in Business Reporting

Recommendation 1: Standard setters should develop a comprehensive model of
business reporting indicating the types and timing of information that users need
to value and assess the risk of their investments.

Recommendation 2: Improve understanding of costs and benefits of business
reporting, recognizing that definitive quantification of costs and benefits is not
possible.

2. Financial Statements and Related Disclosures
Recommendation 1: Improve disclosure of business segment information.

Recommendation 2: Address the disclosures and accounting for innovative fi-
nancial instruments.

%2American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Meeting the Financial Reporting Needs of the
Future: A Public Commitment from the Public Accounting Profession (New York: AICPA, 1993), pp.
3—4. Also see the AICPA Special Committee on Financial Reporting report, The Information Needs of
Investors and Creditors (New York: AICPA, 1993).
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Recommendation 3: Improve disclosures about the identity, opportunities, and
risks of off-balance-sheet financing arrangements and reconsider the accounting
for those arrangements.

Recommendation 4: Report separately the effects of core and non-core activities
and events, and measure at fair value non-core assets and liabilities.

Recommendation 5: Improve disclosures about the uncertainty of measurements
of certain assets and liabilities.

Recommendation 6: Improve quarterly reporting by reporting on the fourth quar-
ter separately and including business segment data.

Recommendation 7: Standard setters should search for and eliminate less relevant
disclosures.

3. Auditor Association with Business Reporting

Recommendation 1: Allow for flexible auditor association with business report-
ing, whereby the elements of information on which auditors report and the level
of auditor involvement with those elements are decided by agreement between a
company and the users of its business reporting.

Recommendation 2: The auditing profession should prepare to be involved with
all the information in the comprehensive model, so companies and users can call
on it to provide assurance on any of the model’s elements.

Recommendation 3: The newly formed AICPA Special Committee on Assurance
Services should research and formulate conclusions on analytical commentary in
auditors’ reports within the context of the Committee’s model, focusing on users’
needs for information.

Recommendation 4: The profession should continue its projects on other matters
related to auditor association with business reporting.

=

Facilitating Change in Business Reporting

Recommendation 1: National and international standard setters and regulators
should increase their focus on the information needs of users, and users should be
encouraged to work with standard setters to increase the level of their involve-
ment in the standard-setting process.

Recommendation 2: U.S. standard setters and regulators should continue to work
with their non-U.S. counterparts and international standard setters to develop in-
ternational accounting standards, provided the resulting standards meet users’
needs for information.

Recommendation 3: Lawmakers, regulators, and standard setters should develop
more effective deterrents to unwarranted litigation that discourages companies
from disclosing forward-looking information.

Recommendation 4: Companies should be encouraged to experiment voluntarily
with ways to improve the usefulness of reporting consistent with the Committee’s
model. Standard setters and regulators should consider allowing companies that
experiment to substitute information specified by the model for information cur-
rently required.

%3 American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Improving Business Reporting—A Customer
Focus, Meeting the Information Needs of Investors and Creditors (New York: AICPA, 1994),
123-127.
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Recommendation 5: Standard setters should adopt a longer term focus by devel-
oping a vision of the future business environment and users’ needs for informa-
tion in that environment. Standards should be consistent directionally with that
long-term vision.

Recommendation 6: Regulators should consider whether there are any alterna-
tives to the current requirement that public companies make all disclosures pub-
licly available.

Recommendation 7: The AICPA should establish a Coordinating Committee
charged to ensure that the recommendations in this report are given adequate con-
sideration by those who can act on them.®

As aresult of the Special Committee’s report, standard setters, regulators, pro-
fessional organizations, professional practitioners, and academicians need to focus
their attention on the points of view on the Committee’s recommendations. This
report has a wealth of information concerning the business reporting model and a
comprehensive illustration of the Committee’s recommendations. Audit commit-
tees should review these recommendations, with particular emphasis on the ele-
ments of the Committee’s model of business reporting relative to the current
model of financial reporting. Additionally, they should discuss the implications for
independent auditors.

Recognizing that audit committees have oversight responsibilities for the exter-
nal audit process, it is desirable to review the Special Committee’s form of report
that would be issued by the independent auditors. To improve the independent audi-
tors’ communications about their role and responsibility, the Committee attempted
to articulate an illustrative audit report. This type of report is shown in Exhibit 3.1.

The Committee’s proposed audit report is different in several ways from the
standard independent auditors’ report. First, the introductory paragraph mentions
“core earnings” and the audit of the five-year summary of business data and other
descriptions. Additionally, the auditors are expressing their opinion on these pre-
sentations as opposed to only financial statements. Second, the auditors would be
required to substitute the word presentation for financial statement in the scope
paragraph. Finally, the auditors would be required to express two opinions with re-
spect to both financial and nonfinancial data.

Notwithstanding the FASB’s current model of financial reporting, the Special
Committee has offered 20 recommendations and a comprehensive model of busi-
ness reporting. In fact, the Committee goes beyond the full disclosure principle
with a requirement for disclosure of nonfinancial data. Of course, the major ob-
jective is to minimize information overload within the cost-benefit constraint.
Moreover, the Committee has broadened the attest function with respect to seven
sections of the annual report, as noted in the proposed auditors’ report. Regarding
flexible auditors’ association with business reporting, the Special Committee rec-
ommends that the AICPA Special Committee on Assurance Services and the Au-
diting Standards Board pursue the subject of alternative levels of assurance within
the Committee’s reporting framework. In sum, the Committee’s report is a signif-
icant step in the continuous process of improving financial reporting; however,
many preparers of financial statements would argue that the cost of implementing
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Exhibit 3.1 Report of Independent Accountants

This example illustrates the form of report that would be issued if the independent ac-
countant had been engaged to render an opinion on the entire FauxCom annual report, al-
though this may not always be the case.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of FauxCom, Inc. as of
December 31, 1993, and 1992, and the related consolidated statements of core earnings
and net income, cash flows, and stockholders’ equity for each of the two years in the pe-
riod ended December 31, 1993. We also audited the five-year summary of business data,
the description of information about management and shareholders, and the scope and de-
scription of the Company’s businesses accompanying the financial statements. These fi-
nancial statements, five-year summary and descriptions are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these presentations
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the information presented is free of material misstatement. An audit in-
cludes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures pre-
sented. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of FauxCom, Inc. as of December 31, 1993, and 1992, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 1993, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. It is also
our opinion that the five-year summary and descriptions referred to above are fairly pre-
sented, in all material respects, in conformity with the applicable standards.

As part of the audit, we also performed such audit procedures as we considered neces-
sary to evaluate management’s assumptions and analyses and the preparation and presen-
tation of the information in the following sections of the annual report:

o Current year review

* Management’s analysis of financial and non-financial data

* Opportunities and risks, including those resulting from key trends

e Management’s plans, including critical success factors

* Comparison of actual business performance to previously disclosed forward-looking in-
formation

* Broad objectives and strategies

e Impact of industry structure on the Company

In our opinion, the accompanying sections described above are presented in conformity
with the respective standards of presentation, and management has a reasonable basis for
the underlying assumptions and analyses reflected in the aforementioned sections.

February 15, 1994
Boston, Massachusetts

Source: American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Comprehensive Report of the Special
Committee on Financial Reporting (New York: AICPA, 1994), p. 184.
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the recommendations would be prohibitive. Moreover, it is reasonable to expect
that many nonpublic companies, particularly small companies, would have diffi-
culty with the Committee’s proposals.

In 1995, the AICPA established the Financial Reporting Coordinating Com-
mittee to coordinate actions taken on the recommendations made by the Jenkins
Committee. Although the Coordinating Committee held a symposium (fall 1996)
to continue the discussion of Jenkins Committee’s Comprehensive Model for
Business Reporting, the debate between the financial statement preparers and
users about the aforementioned recommendations continues. However, the Audit-
ing Standards Board has issued a Statement on Standards for Attestation Engage-
ments (SSAE) No. 8, Management’s Discussion and Analysis (March 1998), in
response to the Jenkins Committee’s recommendations. Therefore, financial state-
ment preparers and users can engage the accounting profession to provide assur-
ance on the elements of the Comprehensive Model for Business Reporting.®*

In 1994, a Special Committee on Assurance Services (Elliott Committee) was
established by the AICPA to study and report on the current and future assurance
needs of all users of both financial statements and nonfinancial information for de-
cision making. After completing a three-year study of the attestation and assurance
processes in the United States, this Special Committee completed its work at the
end of December 1996. Similar to the previously mentioned Financial Reporting
Coordinating Committee, an Assurance Services Committee was formed by the
AICPA to follow up on the findings and conclusions made by the Elliott Commit-
tee and communicate new assurance opportunities for AICPA members. The con-
cept of assurance services includes all attestation services with a particular
emphasis on enhancing the quality of information through individualized services
for decision-making purposes.

As a basis for developing the new concept of assurance services, the Elliott
Committee studied such research areas as users’ needs for information, mega-
trends impacting such needs for information, information technology affecting
the use of information, and practitioner competencies needed to provide the nec-
essary assurance on the aforementioned information.

Based on the above research areas, the Elliott Committee developed business
plans for six initial assurance services, including:

* Risk Assessment. This service assures that an entity’s profile of business risks
is comprehensive and evaluates whether the entity has appropriate systems in
place to manage those risks effectively.

* Business Performance Measurement. This service evaluates whether an en-
tity’s performance measurement system contains relevant and reliable mea-
sures for assessing the degree to which the entity’s goals and objectives are
achieved or how its performance compares to its competitors.

%For further discussion regarding an examination, review, or an agreed-on procedure engagement, see
SSAE No. 8. Also see James L. Craig, “The CPA Journal Symposium on Recommendations for Im-
proving Business Reporting,” CPA Journal 65, No. 1 (January 1995), pp. 18-27; Daniel J. Noll and
Jerry J. Weygandt, “Business Reporting: What Comes Next?” Journal of Accountancy 183, No. 2
(February 1997), p. 59.
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e Information Systems Reliability. This service assesses whether an entity’s in-
ternal information systems (financial and nonfinancial) provide reliable infor-
mation for operating and financial decisions.

e Electronic Commerce. This service assesses whether systems and tools used in
electronic commerce provide appropriate data integrity, security, privacy, and
reliability.

* Health Care Performance Measurement. This service provides assurance about
the effectiveness of health care services provided by health maintenance orga-
nizations (HMOs), hospitals, doctors, and other providers.

e Elder Care Plus. This service assesses whether specified goals regarding care
for the elderly are being met by various caregivers.%

Finally, audit committee members should be aware that, in September 1997,
the AICPA and the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants implemented an
electronic commerce service called the CPA Web Trust (a seal of assurance for on-
line customers that a business adheres to standards for disclosure, transaction in-
tegrity, and information protection). See the AICPA web site, www.aicpa.org, or
the Committee’s report, which is available on CD-ROM.%

Indeed, there is little doubt that the AICPA’s call for action will further impact
on the duties and responsibilities of audit committee members.

In October 2002, the General Accounting Office (GAO) issued a report entitled
Financial Statement Restatements: Trends, Market Impacts, Regulatory Responses,
and Remaining Challenges. The GAO reported that a number of well-publicized
announcements about financial statements restatements by large, well-known pub-
lic companies have erased billions of dollars of previously reported earnings and
raised questions about the credibility of accounting practices and the quality of
corporate final disclosure and oversight in the United States.®’

In sum, the GAQO’s principal findings were:

e The number of restatements due to accounting irregularities grew signifi-
cantly—by 145 percent—from January 1997 through June 2002.

e The 845 restating companies identified by the GAO had restated their financial
statements to adjust revenues, costs, or expenses or to address securities-
related issues.

» Issues involving revenue recognition accounted for almost 38 percent of the re-
statements.

% American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Special Committee on Assurance Services,
www.aicpa.org, 1996.

%Also see Robert K. Elliott, “The Future of Assurance Services: Implications for Academia,” Ac-
counting Horizons 9, No. 4 (December 1995), pp. 118-127; Robert K. Elliott and Donald M. Pallais,
four-part series dealing with the future of Assurance Services, Journal of Accountancy 183, Nos. 6, 7,
8,9 (June, July, August, September 1997).

7U.S. General Accounting Office, Financial Statement Restatements: Trends, Market Impact, Regula-
tory Responses, and Remaining Challenges GAO-03-138, October 4, 2002, www.gao.gov/gao-03-138.
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* Of the 845 restating companies, 689 companies lost billions of dollars in mar-
ket capitalization in the days around the initial reinstatement announcement.%®

Recognizing that these losses have shaken investors’ confidence in the nation’s
financial reporting system, the GAO believes that the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
addresses the financial statement restatements concerns, including strengthening
corporate governance and improving transparency and accountability to help en-
sure the accuracy and integrity of its financial reporting system.

Given the recent failures of major corporations, such as Enron, WorldCom,
Adelphia, and Global Crossing, the government’s increased scrutiny of the ac-
counting profession and the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 have
triggered many new legal and regulatory reforms, as discussed in Chapter 1 and
Chapter 2. Notwithstanding the demise of the AICPA’s Independence Standards
Board, Public Oversight Board, and the Auditing Standards Board, for publicly
held companies the new Public Company Accounting Oversight Board not only
will have oversight and enforcement authority, but also will promulgate auditing,
quality control, and independence standards for the accounting profession. His-
torically, many of the AICPA’s Special Committees on financial reporting and
POB’s blue ribbon panels and committees have served as platforms for the is-
suance of standards and rules.

It is not known to what extent the new PCAOB will promulgate standards and
rules to close the expectations gap. However, the need for reliable and relevant fi-
nancial information remains of utmost importance to ensure an efficient capital
market system.

In an effort to enhance financial reporting and provide guidance for the partic-
ipants in the financial reporting process (financial statement preparers, auditors,
and audit committees), the five largest accounting firms in he United States and the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants set forth these recommended
actions as common goals:

Management

* Ensure the proper tone at the top and an expectation that only the highest-quality
financial reporting is acceptable.

¢ Review all elements of the company’s internal control—control environment,
risk assessment, control activities, information and communication, and moni-
toring—in light of changes in the company’s business environment and with par-
ticular attention to significant financial statement areas.

e Ensure the appropriate levels of management involvement and review exist over
key accounting policy and financial reporting decisions.

e Establish a framework for open, timely communication with the auditors and the
audit committee on all significant matters.

e Strive for the highest quality, most transparent accounting and disclosure—not
just what is acceptable—in both financial statements and MD&A.

Tbid., p. 1.



138 The External Users of Accounting Information

* Make sure estimates and judgments are supported by reliable information and the
most reasonable assumptions in the circumstances, and that processes are in place
to ensure consistent application from period to period.

* Record identified audit differences.
¢ Base business decisions on economic reality rather than accounting goals.

* Expand the depth and disclosure surrounding subjective measurements used in
preparing the financial statements, including the likelihood and ramifications of
subsequent changes.

*  When faced with a “gray” area, consult with others, consider the need for SEC
pre-clearance, and focus on the transparency of financial reporting.

Auditors

e Understand how a company is affected by changes in the current business
environment.

e Understand the stresses on the company’s internal control over financial report-
ing, and how they may impact its effectiveness.

e Identify key risk areas, particularly those involving significant estimates and
judgments.

e Approach the audit with objectivity and skepticism, notwithstanding prior expe-
riences with or belief in management’s integrity.

e Pay special attention to complex transactions, especially those presenting difficult
issues of form versus substance.

* Consider whether additional specialized knowledge is needed on the audit team.
* Make management aware of identified audit differences on a timely basis.
¢ Question the unusual and challenge anything that doesn’t make sense.

» Foster open, ongoing communications with management and the audit commit-
tee, including discussions about the quality of financial reporting and any pres-
sure to accept less than high-quality financial reporting.

*  When faced with a “gray” area, perform appropriate procedures to test and cor-
roborate management’s explanations and representations, and consult with others
as needed.

Audit Committees

* Evaluate whether management exhibits the proper tone at the top and fosters a
culture and environment that promotes high-quality financial reporting, including
addressing internal control issues.

* Question management and auditors about how they assess the risk of material
misstatement, what the major risk areas are, and how they respond to identified
risks.

e Challenge management and the auditors to identify the difficult areas (e,g., sig-
nificant estimates and judgments) and explain fully how they each made their
judgments in those areas.

* Probe how management and the auditors have reacted to changes in the com-
pany’s business environment.
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¢ Understand why critical accounting principles were chosen and how they were
applied and changed, and consider the quality of financial reporting and the trans-
parency of disclosures about accounting principles.

¢ Challenge management for explanations of any identified audit differences not
recorded.

¢ Understand the extent to which related parties exist and consider the transparency
of the related disclosures.

¢ Read the financial statements and MD&A to see if anything is inconsistent with
your own knowledge.

¢ Consider whether the readers of the financial statements and the MD&A will be
able to understand the disclosures and the risks of the company without the ac-
cess to management that the committee enjoys.

e Ask the auditors about pressure by management to accept less than high-quality
financial reporting.

¢  When faced with a “gray” area, increase the level of communication with man-
agement and the auditors.

Management, auditors, and audit committees each must diligently fulfill its own role
and effectively work together with the others through proactive communication and
information sharing. In working together, we can collectively improve the financial
reporting process. This requires renewed commitment by each of the parties to the
needs of financial statement users.®
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Chapter 4

The Legal Position of the
Audit Committee

Recall from the discussion in Chapter 2 that the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
the SEC final rules regarding the composition, roles, and responsibilities of audit
committees have established a specific body of law that governs audit committees.
Likewise, the legal obligations of audit committee members are manifested in
state corporation laws and certain other federal statutes regarding directorate re-
sponsibilities. The purpose of this chapter is to review the general legal responsi-
bilities of the committee as well as several legal cases involving the committee. In
addition, securities litigation (see Exhibit 4.1) and the guidelines for minimizing
the committee’s possible legal liability are presented to put the legal position of the
audit directors in proper perspective.!

The latter portion of Chapter 2 described the legal environment of audit com-
mittees under the federal statute and amendments to the federal securities laws. Al-
though the legal provisions are not repeated in this chapter, these three points are
reemphasized:

1. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act significantly increases the audit committee’s respon-
sibilities, including the cost of directors and officers liability insurance.

2. To help the boards of directors fulfill their fiduciary responsibilities to the
stockholders, audit committees should consider their use of authority under
Section 301 of the act to engage independent counsel and other advisers. In
contrast, the audit committee’s legal responsibilities under general corporate
law are similar because they may rely on accounting, legal, or other experts
when acting in good faith. Such action could be considered an act of due dili-
gence. Such inaction could be considered an act of malfeasance.

3. Finally, the roles, responsibilities, and functions of audit committees should be
specific and in compliance with the laws and regulations. The major objective
is to avoid additional responsibilities that make the audit committee members
vulnerable to claims of a breach of fiduciary responsibilities. (For further in-
formation regarding such matters as the business judgment rule, see the
Delaware Court of Chancery, In Re Caremark International Inc. Derivative
Litigation, 698 A. 2d 959 (Del. Ch. 1996) and the section on legal cases in this
chapter. Also see William C. Powers, Report of Investigation by the Special
Investigative Committee of the Board of Directors of Enron Corporation (Feb-
ruary 1, 2002) at www.news.findlaw.com/hdocs/docs/enron/sicreport/).

! Although reference is made to both the federal and state statutes, such references provide only a de-
scription of the law. One should have recourse to legal counsel for the appropriate legal interpretation.
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GENERAL LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES
State Statutes

Although the board of directors has the statutory power to establish standing
committees of the board, several state corporation laws limit the board’s powers to
delegate authority and responsibility. For example, the New York statute provides
that:

... No such committee shall have authority as to the following matters:

1. The submission to shareholders of any action that needs shareholder’s authoriza-
tion under this chapter

2. The filling of vacancies in the board of directors or in any committee

3. The fixing of compensation of the directors for serving on the board or on any
committee

4. The amendment or repeal of the bylaws, or the adoption of new bylaws

5. The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the board which by its terms shall
not be so amendable or repealable?

Thus the audit committee has limited authority; however, such authority is dis-
cretionary because the audit directors can exercise their own judgment in the in-
terest of the board. Moreover, the audit committee, since it is formally constituted,
is free to meet in between the board meetings.

More important, each member of the board of directors and the standing com-
mittees has a statutory duty of care because of the fiduciary relationship between
the directors and the corporation. With respect to the duties of the directors and of-
ficers, the New York statute indicates:

Directors and officers shall discharge the duties of their respective positions in good
faith and with that degree of diligence, care and skill which ordinarily prudent men
would exercise under similar circumstances in like positions. In discharging their du-
ties, directors and officers, when acting in good faith, may rely upon financial state-
ments of the corporation represented to them to be correct by the president or the
officer of the corporation having charge of its books of accounts, or stated in a writ-
ten report by an independent public or certified public accountant or firm of such ac-
countants fairly to reflect the financial condition of such corporations.?

Furthermore, since the directors serve the corporation in a fiduciary capacity,
their statutory duty of care cannot be delegated because of the personal nature of
the director’s relationship with the corporation. Hence although the audit com-
mittee can make recommendations to the entire board, the final decisions are made
by the board because it has overall responsibility for the committee’s actions. In
short, the standing committees of the board cannot eliminate each director’s duties
and obligations because of the fiduciary principle.

2New York Business Corporation Law, Sec. 712, McKinney’s Consolidated Laws of New York Anno-
tated, Book 6 (Brooklyn, NY: Edward Thompson Company, 1963).
3Ibid., Sec. 717.
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Particularly important to the concept of the duty of care is the degree of care.
To measure its reasonableness, several state corporation laws provide a business
judgment rule. Such a rule protects the directors against personal liability on the
presumption that they acted not only in good faith but also exercised reasonable
care and prudence regarding their decisions. Thus, in the absence of fraud, bad
faith, or negligence, a director cannot be held personally liable concerning matters
of corporate policy and business judgment.*

Furthermore, the directors may be personally liable for negligence with respect
to losses suffered by the corporation.’ The directors can be held jointly and sever-
ally liable to the corporation whereby an injured stockholder or creditor can re-
cover a loss from the individual director, several directors, or the full board. For
example, if the directors vote to declare dividends from the corporation’s capital
rather than from its retained earnings, then they are liable because their actions
constitute an unauthorized dividend distribution.®

Equally important, directors have a duty of loyalty regarding their activities
with the corporation. They cannot exploit the corporation for personal gain be-
cause of their fiduciary relationship. For example, if a director has a personal in-
terest in a particular corporate transaction, then the director should disassociate
him- or herself from the transaction because of the apparent conflict of interest.
Thus, each director has an “undivided loyalty and an allegiance” with respect to
the interests of the corporation and stockholders.”

Moreover, in 1978 the American Bar Association amended Section 35 of its
Model Business Corporation Act, which, if adopted as part of the state corporation
statutes, increases a director’s reliance on the board’s standing committees. Specif-
ically, the amendment provides that a director may rely on the information that is
presented by a committee although the director is not a member of this group.
Such reliance on the board committee is based on the director’s confidence in the
committee. However, when relying on the committee, the director must adhere to
the duty-of-care principle whereby the director should be familiar with the com-
mittee’s activities. In short, the amendment allows a director to rely on the work
of a committee that has an oversight or supervisory responsibility, such as the audit
committee. Accordingly, the amendment poses certain questions regarding the
legal implications of the committee since it appears that a noncommittee director
may be exonerated from any potential liability provided that he or she has exer-
cised his or her duty of care.?

“Ibid.

For example, if it can be proven that a director has breached his or her fiduciary duty to the corpora-
tion, then the director may be held personally liable for the losses suffered by the corporation.

®New York Business Corporation Law, Sec. 719.

Ibid., Sec. 717.

8American Bar Association, Corporate Director’s Guidebook (Chicago: ABA, 1978), p. 42. Also see
American Bar Association, Corporate Director’s Guidebook, 2nd ed. (Chicago: ABA, 1994). Finally,
the reader may wish to review the Escott v. BarChris Construction Corp. case, 283 F, Supp. 643
(S.D.N.Y. 1968), which deals with the standard of differential liability. In short, the court states that a
director with a particular expertise and access to information may be held to a higher standard of liabil-
ity. Of course, the performance of individual audit committee members is based on their skills and qual-
ifications and access to information. Thus a member with an accounting background would be more
aware of the accounting and auditing implications than would be a member without this expertise.
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The state of Connecticut has enacted legislation that requires companies in-
corporated with at least 100 stockholders to establish an audit committee. In
Sections 33-318(b)(1) and 33-318(b)(2), the statute defines the standard of inde-
pendence and the functions of the audit committee. See the Connecticut General
Statutes Annotated in West 1960 and Supplement 1985 (Eagan, MN.: West Pub-
lishing Corporation) for further details.

In 1984, the American Bar Association adopted a Revised Model Business
Corporation Act. In 1998, the American Bar Association adopted the Model Busi-
ness Corporate Act. Section 8.25 of the act stipulates that a board of directors may
create standing committees, such as an audit committee. This stipulation is con-
sistent with the statutory provisions at the state level. In addition, Section 8.3(0),
which deals with the standards of conduct for directors, indicates that a director is
entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports, or statements—including finan-
cial statements—prepared by officers of the corporation and public accountants. A
director is also entitled to rely on the opinions of legal counsel as well as on the
work of a standing committee of the board of which he or she is not a member.
Thus the American Bar Association has reaffirmed its position with respect to
good-faith reliance on officers, public accountants, legal counsel, and committee
members of the board. (See Appendix F on this book’s website.)

Federal Statutes—Key Sections

In addition to their legal responsibilities at the state level, the directors have a legal
liability at the federal level. The federal statutes that are particularly important are
summarized below.

Securities Act of 1933 Although this particular act provides financial infor-
mation regarding the public sale of securities, it is needed “to prohibit misrepre-
sentation, deceit, and other fraudulent acts and practices in the sale of securities.”
In particular, this act provides for civil liability of the directors with respect to
fraud in the registration statement. Section 11(a) of the act provides that:

(1) In case any part of the registration statement, when such part became effective,
contained an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact
required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statement therein not mis-
leading, any person acquiring such security (unless it is proved that at the time
of such acquisition he knew of such untruth or omission) may, either at law or in
equity, in any court of competent jurisdiction, sue—

(2) Every person who was a director of . . . the issuer at the time of the filing of the

part of the registration statement . . .'°

°Securities and Exchange Commission, The Work of the Securities and Exchange Commission (Wash-
ington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1974), p. 1.
100.S. Code, Title 15, Sec. 77k.
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In order to avoid any liability, Sections 11(b) and 11(c) of the act provide:

Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section no person, other
than the issuer, shall be liable as provided therein who shall sustain the burden of
proof

(1) that before the effective date of the part of the registration statement with respect
to which his liability is asserted (A) he had resigned from or had taken such steps
as are permitted by law to resign from, or ceased or refused to act in, every office,
capacity, or relationship in which he was described in the registration statement
as acting or agreeing to act, and (B) he had advised the Commission and the is-
suer in writing that he had taken such action and that he would not be responsi-
ble for such part of the registration statement; or

(2) that if such part of the registration statement became effective without his knowl-
edge, upon becoming aware of such fact he forthwith acted and advised the Com-
mission, in accordance with paragraph (1) of this subsection, and, in addition,
gave reasonable public notice that such part of the registration statement had be-
come effective without his knowledge, or

(3) that (A) as regards any part of the registration statement not purporting to be
made on the authority of an expert, and not purporting to be a copy of or extract
from a report or valuation of an expert, and not purporting to be made on the au-
thority of a public official document or statement, he had, after reasonable inves-
tigation, reasonable ground to believe and did believe, at the time such part of the
registration statement became effective, that the statements therein were true and
that there was no omission to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; and (B) as regards any
part of the registration statement purporting to be made upon his authority as an
expert or purporting to be a copy of or extract from a report or valuation of him-
self as an expert, (i) he had, after reasonable investigation, reasonable ground to
believe and did believe at the time such part of the registration statement became
effective, that the statements therein were true and that there was no omission to
state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the state-
ments therein not misleading, or (ii) such part of the registration statement did not
fairly represent his statement as an expert or was not a fair copy of or extract from
his report or valuation as an expert; and (C) as regards any part of the registration
statement purporting to be made on the authority of an expert (other than himself)
or purporting to be a copy of or extract from a report or valuation of an expert
(other than himself), he had no reasonable ground to believe and did not believe,
at the time such part of the registration statement became effective, that the state-
ments therein were untrue or that there was an omission to state a material fact re-
quired to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading, or that such part of the registration statement did not fairly represent
the statement of the expert or was not a fair copy of or extract from the report of
valuation of the expert; and (D) as regards any part of the registration statement
purporting to be a statement made by an official person or purporting to be a copy
of or extract from a public official document, he had no reasonable ground to be-
lieve and did not believe, at the time such part of the registration statement be-
came effective, that the statements therein were untrue, or that there was an
omission to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading, or that such part of the registration
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statement did not fairly represent the statement made by the official person or was
not a fair copy of or extract from the public official document.

In determining, for the purpose of paragraph (3) of subsection (b) of this section,
what constitutes reasonable investigation and reasonable ground for belief, the stan-
dard of reasonableness shall be that required of a prudent man in the management of
his property.'!

Furthermore, Section 12 of the act provides additional liability regarding any
transactions that are false or misleading in connection with the issuance of the
securities. Thus a director has not only a potential liability with respect to the reg-
istration statement but also a liability concerning the written and/or oral represen-
tations in the offering prospectus.'?

Section 13 of the act establishes a limitation in order to enforce a civil action
against the wrongdoers.

No action shall be maintained to enforce any liability created under section 77k or
771 (2) of this title unless brought within one year after the discovery of the untrue
statement or the omission, or after such discovery should have been made by the ex-
ercise of reasonable diligence, or, if the action is to enforce a liability created under
section 771 (1) of this title, unless brought within one year after the violation upon
which it is based. In no event shall any such action be brought to enforce a liability
created under section 77k or 771 (1) of this title more than three years after the se-
curity was bona fide offered to the public, or under section 771 (2) of this title more
than three years after the sale.'?

Finally, these penalties may be assessed under the Securities Act of 1933.

Any person who willfully violates any of the provisions of this subchapter, or the
rules and regulations promulgated by the Commission under authority thereof, or
any person who willfully, in a registration statement filed under this subchapter,
makes any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact re-
quired to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not mislead-
ing, shall upon conviction be fined not more than $5,000 or imprisoned not more
than five years, or both.'*

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The primary purpose of this act is to regu-
late the public sales of the securities through the securities exchanges or brokers
after the original sale of the securities. This act also provides the impetus for the
Securities and Exchange Commission. More specifically, Section 18 of the act
provides this liability for misleading statements:

(a) Any person who shall make or cause to be made any statement in any applica-
tion, report, or document filed pursuant to this chapter or any rule or regulation
thereunder or any undertaking contained in a registration statement as provided

Ibid., Sec. 77 k.

12U.8S. Code, Title 15, Sec. 771.
13U.S. Code, Title 15, Sec. 77m.
14U.S. Code, Title 15, Sec. 77x.
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in subsection (d) of section 780 of this title, which statement was at the time and
in the light of the circumstances under which it was made false or misleading
with respect to any material fact, shall be liable to any person (not knowing that
such statement was false or misleading) who, in reliance upon such statement,
shall have purchased or sold a security at a price which was affected by such
statement, for damages caused by such reliance, unless the person sued shall
prove that he acted in good faith and had no knowledge that such statement was
false or misleading. A person seeking to enforce such liability may sue at law or
in equity in any court of competent jurisdiction. In any such suit the court may,
in its discretion, require an undertaking for the payment of the costs of such suit,
and assess reasonable costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees, against either
party litigant.

(c) No action shall be maintained to enforce any liability created under this section

unless brought within one year after the discovery of the facts constituting the
cause of action and within three years after such cause of action accrued."

In contrast to the 1933 act, a plaintiff must prove that he or she relied on a mis-
statement of fact or omission of fact in the financial statements and as a result suf-
fered a loss.

Furthermore, Section 10(b) of the act establishes an antifraud provision, which
indicates that it is illegal “to use or employ . . . any manipulative or deceptive de-
vices” regarding the security transactions.!® Equally important, the SEC enacted
Rule 10 (b)-5, which provides the following:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means . . .
(a) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,

(b) to make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading, or,

(c) toengage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would op-
erate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with purchase or sale
of any security.!”

Thus Rule 10 (b)-5 can hold directors liable primarily because of clause (b). In
short, this particular rule increases the director’s liability, which did not exist under
the provisions of the act.

In addition, the 1934 act provides these penalties:

(a) Any person who willfully violates any provision of this chapter, or any rule or
regulation thereunder the violation of which is made unlawful or the observance
of which is required under the terms of this chapter, or any person who willfully
and knowingly makes, or causes to be made, any statement in any applica-
tion, report, or document required to be filed under this chapter or any rule or

15U.S. Code, Title 15, Sec. 78r.
16U.S. Code, Title 15, Sec. 78j.
"Code of Federal Regulations, Sec. 240, 10(b)-5.
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regulation thereunder or any undertaking contained in a registration statement as
provided in subsection (d) of section 780 of this title, which statement was false
or misleading with respect to any material fact, shall upon conviction be fined
not more than $10,000, or imprisoned not more than two years, or both, except
that when such person is an exchange, a fine not exceeding $500,000 may be im-
posed; but no person shall be subject to imprisonment under this section for the
violation of any rule or regulation if he proves that he had no knowledge of such
rule or regulation.'®

Several additional federal acts are briefly set forth below. (See Chapter 1 for
other congressional legislation and Appendixes E and F for the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act with amendments and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
Improvement Act of 1991 on this book’s website.)

The Private Securities Reform Act of 1995

During the latter half of 1995, Congress enacted the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 based on House bill 1058 and Senate bill 240. The major ob-
jective of this reform legislation was to curb the number of abusive securities class
action suits. Of particular interest to audit committees is Section 301, “Fraud De-
tection and Disclosure,” and Section 10A, “Audit Requirements.” While Section
10A does not expand the auditors’ responsibility to detect fraud or illegal acts, it
does require auditors who detect illegal acts to report their findings to the Securi-
ties and Exchange Commission if the client company fails to take appropriate re-
medial action on such acts that have a material effect on the financial statements.
If the necessary remedial action has not been taken, the auditors are required to no-
tify the board of directors in writing. Based on these events, the board is required
to submit the report to the SEC within one business day. If the board fails to no-
tify the SEC, then the auditors are required to submit their report to the SEC the
next business day.'”

Fraud and False Statements Act

Whoever, in any matter within the jurisdiction of any department or agency of the
United States knowingly and willfully falsifies, conceals or covers up by any trick,
scheme, or device a material fact, or makes any false, fictitious or fraudulent state-
ments or representations, or makes or uses any false writing or document knowing
the same to contain any false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry, shall be
fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.?

180.S. Code, Title 15, Sec. 78ff.

9The act is contained in Title 1 of Public Law No. 104-67, December 22, 1995. Sections 301 and 10A
are contained in Title 3 of Public Law No. 104-67, December 22, 1995. For further discussion, see the
act with respect to such matters as proportionate liability, safe harbor for forward-looking statements,
and loss causation principle. Also see the U.S. Federal Sentencing Commission’s Federal Sentencing
Guidelines for Organizations (Washington, DC: U.S. Federal Sentencing Commission, 1990) for an
expanded discussion on encouraging effective programs to prevent and detect violations of law; Ed-
ward J. Boyle and Fred N. Knopf, “The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, CPA Jour-
nal 66, No. 4 (April 1996), pp. 44—47; and Daniel L. Goldwasser, “The Private Securities Act of 1995:
Impact on Accountants,” CPA Journal 67, No. 6 (June 1997), pp. 72-75.
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Mail Fraud Act

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or
for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, repre-
sentations, or promises, or to sell, dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, dis-
tribute, supply, or furnish or produce for unlawful use any counterfeit or spurious
coin, obligation, security, or other article, or anything represented to be or intimated
to or held out to be such counterfeit or spurious articles, for the purpose of execut-
ing such scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in any post office or au-
thorized depository for mail matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or
delivered by the Postal Service, or takes or receives therefrom, any such matter or
thing, or knowingly causes to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon,
or at the place at which it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom it is ad-
dressed, any such matter or thing, shall be fined not more than $1,000 or imprisoned
not more than five years, or both.?!

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or
for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, represen-
tations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or
television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, sig-
nals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be
fined not more than $1,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.??

Conspiracy Act

If two or more persons conspire to commit any offense against the United States, or
to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose,
and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each
shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.

If, however, the offense, the commission of which is the object of the conspiracy, is
a misdemeanor only, the punishment for such conspiracy shall not exceed the max-
imum punishment provided for such misdemeanor.?

Income Taxes?*

Any person who:

1. Declaration under penalties of perjury. Willfully makes and subscribes any re-
turn, statement or other document, which contains or is verified by a written de-
claration that it is made under the penalties of perjury, and which he does not
believe to be true and correct as to every material matter; or

2. Aid or assistance. Willfully aids or assists in, or procures, counsels or advises
the preparation or presentation under, or in connection with any matter arising
under, the internal revenue laws, of a return, affidavit, claim or other document,

20U.S. Code, Title 18, Sec. 1001.

21 Tbid., Sec. 1341.

21bid., Sec. 1343.

2 Ibid., Sec. 371.

2Tt may be advisable to request the outside auditors to remind executives that tax returns must be
filed. The audit committee should make certain that the returns were filed appropriately through dis-
cussions with the auditors.
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which is fraudulent or is false as to any material matter, whether or not such fal-
sity or fraud is with the knowledge or consent of the person authorized or re-
quired to present such return, affidavit, claim or document; or

3. Fraudulent bonds, permits, and entries. Simulates or falsely or fraudulently
executes or signs any bond, permit, entry, or other document required by the pro-
visions of the internal revenue laws, or by any regulation made in pursuance
thereof, or procures the same to be falsely or fraudulently executed or advises,
aids in, or connives at such execution thereof; or

4. Removal or concealment with intent to defraud. Removes, deposits, or conceals,
or is concerned in removing, depositing, or concealing any goods or commodities
for or in respect whereof any tax is or shall be imposed, or any property upon which
levy is authorized by section 6331, with intent to evade or defeat the assessment or
collection of any tax imposed by this title; or

5. Compromises and closing agreements. In connection with any compromise under
section 7122, or offer of such compromise, or in connection with any closing agree-
ment under section 7121, or offer to enter into any such agreement, willfully—

A. Concealment of property. Conceals from any officer or employee of the United
States any property belonging to the estate of a taxpayer or other person liable in re-
spect of the tax, or

B. Withholding, falsifying, and destroying records. Receives, withholds, destroys,
mutilates, or falsifies any book, document, or record, or makes any false state-
ment, relating to the estate or financial condition of the taxpayer or other person
liable in respect of the tax; shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction
thereof, shall be fined not more than $5,000, or imprisoned not more than 3 years,
or both, together with the cost of prosecution.?

Any person who willfully delivers or discloses to the Secretary or his delegate any
list, return, account, statement, or other document, known by him to be fraudulent or
to be false as to any material matter, shall be fined not more than $1,000, or impris-
oned not more than 1 year, or both. Any person required pursuant to sections 6047
(b) or (c), 6056, or 6104 (d) to furnish any information to the Secretary or any other
person who willfully furnishes to the Secretary or such other person any information
known by him to be fraudulent or to be false as to any material matter shall be fined
not more than $1,000, or imprisoned not more than 1 year, or both.?

LEGAL CASES INVOLVING THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the 1970s and 1980s, litigation involving the audit committee exemplified
the significance of the audit director’s role. The Securities and Exchange Com-
mission’s increased enforcement of the provisions of the federal securities laws
has imposed greater professional responsibilities on the committee. As one notable
conservative columnist and editor stated, “The evolution of the director’s respon-
sibility is running ahead of inflation. . . . The contemporary director is supposed to
know more about accounting . . . and more about the law.”?’ Several legal cases are

ZInternal Revenue Code, Sec. 7206.
20Ibid., Sec. 7207.
27“Firing Line,” Time (February 19, 1979), p. 51.
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briefly reviewed in order to demonstrate the philosophy of the courts and the SEC
with respect to the audit committee.

The Penn Central Case

On August 3, 1972, the SEC released its study regarding the financial collapse of
the Penn Central Company to a Special Subcommittee on Investigations of the
House of Representatives. With respect to the role of the directors, the SEC found
that the directors had a passive role in company affairs. They avoided confrontation
with management on issues that were critical to testing the integrity of management
and to providing adequate disclosure to the stockholders. For example, the com-
pany’s CFO was involved in a lawsuit that claimed improper, unlawful conduct in
connection with a subsidiary and a private investment club. Although the board au-
thorized an investigation, it later cancelled the investigation because the CFO
threatened to resign. As a result, the financial management was permitted to oper-
ate without any effective review of control by the board.?® In particular, the Com-
mission noted that the directors have a responsibility to obtain from management
information that is adequate in both “quantity and quality” in order to discharge
their state corporate legal liability. For example, a new director indicated that “lists
of new equipment did not particularly help him discharge his responsibilities and
thus information regarding the corporate objectives and plans was necessary to do
the job.’? Furthermore, the Commission emphasized the “critical importance” of
the director’s responsibility as well as “greater utilization of public and independent
directors.” Such independent directors should be judged on the “reasonableness of
their judgment.”>® Thus the Commission’s findings and conclusions point toward
the need for an advisory committee of outside directors. The audit committee would
fulfill this particular purpose.

Lum’s, Inc. Case

On April 11, 1974, the SEC obtained a consent injunction from the U.S. District
Court against Lum’s, Inc. whereby the registrant “agreed not to employ any ma-
nipulative scheme to defraud and not to commit any proxy fraud in connection
with future acquisitions of businesses or business assets.” More specifically, the
court ordered that the registrant had to include this information in its registration
or proxy statement:

=

The identity of the individuals who control the acquired business

2. Any material consideration to be paid for the acquiring business in addition to
the purchase price

3. Any material information known indicating that the earnings of an acquired

business were affected by the failure of management to maintain proper ac-

counting records and internal controls

28Commerce Clearing House, Federal Securities Law Reporter, par. 78,931.
2Ibid.
Nbid.
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Furthermore, the registrant had to establish a standing audit committee to review
the accountant’s evaluations of the system of internal controls and to review other
casino activities in terms of personnel and security. The court required that the
audit committee consist of two or more members of the board of directors who are
not officers or employees of the company.?! The Lum’s consent injunction is of
particular importance because it was the impetus toward the establishment of a
standing audit committee through court action.

Mattel, Inc. Case

In the Mattel case of SEC v. Mattel, Inc. (October 1, 1974), the Commission
sought a consent injunction against the registrant for false financial reporting. The
Commission charged not only that the registrant’s financial statements for 1971
were overstated by $14 million in sales that were subject to customer cancellation
but also that the pretax income was overstated by $10.5 million due to inadequate
accounting provisions. As a result, the U.S. District Court ordered Mattel to es-
tablish and maintain a financial controls and audit committee whereby three of the
four members must be unaffiliated directors. In particular, the court required that
the committee have these five duties and functions:

1. Review the financial controls and accounting procedures and recommend im-
provements to management.

2. Review the quarterly financial statements to determine whether such reports
are in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

3. Review all releases and other information to the news media, general public,
and stockholders with respect to the financial condition of the company and
approve or disapprove such dissemination.

4. Review the results of the independent audit examination of the financial
statements.

5. Approve or disapprove any change of the independent auditors.*?

Thus, through a consent injunction against Mattel, it is clearly evident that the SEC
continued to rely more heavily on the independent audit committee to review and
monitor the company’s financial controls, accounting procedures, and financial
statements. Also, this particular legal action provided an initial framework for the du-
ties and functions of the committee. Indeed, the question of what constitutes proper
standards and practices for the committee was emerging through a court settlement;
as a consequence the court was dictating the responsibilities of the audit directors.
Such an approach is further evidenced by the results of the Killearn Properties case.

Killearn Properties, Inc. Case

In the SEC v. Killearn Properties, Inc. case (May 1977), the SEC outlined its di-
rectives concerning the audit committee as part of a consent judgment. The de-

31 bid., par. 94,504.
Ibid., par. 94,807.
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fendants were enjoined from directly or indirectly making use of the mails or
other communication to transmit any prospectus regarding the stock since the
prospectus must meet the requirement of the securities laws. More specifically, the
court ordered the defendants to observe the following policies and practices with
respect to the audit committee:

B. The Board of Directors shall continue to maintain an Audit Committee (“Com-
mittee”) of the Board consisting of at least Three (3) persons who shall be members
of the Board and outside directors of Killearn. The Committee shall assume, upon
the entering of this Order, the following duties, functions and responsibilities:

i. It should review the engagement of the independent accountants, including the
scope and general extent of their review, the audit procedures which will be utilized,
and the compensation to be paid.

ii. It should review with the independent accountants, and with the company’s chief
financial officer (as well as with other appropriate company personnel) the general
policies and procedures utilized by the company with respect to internal auditing, ac-
counting, and financial controls. The members of the committee should have at least
general familiarity with the accounting and reporting principles and practices applied
by the company in preparing its financial statements.

iii. It should review with the independent accountants, upon completion of their
audit, (a) any report or opinion proposed to be rendered in connection therewith; (b)
the independent accountants’ perceptions of the company’s financial and accounting
personnel; (c) the cooperation which the independent accountants received during
the course of their review; (d) the extent to which the resources of the company were
and should be utilized to minimize time spent by the outside auditors; (e) any sig-
nificant transactions which are not a normal part of the company’s business; (f) any
change in accounting principles; (g) all significant adjustments proposed by the au-
ditor; (h) any recommendations which the independent accountants may have with
respect to improving internal financial controls, choice of accounting principles, or
management reporting systems.

iv. It should inquire of the appropriate company personnel and the independent au-
ditors as to any instances of deviations from established codes of conduct of the com-
pany and periodically review such policies.

v. It should meet with the company’s financial staff at least twice a year to review
and discuss with them the scope of internal accounting and auditing procedures then
in effect; and the extent to which recommendations made by the internal staff or by
the independent accountants have been implemented.

vi. It should prepare and present to the company’s board of directors a report sum-
marizing its recommendation with respect to the retention (or discharge) of the in-
dependent accountants for the ensuing year.

vii. It should have a power to direct and supervise an investigation into any matter
brought to its attention within the scope of its duties (including the power to retain
outside counsel in connection with any such investigation).

In addition, the Audit Committee shall have the following special duties, functions
and responsibilities:

viii. review, either by the Committee as a whole or by a designated member, all
releases and other information to be disseminated by Killearn to press media, the
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public, or shareholders of Killearn which concern disclosure of financial conditions
of and projections of financial conditions of Killearn and its subsidiaries;

ix. review of the activities of the officers and directors of Killearn as to their future
dealing with the company and take any action the Committee may deem appropriate
with regard to such activities;

X. approve any settlement or disposition of any claims or actions from causes of action
arising after the date hereof or any litigation now pending which Killearn may have
against any past or present officers, directors, employees or controlling persons.>?

U.S. Surgical Corporation

In February 1984, the SEC filed an action against U.S. Surgical Corporation and six
of its senior executives, alleging numerous improper financial reporting practices
from 1979 to 1981. The corporation’s pretax earnings were overstated by more than
$18 million. This overstatement amounted to 56 percent of the pretax earnings re-
ported during 1979 and 1981. In addition, the improper accounting practices con-
tinued during 1982 and 1983. In the final consent order, the corporation agreed to
appoint two new independent directors to the audit committee and define new re-
sponsibilities of the audit committee. In particular, the committee was required to:

Review for a period of at least five years, prior to release, all earnings reports and the
financial statements that accompany the annual audit and quarterly review reports of
the external auditors and reports of the internal audit department;

Engage the external auditors to review and report to the committee on accounting
policies concerning review recognition, capitalization of certain costs, inventories,
R&D expenses, and accruals; and

Engage an accounting firm (advisory accountants) for a period of three years to re-
view the services performed by the external auditors, and to assist the committee on
other matters as requested*

This case demonstrated the need for the board of directors through its audit com-
mittee to exercise its oversight responsibility for the internal and external auditing
processes and financial reporting disclosures.

Based on a review of the court actions, it is apparent that the audit committee
has been established to oversee and monitor the conduct of the corporate officials.
Although the committee is not directly involved with the day-to-day management
affairs, the SEC and the courts forced the registrants to establish committees in
order to comply with the requirements of the federal securities laws. Such legal en-
forcement of the courts has augmented not only the audit directors’ legal obliga-
tions but also their standard of duty and loyalty to the enterprise.

The critical involvement of audit committees is highlighted by such companies
as California Life Corporation, Playboy Enterprises, Inc., and H.J. Heinz Co.
Some of the excerpts from The Wall Street Journal involving these companies are
used to illustrate the audit committee’s involvement.

3 Ibid., par. 96,256.
34 Ibid., par. 105,124,



Legal Cases Involving the Audit Committee 157

California Life Corporation

When the audit committee learned that Cal Life was late in filing its 1978 annual fi-
nancial statements with the SEC, the committee began an investigation. The late fil-
ing was the result of a dispute between management and its independent auditors. As
Lancaster reported: “Certainly, the committee had some mitigating problems: a new,
inexperienced committee chairman, a chief executive who was hard to deal with, and
complex and unanticipated accounting issues.” With a high expected loss rate on in-
surance premiums, the auditors lacked confidence that the deferred costs related to
new policies could be recovered from future profits. As a result of this disagreement,
the company reported a $3.2 million loss rather than an anticipated $2.6 million
profit. Given the situation at Cal Life, a number of actions were taken to improve the
financial reporting process. In particular, the senior executives of the firm were re-
placed and the membership of the audit committee increased to five from three. The
committee had convened six times as opposed to two meetings and assumed an ac-
tive role in overseeing the audit processes.*

Clearly, this case demonstrated that the audit committee is a viable mechanism in
helping boards of directors discharge their oversight responsibilities for the finan-
cial reporting process. There is little question that the committee has assumed
greater responsibilities.

Playboy Enterprises, Inc.

In the Playboy Enterprises case, the audit committee requested that Hugh Hefner,
chief executive officer of Playboy, and four other executives return to the company
more than $900,000. The amounts owed by these parties involved perquisites
(perks), such as the use of the DC-9 plane and the value of benefits (lodging,
meals, valet, etc.) received from the company. As a result, the aforementioned par-
ties repaid their perks and the board also established a compensation committee.3®
Thus the audit committee’s close scrutiny of these activities did unearth a signifi-
cant problem area before it impaired the integrity of the company.

H.J. Heinz

From 1972 to 1979, Heinz was involved in profit-juggling practices at several di-
visions. More specifically, the audit committee reported that “the practices, de-
signed to give the appearance of smooth profit growth of the divisions, stemmed
partly from inadequate internal accounting controls, poor internal communica-
tions, the autonomy of division accountants and careless review of division reports
by the Heinz corporate staff.”3” To correct these practices, the audit committee rec-
ommended more internal auditors, more corporate supervision of division ac-
countants, and a tougher corporate code of conduct. In addition, the audit
committee recommended changing the outside auditing firm, and, as a result,

35Hal Lancaster, “Fuss at Cal Life Shows Audit Committee Role Is Critical,” Wall Street Journal
(March 17, 1980), p. 1.

36Wall Street Journal Staff Reporter, “Playboy Audit Committee Bares Details of Hefner’s High Liv-
ing on Firm’s Tab,” Wall Street Journal (April 4, 1980), p. 6.
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another multinational accounting firm is now the auditor. Furthermore, the com-
pany hired an outside law firm and another large accounting firm to assist in the
special investigation.®® Clearly, Heinz’s audit committee proved to be a very strong
and effective operating tool of the company. Its involvement established a high de-
gree of confidence in the quality of the financial reports and disclosures to stock-
holders, underwriters, and financial analysts. Exhibits 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3 contain a
discussion of possible warning signals and “red flags.”
As Hugh L. Marsh and Thomas E. Powell assert:

It would be a misconception to believe the possibility of fraud is the only reason for
establishing a chartered audit committee. While the primary role has been to oversee
management’s financial and reporting responsibilities, the Treadway Commission’s
investigations indicated that audit committees could serve very effectively to reduce
the incidence of fraud.®

Livent, Inc.

This case relates to securities class actions brought by investors against Livent and
associated individuals and entities. In addition to other defendants, three directors
who served on Livent’s audit committee were named as defendants. The audit
committee members were charged with violating federal securities laws, namely
Section 10(b), and Section 20(a) claims of the 1934 act. The case involved fraud-
ulent revenue-generating transactions and manipulation of books and records. The
shareholders alleged that the audit committee failed to discover the aforemen-
tioned schemes. In the decision, the judge dismissed the Section 10(a) and Section
20(a) violations since the audit committee was not a culpable participant in the
fraud schemes. Likewise, the Section 10(a) and Section 20(a) violations were not
sufficient to plead scienter as well as the criteria for control person liability.*0

Manzo v. Rite Aid Corporation

The plaintiffs brought a class action lawsuit against the officers, directors, and out-
side accounting firm. With respect to the audit committee, they alleged a breach of
fiduciary duty with respect to fraudulent financial statements during the class pe-
riod. The defendants asserted that they deny any wrongdoing with regard to mis-
leading financial statements. They contend good faith reliance on the officers’
reports. The court ruled for the defendants, saying that the complaint failed to ad-
equately allege reliance and damages and failed to establish a direct claim and a
derivative claim. 4!

¥Thomas Petziner, Jr., “Heinz Senior Officials Didn’t Participate in Profit-Juggling Practices, Panel
Says,” Wall Street Journal (May 9, 1980), p. 2.

38bid.

¥Hugh L. Marsh and Thomas E. Powell, “The Audit Committee Charter: Rx for Fraud Prevention,”
Journal of Accountancy 167, No. 2 (February 1989), p. 56.

“In Re Livent, Inc. Securities Litigation, 148 F. Supp. 2d 331 (S.D.N.Y. 2001). For additional court
cases, see Haltman, et al. v. Aura Systems, Inc., et al., 844 F. Supp. 544 (C.D. C.A. 1993); and Bo-
marko, Inc. v. Hemodynamics, Inc., 848 F. Supp. 1335 (W.D. MLL. 1993).

Y Manzo v. Rite Aid Corporation, C.A. No. 18451-NC (Del. Ch. 2002)
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Guttman v. Nvidia Corporation

In this case, the plaintiffs alleged that the defendants issued materially misstated
financial statements. They contend the defendants used “cookie jar reserves” to
smooth earnings in bad times. The court ruled in favor of the defendants because
the audit committee did not commit any culpable failure of oversight under the

Caremark standard. +?

As William T. Allen, chancellor of the Court of Chancery of Delaware stated

in his decision:

In order to show that the Caremark directors breached their duty of care by failing ad-
equately to control Caremark’s employees, plaintiffs would have to show either (1)
that the directors knew or (2) should have known that violations of law were occur-
ring and, in either event, (3) that the directors took no steps in a good faith effort to
prevent or remedy that situation, and (4) that such failure proximately resulted in the
losses complained of, although under Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., Del. Supr., 636
A.2d 956 (1994) this last element may be thought to constitute n affirmative defense.

1. Knowing violation for statute: Concerning the possibility that the Caremark di-
rectors knew of violations of law, none of the documents submitted for review, nor
any of the position transcripts appear to provide evidence of it. Certainly the board
understood that the company had entered into a variety of contracts with physicians,
researchers, and health care providers and it was understood that some of these con-
tracts were with persons who had prescribed treatments that Caremark participated
in providing. The board was informed that the Company’s reimbursement for patient
care was frequently from government funded sources and that such services were
subject to the ARPL. But the Board appears to have been informed by experts that
the company’s practices while contestable, were lawful. There is no evidence that re-
liance on such reports was not reasonable. Thus, this case presents no occasion to
apply a principle to the effect that knowingly causing the corporation to violate a
criminal statute constitutes a breach of a director’s fudiciary duty. See Roth v.
Robertson, N.Y. Sup. Ct., 64 Misc. 343, 18 N.Y. 351 (1909); Miller v. American Tel.
& Tel. Co., 507 F.2d 759 (3rd ci. 1974). It is not clear that the Board knew the detail
found, for example, in the indictments arising from the Company’s payments. But,
of course, the duty to act in good faith to be informed cannot be thought to require
directors to possess detailed infomation about all aspects of the operation of the en-
terprise. Such a requirement would simply be inconsistent with the scale and scope
of efficient organization size in this technological age.

2. Failure to monitor: Since it does appears that the Board was to some extent un-
aware of the activities that led to liability, I turn to a consideration of the potential av-
enue to director liability that the pleadings take: director inattention or “negligence.”
Generally where a claim of directorial liability for corporate loss is predicated upon
ignorance of liability creating activities within the corporation, as in Graham or in
this case, in my opinion only a sustained or systematic failure of the board to exer-
cise oversight—such as an utter failure to attempt to assure a reasonable information
and reporting system exists—will establish the lack of good faith that is a necessary
condition to liability. Such a test of liability—lack of good faith as evidenced by sus-
tained or systematic failure of a director to exercise reasonable oversight—is quite

“Guttman v. Jen-Hsun Huang et al. Nvidia Corporation, C.A. No. 19571-N.C. (Del. Ch. 2003).
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Exhibit 4.1 Securities Litigation and Preventing Fraudulent Reporting

When Kirschner Medical Corp., a Baltimore-based manufacturer of orthopedic equip-
ment, went public in 1986, President Bruce Hegstad planned to go from $6.5 million to
$100 million in revenues. They did indeed skyrocket, reaching $55 million in 1989. Nat-
urally, stock prices soared as well.

But the investors who flocked to Kirschner now claim that the company duped them.
During the third quarter of 1989, the company lost $488,000. Despite its assurances of a
quick rebound, Kirschner lost $2.5 million in the next quarter and wrote off an additional
$13.2 million in losses.

During this time, the company allegedly failed to disclose information about defective
products, obsolete inventories and an unprofitable European plant. When the bad news fi-
nally came out, stock prices dove $17 a share, causing a lost market value of $35.7 million.
Claiming fraudulent financial reporting, over 1,000 investors have filed a class-action suit
against Kirschner and three of its executives in the U.S. District Court in Baltimore.

In recent years, corporate boards of directors and their audit committees have faced
great vulnerability to such litigation.

According to William R. McLucas, the Security and Exchange Commission’s en-
forcement director, “The agency has a hefty backlog of cases, many focusing on financial
fraud and accounting problems.”

In 1989, the SEC filed enforcement actions against the officers and directors of 30 pub-
lic companies and 12 public accounting firms, alleging improper financial reporting practices.*

Two years earlier, the National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting, estab-
lished by accounting associations and chaired by former SEC Commissioner James Tread-
way, reported that it had “reviewed 119 enforcement actions against public companies and
42 cases against independent public accounting firms by the SEC from 1981-1986.”

The commission asserted that “public companies should maintain internal controls
that provide reasonable assurance that fraudulent financial reporting will be prevented or
subject to early detection.”

What is fraudulent financial reporting? The commission defines it “as intentional or
reckless conduct, whether act or omission, that results in materially misleading financial
statements.”

Generally speaking, fraudulent reporting occurs when management intentionally over-
states assets and improperly recognizes revenue. These actions clearly differ from unin-
tentional errors.

The irregularities are shown by the misapplication of generally accepted accounting
principles, inappropriate valuations, and/or omissions of material information from finan-
cial statements. For example, the deliberate distortion of accounting records to overstate
inventory, along with falsified transactions to increase sales and overstate earnings, is
clearly fraudulent financial reporting.

These activities, often referred to as “cooked books” and “cute accounting,” cause
management to restate the financial statements, which, in turn, causes a decrease in the
market price of the stock. Such misleading representations in the company’s annual and
quarterly figures can be the basis of a class-action lawsuit.

Typically in this type of litigation, a class of stockholders alleges that the board of di-
rectors, the officers and the independent auditing firm have prepared and distributed ma-
terially false and misleading financial statements and reports to existing stockholders and
potential investors.

Plaintiffs accuse defendants of violating Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act,
SEC Rule 10(b)-5 and common law. Relief claims are based on fraud, deceit and negli-
gence by the directors, officers, employees and the independent auditors.
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Questions of law and fact commonly arising in these cases are:

* Whether defendants knowingly or recklessly disseminated untrue statements of ma-
terial fact and/or omitted material facts relating to the sales and earnings during the
class period;

Whether the market prices of securities were artificially inflated by reason of the de-
fendants’ conduct, constituting a fraud on the market;

Whether defendants violated Section 10(b) of the 1934 Act and Rule 10(b)-5 and/or
perpetrated common law fraud or negligent misrepresentations upon the members
of the class;

Whether the defendant’s SEC Form 10-Q, 10K, annual and quarterly reports, and
public announcements of expected earnings and growth during the class period
were materially false and misleading.

Failure on the part of the audit committee to review and evaluate the financial state-
ments and related accounting policies in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles is clearly malfeasance.

A case in point is Crazy Eddie Inc., which, like many public companies, had audit
committees. According to the SEC, Eddie Antar, founder and former chairman of the East
Coast electronics chain, directed activities that resulted in overstating the company’s 1985
pretax income by $2 million, or 18.9 percent; by approximately $6.7 million, or 33.8 per-
cent, in 1986; and by “tens of millions of dollars” in 1987.

Peter Martosella, who was brought in to run Crazy Eddie after the fraudulent reporting
was discovered, told Forbes magazine, “You have to be careful how much you expect of the
audit committee. You’re talking about people brought in by the CEO, and you’re telling
them they shouldn’t necessarily listen to him. It’s not realistic, especially when the chief ex-
ecutive is a charismatic person, a darling of the securities world, like Eddie Antar was.”

Antar allegedly made $60 million from the sale of his Crazy Eddie stock; investors al-
legedly lost $200 million. In 1989 the SEC filed a complaint against Antar and other com-
pany officials and employees. Last summer the U.S. District Court for New Jersey entered
a $73.5 million judgment against Antar, who is currently a fugitive. (It should be noted that
Antar was recently apprehended by the authorities.)

Moreover, a group of about 10,000 shareholders have filed a lawsuit in the federal dis-
trict court in New York against Crazy Eddie’s former officers and directors, as well as its
external auditor and several Wall Street brokerage firms.

In another case, Sundstrand Corp. pleaded guilty to a criminal defense procurement
fraud of overbilling the Defense Department. Sundstrand agreed to pay a $115 million set-
tlement to the federal government. In addition, the liability insurance carrier for Sund-
strand’s board of directors and officers agreed to pay $15 million to settle shareholder
litigation.

An academic research study found that Sundstrand’s audit committee was ineffective
since it had too few meetings and too many changes in membership."

As a result of the committee’s performance, there were management-imposed scope
limitations on the internal audit department, which ultimately caused the company to de-
fraud the federal government.

As the Crazy Eddie and Sundstrand cases demonstrate, merely having an audit com-
mittee isn’t always enough. So what exactly is this committee supposed to do?

The major impetus for establishing and maintaining audit committees occurred in
1978 when the New York Stock Exchange adopted a policy requiring all of its listed com-
panies to have such a committee, composed solely of independent outside directors. Of
course, the NYSE’s intent was to increase the investing public’s confidence in the quality
of financial reporting.

(continued)
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Exhibit 4.1 (Continued)

Before the NYSE’s mandate, the SEC required companies to establish and maintain
independent audit committees.

Thus, a consent injunction and ancillary relief against respondents charged with fraud-
ulent financial reporting issues—for example, in cases against Lum’s Inc. and Mattel Inc.
in 1974—provided a framework for defining the duties and functions of audit committees.

Lum’s agreed not to commit any proxy fraud in connection with future acquisitions of
businesses or business assets. Mattel was charged with overstating sales by $14 million.
These sales were subject to customer cancellation.

The question of what constitutes proper standards and practices for the audit commit-
tee has emerged through settlements, with the courts dictating the audit committee’s re-
sponsibilities. In particular, the courts in Lum’s and Mattel required the following general
responsibilities:

¢ Recommend or approve appointment or independent auditors.

* Review internal accounting control policies and procedures.

* Oversee the duties and results of the internal audit department.

» Review with the independent auditors the proposed scope and general extent of their
audit.

* Review, prior to issuance, financial statements and significant press releases con-
cerning financial results.

e Act as a mediator between management and the independent auditors for any dis-
agreements over accounting issues.

Recognizing the SEC enforcement actions, court decisions and the national stock ex-
change listing requirements for audit committees, the National Commission on Fraudulent
Financial Reporting has fully supported and endorsed implementation of audit committees.

In particular, the commission recommended that “the boards of directors of all public
companies should be required by SEC rule to establish audit committees composed solely
of independent directors. Such committees should be informed, vigilant, and effective
overseers of the financial reporting process and the company’s internal controls.”

Today, both the American Stock Exchange and the National Association of Securities
Dealers have listing requirements for audit committees that are modeled after the NYSE’s
requirements. The U.S. House of Representatives is currently considering legislation,
sponsored by Rep. John Dingell, D-Mich., requiring all public companies to create audit
committees.

Given that the audit committee is a part-time operation, the commission’s call for vig-
ilance requires committee members to be willing to make a significant commitment of
their time.

The audit committee should be informed about the financial and operational aspects
of the company and, therefore, should receive sufficient and timely information. If the
audit committee meeting is scheduled to coincide with the regular full board meetings,
then the committee must receive written information well in advance of the meetings.

To be vigilant, the audit committee should ask probing questions about the propriety
of the company’s financial reporting process and the quality of its internal controls. This
task requires the committee to keep abreast of financial reporting developments affecting
the company.

To be an effective independent overseer, the audit committee must be positioned be-
tween senior management and the external auditors. This organizational structure allows
the audit committee to question management’s judgments about financial reporting matters
and to suggest improvements in the internal control systems. Finally, the committee should
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develop a charter that defines its mission, duties and responsibilities; plans its annual
agenda; and documents its findings and conclusions.

Through audit committees, boards of directors can meet their oversight responsibili-
ties in the internal and external auditing processes and the financial reporting process.

And, since inhouse legal counsel and outside counsel frequently interact with audit
committees, these lawyers are in an excellent position to help the committees develop a
constructive relationship between their function and the activities of the full board and, ul-
timately, minimize the potential for class-action suits by recognizing the warning signals
that lead to fraudulent reporting.°

For example, corporate legal counsel can assist the audit committees with the follow-
ing matters:

» Review and approve the standard of independence for the audit committee members
as required by the national stock exchanges and the SEC.

* Review the audit committee’s charter, which is disclosed in part in the company’s
annual proxy statement.

» Review significant litigation, claims and assessments with both in-house and out-
side legal counsel.

* Advise the committee with respect to any pending litigation against the external au-
ditors and any impairment of their independence.

* Advise the committee on proposed investigations and compliance with regulations.

Of course, outside legal counsel may be asked to serve on the audit committee, in
which case he or she would address the warning signals directly.

Given the audit committee’s critical role in the company’s internal control structure,
the committee must obtain reasonable assurances from the internal and external auditors
that management’s assertions in the financial statements are fairly presented. Moreover,
the external auditors are required by generally accepted auditing standards to communicate
certain matters to the audit committee.

In particular, the auditors are required to report material misstatements in the financial
statements or omissions of material information.

It should be emphasized that audit committees should be highly attuned to potential
situations of fraudulent financial reporting.

Failure on the part of an audit committee to question management’s representations
may be the basis for audit committee malfeasance, since the audit committee and the board
may be held liable for their failure to know what they were responsible for recognizing.

Source: This discussion is adapted from an article by Louis Braiotta, Jr., “Auditing for Honesty,”
American Bar Association Journal 78, No. 5 (May 1992), pp. 76-79. Copyright (c) 1992 by Louis
Braiotta, Jr.

aMore recently, the SEC has filed actions against the officers and directors and accounting firms,
respectively: 1993 (36, 17); 1994 (78, 31); 1995 (71, 11); 1996 (59, 20); 1997 (90, 22), 1998 (64,
15); 1999 (81, 13); 2000 (78, 25); 2001 (92, 20); 2002 (138, 25). For additional reading, see a Best
Practices Council of the National Association of Corporate Directors report entitled, Coping with
Fraud and Other Illegal Activity (Washington, DC: National Association of Corporate Directors,
1998); Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, Fraudulent Financial
Reporting: 1987-1997 An Analysis of U.S. Public Companies (New York: Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, 1999). See the SEC Annual Reports for further
information on enforcement proceedings and related cases and Exhibit 4.3.

°For further reading, see Curtis C. Verschoor, “A Case Study of Audit Committee Effectiveness at
Sundstrand,” Internal Auditing 4, No. 4 (Spring 1989), pp. 11-19. Also see Verschoor’s article,
“Miniscribe: A New Example of Audit Committee Ineffectiveness,” Internal Auditing 5, No. 4
(Spring 1990), pp. 13-19.

See Exhibit 4.2 for further details.
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Exhibit 4.3 Unethical Practices in Financial Reporting

SEC Enforcement Division®
Summary of Selected Cases and Alleged Violations—Financial Disclosures
Fiscal Year ended 1989—-1997

Date Release
Filed No. Nature of Alleged Violations

11/1/88 AAER—208  SEC alleged improper accounting practices (e.g., holding
quarterly financial records open to record additional sales;
preparing invoices for orders that had not been shipped;
and delaying the issuance of credit memos for orders that
had been returned). The company and seven officers and
employees consented to the entry of the Commission’s
orders against them.

1/9/89 AAER—212  The registrant had overstated earnings and inventory by
inflating quantity and cost figures on inventory count
sheets and arranged for the supplier to send a false
confirmation to the auditors. The company, its officers, its
supplier, and the supplier’s president all consented to entry
of permanent injunctions.

2/8/89 AAER—215  SEC alleged the improper recognition of revenue. The
alleged scheme involved failure to record at least $13 mil-
lion of product returns and the recording of more than $5
million of fictitious revenue from false invoices. Two de-
fendants consented to the entry of injunctions against them.

6/6/89 LR—12119 The company had overstated revenues by prematurely
recording a total of 20 transactions as sales even though the
sales have not been completed.

9/6/89 AAER—247  SEC filed an action against officers, directors, and
employees. Commission alleged the company falsified
financial records to overstate pretax income of $20.6
million instead of a loss in 1987. Defendants sold over $60
million of stock that did not reflect the value of the
company. Three defendants consented to the entry of
injunctions against them.

5/24/90 AAER—258  The registrant recorded unsupported adjustments to
revenue. The Commission alleged the company filed
materially false and misleading financial statements.

10/11/90  AAER—279  SEC alleged that former officers engaged in improper
revenue recognition practices. They are: (1) recorded
transactions as sales when customers had not agreed to
purchase the equipment and the equipment was not
delivered; (2) recorded trials as sales transactions; and (3)
removing inventory to simulate delivery of goods sold. The
defendants consented to the entry of injunctions.

10/26/90  AAER—282  The CEO directed officers and employees to engage in a
scheme to inflate accounts receivable and inventory. The
perpetration created phony invoices to generate sales. Also,
the CEO and two other defendants sold common stock
when they knew that the market price was based on
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Date Release
Filed No. Nature of Alleged Violations

materially false representations. Two of the defendants
consented to the entry of injunctions.

8/20/91 AAER—311  The corporation used improper revenue recognition
practices by recording sales at the time a purchaser agreed
verbally to purchase equipment. Also, the client misled the
auditors by falsely indicating that certain tractors were
loaded for shipment and that risk of loss had passed to the
purchaser. The company and two of the individual
defendants consented to the entry of injunction.

3/31/92 AAER—363  SEC alleged that the company failed to disclose the
importance of its subsidiary’s 1989 earnings in the MD&A
section of the Form 10-K. The subsidiary accounted for
about 23 percent of the parent company’s net profit of $497
million. Much of the gain resulted from the country’s
hyperinflation and a favorable exchange rate. The parent
company consented to a cease and desist order.

9/30/93 LR—13813 The Commission alleged that the company made misrepre-
sentations and omissions regarding the deterioration in
sales of software and the shipment of $5.2 million of
products to certain customers as conditional or fictitious
sales. Individual defendants consented to the entry of
orders requiring them to disgorge over $2 million and one
consented to the entry of a bar from acting as an officer or
director of a publicly held company.

3/29/94 EAR—33829 The Commission alleged that, as a result of a fraudulent
accounting scheme implemented by three members of the
company’s senior management, the company reported mate-
rially overstated sales, net income, and assets in periodic
filings between 1989 and 1992. The inflated sales and earn-
ings enabled the company to falsely report continued growth
in revenue and earnings when the company was not profit-
able. Overall, the company reported nearly $38 million in
sales between 1989-1992 that had not taken place.

1/4/95 LR—14375 The company improperly recognized revenue on several
transactions. The company’s false claims of having sold
simulators to customers resulted in income statements in
which total revenue was inflated by 46 percent to 93
percent.

9/19/96 R—34-37701 The company filed a 10Q that contained financial
statements which materially overstated revenue and
materially understated losses by improperly recognizing
revenue from purported bill and hold transactions.

2/18/97 LR—15260 The company materially overstated earnings and
profitability prior to a convertible debt offering. The
company consented to entry of an injunction and an order
requiring the payment of $3.28 million in disgorgement.

8/5/98 LR-15832 The registrant consented to the issuing of a cease-and-
desist order in which the SEC found that the company

(continued)
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Exhibit 4.3 (Continued)

Date Release
Filed No. Nature of Alleged Violations

violated the periodic reporting provisions. The SEC found
that during the four months preceding the company’s
writedown of $2.7 billion of goodwill, the company made
inadequate disclosures about the nature and extent of its
net losses.

1/13/99 AAER-1095  The SEC alleged that the registrant made at least 17 false
filings in which the company materially overstated its
results of operations and financial condition. Four of the
defendants consented to the entry of injunction.

10/28/99  LR-16344 The SEC alleged that the defendants engaged in a
fraudulent scheme to recognize millions of dollars of
revenue prematurely by improperly recording purported
“bill and hold” sales to meet sales projections.

9/28/00 EAR-43372  The SEC settled civil administrative fraud charges against
a foreign issues for issuing materially false denials
concerning merger negotiations. The registrant consented
to an entry of a cease and desist order.

5/15/01 LR-17001 The Commission alleged that the defendants engaged in a
scheme to fraudulently misrepresent the company’s results
of operations through the creation of inappropriate
accounting reserves— "cookie jar reserves.” The scheme
was used to purport a rapid turnaround. As a result, at least
$60 million of the company’s reported earnings came from
the accounting fraud.

9/12/01 LR-17126 The SEC instituted a settled administrative proceeding
against the registrant for books and records violations
associated with illegal payments to foreign officials. The
$75,000 illegal payment was made in violation of the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. This was the first joint
action that the SEC and the Department of Justice filed
under the Act.

8/21/02 AAER-1617  The SEC filed and settled a civil action against a former
officer alleging that he used complex structures, strawmen,
hidden payments, and secret loans to create the appearance
that such entities were independent from the company. In
fact, such entities were used as off-balance sheet financing
arrangements inappropriately secured by debt rather than
equity securities. The defendant agree to disgorge and
forfeit approximately $12 million as well as submit a
guilty plea in related criminal proceedings with the U.S.
Department of Justice.

Source: The Securities and Exchange Commission Annual Reports (Washington, DC: U.S. Govern-
ment Printing Office, 1990-1997 and 1998-2002).
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high. But, a demanding test of liability in the oversight context is probably beneficial
to corporate shareholders as a class, as it is in the board decision context, since it
makes board service by qualified persons more likely, while continuing to act as a
stimulus to good faith performance of duty by such directors.

Here the record supplies essentially no evidence that the director defendants were
guilty of a sustained failure to exercise their oversight function. To the contrary, in-
sofar as I am able to tell on this record, the corporation’s information systems appear
to have represented a good faith attempt to be informed of the relevant facts. If the
directors did not know the specifics of the activities that lead to the indictments, they
cannot be faulted.

The liability that eventuated in this instance was huge. But the fact that it resulted
from a violation of criminal law alone does not create a breach of fiduciary duty by
directors. The record at this stage does not support the conclusion that the defendants
either lacked good faith in the exercise of their monitoring responsibilities or con-
scientiously permitted a known violation of law by the corporation to occur. The
claims asserted against them must be viewed at this stage as extremely weak.*3

Recent Developments

Section 307 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 mandates that the Securities and
Exchange Commission:

shall issue rules, in the public interest and for the protection of investors, setting forth
minimum standards of professional conduct for attorneys appearing and practicing
before the commission in any way in the representation of issuers, including a rule—

(1) requiring an attorney to report evidence of a material violation of securities law
or breach of fiduciary duty or similar violation by the company or any agent
thereof, to the chief legal counsel or the chief executive officer of the company
(or the equivalent thereof); and

(2) if the counsel or officer does not appropriately respond to the evidence (adopt-
ing, as necessary, appropriate remedial measures or sanctions with respect to the
violation), requiring the attorney to report the evidence to the audit committee of
the board of directors of the issuer or to another committee of the board of di-
rectors comprised solely of directors not employed directly or indirectly by the
issuer, or to the board of directors.**

Furthermore, the American Bar Association Task Force on Corporate Respon-
sibility recommended adoption of these governance policies as ABA policy:

1. The board of directors of a public corporation must engage in active, inde-
pendent and informed oversight of the corporation’s business and affairs, in-
cluding its senior management.

4See In Re Caremark International Inc. Derivative Litigation, 698 A. 2d 959 (Del. Ch. 1996).
#“Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Section 307, Rules of Professional Responsibility for Attorneys, H.R.
Rep. No. 107-610 (2002). For further information regarding the standards for professional conduct of
attorneys, see Securities and Exchange Commission, Release No. 33-8155, Implementation of Stan-
dards of Professional Conduct for Attorneys (January 29, 2003).
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2. In order to improve the effectiveness of such oversight, the board of directors
of a public corporation should adopt governance principles (more fully spec-
ified in Part VI of this Report) that (a) establish and preserve the independence
and objectivity of directors by eliminating disabling conflicts of interest and
undue influence or control by the senior management of the corporation and
(b) provide the directors with timely and sufficient information and analysis
necessary to the discharge of their oversight responsibilities.

3. The directors should recognize and fulfill an obligation to disclose to the board
of directors information and analysis known to them that is relevant to the
board’s decision making and oversight responsibilities. Senior executive offi-
cers should recognize and fulfill an obligation to disclose, to a supervising of-
ficer, the general counsel, or the board of directors or committees of the board,
information and analysis relevant to such persons’ decision making and over-
sight responsibilities.

4. Providing information and analysis necessary for the directors to discharge
their oversight responsibilities, particularly as they relate to legal compliance
matters, requires the active involvement of general counsel for the public cor-
poration. (If a public corporation has no internal general counsel, it should
identify and designate a lawyer or law firm to act as general counsel. The re-
sponsibility for implementing these recommended policies may necessarily be
delegated to some extent by the general counsel to subordinate lawyers.)

5. A lawyer representing public corporation shall serve the interests of the entity,
independent of the personal interests of any particular director, officer, em-
ployee or shareholder.

6. The general counsel of a public corporation should have primary responsibil-
ity for assuring the implementation of an effective legal compliance system
under the oversight of the board of directors.

7. Public corporations should adopt practices in which:

a. The selection, retention, and compensation of the corporation’s general
counsel are approved by the board of directors.

b. General counsel meets regularly and in executive session with a committee
of independent directors to communicate concerns regarding legal compli-
ance matters, including potential or ongoing material violations of law by,
and breaches of fiduciary duty to, the corporation.

c. All reporting relationships of internal and outside lawyers for a public cor-
poration establish at the outset a direct line of communication with general
counsel through which these lawyers are to inform the general counsel of
material potential or ongoing violations of law by, and breaches of fidu-
ciary duty to, the corporation.

8. The model Business Corporation Act and the general corporation laws of the
states, and the courts interpreting and applying the duties of directors, should
more clearly delineate the oversight responsibility of directors generally, and
the unique role that independent directors play in discharging that responsi-
bility in public company settings. (Among the specific oversight matters that
should be considered in relation to the Model Business Corporation Act or its
commentary and the state corporate laws as well as in relation to important
guidance such as the Corporate Director’s Guidebook are at least the follow-
ing: selecting, evaluating, and compensating the chief executive officer and
other members of senior management; reviewing, approving, and monitoring
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fundamental financial and business strategies and the performance of the
company relative to those strategies; assessing major risks facing the com-
pany; and ensuring that reasonable processes are in place to maintain the in-
tegrity of the company and the corresponding accountability of senior
management, including processes relating to integrity of financial reporting,
compliance with law and corporate codes of legal and ethical conduct, and
processes designed to prevent improper related party transactions. Federal
law [particularly the securities law, including the rules and regulations adopted
by the SEC] also plays a significant role in affecting and promoting corporate
responsibility.)

9. Engagements of counsel by the board of directors, or by a committee of the
board, for special investigations or independent advice should be structured
to assure independence and direct reporting to the board of directors or the
committee.

10. The SEC and the state attorney disciplinary authorities should cooperate in
sharing information in order to promote effective and appropriate enforce-
ment of rules of conduct applicable to counsel to public corporations.

11. The courts, law schools and lawyer professional organizations such as the
ABA should promote awareness of, and adherence to, the professional re-
sponsibilities of lawyers in their representation of public corporations.

12. Law firms and law departments should adopt procedures to facilitate and
promote compliance with rules of professional conduct governing the repre-
sentation of public corporations. (In its Preliminary Report [at 43], the task
force stated its intention to consider issues involving potential conflicts of in-
terest arising out of lawyers’ business and investment relationships with
clients. The testimony submitted to the Task Force, however, did not signif-
icantly focus on such issues, and the Task Force therefore recommends that
further review of the issues be taken by interested professional organiza-
tions, including the appropriate ABA entities.)*

With respect to audit committees, the ABA Task Force recommended these
corporate governance practices:

The board of directors should establish an audit committee, composed exclusively of
independent directors.

a. The audit committee should meet regularly outside the presence of any senior
executive officer.

b. The audit committee should be:
i. authorized to engage and remove the corporation’s outside auditor (or if

legally permissible, to recommend such engagement or removal to the
Board), and to determine the terms of the engagement of the outside auditor;

ii. authorized and afforded resources sufficient to engage independent ac-
counting and legal advisers when determined by the committee to be nec-
essary or appropriate; and

4 American Bar Association, Report of the American Bar Association Task Force on Corporate Re-
sponsibility (Chicago, ABA, 2003), pp. 31-33.
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iii. responsible for recommending or establishing policies relating to non-
audit services provided by the corporation’s outside auditor to the Corpo-
ration and other aspects of the Corporation’s relationship with the outside
auditor that may adversely affect that firm’s independence.

c. The resolution of the board of directors creating the committee should specify
whether the foregoing decisions are to be made exclusively by the audit com-
mittee, or (where legally permissible) by the full board of directors (or by the
independent directors) upon the recommendation of the committee.

Section 301 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires the SEC to adopt rules re-
quiring the national securities exchanges and national securities associations to adopt
listing standards providing, among other things, that (i) each member of the audit
committee be independent, (ii) the audit committee be “directly responsible for the
appointment, compensation, and oversight of the work of any registered public ac-
counting firm employed” by the company, and (iii) the audit committee have au-
thority to engage independent counsel and other advisers. On January 8, 2003 the
SEC proposed rules to implement these statutory requirements. (Proposed Exchange
Act rule 10A-3, at www.sec.gov/rules/proposed/34-47137.htm.)

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act (§201, adding Section 10A(h) of the Exchange Act) also re-
quires that public company auditing firms perform permitted non-audit services only
upon advance approval by the audit committee.

The listing standards prescribed by Section 301 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
appear to require that the board of directors delegate to the audit committee direct
and exclusive responsibility for the matters specified in the statute. The Task Forces’s
recommendations differ in that they would allow the full board of directors (or all of
the independent directors) to act on such matters, upon recommendation of the audit
committee acting pursuant to the recommended procedures. The Task Force prefers
this approach because of the potential benefits of information and insight that may
be gained from other independent directors and even from directors who do not meet
prevailing standards of independence.*®

GUIDELINES FOR MINIMIZING LEGAL LIABILITY

Obviously, the audit directors wish to avoid potential legal liability. To achieve this
objective, the directors should conduct their activities in a manner above reproach.
As evidenced by the statutory laws and court cases, their posture is critically
important in the corporate environment. Hence they should not only exercise the
required standards of care and loyalty in their positions but foster the profession-
alism regarding their directorship.

To assist the members of the audit committee in minimizing their possible
legal liability, the following guidelines are provided. Such guidelines do not pur-
port to be all-inclusive and are not intended to preclude the insertion of additional
matters. Also, it should be noted that the guidelines are presented in view of the
oversight and advisory capacity of the committee.

“bid., pp. 65-66.
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Minimizing the Audit Committee’s Legal Liability: A Checklist

I. The Independent Auditors
A. Have we inquired about the qualifications of the personnel whom we
engaged in the audit?

1. Review the backgrounds of the executive partner and auditing
personnel.

2. Inquire about the auditing firm’s registration with the SEC practice
division of the AICPA.

3. Inquire about the CPA firm’s participation in the voluntary peer re-
view professional practice programs.

B. Have we reviewed their engagement letter?

The auditor’s engagement letter sets forth the nature and scope of the

audit engagement in order to avoid any misunderstanding between the

auditing firm and the client. This letter constitutes a contract regarding
the professional services of the CPA firm.

C. Is there evidence that the audit examination was properly planned, su-
pervised, and reviewed?

1. Inquire about the overall audit plan concerning the scope, conduct,
and timing of the audit examination.

2. Discuss the level of knowledge which is required for the corporation
and the industry.

3. Discuss the ratio of staff assistants to supervisors in connection with
the level of responsibilities for the audit.

4. Review or request an outline of the supervisory review procedures of
the staff assistant’s work and note any disagreements among the audit
personnel.

D. Does the corporate annual report contain a fair and meaningful presenta-
tion of the information concerning the financial statements, footnotes,
and supplementary information?

Significant changes in the external reporting practices of the corporation

should be discussed (e.g., departures from generally accepted accounting

principles, exceptions to the consistent application of accounting princi-
ples, and the alternative applications of generally accepted accounting
principles).

E. Have we reviewed the recommendations made in their management
letter to assure the auditors’ objectivity?

1. The management letter contains the auditors’ recommendations as a
result of their evaluation of the system of internal control. Any mat-
ters regarding the material weaknesses in the system of internal con-
trol should be discussed as well as full compliance with the
provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.

2. Discuss the implementation of the recommendations in the current
and prior years’ management letters as well as causes of management
disagreement with the auditors.

F. Have we reviewed the lawyer’s letter concerning litigations, claims, and
assessments?
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1. The lawyer’s letter contains the opinion of legal counsel with respect
to potential litigation, such as a pending lawsuit. Such information is
provided to the CPA firms for possible disclosure in the financial
statements.

2. Discuss the accounting treatment concerning the contingency losses
and effect on the financial statements.

G. Have we reviewed the letter of management’s representation?

The chief financial officer and chief executive officer will furnish a letter

to the auditing firm with respect to the corporation’s representations

concerning the financial position and the results of operations. This
letter should be examined in view of the facts in the letter and in the
financial statements. This letter is particularly important since it con-
firms management’s responsibilities for the financial statements.

H. Have we reviewed:

1. Any amendments to the bylaws or corporate charter?

2. The minutes of the meetings of the board of directors, directors’
committees, and stockholders (e.g., compensation committee or fi-
nance committees)?

I. Have we reviewed the corporation’s compliance with the auditors and
legal counsel concerning the:

Securities statutes?

Antitrust laws?

Income tax laws?

Labor laws?

. Regulatory laws applicable to the industry?

J. Have we made an evaluation of any material non—arm’s-length transac-
tions, such as loans to officers?

K. Have we reviewed:

Results of peer review?

Litigation against the CPA firm?

Adequacy of professional liability insurance?

Independence issues as required by ISB Standard No. 1?

Required disclosures to the audit committee as required by SAS #61?

Extent of management services provided by CPA firm and impact on

independence?

II. The Internal Auditors*’

A. Have we reviewed the qualifications of the internal audit staff?
1. Review the backgrounds of the director of internal auditing and the
internal auditing group.
2. Inquire about the internal audit staff’s participation in the programs
of the Institute of Internal Auditors and other professional societies.
3. Discuss their qualifications with the independent auditing firm.
B. Have we reviewed their charter or audit plan?

N

A S

4TFor further reference, see Exhibit 9.11 in Chapter 9, “Vital Checkpoints: Internal Audit Questions
for the Audit Committee,” prepared by Richard Hickok and Jules Zimmerman.
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1L

Have we considered the reporting responsibility of the internal audit
staff?
Is there evidence that the work of the internal audit staff was properly
planned, supervised, and reviewed?
See item number C under “The Independent Auditors.”
Have we reviewed:
1. Reports on compliance audits?
2. Reports on operational audits?
3. Reports on financial audits?
4. Reports on the system of internal accounting and administrative
controls?
* Have we reviewed the recommendations made in their reports with
respect to objectivity?
* Have we considered the possibility of a long-form report from the
Director of Internal Auditing?
Have the internal auditors’ recommendations in connection with the
prior years’ internal audit been implemented?
Have we scrutinized cases of management disagreements with the inter-
nal auditors?
Have we reexamined the relationship of the internal audit function to the
other departments?
How are activities of the internal audit staff and the independent auditors
interrelated?
If the corporation has an electronic data processing installation, have
we considered the use of independent EDP consultants to audit the
installation?

The Representatives of Management (Chief Executive Officer, Chief Finan-
cial Officer, Treasurer, and Controller)

A.

B.

Are the qualifications of the representatives of management consistent
with the corporate bylaws?

Have we reviewed their administrative functions in relationship to the pre-
sent financial and accounting policies? (See company’s organization
chart.)

Have these individuals exercised their authority in accordance with the
corporate bylaws?

Have we reviewed the minutes of the meeting of the board of directors
concerning their compensation?

Have we reviewed their written reports concerning their responses to the
deficiencies noted in the internal audit reports?

Are all employees who handle cash, securities, and other valuables bonded?

Are the financial and accounting policies and procedures set forth in
manuals?

Are interim financial reports prepared for submission to management on
a timely basis?
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I. Is the quality and quantity of information in the interim reports adequate?
J. Have we discussed cases of management disagreements with the auditors?
K. Have we discussed:

1. The engagement letter?

2. The management letter from the independent auditors?

3. The letter of management’s representations?

4. The lawyer’s letter?

L. Have we discussed the periodic filings with the various regulatory agencies?

Signed by: Date

[Should be signed by the chairman of the audit committee]*®

In view of the preceding discussions on the legal position of the audit com-
mittee, it is important that the audit directors fully understand the nature and scope
of their legal responsibilities concerning the corporation’s outside constituencies
and the securities markets. However, they should keep their legal obligations in
proper perspective. Such obligations should be integrated and balanced with the
committee’s functions so that the committee’s purpose is not defeated. In short, the
directors should discharge their responsibilities in a professional manner and not
become totally preoccupied with the legal rules and regulations.

SOURCES AND SUGGESTED READINGS

American Bar Association, Corporate Director’s Guidebook (Chicago: ABA, 1978).
American Bar Association, Corporate Director’s Guidebook (Chicago: ABA, 1994).

American Bar Association, Report of The American Bar Association Task Force on Corpo-
rate Responsibility (Chicago, ILL: American Bar Association, 2003), pp. 1-89.

Bomark, Inc. v. Hemodynamics, Inc., 848 F. Supp. 1335 (W.D.M.I. 1993).

Braiotta, Louis, “Auditing for Honesty.” American Bar Association Journal, 78, No. 5 (May
1992), pp. 76-79.

Commerce Clearing House, Federal Securities Law Reporter (Chicago: Commerce Clear-
ing House, 1972-73, 1974-75, 197778 Transfer binder).

Commerce Clearing House, Federal Securities Law Reporter (Chicago: Commerce Clear-
ing House, 1984—1985 Transfer binder).

Committee on Corporate Laws, Section of Corporation, Banking and Business Law of the
American Bar Association, Revised Model Business Corporation Act—Chapter 8: Direc-
tors and Officers (Chicago, Ill.: American Bar Association, 1984).

Committee on Corporate Laws of the Section of Business Law, Model Business Corpora-
tion Act—Chapter 8: Directors and Olfficers (Chicago, Ill.: American Bar Association, 1998).

It is advisable that the audit committee document its activities and have in-house counsel or outside
legal counsel review documentation for content and use prior to adoption. Such procedures will help
protect the audit committee in cases of possible litigation.



Sources and Suggested Readings 177

Connecticut General Statutes Annotated, Sections 33-318(b)(1) and (2), West 1960 and
Supplement 1985.

“Firing Line,” Time (February 19, 1979), p. 51.

Guttman v. Jen-Hsun Huang et al. Nvidia Corporation, C.A. No. 19571-N.C. (Del. Ch.
2003).

Internal Revenue Code Chapter 75A, Crimes (1954).

Haltman, et al. v. Aura Systems, Inc., et al., 844 F. Supp. 544 (C.D.C.A. 1993).

In re Caremark, Derivative Litigation Delaware Court of Chancery, 1996 698 A. 2d 959.
In re Livent, Inc. Securities Litigation, 148 F. Supp. 2d 331 (S.D.N.Y. 2001).
International, Inc. Derivative Litigation, 698 A. 2d 959 (Del. Ch. 1996).

Manzo v. Rite Aid Corporation, C.A. No. 18451-N.C. (Del. Ch. 2002).

Lancaster, Hal, “Fuss at Cal Life Shows Audit Committee Role is Crucial, Experts Say.”
The Wall Street Journal (March 17, 1980). p. 1.

Marsh, Hugh L., and Thomas E. Powell, “The Audit Committee Charter: Rx for Fraud Pre-
vention.” Journal of Accountancy, 167, No. 2 (February 1989), pp. 55-57.

New York Business Corporation Law, McKinney's Consolidated Laws of New York Anno-
tated (Brooklyn, N.Y.: Edward Thompson Company, 1963, Book 6).

Petziner, Thomas, Jr., “Heinz Senior Officials Didn’t Participate in Profit-Juggling Prac-
tices, Panel Says.” The Wall Street Journal (May 9, 1980), p. 2.

Powers, William C., Report of Investigation by the Special Investigative Committee of the
Board of Directors of Enron Corporation (February 1, 2002), http://news.findlaw.com/
hdocs/docs/enron/sicreport/

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Section 307, Rules of Professional Responsibility for Attor-
neys, H.R. Rep. No. 107-610 (2002).

Securities and Exchange Commission, 1993, 1994, 1995, 1996, 1997 Annual Reports
(Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office).

Securities and Exchange Commission, Release No. 33-8155, Implementation of Standards
of Professional Conduct for Attorneys (January 29, 2003).

Securities Exchange Act Rule 10(b)-5, Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Sec. 240
(1974).

Securities and Exchange Commission, The Work of the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion (Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1974).

United States Code, Titles 15 and 18 (1970).

Verschoor, Curtis C., “Miniscribe: A New Example of Audit Committee Ineffectiveness.”
Internal Auditing 5, No. 4 (Spring 1990), pp. 13-19.

Verschoor, Curtis C., “A Case Study of Audit Committee Effectiveness at Sundstrand,” In-
ternal Auditing 4, No. 4 (Spring 1989), pp. 11-19.

The Wall Street Journal Staff Reporter, “Playboy Audit Committee Bares Details of
Hefner’s High Living on Firm’s Tab.” The Wall Street Journal (April 4, 1980), p. 6.



Chapter 5

Rules of the Road—
Auditing and Related
Accounting Standards

The purpose of this chapter is to introduce the broad framework of generally ac-
cepted auditing standards and the integration of such standards with their respec-
tive generally accepted financial accounting standards. The integration of auditing
and accounting standards will enhance the audit committee’s understanding of the
application of accounting standards in the preparation of the financial statements.
Moreover, the audit committee will acquire not only a broad perspective on the es-
sential purpose of the audit examination, but also the salient points concerning the
auditors’ report. In succeeding chapters, additional financial accounting standards
will be discussed in more detail.

AN OVERVIEW OF GENERALLY ACCEPTED
AUDITING STANDARDS

Nature of Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

In Chapter 2, reference was made to the auditing standards concerning the scope
paragraph of the auditors’ report. More specifically, the auditors state:

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also in-
cludes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Explicit in the preceding sentence is the auditors’ representation that the audit ex-
amination has been conducted based not only on authoritative guidelines or rules
as established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants but also
on their professional judgment in the application of auditing procedures. As ap-
proved and adopted by the membership of the AICPA, generally accepted auditing
standards are as follows:

178
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General Standards

1. The audit is to be performed by a person or persons having adequate technical
training and proficiency as an auditor.

2. In all matters relating to the assignment, an independence in mental attitude is to
be maintained by the auditor or auditors.

3. Due professional care is to be exercised in the performance of the audit and the
preparation of the report.

Standards of Field Work

1. The work is to be adequately planned and assistants, if any, are to be properly
supervised.

2. A sufficient understanding of the internal control structure is to be obtained
to plan the audit and to determine the nature, timing, and extent of tests to be
performed.

3. Sufficient competent evidential matter is to be obtained through inspection, ob-
servation, inquiries, and confirmations to afford a reasonable basis for an opinion
regarding the financial statements under audit.

Standards of Reporting

1. The report shall state whether the financial statements are presented in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles.

2. The report shall identify those circumstances in which such principles have not
been consistently observed in the current period in relation to the preceding
period.

3. Informative disclosures in the financial statements are to be regarded as reason-
ably adequate unless otherwise stated in the report.

4. The report shall either contain an expression of opinion regarding the financial
statements taken as a whole or an assertion to the effect that an opinion cannot be
expressed. When an overall opinion cannot be expressed, the reasons therefore
should be stated. In all cases where an auditor’s name is associated with financial
statements, the report should contain a clear-cut indication of the character of the
auditor’s work, if any, and the degree of responsibility the auditor is taking.!

These auditing standards provide a useful framework for measuring the qual-
ity of the auditors’ professional performance concerning the audit examination and
the audit report. Such standards are totally inflexible because the public accoun-
tancy profession wishes to maintain high standards and uniformity in the practice
of auditing. However, auditing procedures are flexible since the auditors use vari-
ous methods based upon their professional judgment to perform the audit. Fur-
thermore, the Auditing Standards Board of the AICPA periodically issues
pronouncements on auditing matters that represent the board’s interpretations of
generally accepted auditing standards. These pronouncements provide the auditors
with guidance and direction regarding various auditing procedures in a particular
auditing situation. (See Appendix A.)

!American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Professional Standards, U.S. Auditing Stan-
dards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1 (Copyright © 2003 by the AICPA, Inc.), AU Sec. 150.03.
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AN ANALYSIS OF THE AUDITING STANDARDS
General Auditing Standards

With respect to the general standards, adequate technical training and proficiency
as an auditor implies that the individuals who are performing the audit are profes-
sional accountants (certified public accountants). Certified public accountants are
requisite to the audit function since their major objective is to express an inde-
pendent opinion on the financial statements. Their professional opinion is criti-
cally important to the users of the financial statements because such users need
assurance on corporate management’s financial accounting representations. More-
over, independent auditors have a duty of professional care whereby they must ex-
ercise their professional judgment with reasonable care and diligence. (Visit
www.aicpa.org, Code of Professional Conduct.)

Auditing Standards of Fieldwork The first standard of fieldwork centers
around the auditors’ objectives, plans, and procedures concerning the particular
audit engagement. For example, the Auditing Standards Executive Committee
points out:

Audit planning involves developing an overall strategy for the expected conduct and
scope of the examination. The nature, extent, and timing of planning vary with the
size and complexity of the entity, experience with the entity, and knowledge of the
entity’s business.?

Supervision involves directing the efforts of assistants who are involved in accom-
plishing the objectives of the examination and determining whether those objectives
were accomplished.?

Thus the first standard of fieldwork requires that the auditors plan their neces-
sary auditing procedures subsequent to their review of such matters as the corpo-
ration’s accounting policies and procedures and the industry practices of the
particular entity. Also, they are required to develop and administer the necessary
levels of proper supervision regarding the audit examination.*

The second standard of fieldwork requires that the auditors obtain a sufficient
understanding of the internal control structure. (See Chapter 8.) Their evaluation of
the system of internal control is necessary in order to determine how much reliance
can be placed on the entity’s financial accounting system. Since the financial state-
ments are the product of the accounting system, the auditors must examine the in-
ternal controls and the related recordings of various business transactions.
Furthermore, the auditors evaluate the system of internal control to determine the
extent of their tests of the accounting records as well as their auditing procedures.

As the third standard of fieldwork, sufficient competent evidential matter means
that the auditors must obtain and examine internal and external documentation that

2Statement on Auditing Standards No. 22, “Planning and Supervision” (New York: AICPA, 1978), par. 3.
3Ibid., par. 9.

“4For a complete description of the organizational and operational aspects of a public accounting firm,
see any standard auditing textbook.
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supports the financial accounting representations in the financial statements. For
example, the auditors will examine not only sales invoices and other documenta-
tions but also correspondence from various parties outside the entity, such as banks
and customers. The amount of evidential matter to be examined is based on the au-
ditors’ professional judgment. Obviously, the auditors’ major objective is to exam-
ine sufficient evidence to enable them to express their opinion on the fairness of the
presentations in the financial statements.

The standards of fieldwork are directly related to the scope of the auditors’ ex-
amination. The scope of the audit is critically important because the auditors may
not express an unqualified opinion on the financial statements if their scope is lim-
ited. As the Auditing Standards Executive Committee states:

Restrictions on the scope of his examination, whether imposed by the client or by
circumstances such as the timing of his work, the inability to obtain sufficient com-
petent evidential matter, or an inadequacy in the accounting records, may require him
to qualify his opinion or to disclaim an opinion.’

Thus it is imperative that the audit committee examine those situations that
may preclude the issuance of an unqualified opinion as a result of a limitation on
the auditors’ scope. For example, a limitation on the auditors’ observation of phys-
ical inventories or the confirmation of accounts receivable would be considered a
restriction on the scope.®

In March 2002, the Auditing Standards Board issued a hierarchy of generally
accepted auditing standards in order to realign and clarify the authority and guid-
ance in the myriad of auditing literature. Exhibit 5.1 contains the three levels in the
hierarchy of generally accepted auditing standards. Given this hierarchy of audit-
ing standards, it is reasonable to expect that audit committees should have a
systematic process in place to ensure that they are informed about current author-
itative auditing literature.

Since the standards of reporting are closely associated with an understanding
of generally accepted accounting principles, such standards are discussed in the
next section of this chapter.

INTEGRATION OF AUDITING AND RELATED
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

As discussed in Chapter 2, the auditors state in the third paragraph of their report
that they are expressing an opinion on the fair presentation of the financial state-
ments. Also, their opinion gives assurance to the users of the statements that man-
agement has presented the financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

SAICPA, Professional Standards, U.S. Auditing Standards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1, AU Sec.
508.22. See Chapter 13 for a discussion on the various types of auditing reports.

SAICPA, Professional Standards, U.S. Auditing Standards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1, AU Sec.
508.24.
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Exhibit 5.1 GAAS Hierarchy Summary

Level of Authority
Level 1: Auditing Standards® (included the 10 generally accepted auditing standards and
the Statements on Auditing Standards).

Level 2: Interpretive Publications® (includes Interpretations of the SASs, auditing guidance
in AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides, and AICPA auditing Statements of Position).

Level 3: Other Auditing Publications® (includes other AICPA publications not mentioned
above; auditing articles in professional journals, including the AICPA’s CPA Letter; con-
tinuing professional education programs and other instructional materials, textbooks,
guide books, audit programs, and checklists; and other auditing publications from state
CPA societies, other organizations, and individuals).

Source: Statement on Auditing Standards No. 95, “Generally Accepted Auditing Standards” (New
York: AICPA, 2002) pars. 1-7.

2The auditor should be prepared to justify departures from the SASs.

"The auditor should be aware of and consider interpretive publications applicable to his or her audit,
and if not applied the auditor should be prepared to explain how he or she complied with the SAS
provisions.

“The third-level publications have no authoritative status; however, they may help the auditor
understand and apply the SASs.

If there are no exceptions noted by the auditors with respect to the consistent
application of generally accepted accounting principles and adequate informative
disclosure in the financial statements, then the users can assume that such state-
ments are fairly presented. The following discussion provides an analysis of the
four auditing standards of reporting and the opinion paragraph of the auditors’
report.

Nature of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

The first auditing standard of reporting requires the auditors to make a statement
in their report on whether the financial statements are presented in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. In contrast with the 10 generally
accepted auditing standards, an authoritative list of generally accepted accounting
principles or standards has not been established by any one authoritative source.
However, the official pronouncements of several authoritative bodies have been
recognized as generally accepted accounting principles. (See Appendix A.) Ex-
hibit 5.2 contains a hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles.

In addition, several other organizations have influenced modern accounting
thought (see Appendix B), such as:

* American Accounting Association
e Institute of Management Accountants
* Financial Executives International

e Institute of Internal Auditors
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Exhibit 5.2 GAAP Hierarchy Summary

Nongovernmental Entities

State and Local Governments

Established Accounting Principles

183

10a. FASB Statements and 12a. GASB Statements and Interpreta-
Interpretations, APB Opinions, tions, plus AICPA and FASB
and AICPA Accounting Research pronouncements if made applica-
Bulletins ble to state and local governments
10b. FASB Technical Bulletins, AICPA by a GASB Statement or
Industry Audit and Accounting Interpretation
Guides, and AICPA Statements 12b. GASB Technical Bulletins, and the
of Position following pronouncements if
10c. Consensus positions of the FASB specifically made applicable to
Emerging Issues Task Force and state and local governments by the
AICPA Practice Bulletins AICPA: AICPA Industry Audit and
10d. AICPA accounting interpretations, Accounting Guides and AICPA
“Qs and As” published by the Statements of Position
FASB staff, as well as industry 12¢. Consensus positions of the GASB
practices widely recognized and Emerging Issues Task Force and
prevalent AICPA Practice Bulletins if specif-
ically made applicable to state and
local governments by the AICPA
12d. “Qs and As” published by the

GASB staff, as well as industry
practices widely recognized and
prevalent

Other Accounting Literature

13. Other accounting literature, including
GASB Concepts Statements; pro-
nouncements in categories (a) through
(d) of the hierarchy for nongovern-
mental entities when not specifically
made applicable to state and local
governments; APB Statements;
FASB Concepts Statements; AICPA
Issues Papers; International Ac-
counting Standards Committee
Statements; pronouncements of other
professional associations or regula-
tory agencies: AICPA Technical
Practice Aids; and accounting text-
books, handbooks, and articles

11. Other accounting literature, including
FASB Concepts Statements; APB
Statements; AICPA Issues Papers;
International Accounting Standards
Committee Statements; GASB
Statements, Interpretations, and
Technical Bulletins; pronouncements
of other professional associations or
regulatory agencies; AICPA Techni-
cal Practice Aids; and accounting
textbooks, handbooks, and articles

Source: Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the Independent Auditor’s Report” (New York:
AICPA, 1992), par. 15.
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e Cost Accounting Standard Board

e Other regulatory agencies (e.g., Securities and Exchange Commission)

According to the Accounting Principles Board, accounting principles are de-
scribed in this way:

Generally accepted accounting principles incorporate the consensus at a particular
time as to which economic resources and obligations should be recorded as assets
and liabilities by financial accounting. . . .

Generally accepted accounting principles encompass the conventions, rules, and pro-
cedures necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a particular time. The
standard of generally accepted accounting principles includes not only broad guide-
lines of general application, but also detailed practices and procedures.’

Since the publication of APB No. 4, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
has issued six Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts relative to business
organizations and one statement with respect to financial reporting by nonbusiness
organizations. In Chapter 3, these statements were identified and their implemen-
tation discussed.

Management’s selection of accounting principles, methods, or procedures
should be based on those principles of accounting that have general acceptance
among the public accounting profession. Adoption of such principles is particu-
larly important because it affects the auditors’ opinion on the financial statements.
If management applies significant accounting principles that lack general accep-
tance, then the auditors cannot express an unqualified opinion on the statements.?
Moreover, Rule 203 of the AICPA Rules of Conduct of the Code of Professional
Ethics states:

A member shall not (1) express an opinion or state affirmatively that the financial
statements or other financial data of any entity are presented in conformity with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles or (2) state that he or she is not aware of any
material modifications that should be made to such statements or data in order for
them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, if such
statements or data contain any departure from an accounting principle promulgated
by bodies designated by Council’ to establish such principles that have a material ef-
fect on the statements or data taken as a whole. If, however, the statements or data
contain such a departure and the member can demonstrate that due to unusual cir-
cumstances the financial statements or data would otherwise have been misleading,
the member can comply with the rule by describing the departure, its approximate ef-
fects, if practicable, and the reasons why compliance with the principle would result
in a misleading statement.”

Statement of the Accounting Principles Board No. 4, “Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Un-
derlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises” (New York: AICPA, 1970), pars. 137-138.
SAICPA Professional Standards, U.S. Auditing Standards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1, AU Sec.
508.35.

°See the bodies designated by Council to promulgate technical standards in the Code of Professional
Conduct at www.aicpa.org.

WAICPA, Rules of Conduct of the Code of Professional Conduct Visit www.aicpa.org.
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Thus the auditors may express an unqualified opinion; however, their audit re-
port should be modified to describe the circumstances.

Consistency With respect to the third standard of reporting, the auditors are
not required to state in their report whether the accounting principles have been
consistently applied in the current and preceding periods. However, as previously
mentioned, consistency in the application of accounting principles and adequate
informative disclosure in the financial statements can be assumed by the users un-
less the auditors take exception in their audit report. As the APB pointed out:

Consistency is an important factor in comparability within a single enterprise. Al-
though financial accounting practices and procedures are largely conventional, con-
sistency in their use permits comparison over time.!!

The FASB reaffirmed its predecessor’s position in SFAC No. 2, which states:

Information about a particular enterprise gains greatly in usefulness if it can be com-
pared with similar information about other enterprises and with similar information
about the same enterprise for some other period or some other point in time. Com-
parability between enterprises and consistency in the application of methods over
time increases the informational value of comparisons of relative economic oppor-
tunities or performance. The significance of information, especially quantitative in-
formation, depends to a great extent on the user’s ability to relate it to some
benchmark.'?

Such a requirement is necessary because management has flexibility in the se-
lection of accounting methods or procedures. In the practice of accounting, several
alternative accounting methods are available to management for financial report-
ing. For example, the annual depreciation charges on the entity’s plant and equip-
ment may be computed on the basis of several acceptable depreciation methods.
As aresult, the auditors must satisfy themselves that management has applied the
alternative accounting methods on a consistent basis from period to period in order
to enhance the comparability of the financial statements. The comparability of fi-
nancial statements is essential since the users of the statements make economic de-
cisions and thus need financial accounting information that is meaningful.

However, management can make changes in the application of alternative ac-
counting methods. Changes in the economic conditions that affect a particular en-
terprise may require a change in the application of an accounting method. For
example, a corporation may change its method of pricing inventory items because
of the inflationary conditions in the economy and the effects on the financial state-
ments. It is incumbent upon management to justify the change in the accounting
methods whereby a particular change enhances a fairer presentation in the finan-
cial statements. Such an accounting change should be disclosed in the financial

Statement of the Accounting Principles Board, No. 4, par. 98.

"’Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2, “Quali-
tative Characteristics of Accounting Information” (Stamford, CT: FASB, May 1980), p. 2. See paras.
120-122 for additional emphasis.
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statements in order to indicate the effects of the change on the statements.'3 More-
over, the auditors are required to point out the change in the application of the ac-
counting methods by modifying their report with an additional paragraph
following the opinion paragraph.'* (See Chapter 10.)

Disclosure The third reporting standard regarding informative disclosures implies
that the information in the financial statements should be relevant to the users of ac-
counting information. The information in the body of the statements, footnotes, and
supplementary materials should be pertinent to the informational needs of the users.
The accounting principle related to this particular auditing standard is known as the
full disclosure principle. Under this principle, management has a reporting responsi-
bility to its constituencies to disclose financial information that is necessary for a
proper understanding of the financial statements. Such disclosure of information is
based on management’s judgment. Furthermore, the auditors have a professional
obligation to ensure reasonably adequate informative disclosures in the statements.
The fundamental recognition criteria are set forth by the FASB:

An item and information about it should meet four fundamental recognition criteria
to be recognized and should be recognized when the criteria are met, subject to a
cost-benefit constraint and a materiality threshold. Those criteria are:

Definitions—The item meets the definition of an element of financial statements.
Measurability—It has a relevant attribute measurable with sufficient reliability.

Relevance—The information about it is capable of making a difference in user
decisions.

Reliability—The information is representationally faithful, verifiable, and neutral.

All four criteria are subject to a pervasive cost-benefit constraint: the expected ben-
efits from recognizing a particular item should justify perceived costs of providing
and using the information. Recognition is also subject to a materiality threshold: an
item and information about it need not be recognized in a set of financial statements
if the item is not large enough to be material and the aggregate of individually im-
material items is not large enough to be material to those financial statements.'

However, management may not disclose certain information because such dis-
closure may injure the entity’s competitive position.

Materiality ~With respect to materiality, the FASB indicates:

Individual judgments are required to assess materiality in the absence of authorita-
tive criteria or to decide that minimum quantitative criteria are not appropriate in

BOpinions of the Accounting Principles Board No. 20, “Accounting Changes” (New York: AICPA,
1971), par. 17.

4AICPA, Professional Standards, U.S. Auditing Standards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1, AU Sec.
508.16.

SFinancial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, “Recog-
nition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises” (Stamford, CT: FASB,
1984), par. 63.
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particular situations. The essence of the materiality concept is clear. The omission or
misstatement of an item in a financial report is material if, in the light of surround-
ing circumstances, the magnitude of the item is such that it is probable that the judg-
ment of a reasonable person relying upon the report would have been changed or
influenced by the inclusion or correction of the item.'®

The Auditing Standards Board has reaffirmed the FASB position on materiality as
mentioned in SAS No. 47, “Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an Audit.”

Implicit in the preceding narrative is the pervasive influence of the materiality
principle on the financial statements. Although the materiality of a particular fi-
nancial fact is a matter of professional judgment, consideration should be given to
the significance of the information in relationship to the users’ information needs.
Such consideration may include the effect of the financial item on the entity’s net
income or financial condition. For example, an inventory loss of $10,000 would be
a material item in the financial statements of a small trading or manufacturing con-
cern because such a loss may represent 5 to 10 percent of the company’s assets.
However, in a large conglomerate enterprise with billions of dollars in assets, in-
ventory loss of $10,000 would be an immaterial item in the financial statements.
Thus the nature and size of the financial item and its relative importance to the fi-
nancial statements determine the materiality of the item. In short, no definitive
rules or criteria are used to judge materiality since the circumstances regarding
each audit examination vary.

In 1999, Arthur Levitt, former SEC chairman, reported that: “Staff Accounting
Bulletin 99 reemphasizes that the exclusive reliance on any percentage or numer-
ical threshold in assessing materiality for financial reporting has no basis in the ac-
counting literature or in the law.”!7 As a result, independent auditors are required
to assess both quantitative and qualitative factors in their determination of whether
an item is material. Likewise, independent auditors are required to obtain an ac-
knowledgment from management of uncorrected misstatements and discuss these
misstatements with the audit committee.

To enhance the usefulness of the financial statements, the APB has adopted a
rule with respect to the disclosure of accounting policies. In particular, “the Board
believes that the disclosure is particularly useful if given in a separate ‘Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies’ preceding the notes to the financial statements or
as the initial note.”'® For example, the disclosures would include, among others, the
basis of consolidation, depreciation methods, inventory pricing methods, account-
ing for research and development costs, and translation of foreign currencies. '

!Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2, par. 132.
7Securities and Exchange Commission, 1999 Annual Report (Washington, DC: U.S. Government
Printing Office), p. 84. For examples of qualitative factors, see SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 99,
“Materiality” (August 12, 1999). Also see Statement on Auditing Standards No. 89, “Audit Adjust-
ments,” and Statement on Auditing Standards No. 90, “Audit Committee Communications” (New
York: AICPA, 1999).

8O0pinions of the Accounting Principles Board No. 22, “Disclosure of Accounting Policies” (New
York: AICPA, 1972), par. 15.

Ibid., par. 13.
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The disclosure principle is particularly important because if the auditors do not
concur with the adequacy of management’s disclosures, then they cannot express
an unqualified opinion. Such inadequate disclosures should be stated in their audit
report. For further information or additional disclosure matters, see Chapter 10.

Fairness The fourth auditing standard of reporting requires that the indepen-
dent auditors express their opinion on the fairness of the financial presentation in
the financial statements. However, if the auditors cannot express an opinion, then
they are required to acknowledge this fact and the related reasons. Moreover, the
auditors are required to disclose the nature of their association and responsibility
with the financial statements when their names are associated with the statements.
Their professional opinion is based on their informed judgment as a result of the
audit. Their opinion should not be construed as an absolute guarantee regarding
the accuracy of the financial statements. Furthermore, the Auditing Standards
Board points out the following with respect to the term fairness:

The independent auditor’s judgment concerning the “fairness” of the overall presen-
tation of financial statements should be applied within the framework of generally
accepted accounting principles. Without that framework the auditor would have no
uniform standard for judging the presentation of financial position, results of opera-
tions, and cash flows in financial statements.?

In summary, the auditors should base their judgment on matters such as:

e Whether the accounting principles selected and applied have general acceptance
e Whether the accounting principles are appropriate in the circumstances

*  Whether the financial statements, including the related notes, are informative
of matters that may affect their use, understanding, and interpretation

e Whether the information presented in the financial statements is classified and
summarized in a reasonable manner

*  Whether the financial statements reflect the underlying events and transac-
tions in a manner that presents the statements within limits that are reasonable
and practicable to attain in financial statements?!

The preceding discussions of an overview of auditing standards and their inte-
gration with related accounting standards indicate the need for a framework of ac-
ceptable guidelines in order to meet the demand for financial accounting
information. Particularly important is the judgment and discretion of management

20Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, par. 3.

2Tbid., par. 4. With respect to current Securities and Exchange initiatives dealing with such matters as
materiality, revenue recognition, in-process research and development, reserves, and audit adjust-
ments, the reader should visit Arthur Levitt’s speech, www.sec.gov/news/speeches/spch220.txt. For ad-
ditional information regarding the guidance on the criteria necessary to recognize restructuring
liabilities and asset impairments and the criteria to recognizing revenue, see Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 100, “Restructuring Charges and Asset Impairment” (November 24, 1999) and Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101 “Revenue Recognition” (December 3, 1999) (Washington, DC: SEC, 1999).



International Auditing Standards 189

and the independent auditors. Management’s involvement in the application of ac-
ceptable accounting standards and the auditors’ attestation of their financial judg-
ments enhances the usefulness of the financial statements. More important, it is
incumbent on the audit committee to understand the causes or reasons for the au-
ditors’ inability to express an unqualified opinion on the financial statements.

Whereas the preceding discussion focuses on the basic framework of auditing
standards and the relationship to accounting standards, Exhibit 5.3 is a summary
of the more significant auditing standards and related topical areas of interest to
audit committees.

ATTESTATION ENGAGEMENTS

In addition to the generally accepted auditing standards associated with the annual
audit of financial statements, the Auditing Standards Board and the Accounting
and Review Services Committee have issued a codification of four statements on
Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAEs) and two SSAEs in response to the
banking reform legislation (FDICIA). The basic framework for these standards is
shown in Exhibit 5.4. The auditor’s responsibility for attestation engagements
with respect to special reports, reviews, and agreed-upon procedures is discussed
in Chapter 13.

Exhibit 5.5 lists the attestation standards and related topical areas of concern
to audit committees. The reader may wish to consult other AICPA statements such
as Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services, Statements on
Standards for Management Consulting Services, Statements on Quality Control
Standards, Standards for Performing and Reporting on Quality Reviews, State-
ments on Responsibilities in Tax Practices, and Statements on Standards for Ac-
countants’ Services on Prospective Financial Information.

INTERNATIONAL AUDITING STANDARDS

Recognizing that there is a movement toward the “globalization” of the world’s se-
curities markets, the International Organization of Securities Commission
(IOSCO)?? has been working with the International Accounting Standards Com-
mittee (IASC) (renamed International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board
[IAASB])* and the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) to develop
harmonized accounting and auditing standards. The objective of the initiatives is
to enable a company that has complied with these international standards in its eq-
uity securities offering documents, to raise capital in a global capital marketplace.

In response to the demand for international auditing standards, the IFAC es-
tablished an International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. This board
has issued a number of pronouncements and related statements, as shown in Ex-
hibit 5.6. Although such standards are adopted on a voluntary basis, the goal of

ZInternational Federation of Accountants, 1992 Annual Report, p. 3.
23See American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Professional Standards, Vol. 2, Sec. AC
9000 for the International Accounting Standards, New York, June 1, 2003.
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Exhibit 5.3 Summary of Significant Auditing Standards

Auditing Pronouncements

Topical Area

Statements on Auditing Standards:

No. 12, “Inquiry of a Client’s Lawyer
Concerning Litigation, Claims, and
Assessments”’

No. 22, “Planning and Supervision”

No. 31, “Evidential Matter”

No. 45, “Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—1983”

No. 47, “Audit Risk and Materiality in
Conducting an Audit”

No. 50, “Reports on the Application of
Accounting Principles”

No. 54, “Illegal Acts by Clients”

No. 55, “Consideration of the Internal
Control Structure in a Financial
Statement Audit”

No. 56, “Analytical Procedures”

No. 57, “Auditing Accounting Estimates”

No. 58, “Reports on Audited Financial
Statements”

No. 59, “The Auditor’s Consideration of
an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern”

No. 60, “Communication of Control-
Structure Related Matters Noted in
an Audit”

No. 61, “Communication with Audit
Committees”

No. 62, “Special Reports”

No. 65, “The Auditor’s Consideration of
the Internal Audit Function in an Audit
of Financial Statements”

No. 72, “Letters for Underwriters and
Certain Other Requesting Parties”
(See also SAS No. 76 and No. 86 for
amendments.)

No. 73, “Using the Work of a Specialist”

No. 78, “Consideration of Internal Control
in a Financial Statement Audit: An
Amendment to SAS No. 55”

No. 79, “Amendment to SAS No. 58,
Reports on Audited Financial
Statements”

Accounting for contingencies (see SFAS
No. 5 and Interpretation No. 14)

Audit plans and execution

Management’s assertions

Related party disclosures (see SFAS
No. 57)

Inherent and control risks (see SFAC
No. 2)

Other auditors’ opinions

Violations of laws and regulations that
have a material direct effect on finan-
cial statements

Quality of the control environment and
level of control risk

Analysis and evaluation of financial
statement information

Reasonableness of estimates

Types of auditor’s reports

Violation of the going-concern
assumption

Reportable conditions (deficiencies in the
internal control structure) as noted in
the management letter

Selection of significant accounting
policies and discussion of the auditor’s

disagreement with management

Attestation of other historical financial
information

Internal control and the quality of the
internal audit function

Comfort letters to investment banking
firms

Expert opinions (e.g., environmental
liabilities)

Revises the definition and description of
internal control

Eliminated the requirement that auditors
modify their reports for a significant
uncertainty
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Auditing Pronouncements

Topical Area

No. 83, “Establishing an Understanding
with the Client”

No. 84, “Communications Between
Predecessor and Successor Auditors”
No. 85, “Management Representations”

No. 87, “Restricting the Use of an
Auditor’s Report”
No. 89, “Audit Adjustments”

No. 90, “Audit Committee
Communications”

No. 92, “Auditing Derivative Instruments,
Hedging Activities, and Investments in
Securities”

No. 93, “Omnibus Statement on Auditing

Standards—2000

No. 94, “The Effect of Information Tech-
nology on the Auditor’s Consideration
of Internal Control in a Financial
Statement Audit”

No. 95, “Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards”

No. 96, “Audit Documentation”

No. 97, “Amendment to SAS No. 50,
Reports on the Application of
Accounting Principles”

No. 98, “Omnibus SAS—2000"

No. 99, “Consideration of Fraud in a
Financial Statement Audit”

Communicates the objectives of the
engagement, responsibilities of man-
agement and the auditors, and any
limitations of the engagement

Auditor changes (SEC 8-K Report)

Audit evidence acknowledging manage-
ment’s responsibility for the financial
statements

Auditor’s reports intended only for use by
certain parties

Acknowledges to the auditors that the
effects of any uncorrected misstate-
ments brought to management by the
auditors are not material, both individu-
ally and in the aggregate. Communi-
cates the aforementioned misstatements
to the audit committee.

Discussions about the quality, not just the
acceptability, of accounting principles
for financial reporting as well as com-
munications of matters related to in-
terim financial information.

Auditing financial statement assertions
about derivative instruments, hedging
activities, and investment securities.
(see SFAS No. 133)

Withdraws SAS No. 75; amends SAS
No. 58; amends SAS No. 84.

The effect of IT on internal control and
assessment of control risk.

Establishes an authoritative hierarchy for
GAAS

Revises SAS No. 41, “Working Papers,”
and requires greater audit
documentation.

Prohibits an accountant from providing a
written report on the application of
accounting principles not involving
facts and circumstances of a specific
entity

Provides clarifying guidance to SAS Nos.
95,25,47,70, 58, 8, 52,29, 1.

Revises SAS No. 82, “Consideration of
Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit”
assessing the risk of material misstate-
ment of the financial statements

(continued)
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Exhibit 5.3 (Continued)

Auditing Pronouncements Topical Area

No. 100, “Interim Financial Information” Revises SAS No. 71, “Interim Financial
Information Quarterly Reports—SEC
10Q Reports” (see APB No. 28)
No. 101, “Auditing Fair Value Accounting basis for measurement or
Measurements and Disclosures” disclosure of a financial statement item
is fair value.

Note: The Auditing Standards Board has rescinded SAS No. 21 “Segment Information.” The Board’s
Audit Issues Task Force has issued an interpretation “Applying Audit Procedures to Segment
Disclosures in Financial Statements” of SAS No. 31, “Evidential Matter.” Also see SAS No. 86,
“Amendment to SAS No. 72, Letters for Underwriters and Certain Other Requesting Parties.”

Exhibit 5.4 Standards for Attestation Engagements

General Standards

1. The engagement shall be performed by a practitioner having adequate technical

training and proficiency in the attest function.

The engagement shall be performed by a practitioner having adequate knowledge in

the subject matter.

3. The practitioner shall perform the engagement only if he or she has reason to believe
that the subject matter is capable of evaluation or measurement against criteria stan-
dards or benchmarks that are available to users.

4. In all matters relating to the engagement, an independence in mental attitude shall be
maintained by the practitioner.

5. Due professional care shall be exercised in the performance of the engagement.

Standards of Fieldwork

1. The work shall be adequately planned and assistants, if any, shall be properly supervised.
2. Sufficient evidence shall be obtained to provide a reasonable basis for the conclusion
that is expressed in the report.

2

Standards of Reporting

1. The report shall identify the subject matter or the assertion being reported on and

state the character of the engagement.

The report shall state the practitioner’s conclusion about the subject matter or the

assertion based on the criteria against which the subject matter was measured.

3. The report shall state all of the practitioner’s significant reservations about the
engagement.

4. The report on an engagement to evaluate subject matter that has been prepared based
on agreed-upon criteria or an assertion related thereto or on an engagement to apply
agreed-upon procedures should contain a statement restricting its use to the parties
who have agreed upon such criteria or procedures.

2

Source: Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 9, “Amendments to Statement on
Standards for Attestation Engagements Nos. 1, 2, and 3” (New York: AICPA, 1999), p. 2. Reprinted
with permission. Copyright 1999 by The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
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Exhibit 5.5 Summary of Significant Standards for Attestation Engagements

Statements on Standards for Attestation
Engagements

Topical Area

SSAE No.

SSAE No.

SSAE No.

SSAE No.

SSAE No.

SSAE No.

SSAE No.

SSAE No.

SSAE No.

SSAE No.
SSAE No.

Codification of
SSAE No. 1

Codification of
SSAE No. 1

Codification of
SSAE No. 1

Codification of
SSAE No. 1

10

11
12

“Attestation Standards”

“Attest Services Related to
MAS Engagements”

“Statements on Standards for
Accountants’ Services on
Prospective Financial Information,
Financial Information, Financial
Forecasts and Projections”

“Reporting on Pro Forma
Financial Information”

“Reporting on an Entity’s Internal
Control Structure over Financial
Reporting”

“Compliance Attestation”

“Agreed-upon Procedures
Engagements”

“Amendment to SSAE No. 17

“Reporting on an Entity’s Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting:
An Amendment to SSAE No. 2”

“Establishing an Understanding
with the Client”

“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis”

“Amendments to SSAE Nos. 1,
2, and 3”

“Attestation Standards: Revision
and Recodification”

“Audit Documentation”
“Amendment to SSAE 10”

Framework for attestation
engagements

Part of a management
advisory services
engagement

Financial information about
the company’s expected
financial position, results
of operations, and cash
flows

Pro forma adjustments
derived from audited or
unaudited historical
financial statements

Management’s assertion
about the effectiveness
of internal control
environment

Management’s assertion on
compliance with speci-
fied laws and regulations

Used for engagements other
than SAS No. 75
engagements

Working papers

Internal control

Communicates the objec-
ives of the engagement

Disclosure and compliance
with SEC rules

Codification of SSAE
Nos. 1-9

Renames working papers




194 Rules of the Road—Auditing and Related Accounting Standards

Exhibit 5.6 International Auditing Pronouncements

International Standards on Auditing
AU International Standards on Auditing—Introduction
AU 8000  International Standards on Auditing
8012—Preface to International Standards on Auditing and Related Services
8020—Glossary of Terms
8025—IT Glossary of Terms
8100—Assurance Engagements
8120—Framework of International Standards on Auditing
8200—Objective and General Principles Governing on Audit of Finan-
cial Statements
8210—Terms of Audit Engagements
8220—Quality Control for Audit Work
8230—Documentation
8240—The Auditor’s Responsibility to Consider Fraud and Error in an
Audit of Financial Statements
8240A—Fraud and Error
8250—Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial
Statements
8260—Communications of Audit Matters with those Charged with
Governance
8300—Planning
8310—Knowledge of the Business
8320—Audit Materiality
8400—Risk Assessments and Internal Control
8401—Auditing in a Computer Information Systems Environment
8402—Audit Considerations Relating to Entities Using Service
Organizations
8500—Audit Evidence
8501—Audit Evidence—Additional Considerations for Specific Items
8505—External Confirmations
8510—Initial Engagements—Opening Balances
8520—Analytical Procedures
8530—Audit Sampling and Other Selective Testing Procedures
8540—Audit of Accounting Estimates
8545—Auditing Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures
8550—Related Parties
8560—Subsequent Events
8570—Going Concern
8580—Management Representations
8600—Using the Work of Another Auditor
8610—Considering the Work of Internal Auditing
8620—Using the Work of an Expert
8700—The Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements
8700A—The Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements
8710—Comparatives
8720—Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial
Statements
8800—The Auditor’s Report on Special Purpose Audit Engagements
8810—The Examination of Prospective Financial Information
8910—Engagements to Review Financial Statements
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Exhibit 5.6 (Continued)

8920—Engagements to Perform Agreed-upon Procedures Regarding
Financial Information
8930—Engagements to Compile Financial Information

International Auditing Practice Statements

AU 10,000 International Auditing Practice Statements

10,001—Inter-Bank Confirmation Procedures

10,010—IT Environments—Stand-Alone Microcomputers

10,020—IT Environments—On-Line Computer Systems

10,030—IT Environments—Database Systems

10,040—The Relationship Between Banking Supervisors and Bank’s
External Auditors

10,050—The Special Considerations in the Audit of Small Entities

10,060—Audits of the Financial Statements of Banks

10,080—Risk Assessments and Internal Control—CIS Characteristics
and Considerations

10,090—Computer-Assisted Audit Techniques

10,100—The Consideration of Environmental Matters in the Audit of
Financial Statements

10,120—Auditing Derivative Financial Instruments

10,130—Electronic Commerce—Effect on the Audit of Financial
Statements

Source: Reprinted with permission from the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
Professional Standards International Auditing, Vol. 2 (Copyright © 2003 by the AICPA).

these international organizations and boards is to foster harmonized standards on
an international basis. Given the audit committee’s oversight responsibility for fi-
nancial reporting, these standards may have an impact on companies at home and
abroad. More recently, the IAASB issued an International Standard on Auditing
(ISA) entitled “Communications to Those Charged with Governance.” In short,
the TAPC, the board’s predecessor, indicated that such an ISA is needed for these

reasons:

It recognizes the need to provide standards and guidance on the auditor’s responsi-
bility to communicate matters of governance interest, arising from the audit of fi-
nancial statements, to those charged with governance of an entity. Although the
structures of governance vary from country to country reflecting cultural and legal
background, in many jurisdictions the auditor is required to communicate matters of
governance interest, arising from the audit of financial statements, to those charged
with governance of an entity. Furthermore, the communication of these matters is
part of a mechanism by which the external auditors can add value to the role of those

responsible for the governance of the entity.?*

**International Auditing Practices Committee, “Communications to Those Charged with Gover-

nance,” Exposure Draft (New York: IFA, August 1998), pp. 2-3.
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Thus the IAASB has recognized the benefits of a corporate governance approach
to the audit process as a requisite for harmonizing the international accounting and
auditing standards. The Public Oversight Board has argued that the auditing pro-
fession shift its focus from a compliance and rule-oriented audit to a corporate
governance approach.

SOURCES AND SUGGESTED READINGS

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Rules of Conduct of the Code of Pro-
fessional Ethics (New York: AICPA, 1997).

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Professional Standards, International
Auditing, Vol. 2 (New York: AICPA, 2003).

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Professional Standards, U.S. Auditing
Standards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1 (New York: AICPA, 2003).

Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2,
“Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information” (Stamford, CT: FASB, 1980).
Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5,
“Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises” (Stam-
ford, CT: FASB, 1984).

International Auditing Practices Committee, “Communications to Those Charged with
Governance,” Exposure Draft (New York: IFA, 1998).

International Federation of Accountants, /992 Annual Report (New York: IFA, 1992).

Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board, No. 20, “Accounting Changes” (New York:
AICPA, 1971).

Opinions of Accounting Principles Board No. 22, “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”
(New York: AICPA, 1972).

Securities and Exchange Commission, 1999 Annual Report (Washington, DC: U.S. Gov-
ernment Printing Office).

Securities and Exchange Commission, “Materiality,” Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 99
(Washington, DC: SEC, August 12, 1999).

Securities and Exchange Commission, “Restructuring Charges and Asset Impairment,”
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 100 (Washington, DC: SEC, November 24, 1999).
Securities and Exchange Commission, “Revenue Recognition,” Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 101 (Washington, DC: SEC, December 3, 1999).

Statement of the Accounting Principles Board, No. 4, “Basic Concepts and Accounting Prin-
ciples Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises” (New York: AICPA, 1970).
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 22, “Planning and Supervision” (New York: AICPA,
1978).

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the Independent Auditor’s Report” (New
York: AICPA, 1992).

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 89, “Audit Adjustments” (New York: AICPA, 1999).

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 99, “Audit Committee Communications” (New York:
AICPA, 1999).

Statement on Standards of Attestation Engagements No. 9 “Amendments to Statement on
Standards for Attestation Engagements Nos. 1, 2, and 3” (New York: AICPA, 1999).



Part Two

The Planning
Function of the Audit
Committee






Chapter 6

An Overview of
Audit Planning

The auditing needs and goals of the enterprise are dynamic since they change as
the responsibilities of the corporate directors become more complex. Thus the de-
mands on the quality and quantity of auditing services change. To achieve an ef-
fective and efficient auditing process, audit planning is essential to meet the
fluctuating auditing needs of the enterprise.

Since the audit committee has an oversight responsibility for the overall audit
plan, it is essential that it understand not only the purpose of audit planning but
also its usefulness in ensuring an effective and efficient auditing process. Although
the process of audit planning is an amalgamation of the internal managerial talents
as well as the external auditing talents, the audit committee should review the
overall audit plan and recommend it to the board of directors for its approval.!
Therefore, the purpose of this chapter is to introduce the meaning and benefits of
audit planning and the broad segments of the overall audit plan. The role of the
audit committee in overseeing the entity’s audit plan is discussed in Chapter 7.

MEANING OF AUDIT PLANNING

As discussed in the preceding chapter, adequate audit planning is one of the tenets
of the generally accepted auditing standards of fieldwork. To indicate its signifi-
cance, the Auditing Standards Executive Committee’s definition is restated:

Audit planning involves developing an overall strategy for the expected conduct and
scope of the examination. The nature, extent, and timing of planning vary with the
size and complexity of the entity, experience with the entity, and knowledge of the
entity’s business.”

Furthermore, “ ‘materiality’ and ‘audit risk’ underlie the application of all the
standards, particularly the standards of field work and reporting.”® Thus implicit in
the auditors’ planning efforts is their concern with particular financial accounts and
locations, such as subsidiaries or divisions that are subject to a high exposure of
risk. For example, since “cash transactions are more susceptible to fraud than in-
ventories,” the audit work should be “more conclusive.”* Moreover, the quality of

!Such board approval is desirable in order to establish a formal corporate audit policy statement in ac-
cordance with the charter for the audit committee.

2Statement on Auditing Standards No. 22, “Planning and Supervision” (New York: AICPA, 1978), par. 3.
3American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Professional Standards, U.S. Auditing Stan-
dards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1 (New York: AICPA, 2003), AU Sec. 150.03.

“Ibid., AU Sec. 150.05.
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the system of internal control is important because “of the influence on auditing
procedures of a greater or lesser degree of misstatement; i.e., the more effective the
internal control, the less degree of control risk.”> A summary by the AICPA Con-
trol Risk Audit Guide Revision Task Force of some examples of both inherent and
control risk attributes that the auditor might consider and the audit decisions that
might be affected is presented in Exhibit 6.1. (See Chapter 8.)

Although the definition of audit planning applies to the independent auditors,
it correlates closely with the audit committee’s planning efforts. An analysis of the
definition will be useful to the audit committee regarding its responsibilities in the
audit planning function.

ANALYSIS OF AUDIT PLANNING AND THE COMMITTEE
Overview of the Audit Committee’s Strategy®

To review the entity’s audit plan effectively, the audit committee members need their
own plan of action. Their plan should be integrated with the annual auditing cycle,
which consists of: (1) initial planning segment, (2) preaudit segment, and (3) postau-
dit segment. Thus they will engage in audit planning at several different times during
the auditing cycle. The typical steps in the auditing cycle are illustrated in Exhibit 6.2.

For example, during the preaudit segment, James K. Loebbecke, former part-
ner of Touche Ross (now Deloitte & Touche), points out:

Experience suggests . . . that both auditors and their clients—either management
and/or audit committee members—should formally discuss not only the auditor’s
general methodology but also his specific approach in the client’s own situation.
This, indeed, should be a regular and early part of every audit examination.”

“Ibid.
The reader may wish to review the list of auditing pronouncements mentioned in Chapter 5. For exam-
ple, SAS Nos. 22, 47, 84, and 50 are all relative to the initial planning segment and SAS Nos. 22, 45, 47,
55,56, 60,61, 73,90, 93,94, 97, and 99 are applicable to the preaudit segment. Of course, the audit com-
mittee should review and discuss the decision factors regarding the acceptance and continuance with the
independent auditors as well as the engagement letter with the independent auditors. (See SAS No. 83.)
7James K. Loebbecke, “Audit Planning and Company Assistance,” CPA Journal 47, No. 11 (November
1977), p. 34. Also see Douglas R. Carmichael, “The Annual Audit Tune-up,” CPA Journal 67, No. 12
(December 1997), pp. 24-29. Moreover, independent accounting firms have implemented a new ap-
proach to the annual audit engagement in order to provide more value by identifying performance im-
provement opportunities for clients. For example, KPMG Peat Marwick (1995) has a Business
Measurement Process for identifying and assessing the client’s business risk through the audit process.
This process has drawn the attention of CEOs and audit committee members. In particular, Kathryn D.
Wriston responds to the question of what the board of directors and its audit committee expect and con-
cludes: “The financial vitality of the organization and its long-term strategies to enhance shareholder
value includes an assessment of various risks the company faces. Audit involvement in these areas has
struck me as being potentially very beneficial to directors” (p. 18). See Kathryn Wriston, “The CPA Jour-
nal Symposium on the Future of Assurance Services,” CPA Journal 66, No. 5 (May 1996), pp. 15-18.
Auditors explicitly address certain business risks in a financial statement audit. For example, environ-
mental risks, such as legal and regulatory risks, are addressed in the annual audit, whereas competitor and
sovereign/political risks are not addressed by the auditors. For further discussion, see KPMG Peat
Marwick, Business Measurement Process (New York: Montvale, NJ: KPMG Peat Marwick, 1995);
PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABAS Audit Approach Team Asset (New York: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 1999).
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Exhibit 6.2 Example: Auditing Cycle

Example: Auditing Cycle (12/31/03 year end)

Completion of field
work January 20, 2004

Pre-Audit Meeting
(May or June)

Interim Audit Meeting
(October or November)

Post-Audit Meeting
(early February)

Audit scope

Audit progress

Review/approve drafts of
10-K annual report

Recommendations in
management letter

March 15, 2004
Date of annual meeting
and proxy statements

Follow-up Meeting

(late February or early March)
(Hold prior to mailing proxy
solicitation materials.)

Note: The dates in the auditing cycle would be adjusted for the SEC rule on accelerated filers for the
three-year phase-in of the new requirements.

In SAS No. 61, the Auditing Standards Board stated, “This statement requires
the auditor to ensure that the audit committee receives additional information re-
garding the scope and results of the audit that may assist the audit committee in
overseeing the financial reporting and disclosure process for which management
is responsible.”® For example, the independent auditors will discuss such matters
as the audit approach and related threshold of materiality and levels of audit risk,
anticipated changes in accounting policies and new accounting pronouncements,
and special areas that need attention.

With respect to audit risk, the independent auditors attempt to minimize the
risk that they have possibly issued an unqualified auditor’s report with respect to
financial statements that are materially misstated. In addition to following the
guidance in SAS No. 47, “Audit Risk and Materiality,” in conducting an audit, the
auditors have to be aware of intentional misstatements or omissions of information
in the financial statements. To assist them in this area of audit risk, the Auditing
Standards Board has issued SAS No. 99, “Consideration of Fraud in a Financial
Statement Audit.” The Board has identified warning signals, or “red flags,” for the
auditors in assessing the risk of materially misstated financial statements due to
fraud. The fraud risk factors considered in assessing this type of risk during the

8Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, “Communication with Audit Committees” (New York:
AICPA, 1988), par. 2.
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planning phase and other conditions that may indicate evidence of fraud during the
audit are presented in Exhibits 6.3 and 6.4.°

In addition to the guidance for the independent auditor’s assessment of audit
risk, the Auditing Standards Board has issued SAS No. 56, “Analytical Proce-
dures.” This statement “requires the use of analytical procedures in the planning
and overall review stages of all audits.”'” The Board states:

Analytical procedures involve comparisons of recorded amounts, or ratios developed
from recorded amounts, to expectations developed by the auditor. The auditor de-
velops such expectations by identifying and using plausible relationships that are
reasonably expected to exist based on the auditor’s understanding of the client and
of the industry in which the client operates. Following are examples of sources of in-
formation for developing expectations:

Financial information for comparable prior period(s) giving consideration to
known changes

Anticipated results—for example, budgets, or forecasts including extrapolations
from interim or annual data

Relationships among elements of financial information within the period

Information regarding the industry in which the client operates—for example,
gross margin information

Relationships of financial information with relevant nonfinancial information'!

Given the accrued benefits from the use of analytical procedures by indepen-
dent auditors, the results of comparative financial statement balances and financial
ratios should alert the audit committee to high-risk areas that may have a signifi-
cant impact on the financial statements. Recall the discussion in Chapter 4 with re-
spect to “cooked books” and ‘“cute accounting,” which produce fraudulent
financial statements. For example, the audit committee should be alert to improper
revenue recognition methods, such as a “bill and hold” arrangement between the
company and a customer. Here the company records a sale that increases earnings,
but the customer is not obligated to take delivery of the products.'?

Furthermore, the audit committee will be discussing other aspects of the audit
with the senior management representatives—for example, the chief financial

9For a further discussion of fraud risk factors, see Howard Groveman, “How Auditors Can Detect Fi-
nancial Statement Misstatement,” Journal of Accountancy 180, No. 4 (October 1995), pp. 83-86;
Vicky B. Heiman-Hoffman, Kimberly P. Morgan, and James M. Patton, “The Warning Signs of Fraud-
ulent Financial Reporting,” Journal of Accounting 182, No. 10 (October 1996), pp. 75-77. Also visit
www.aicpa.org/antifraud/management for Management Antifraud Programs and Controls (New York:
AICPA, 2002).

0Statement on Auditing Standards No. 56, “Analytical Procedures” (New York: AICPA, 1988), par. 1.
Tbid., par. 5. Also see Patrick S. Callahan, Henry R. Jaenicke, and Donald L. Neebes, “SAS 56 and
57: Increasing Audit Effectiveness,” Journal of Accountancy 165, No. 10 (October 1988), pp. 56-68;
and Walter K. Kunitake, Andrew D. Luzi, and William G. Glezen, “Analytical Review in Audit and
Review Engagements,” CPA Journal 55, No. 4 (April 1985), pp. 18-26.

"’For additional reading, see SEC v. Barry J. Minkow, Litigation Release No. 12579 (August 15,
1990), 46 SEC Docket 1777, and SEC v. Donald D. Sheelen et al., Accounting and Auditing Enforce-
ment Release No. 215 (February 8, 1989), 42 SEC Docket 1562.
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Exhibit 6.3 Risk Factors Relating to Misstatements Arising from Fraudulent
Financial Reporting

Risk factors that relate to misstatements arising from fraudulent financial reporting may
be grouped in the following three categories:

Incentives/Pressures
A. Financial stability or profitability is threatened by economic, industry, or entity
operating conditions, such as (or as indicated by):

* High degree of competition or market saturation, accompanied by declining
margins

» High vulnerability to rapid changes, such as changes in technology, product

obsolescence, or interest rates

Significant declines in customer demand and increasing business failures in either
the industry or overall economy

Operating losses making the threat of bankruptcy, foreclosure, or hostile imminent
Recurring negative cash flows from operations or an inability to generate cash
flows from operations while reporting earnings and earnings growth

Rapid growth or unusual profitability, especially compared to that of other
companies in the same industry

» New accounting, statutory, or regulatory requirements

B. Excessive pressure exists for management to meet the requirements or expectations
of third parties due to the following:

* Profitability or trend level expectations of investment analysts, institutional
investors, significant creditors, or other external parties (particularly expectations
that are unduly aggressive or unrealistic), including expectations created by
management in, for example, overly optimistic press releases or annual report
messages

* Need to obtain additional debt or equity financing to stay competitive—including

financing of major research and development or capital expenditures

Marginal ability to meet exchange listing requirements or debt repayment or other

debt covenant requirements

Perceived or real adverse effects of reporting poor financial results on significant

pending transactions, such as business combinations or contract awards

C. Information available indicates that management or the board of directors’ personal
financial situation is threatened by the entity’s financial performance arising from the
following:

« Significant financial interest in the entity

» Significant portions of their compensation (for example, bonuses, stock options,
and earn-out arrangements) being contingent upon achieving aggressive targets for
stock price, operating results, financial position, or cash flow

 Personal guarantees of debts of the entity

D. There is excessive pressure on management or operating personnel to meet financial
targets set up by the board of directors or management, including sales or
profitability incentive goals.

Opportunities
A. The nature of the industry or the entity’s operation provides opportunities to engage
in fraudulent financial reporting that can arise from the following:
* Significant related-party transactions not in the ordinary course of business or with
related entities not audited or audited by another firm
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A strong financial presence or ability to dominate a certain industry sector that
allows the entity to dictate terms or conditions to suppliers or customers that may
result in inappropriate or non-arm’s-length transaction
Assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenses based on significant estimates that involve
subjective judgments or uncertainties that are difficult to corroborate
Significant, unusual or highly complex transactions, especially those close to
period end that pose difficult “substance over form” questions
Significant operations located or conducted across international borders in
jurisdictions where differing business environments and cultures exist
Significant bank accounts or subsidiary or branch operations in tax-haven
jurisdictions for which there appears to be no clear business justification
B. There is ineffective monitoring of management as a result of the following:
* Domination of management by a single person or small group (in a nonowner-
managed business) without compensating controls
* Ineffective board of directors or audit committee ovesight over the financial
reporting process and internal control
C. There is a complex or unstable organizational structure, as evidenced by the
following:
* Difficulty in determining the organization or individuals that have controlling
interest in the entity
* Overly complex organizational structure involving unusual legal entities or
managerial lines of authority
* High turnover of senior management, counsel, or board members
D. Internal control components are deficient as a result of the following:
* Inadequate monitoring of controls, including automated controls and controls over
interim financial reporting (where external reporting is required)
* High turnover rates or employment of ineffective accounting, internal audit, or
information technology staff
* Ineffective accounting and information systems, including situations involving
reportable conditions

Attitudes/Rationalizations

Risk factors reflective of attitudes/rationalizations by board members, management, or
employees, that allow them to engage in and/or justify fraudulent financial reporting,
may not be susceptible to observation by the auditor. Nevertheless, the auditor who
becomes aware of the existence of such information should consider it in identifying the
risks of material misstatement arising from fraudulent financial reporting. For example,
auditors may become aware of the following information that may indicate a risk factor:

Ineffective communication, implementation, support, or enforcement of the
entity’s values or ethical standards by management or the communication of
inappropriate values or ethical standards

Nonfinancial management’s excessive participation in or preoccupation with the
selection of accounting principles or the determination of significant estimates
Known history of violations of securities laws or other laws and regulations, or
claims against the entity, its senior management, or board members alleging fraud
or violations of laws and regulations

Excessive interest by management in maintaining or increasing the entity’s stock
price or earnings trend

A practice by management of committing to analysts, creditors, and other third
parties to achieve aggressive or unrealistic forecasts

Management failing to correct known reportable conditions on a timely basis

205
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Exhibit 6.3 (Continued)

* An interest by management in employing inappropriate means to minimize
reported earnings for tax motivated reasons
* Recurring attempts by management to justify marginal or inappropriate accounting
on the basis of materiality
* The relationship between management and the current or predecessor auditor is
strained, as exhibited by the following:
 Frequent disputes with the current predecessor auditor on accounting, auditing,
or reporting matters
¢ Unreasonable demands on the auditor, such as unreasonable time constraints
regarding the completion of the audit or the issuance of the auditor’s report
» Formal or informal restrictions on the auditor that inappropriately limit access to
people or information or the ability to communicate effectively with the board of
directors or audit committee
* Domineering management behavior in dealing with the auditor, especially
involving attempts to influence the scope of the auditor’s work or the selection or
continuance of personnel assigned to or consulted on the audit engagement

Source: Reprinted with permission from Statement on Auditing Standards No. 99, “Consideration of
Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit” (New York: AICPA, 2002, Appendix to SAS No. 99.

officer and the director of internal auditing. Thus the overall planning strategy of
the directors will be based on their conference with these parties.
More specifically, these steps provide a framework for the committee’s strategy:

1. Develop an understanding of the entity’s business and its industry."> This step
is particularly important because the audit committee should understand the
external and internal environment within which the entity must operate. Such
an understanding of the environmental characteristics will provide all members
of the committee with the knowledge to assess the overall audit plan effec-
tively. To accomplish this step, the audit directors should develop a macroap-
proach supplemented with the suggested professional development course as
discussed in Chapter 7.

2. Review the following with respect to each segment of the corporate audit plan
as discussed in the succeeding section of this chapter:

a. Purpose and objectives of each audit plan

3The AICPA publishes Audit and Accounting Guides and Industry Risk Alerts. The audit committee
may wish to consult these publications (e.g., Consideration of the Internal Control Structure in a Fi-
nancial Statement Audit) to obtain an orientation to the entity’s industry. Also see Robert Walker,
“Know Your Client’s Business,” CA Magazine 124, No. 6 (June 1991), pp. 49-52; John P. McAllister
and Mark W. Dirsmith, “How the Client’s Business Environment Affects the Audit,” Journal of Ac-
countancy 59, No. 2 (February 1982), pp. 68-74; Donald N. Wolfe and Gerald Smith, “Planning the
Audit in a Distressed Industry,” CPA Journal 58, No. 10 (October 1988), pp. 46-50; and John W.
Hardy and Larry A. Deppe, “Client Acceptance: What to Look For and Why,” CPA Journal 62, No. 5
(May 1992), pp. 20-27.
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Exhibit 6.4 Risk Factors Relating to Misstatements Arising from Misappropria-
tion of Assets

Incentives/Pressures
A. Personal financial obligations may create pressure on management or employees
with access to cash or other assets susceptible to theft to misappropriate those assets.
B. Adverse relations between the entity and the employees with access to cash or other
assets susceptible to theft may motivate those employees to misappropriate those
assets. For example, adverse relationships may be created by the following:
* Known or anticipated future employee layoffs
» Recent or anticipated changes to employee compensation or benefit plans
* Promotions, compensation, or other rewards inconsistent with expectations

Opportunities
A. Certain characteristics or circumstances may increase the susceptibility of assets to
misappropriation. For example, opportunities to misappropriate assets increase when
there are the following:
» Large amounts of cash on hand or processed
e Inventory items that are small in size, of high value, or in high demand
* Easily convertible assets, such as bearer bonds, diamonds, or computer chips
* Fixed assets that are small in size, marketable, or lacking observable identification
of ownership
B. Inadequate internal control over assets may increase the susceptibility for
misappropriation of those assets. For example, misappropriation of assets may occur
because there is the following:
* Inadequate segregation of duties or independent checks
Inadequate management oversight of employees responsible for asstes, for
example, inadequate supervision or monitoring of remote locations
Inadequate job applicant screening of employees with access to assets
Inadequate recordkeeping with respect to assets
Inadequate system of authorization and approval of transactions (for example, in
purchasing)
Inadequate physical safeguards over cash, investments, inventory, or fixed assets
Lack of complete and timely reconciliations of assets
Lack of timely and appropriate documentation of transactions, for example credits
for merchandise returns
Lack of mandatory vacations for employees performing key control functions
Inadequate management understanding of information technology, which enables
information technology employees to perpetrate a misappropriation
Inadequate access controls over automated records, including controls over and
review of computer systems event logs.

Attitudes/Rationalizations

Risk actors reflective of employee attitudes/rationalizations that allow them to justify
misappropriations of assets are generally not susceptible to observation by the auditor.
Nevertheless, the auditor who becomes aware of the existence of such information should
consider it in identifying the risks of material misstatement arising from misappropriations
of assets. For example, auditors may become aware of the following attitudes or behavior
of employees who have access to assets susceptible to misappropriation:

* Disregard for the need for monitoring or reducing risks related to
misappropriations of assets.

(continued)
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Exhibit 6.4 (Continued)

 Disregard for internal control over misappropriations of assets by overriding
existing controls or by failing to correct known internal control deficiencies

» Behavior indicating displeasure or dissatisfaction with the company or its
treatment of the employee

* Changes in behavior or lifestyle that may indicate assets have been
misappropriated

"Management incentive plans may be contingent upon achieving targets relating only to certain
accounts or selected activities of the entity, even though the related accounts or activities may not be
material to the entity as a whole.

Source: Reprinted with permission from Statement on Auditing Standards No. 99, “Consideration of
Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit.” Copyright (c) 2002 by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, Inc.

b. Resources available for each plan

Based on their discussions with the independent auditors, the director of in-
ternal auditing, and other senior management officers, the audit directors
should be familiar with the overall purpose and objectives of each audit
segment of the total corporate audit plan. Of particular importance to the
committee is assurance of a coordinated plan consistent with the overall
auditing goals of the organization. Such assurance may be obtained
through a well defined and documented general statement of auditing ob-
jectives. Subsequent to the committee’s review, the audit objectives and
any other relevant information should be formalized into a written corpo-
rate document. This corporate document, along with the audit committee’s
recommendations, should be presented to the board of directors for its ap-
proval. Such board approval establishes a formal audit policy.

3. Based on the audit policy, the internal and external auditing groups should de-
velop appropriate audit plans that are consistent with the entity’s auditing
goals. Obviously, the audit directors are not responsible for the preparation of
the comprehensive corporate audit plan. However, they must assure themselves
that the plan is consistent with the organization’s policy. Thus the appropriate
internal and external auditing plans will be consolidated into the overall cor-
porate audit plan. Subsequent to the committee’s review, the corporate audit
plan should be formalized into a written document. This particular document
will be used as a reference guide for future audits.

4. Review and appraise the corporate audit policy and plan annually. In order to
guard against obsolescence, the audit committee should review and revise the
audit policy and plan on a regular periodic basis.

Chapter 7 discusses the preceding steps along with other aspects of the commit-
tee’s role.
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BENEFITS OF AUDIT PLANNING
Assurance of an Effective Audit Plan

Clearly, the audit committee wishes to obtain maximum auditing services at a rea-
sonable cost. William S. Albrecht observes that one large accounting firm reported
that its audit fees have increased “over 50 percent in the last four years” and an-
other firm’s increased “40 percent.”'* Consequently, a sound corporate audit plan
coupled with the committee’s auditing strategy enhances the entity’s opportunity
to minimize audit costs and maximize on auditing services. Audit planning real-
izes a number of benefits:

1. It facilitates the effective allocation of resources to the audit function.

2. Inherent in the audit planning process is the psychological benefit of inducing
the parties involved to think ahead and thus anticipate potential problems or
opportunities.

3. Communication and cooperation among the auditing groups and management
is enhanced since the audit committee coordinates their efforts toward the
goals of the audit.

4. Since the board of directors expects the audit committee to monitor the audit
function, audit planning provides assistance to the committee in accomplishing
its task.

5. The audit committee can assess the effectiveness of the audits since the preau-
dit plan can be compared with the actual results of the audits.

6. Through areview of the audit plan, the committee develops confidence in han-
dling problem areas.

Furthermore, the audit committee’s review of the overall plan of the audit provides
valuable information, such as:

* A summary of the company’s financial reporting requirements and the time-
table for meeting those requirements

* An understanding of the relationship between the company’s system of inter-
nal accounting control and the scope of the audit

* The effect of accounting and auditing pronouncements and of SEC and other
regulatory requirements on the scope of the audit

4William S. Albrecht, “Toward Better and More Efficient Audits,” Journal of Accountancy 144, No. 6
(December 1977), p. 48. With respect to audit costs, “The audit committee should consider whether,
and the extent to which, the actual costs of an audit exceed the estimated costs. When cost overruns are
significant, the committee should seek satisfactory explanations for the variance. The committee
might also wish to consider whether the presently engaged auditors have offered suggestions for man-
agement action that can reduce audit costs without diminishing audit effectiveness” (p. A-25). See
Daniel J. McCauley and John C. Burton, Audit Committees 49 (Washington, DC: C.P.S., Bureau of
National Affairs, 1986).

Also see Glenn E. Sumners and Barbara Apostolou, “Preparation Can Cut Audit Fees,” Financial
Manager 3, No. 1 (January/February 1990), pp. 46—49. The reader may wish to consult Chapter 4,
which discusses the legal position of the audit committee and fraudulent financial reporting.
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¢ The extent to which the external auditor uses the work of internal auditors in
establishing the scope of his or her examination

e Changes in the company’s organization, operations, or controls that have
caused the external auditor to change the scope of his or her examination

e The degree of audit coverage, such as locations to be visited and the extent of
procedures such as inventory observation, receivable confirmation, and so on

e The extent to which auditors other than the principal auditor are used
* Any potential problems that might cause the auditor to qualify his or her opinion

e Accounting principles management has selected for new transactions and the
auditor’s evaluation of those principles'>

COMPONENTS OF THE CORPORATE AUDIT PLAN
An Overview

The corporate audit plan should be designed to give consideration to these factors:
(1) financial disclosures, (2) operational efficiency, (3) compliance with corporate
policies, and (4) compliance with laws. Thus the overall audit plan should include:

1. Statement of the proposed year-end and interim financial audits (see Exhibit
6.5).

Statement of the proposed operational audits

Statement of the proposed internal compliance audits

4. Statement on the status of the external compliance audits

w N

To develop these statements effectively, it is necessary to review the essential
segments of the overall audit plan. Because such a plan should be comprehensive,
the following segments provide a useful framework:

* Financial audit segment
e Operational audit segment
e External compliance audit segment

e Internal compliance audit segment

The next discussion elaborates on each type of nongovernment audit within
each auditing segment.

Financial Audits The financial audit is concerned principally with the audit of
the entity’s financial statements. Such an audit is conducted by the independent
auditors who express their opinion on the fairness of the financial statements. As
discussed in Chapter 5, the independent auditors conduct their examination in ac-

15 American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Audit Committees, Answers to Typical Questions
About Their Organization and Operations (New York: AICPA, 1978), pp. 15-16.
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Exhibit 6.5 Types of Government Audits and Attestation Engagements

Introduction

2.01 This chapter describes the types of audits and attestation engagements that audit or-
ganizations perform, or arrange to have performed, of government entities, pro-
grams, and federal awards administered by contractors, nonprofit entities, and other
nongovernment entities. This description is not intended to limit or require the
types of audits or attestation engagements that may be performed or arranged to be
performed. In performing work described below in accordance with generally ac-
cepted government auditing standards (GAGAS), auditors should follow the ap-
plicable standards included and incorporated in chapters 3 through 8. This chapter
also describes nonaudit services that audit organizations may provide, although
these services are not covered by GAGAS.

2.02 All engagements begin with objectives, and those objectives determine the type of
work to be performed and the auditing standards to be followed. The types of work,
as defined by their objectives that are covered by GAGAS, are classified in this doc-
ument as financial audits, attestation engagements, and performance audits.

2.03 Engagements may have a combination of objectives that include more than one
type of work described in this chapter or may have objectives limited to only some
aspects of one type of work. Auditors should follow the standards that are applica-
ble to the individual objectives of the audit or attestation engagement.

2.04 Insome engagements, the applicable standards that apply to the specific audit objec-
tive will be apparent. For example, if the audit objective is to express an opinion on
financial statements, the standards for financial audits apply. However, for some en-
gagements, there may be overlap between the applicable objectives. For example, if
the objectives are to determine the reliability of performance measures, this work can
be done in accordance with either the standards for attestation engagements or for
performance audits. In cases where there is a choice between applicable standards,
auditors should consider users’ needs and the auditors’ knowledge, skills, and expe-
rience in deciding which standards to follow. Auditors should apply the standards that
are applicable to the type of assignment conducted (the financial audit standards, the
attestation engagement standards, or the performance auditing standards).

Financial Audits

2.05 Financial audits are primarily concerned with providing reasonable assurance about
whether financial statements are presented fairly in all material respects in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP),* or with a comprehensive
basis of accounting other than GAAP. Other objectives of financial audits, which pro-
vide for different levels of assurance and entail various scopes of work, may include:

a. providing special reports for specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial
statement; ®

. reviewing interim financial information;

. issuing letters for underwriters and certain other requesting parties;

. reporting on the processing of transactions by service organizations; and:

. auditing compliance with regulations relating to federal award expenditures and
other governmental financial assistance in conjunction with or as a by-product
of a financial statement audit.

2.06 Financial audits are performed under the American Institute of Certified Public

Accountants’ (AICPA) generally accepted auditing standards for field work and

o oo o

(continued)
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Exhibit 6.5 (Continued)

reporting, as well as the related AICPA Statements on Auditing Standards (SAS).
GAGAS prescribe general standards and additional field work and reporting stan-
dards beyond those provided by the AICPA when performing financial audits. (See
chapters 3, 4, and 5 for standards and guidance for auditors performing a financial
audit in accordance with GAGAS.):

Attestation Engagements

2.07 Attestation engagements® concern examining, reviewing, or performing agreed-
upon procedures on a subject matter or an assertion® about a subject matter and re-
porting on the results. The subject matter of an attestation engagement may take
many forms, including historical or prospective performance or condition, physical
characteristics, historical events, analyses, systems and processes, or behavior. At-
testation engagements can cover a broad range of financial or nonfinancial subjects
and can be part of a financial audit or performance audit. Possible subjects of at-
testation engagements could include reporting on:

a. an entity’s internal control over financial reporting;

b. an entity’s compliance with requirements of specified laws, regulations, rules,
contracts, or grants;

c. the effectiveness of an entity’s internal control over compliance with specified
requirements, such as those governing the bidding for, accounting for, and re-
porting on grants and contracts;

d. management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) presentation;

e. prospective financial statements or pro-forma financial information;

f. the reliability of performance measures;

g. final contract cost;

h. allowability and reasonableness of proposed contract amounts; and:

i. specific procedures performed on a subject matter (agreed-upon procedures).

2.08 Attestation engagements are performed under the AICPA’s attestation standards, as
well as the related AICPA Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements
(SSAE). GAGAS prescribe general standards and additional field work and report-
ing standards beyond those provided by the AICPA for attestation engagements.
(See chapters 3 and 6 for standards and guidance for auditors performing an attes-
tation engagement in accordance with GAGAS.)

Performance Audits

2.09 Performance audits entail an objective and systematic examination of evidence to
provide an independent assessment of the performance and management of a pro-
gram against objective criteria as well as assessments that provide a prospective
focus or that synthesize information on best practices or cross-cutting issues. Per-
formance audits provide information to improve program operations and facilitate
decision making by parties with responsibility to oversee or initiate corrective ac-
tion, and improve public accountability. Performance audits encompass a wide va-
riety of objectives, including objectives related to assessing program effectiveness
and results; economy and efficiency; internal control;* compliance with legal or
other requirements; and objectives related to providing prospective analyses, guid-
ance, or summary information. Performance audits may entail a broad or narrow
scope of work and apply a variety of methodologies; involve various levels of
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analysis, research, or evaluation; generally provide findings, conclusions, and rec-
ommendations; and result in the issuance of a report. (See chapters 3, 7, and 8 for
standards and guidance for auditors performing a performance audit in accordance
with GAGAS.)

2.10 Program effectiveness and results audit objectives address the effectiveness of a pro-
gram and typically measure the extent to which a program is achieving its goals and
objectives. Economy and efficiency audit objectives concern whether an entity is ac-
quiring, protecting, and using its resources in the most productive manner to achieve
program objectives. Program effectiveness and results audit objectives and economy
and efficiency audit objectives are often interrelated and may be concurrently ad-
dressed in a performance audit. Examples of these audit objectives include assessing
a. the extent to which legislative, regulatory, or organizational goals and objectives

are being achieved;
b. the relative ability of alternative approaches to yield better program performance
or eliminate factors that inhibit program effectiveness;

. the relative cost and benefits or cost effectiveness of program performance;’

d. whether a program produced intended results or produced effects that were not

intended by the program’s objectives;

e. the extent to which programs duplicate, overlap, or conflict with other related

programs;

f. whether the audited entity is following sound procurement practices;

g. the validity and reliability of performance measures concerning program effec-

tiveness and results, or economy and efficiency; and:

h. the reliability, validity, or relevance of financial information related to the per-

formance of a program.

o

2.11 [Internal control audit objectives relate to management’s plans, methods, and pro-
cedures used to meet its mission, goals, and objectives. Internal control includes the
processes and procedures for planning, organizing, directing, and controlling pro-
gram operations, and the system put in place for measuring, reporting, and moni-
toring program performance. Examples of audit objectives related to internal
control include the extent that internal control of a program provides reasonable as-
surance that

a. organizational missions, goals, and objectives are achieved effectively and effi-
ciently;

b. resources are used in compliance with laws, regulations, or other requirements;

c. resources are safeguarded against unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition;

d. management information and public reports that are produced, such as perfor-
mance measures, are complete, accurate, and consistent to support performance
and decision making;

e. security over computerized information systems will prevent or timely detect
unauthorized access; and

f. contingency planning for information systems provides essential back-up to
prevent unwarranted disruption of activities and functions the systems support.

2.12 Compliance audit objectives relate to compliance criteria established by laws, reg-
ulations, contract provisions, grant agreements, and other requirements¢ that could
affect the acquisition, protection, and use of the entity’s resources and the quantity,
quality, timeliness, and cost of services the entity produces and delivers. Compli-
ance objectives also concern the purpose of the program, the manner in which it is
to be conducted and services delivered, and the population it serves.

(continued)
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Exhibit 6.5 (Continued)

2.13 Audit organizations also undertake work that provides a prospective focus or may
provide guidance, best practice information, and information that cuts across pro-
gram or organizational lines, or summary information on issues already studied or
under study by an audit organization. Examples of objectives pertaining to this
work include
a. assessing program or policy alternatives, including forecasting program out-

comes under various assumptions;
b. assessing the advantages and disadvantages of legislative proposals;

. analyzing views of stakeholders on policy proposals for decision makers;

d. analyzing budget proposals or budget requests to assist legislatures in the bud-

get process;

e. identifying best practices for users in evaluating program or management system

approaches, including financial and information management systems; and

f. producing a high-level summary or a report that affects multiple programs or en-

tities on issues studied or under study by the audit organization.

o

Nonaudit Services Provided by Audit Organizations:

2.14 Audit organizations may also provide nonaudit services that are not covered by
GAGAS." Nonaudit services generally differ from financial audits, attestation en-
gagements, and performance audits in that auditors may (1) perform tasks re-
quested by management that directly support the entity’s operations, such as
developing or implementing accounting systems; determining account balances;
developing internal control systems; establishing capitalization criteria; processing
payroll; posting transactions; evaluating assets; designing or implementing infor-
mation technology or other systems; or performing actuarial studies or (2) provide
information or data to a requesting party without providing verification, analysis, or
evaluation of the information or data, and, therefore, the work does not usually pro-
vide a basis for conclusions, recommendations, or opinions on the information or
data. These services may or may not result in the issuance of a report. In the case
of nongovernment auditors who conduct audits under GAGAS, the term nonaudit
services is synonymous with consulting services.

2.15 GAGAS do not cover nonaudit services described in this chapter since such ser-
vices are not audits or attestation engagements. Therefore, auditors should not re-
port that nonaudit services were conducted in accordance with GAGAS. However,
audit organizations are encouraged to establish policies for maintaining the quality
of this type of work, and may wish to disclose such policies in any product result-
ing from this work, any other professional standards followed, and the quality con-
trol steps taken.

2.16 Importantly, although GAGAS do not provide standards for conducting nonaudit
services, auditors providing such services need to ensure that their independence to
provide audit services is not impaired by providing nonaudit services. (See chapter
3, general standards on independence.)

2The three authoritative bodies for establishing accounting principles and financial reporting
standards are the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (federal government), the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (state and local governments), and the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (nongovernmental entities).
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bSpecial reports apply to auditors’ reports issued in connection with the following: (1) financial
statements that are prepared in conformity with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than
generally accepted accounting principles; (2) specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial
statement; (3) compliance with aspects of contractual agreements or regulatory requirements related
to audited financial statements; (4) financial presentations to comply with contractual agreements or
regulatory requirements; or (5) financial information presented in prescribed forms or schedules that
require a prescribed form of auditors’ report.

“For consistency within GAGAS, the word “auditor” is used to describe individuals conducting and
reporting on attestation engagements.

dAn assertion is any declaration or set of declarations made by management about whether the
subject matter is based on or in conformity with the criteria selected.

“The term “internal control” in this document is synonymous with the term management control and,
unless otherwise stated, covers all aspects of an entity’s operations (programmatic, financial, and
compliance).

"These objectives focus on combining cost information with information about outputs or the benefit
provided and outcomes or the results achieved.

¢Compliance requirements can be either financial or nonfinancial in nature.

"If audit organizations provide nonaudit services, audit organizations need to consider whether
providing these services creates a personal impairment either in fact of appearance that adversely
affects their independence for conducting audits.

Source: Comptroller General of the United States, Government Auditing Standards 1994 Revision
(Washington, D.C.: U.S. General Accounting Office, 2003), pars. 2.01 to 2.16.

cordance with generally accepted auditing standards and determine whether the fi-
nancial statements are presented in conformity with generally accepted account-
ing principles. For example, the external auditors will examine the entity’s
statement of income, balance sheet, statement of cash flows, and the notes to the
financial statements. Moreover, the auditors’ examination will include a review of
the system of internal controls (tests of controls) and substantive testing of trans-
actions and records based on their professional judgment. The independent audi-
tors must plan their audit engagement and document their audit plan. The audit
plan in Exhibit 6.6 is an example. Note that the audit plan will vary from company
to company; thus it may require expansion or contraction of certain areas in actual
practice.'®

Although the year-end financial audit is associated with the independent ac-
counting firm, management may request interim financial audits from the internal
auditing group. For example, management may request an internal financial audit
of the financial statements at the end of a specified period, such as a month or
quarter of the year. Internal auditors will conduct their examination and express
their opinion on the statements. Such statements will be used within the entity, not
distributed to the external users of accounting information. Furthermore, the in-
ternal auditors may conduct a review of the system of internal control to determine
their effectiveness. Also, they may review management’s actions toward the pro-
tection and security of the entity’s assets. Finally, as a result of their financial
audit, the internal auditors may be requested to engage in special assignments,
such as the implementation of a fraud prevention program involving various
branches or warehouse locations.

15Exhibit 6.6 is a simplified version intended to stress the time budget aspects of the audit plan.
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Operational Audits Operational audits are usually performed by the internal
auditing staff. The primary purpose of such audits is to review and appraise the ac-
tivities of a certain function of the enterprise. For example, the internal auditors
may review the operating efficiency and the effectiveness of the internal controls
of a department. Such a review is essentially a service to management since the au-
ditors generally make recommendations for operational improvements. In addi-
tion, the internal auditors may be requested not only to evaluate the managerial
performance of the individual managers but to implement fraud prevention mea-
sures within the organization. Consequently, the internal auditing group is a criti-
cally important auditing resource since such a group can serve management on a
company-wide basis.

Although operational auditing is associated with the internal auditors, man-
agement may request the services of the management advisory staff of the inde-
pendent accounting firm. This particular arrangement is known as a management
audit. For example, management may request an overall review of a particular
function, such as purchasing of materials. Obviously, before such professional
services are requested, management should weigh the costs against the benefits of
the audit.

The operational audit plan may be similar to the financial audit plan; however,
the functional units of the entity will be substituted for the financial accounts, as
shown in Exhibit 6.6. Furthermore, the plan should be modified to include nonfi-
nancial matters, such as conflicts of interests.

Compliance Audits In contrast to operational audits, compliance audits are
oriented primarily not only toward internal adherence to managerial policies but
toward the entity’s compliance with the various rules and regulations of the regu-
latory agencies. (See Chapter 4.) For example, the internal auditors may be re-
quested to review the policies and procedures with the traffic and transportation
department to determine whether their personnel are adhering to the entity’s poli-
cies. Conversely, the chief financial officer or legal counsel may be involved with
a compliance audit regarding an SEC or internal revenue service review.

The internal compliance audit plan may be structured on the same basis as the
operational audit plan. However, the external compliance audit segment should
disclose the status of legal compliance matters. Such a status should be a summary
of the committee’s discussions with the independent auditors and legal counsel.
For example, the summary may include abstracts of the lawyer’s letter as well as
any other correspondence concerning legal compliance. The major objective is to
review and inquire about the significance and implications of the entity’s legal re-
quirements and contractual obligations.
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Chapter 7

Audit Committee’s Role
in Planning the Audit

Chapter 6 discussed the meaning and benefits of audit planning as well as the
overall segments of the corporate audit plan. This chapter will enhance the audit
committee members’ skills and ability to appraise the entity’s audit plan effec-
tively. In particular, they will learn the basic steps of planning a strategy toward
their review of the audit plan. Such steps will serve as a practical guide to review
the coordination of the overall audit plan by the internal and external auditors.

THE COMMITTEE’S PLANNING FUNCTION
Introduction

The planning function of the committee centers on the purpose for which it was or-
ganized. The primary purpose of the committee is to provide assurance to the full
board of directors that the internal and external resources allocated to the audit
function are used effectively to accomplish the goals and objectives of the overall
audit plan. To allocate resources to the audit processes effectively, the committee
should adopt its own plan of action. In formulating the plan for accomplishing its
objective, the committee should consider an integrated approach. Such an ap-
proach should be oriented toward the segments of the auditing cycle, which are:
(1) initial planning segments, (2) preaudit segment, and (3) postaudit segment. The
four steps in planning the committee’s approach may be summarized as follows':

1. Develop an understanding of the entity’s business and its industry.

2. Review the overall purpose, objectives, and resources available for the corpo-
rate audit plan and recommend the auditing goals and objectives for approval
by the full board of directors.

Review the audit plans of the internal and external auditing groups.

4. Appraise the corporate audit plan annually.

il

'The reader may wish to review the highlights of these steps in Chapter 6. It should be reemphasized
that the audit committee is not responsible for the preparation of the comprehensive audit plan, since
this is done by the internal and external auditing groups.

219
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DEVELOPING AN INTEGRATED PLANNING APPROACH
Initial Planning Segment

Although the audit committee is removed from the entity’s day-to-day operating
activities, it should be oriented primarily toward the qualitative characteristics of
the enterprise and its industry through a macroapproach. This approach is de-
signed to give the audit committee a sense of the entity’s existence and how it must
interact with its environment. The underlying rationale for this approach may be
stated in this way. If the audit committee members have not only a basic under-
standing of the entity’s position in the industry as well as other environmental con-
siderations, such as the economic conditions, but also an understanding of the
operational characteristics of the business, then they can discharge their commit-
tee responsibilities more effectively. Thus before focusing their attention on the
major aspects of the audit plan, the directors should engage in a study and review
of the functional aspects of the enterprise. In obtaining this effective overview of
the business, the directors should:

[o]btain a knowledge of matters that relate to the nature of the entity’s business, its
organization, and its operating characteristics. . . . For example, the type of business,
type of products and services, capital structure, related parties, locations, and pro-
duction, distribution, and compensation methods. . . . Also, consider matters affect-
ing the industry in which the entity operates, such as economic conditions,
government regulations, and changes in technology. . . . Accounting practices com-
mon to the industry, competitive conditions, and, if available, financial trends and ra-
tios should also be considered.?

Obviously, their orientation toward the entity is a substantial undertaking since
the directors have limited time to contribute. An example of board and committee
meetings is that of the Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.? (see Exhibit 7.1). Korn/Ferry Inter-
national reported in its annual survey of 327 companies that 48 percent of the di-
rectors in 1992 spent annually 40 to 100 hours on board matters, including review
and preparation time, meeting attendance, and travel.*

Although the audit committee members may be oriented toward the corpora-
tion through management presentations and plant visits, it may be advisable to for-
malize a program for educating them. In light of an action-oriented SEC, the
enactment of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, SROs
listing standard litigation against directors, the Treadway report, and the COSO re-
port,’> such a program is desirable in meeting the dynamic changes in corporate
governance and accountability.

2Statement on Auditing Standards No. 22, “Planning and Supervision” (New York: AICPA, 1978), par. 7.
3Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Notice of 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders Proxy Statement, p. 4.
“Korn/Ferry International, Twentieth Annual Board of Directors Study (New York: Korn/Ferry Inter-
national, 1993), p. 19. Subsequently, Korn/Ferry International reported in its survey of 903 companies
(1,020 directors) that “[t]he average number of hours required annually to serve on a board continues
to run about 150, a serious limit for busy people” (p. 7). See Korn/Ferry International, 25th Annual
Board of Directors Study (New York: Korn/Ferry International, 1998).

3See Appendix I on this book’s website.
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Exhibit 7.1 Sample of Board Committee Functions and Meetings

Board Committees

Committee

Members

Number
Functions and of
Additional Information® Meetings

Audit

Compensation,
Nominating and
Governance®

Executive

Stanley C. Gault
Roland A. Hernandez?®
J. Paul Reason

James W. Breyer
Dawn G. Lepore
Elizabeth A. Sanders
Jose H. Villarreal®

Thomas M. Coughlin
David D. Glass?*

H. Lee Scott, Jr.

S. Robson Walton

Reviews financial reporting, 8
policies, procedures, and
internal controls of Wal-Mart
Recommends appointment of
outside auditors

Reviews related party
transactions

The Board has determined
that the members are “inde-
pendent” as defined by the
current listing standards of the
New York Stock Exchange
and

The Board has adopted a
written charter for the Audit
Committee

Administers Wal-Mart’s 6
Stock Incentive Plan of 1998
for executive officers

Sets interest rate applicable to
Wal-Mart’s Officer Deferred
Compensation Plan

Sets and verifies attainment
of goals under Wal-Mart’s
Management

Incentive Plan, as amended
Reviews salary and benefits
issues

Reviews and provides
guidance regarding the
Company’s image
Responsible for corporate
governance issues

and

Recommends candidates to
the Board for Nomination

to the Board

Implements policy decisions 2 (4)
of the Board

and

Acts on the Board’s behalf

between Board meetings

Administers Wal-Mart’s Stock

Incentive Plan of 1998 for

associates who are not

(continued)
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Exhibit 7.1 (Continued)

Stock Option Thomas M. Coughlin directors or officers subject to 4
David D. Glass subsection 16(a) of the
H. Lee Scott, J.2 Securities and Exchange
S. Robson Walton Act of 1934, as amended
Strategic Planning ~ John T. Chambers » Reviews important financial
and Finance Jack C. Shewmaker* decisions 4
John T. Walton and
* Advises regarding
long-range strategic
planning

2Committee Chairperson

®On March 6, 2003, the Board adopted revised written charters for each Board Committee. The revised
charters are available at www.walmartstores.com.

¢On March 6, 2003, the Board changed this Committee’s name to the “Compensation, Nominating and
Governance Committee” to reflect its responsibility for corporate governance issues.

IThe Executive Committee met twice and acted by unanimous written consent nineteen times during the
fiscal year.

To educate the directors effectively so that audit committee members can have
productive meetings and contribute to the board of directors, they should consider
the adoption of the audit director’s professional development program shown in
Exhibit 7.2. Such a program should be instituted on the basis that it will enhance
the audit director’s ability to serve effectively on the committee.

Exhibit 7.2  Professional Development Program

Presentation
Description (Estimated)

L. Industry Matters One day, group discussion
Discussions with executive management on the

external environmental matters, such as:

. Competitive and economic conditions

. Government regulations

. Foreign operations

. New technological advancements

. Industry accounting practices

. Changes in social attitudes

. Management’s risk assessment process

~N N AW~

1. Entity’s Business Matters Two days, group discussion
Discussions with key executives on the internal
environmental matters, such as:
1. Historical perspective of the business
a. Organizational structure
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b. Lines of business and product segments
2. Company objectives and policies, particularly
financial accounting policies, controls, and
procedures
3. Summary of the entity’s principles of operations*
4. Legal obligations of the enterprise
5. Significant documentation, such as the
corporate charter and bylaws
6. Management’s risk assessment process

II1. Internal Auditing Matters

Review and discuss with the internal auditing

executive such matters as:

1. The nature and functions of the internal
auditing group

2. Organizational characteristics of the staff

3. Representative audit programs and reports

4. The interface between the staff and the
independent auditors

5. The monitoring activities of the staff

1V. External Auditing Matters

Review and discuss with the executive partner

matters such as:

1. The nature and overall purpose of the audit

2. Organizational characteristics of the firm
and biographical data regarding the auditing
personnel assigned to the audit, including
rotations of staff

3. Prior year’s annual reports, Form 10-K
report, interim financial reports (10Qs),
and any 8K reports

4. Key documentation, such as the engagement

letter, management letter, client representa-
tion letter, and the lawyer’s letter

5. Role of the CPA in matters such as:

a. Internal controls, audit risk assessment, fraud
risk assessment, business risk assessment,
materiality, computer security, and legal
compliance with the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act

b. Internal auditing evaluation and peer reviews

c. Financial reporting disclosures, audited and
unaudited statements (e.g., management’s
discussion and analysis, environmental liabilities)

d. Conflicts of interest advisement

. Filings with various regulatory agencies

6. Other services of the firm, such as tax
services

[¢]

One day, presentation and
group discussion

One day, presentation and
group discussion

*Tour a selected plant location and/or sales location to understand the cost accounting system.
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Implementation of the program may be coordinated through an executive who
is responsible for the corporate human resources or the in-house development and
training programs. Clearly, each entity can establish a development program to
meet its own needs.

With respect to the adoption of the program, several key points should be noted:

e The duration of the program will vary since it is contingent on the size and
complexity of the entity. The directors should participate in the program for a
reasonable period of time each year.

e Each director should be required to complete a reasonable number of hours of
advance preparation.

e The coordinator of the program should be responsible for the necessary read-
ing materials and conference schedules. Therefore, he or she should consult
with the appropriate information sources, such as the internal and external au-
diting group, in order to obtain the necessary literature.

e The directors should be given an opportunity to critique the program in order
to enhance the quality and viability of the conference program.

Phase 1: Preaudit Planning Segment

During this segment of the auditing cycle, the committee should review and ap-
praise: (1) the goals and objectives of the audit function and (2) the resources
available for the audit processes. Subsequent to its review, the committee should
recommend that the goals and objectives developed are in accordance with the
charter for the audit committee, which is approved by the board of directors.® The
major objective of the committee is to gain assurance that the goals and objectives
are well defined and explicit. Such a step is necessary because the objectives will
become the basis for the conduct of the entity’s auditing activities. Thus a general
statement of auditing policy will provide a course of action for the parties who are
responsible for the entity’s audit processes. Moreover, auditing policies not only
provide an established framework for the internal and external auditing activities
but also identify the type and quality of auditing services to be rendered.

In view of the audit committee’s oversight and advisory capacity, the auditing
objectives and resource requirements should be defined by the executive auditing
personnel. For example, the executive partner of the independent accounting firm
will formulate the audit objectives based on his or her discussion with the corpo-
rate management accounting executives. Generally speaking, the objectives will
relate to the annual financial audit, which includes the annual audit of the finan-
cial statements and SEC filings. However, the accounting firm may be requested
to render other services, such as tax and management advisory services. The ob-
jectives of the external audit ultimately will be spelled out in the independent au-
ditor’s engagement letter. Consequently, the audit committee should review and
discuss the engagement letter with the executive partner.

%The overall audit plan refers to the charter for the audit committee, which requires full board ap-
proval. The annual audit plan does not require full board approval.
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Although the financial audit is a major part of the overall audit plan, there are
collateral objectives with respect to the operational and compliance audits. Accord-
ingly, the internal auditing executive should define the objectives for the entity’s op-
erational and compliance auditing plans. In particular, the broad objectives of such
plans should include a provision to maximize the organization’s economic resources
and minimize the causes of inefficiencies or uneconomical practices.

For example, the objectives may include a provision for performance auditing
as well as special-purpose audits. Obviously, such objectives vary with the size
and complexity of the entity and the professional judgment of the executive inter-
nal auditor. Accordingly, the audit committee should request a written general
statement of the corporate internal auditing objectives and should review and dis-
cuss this corporate document with the internal auditing executive. It is imperative
that the objective be documented in order to avoid any misunderstanding among
the committee members and the internal auditing group. Furthermore, to achieve
an effective review posture, the audit committee should also discuss the corporate
auditing goals with the chief financial officer and the controller. The major objec-
tive of this interview is to determine that the overall auditing goals satisfy the
needs of the organization.

In addition to the preceding approach, the audit committee should give con-
sideration to these points:

* Are the general auditing objectives for the entity well defined?

* Do the auditing goals appear to be workable or realistic in relation to the au-
diting resources? For example, is the structure and organization of the internal
audit staff conducive to the auditing needs and objectives of the entity?

* Do all the executives who participate in the audit process understand the over-
all goals and objectives?

* Do the independent auditors and the internal auditors have any conflicting
objectives?

*  What is the independent auditor’s assessment of the objectives of the internal
audit staff?

* Do the objectives allow the entity to maximize on the auditing services at a rea-
sonable cost?

Although audit committee members are not accounting and auditing experts,
they should challenge the objectives and request possible modifications, if neces-
sary. Subsequent to their review, the general auditing objectives should be recom-
mended to the board of directors in order to establish a formal auditing policy
statement. Once approved, the auditing policy will serve as a blueprint of the en-
tity’s audit processes.

Phase 2: Preaudit Planning Segment

The major role of the audit committee members is to review the corporate audit
plan. Since the audit policy has been established, their task is to ensure that the en-
tity’s auditing plan is consistent with the audit policy. Thus the planning process
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of the audit requires the support of the independent auditors, internal auditors, and
senior accounting executives. The audit committee essentially reviews the coordi-
nation of the plans and schedules from the preceding parties. The parties involved
in the planning process should work together to ensure that they are working to-
ward their goals as indicated in the policy statement.

For example, the audit plan of the independent auditors may include such mat-
ters as:

e Background information on the client, general information disclosed in the
early sections of the SEC form 10-K report (e.g., organization data, business
operations and products, audit risk assessment, etc.).

e The purpose and objectives of the audit and the nature, extent, and timing of
the audit work, information disclosed in the auditor’s engagement letter.

e Assignment and scheduling of audit personnel.

e Preaudit work to be performed by the client’s staff. Obviously, the independent
auditors will modify their plan, if necessary, during the course of their audit ex-
amination.

In view of the working relationship between the work of the independent au-
ditors and the internal auditors, the external auditors may take an active role in for-
mulating the audit plan of the internal auditing group. However, each group has its
own auditing goals and responsibilities. The internal auditors cannot assume the
role of the external auditors. For example, the internal auditors are concerned pri-
marily with the operational and compliance auditing functions, whereas the inde-
pendent auditors are concerned with the financial audit activities. According to the
Auditing Standards Board:

Even though the internal auditors’ work may affect the auditor’s procedures, the au-
ditor should perform procedures to obtain sufficient, competent, evidential matter to
support the auditor’s report. Evidence obtained through the auditor’s direct personal
knowledge, including physical examination, observation, computation, and inspec-
tion, is generally more persuasive than information obtained indirectly.

The responsibility to report on the financial statements rests solely with the auditor.
Unlike the situation in which the auditor uses the work of other independent auditors,
this responsibility cannot be shared with the internal auditors. Because the auditor
has the ultimate responsibility to express an opinion on the financial statements,
judgments about assessments of inherent and control risks, the materiality of mis-
statements, the sufficiency of tests performed, the evaluation of significant account-
ing estimates, and other matters affecting the auditor’s report should always be those
of the auditor.”

Moreover, the independent auditor must not only assess the competence and
objectivity of the internal auditors but also supervise and test their work if they

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 65, “The Auditor’s Consideration of the Internal Audit Function
in an Audit of Financial Statements” (New York: AICPA, 1991), pars. 18 and 19.



Developing an Integrated Planning Approach 227

provide direct assistance in performing the independent auditor’s work.® Thus
based on the independent auditor’s judgment, the internal auditing staff may offer
valuable assistance during the audit.

In order to appraise the corporate audit plan effectively, the audit committee
should give consideration to the following criteria’:

* The authority and responsibility for each segment of the corporate audit plan
should be clearly defined.

» The chief financial officer should acknowledge his or her general support for
the plan to avoid opposition during the course of the internal and external au-
diting engagements.

* The internal and external resources available for the audit function should be
adequate and properly allocated.

e The plan should be realistic against the conditions of the business and its in-
dustry.

e The plan should be realistic and consistent with the goals and objectives as ex-
pressed in the corporate audit policy statement.

* The scope of the audit plans should be defined and explicit to avoid any dupli-
cation of auditing effort.

e The general criteria used to identify areas subject to audit should be explicit
(e.g., What is the auditing firm’s policy on materiality?).

e The plan should incorporate any applicable resolutions as a result of the board
of directors’ and stockholders’ meetings as well as take into account related
matters of the other standing committees, such as the finance committee.

* The extent of auditing work should be reasonable in relationship to the quality
of the internal control system. Also, the time associated with each audit plan
should be reasonable in relation to the size and complexity of the entity’s op-
erations and organizational structure.

* An analysis of the costs and benefits of the auditing resources should be made
(e.g., What is the desirability of allocating more financial auditing work to the
internal audit staff and reducing the audit time of the independent auditors?).

Postaudit Segment

In the preceding discussion, the committee reviewed and appraised the audit plan-
ning activities of the auditors and corporate accounting management officers. Such
areview related to the initial planning segment of the auditing cycle. However, this
final step should be accomplished during the postaudit segment of the auditing
cycle whereby the audit directors should reassess the corporate audit plan. On the
basis of their reassessments, the directors should assure themselves that the audit-
ing policy and preaudit plans were effective in order to provide the assurances re-
quired by the board of directors.

8Ibid., par. 27.
°This list is not all-inclusive and is not intended to preclude the insertion of additional criteria.
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To provide such assurances to the board, these three general comments are ap-
plicable for related auditing and attestation standards (see Chapter 5):

1. The audit committee should inquire into the degree of cooperation received
from the entity’s personnel who are involved in the auditing process. Also, it
should be satisfied that the audit examination was conducted in an impartial
and objective manner.

2. Based on a review of the preaudit plan criteria, the committee should assess the
results of the audit and inquire into the reasons for any differences (e.g., Are
there any problems that preclude the independent auditors from complying
with the generally accepted auditing standards?). Such inquiries should be
made in relation to the independent auditor’s management letter, which dis-
closes their reportable conditions and recommendations for improving the en-
tity’s system of internal control. Also, the committee should review progress
reports or correspondence regarding the results of the audit (e.g., internal audit
reports and financial management correspondence).

3. The committee should inquire into additional matters such as:

a. The qualitative aspects of the manpower resources allocated to the auditing
function (e.g., the quality of the internal auditing group).

b. The entity’s policy and programs concerning general business practices
(e.g., corporate conduct, sensitive payments, management perquisites, and
conflicts of interest).

c. The financial reporting disclosure practices of the entity (e.g., accounting
policies and SEC disclosure requirements).

RECOMMENDING THE APPOINTMENT
OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

A Synopsis

Based on a review of the independent auditors’ report in the annual report, the ad-
dressee of their report is ordinarily the board of directors and the shareholders,
since the board approves the selection or reappointment and recommends the firm
to the shareholders. Selection or reappointment of the auditors is within the
province of the audit committee and is required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, as discussed in Chapter 2. For example, the Wal-Mart audit committee:

e Reviews financial reporting, policies, procedures, and internal controls of
Wal-Mart

¢ Recommends appointment of outside auditors
* Reviews related party transactions

e The Board has determined that the members are “independent” as defined by
the current listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange and

e The Board has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee'?

10Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Notice of 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders Proxy Statement, p. 4.



Recommending the Appointment of the Independent Auditors 229

Refer to the discussion in Appendix D on this book’s website regarding the Inde-
pendence Standards Board’s requirement that independent auditors issue an an-
nual independence confirmation. Thus the committee should address this question:
What criteria should be used in the selection and reappointment of the independent
auditors?

According to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the com-
mittee should give consideration to these five points!!:

1. Executive auditing personnel'> What has been the company’s past experi-
ence with the personnel assigned to the audit? Do they convey the impression
that they value the company as a client? Do they seem able to work compati-
bly, but efficiently and independently, with management and the audit com-
mittee? Do they demonstrate an understanding of the company’s business
problems? Do they anticipate problems and advise the company of new ac-
counting tax or SEC developments?
2. Quality of professional services Can the firm supply the professional ser-
vices the company needs? For example, does the firm have access to individu-
als skilled in matters affecting the company (i.e., industry and SEC specialists
or specialists in the problems of smaller companies), and are their skills made
available to the company? Does the firm have the capability to serve the com-
pany efficiently?
3. Firm’s policies What are the firm’s quality control policies, including its
training policies? What is the firm’s policy on rotation of the personnel as-
signed to the audit? On acceptance of clients? On recruitment of personnel? On
growth?!3
4. Audit fees Has the firm satisfactorily explained significant variances in ac-
tual fees from estimate? Have suggestions been made for management actions
that might reduce fees?
With respect to ways for reducing audit fees, management should:

a. Develop and maintain an accounting policies and procedures manual

b. Develop an internal auditing group if the costs and potential benefits war-
rant such a group

c. Ensure that significant and/or unusual transaction cycles are properly doc-
umented and approved

d. Discuss changes in the system of internal control with the independent au-
ditors prior to implementation to ensure cost-effectiveness

e. Follow up on the recommendations noted in the independent auditor’s man-
agement letter to correct deficiencies

" American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Audit Committees, Answers to Typical Questions
about Their Organization and Operations (New York: AICPA, 1978), p. 15. For more information on
the relationship between the independent auditors and boards of directors, see the related sections of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in Chapter 2 and at the end of this chapter.

12visit the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Code of Professional Conduct, at
www.aicpa.org.

BCindy H. Nance and William W. Holder, “Planning for the Audit: Logical Steps Towards Cost Con-
tainment.” Financial Executive 45 (May 1977), pp. 48—49.
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f. Discuss with the auditors significant accounting transactions and their im-
plications during the preaudit planning segment of the auditing cycle (e.g.,
the impact of new accounting and auditing pronouncements on the audit)

g. Request a summary of auditing schedules to be prepared by the client’s staff

h. Decide on the desirability of an audit coordinator in order to expedite the

audit process'

5. Nonaudit fees Independent auditing firms of the AICPA/SEC Practice Sec-
tion are required to report to the audit committee or to the board of directors
total fees received for management advisory services and a description of the
services rendered during the year.'” In addition, the National Commission on
Fraudulent Financial Reporting recommended that the audit committee “re-
view management’s plan to engage the independent public accountant to per-
form management advisory services during the coming year.”'® Such reporting
requirements give assurance to the audit committee and the full board of di-
rectors that the independence of the auditing firm is not compromised. These
requirements became law under Sections 201, 202, and 301 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

In summary, as Adolph G. Lurie pointed out:

Management should review the company’s operations and determine what services
it needs from an independent certified public accountant.

In addition to contemplating its needs, management should consider the cost of an
auditor’s services in relation to its requirements. . . . All things being equal, the low-
est fee may not obtain the type and quality of service needed to meet the particular
situation.!?

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 provides certain sections related to audit
planning for all engagements. These sections were presented in detail in Chapter
2; Exhibit 7.3 shows only the titles of each section for convenience. Therefore,
audit committee members should revisit Chapter 2 during their review and dis-
cussion of the agenda for the audit committee meetings. Of course, the audit com-
mittee members also should review the provisions of the SEC final rules and
SRO’s listing standards, where appropriate.

“The audit committee also may wish to consider other matters, such as the independent auditors’ pro-
fessional indemnity insurance and past and pending litigation.

1SAmerican Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Membership Requirement Regarding Commu-
nications with Audit Committees or Boards of Directors of SEC Clients. In the Division for CPA
Firms, SEC Practice Section Peer Review Manual: Update 3-B (New York: AICPA, 1987).

!*National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting, Report of the National Commission on
Fraudulent Financial Reporting (Washington, DC: National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Re-
porting, 1987), p. 44.

7Adolph G. Lurie, Working with the Public Accountant (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1977), pp. 15-16.
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Exhibit 7.3  Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002: Checklist Reminder of Key Sections for

Audit Committees

Sec

Sec

Sec

Sec

Sec

Sec.

Sec.

TITLE II—AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
Sec.
Sec.
Sec.
Sec.

. 205. Conforming amendments.
Sec.
Sec.
Sec.
Sec.

TITLE III—CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
Sec.
Sec.
Sec.

. 304. Forfeiture of certain bonuses and profits.
Sec.
Sec.
Sec.
Sec.

TITLE IV—ENHANCED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES
Sec.
Sec.
Sec.

. 404. Management assessment of internal controls.

. 405. Exemption.

Sec.
Sec.
Sec.
Sec.

TITLE VIII—CORPORATE AND CRIMINAL FRAUD ACCOUNTABILITY
Sec.
Sec.

. 803. Debts nondischargeable if incurred in violation of securities fraud laws.

Sec.

Sec.

201. Services outside the scope of practice of auditors.
202. Preapproval requirements.

203. Audit partner rotation.

204. Auditor reports to audit committees.

206. Conflicts of interest.

207. Study of mandatory rotation of registered public accounting firms.
208. Commission authority.

209. Considerations by appropriate State regulatory authorities.

301. Public company audit committees.
302. Corporate responsibility for financial reports.
303. Improper influence on conduct of audits.

305. Officer and director bars and penalties.

306. Insider trades during pension fund blackout periods.
307. Rules of professional responsibility for attorneys.
308. Fair funds for investors.

401. Disclosures in periodic reports.
402. Enhanced conflict of interest provisions.
403. Disclosures of transactions involving management and principal stockholders.

406. Code of ethics for senior financial officers.

407. Disclosure of audit committee financial expert.
408. Enhanced review of periodic disclosures by issuers.
409. Real time issuer disclosures.

801. Short title.
802. Criminal penalties for altering documents.

804. Statute of limitations for securities fraud.

805. Review of Federal Sentencing Guidelines for obstruction of justice and
extensive criminal fraud.

806. Protection for employees of publicly traded companies who provide evidence
of fraud.

807. Criminal penalties for defrauding shareholders of publicly traded companies.

231

TITLE IX—WHITE-COLLAR CRIME PENALTY ENHANCEMENTS
Sec. 901. Short title.
Sec. 902. Attempts and conspiracies to commit criminal fraud offenses.
Sec. 903. Criminal penalties for mail and wire fraud.

Security Act of 1974.

Sec. 906. Corporate responsibility for financial reports.

excludes Section 1, Titles I, V, VI, VII, X, and XI, and Sections 2 and 3.

Sec. 904. Criminal penalties for violations of the Employee Retirement Income

Sec. 905. Amendment to sentencing guidelines relation to certain white-collar offenses.

Source: Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, H.R. Rep. 107-610 (2002). The material contained in this text
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Chapter 8

Monitoring the System
of Internal Control

In view of legislative action—for example, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, the Securities and Exchange Commission final rules, and private sector ini-
tiatives of the self-regulatory organizations—the board of directors will rely in-
creasingly on the audit committee for assurance that management is complying
with the internal accounting control provisions of the act, and the New York Stock
Exchange listing standards. To assist the committee with its task, this chapter ex-
amines the meaning of internal control, the recent developments regarding the re-
sponsibilities for such controls, and the role of the audit committee.

MEANING OF INTERNAL CONTROL
Definition and Basic Concepts

In October 1987, the National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting
concluded:

An element within the company of overriding importance in preventing fraudulent fi-
nancial reporting is the tone set by top management that influences the corporate en-
vironment within which financial reporting occurs. To set the right tone, top
management must identify and assess the factors that could lead to fraudulent finan-
cial reporting; all public companies should maintain internal controls that provide
reasonable assurance that fraudulent financial reporting will be prevented or subject
to early detection—this is a broader concept than internal accounting controls—and
all public companies should develop and enforce effective, written codes of corpo-
rate conduct. As a part of its ongoing assessment of the effectiveness of internal con-
trols, a company’s audit committee should annually review the program that
management establishes to monitor compliance with the code. The Commission also
recommends that its sponsoring organizations cooperate in developing additional, in-
tegrated guidance on internal controls.!

'National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting, Report of the National Commission on
Fraudulent Financial Reporting (Washington, DC: NCFFR, 1987), p. 11.
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Such recommendations reaffirm the congressional legislation dealing with the in-
ternal accounting control provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which is
designed to reduce the incidence of fraudulent financial reporting.

In April 1988, the Auditing Standards Board of the AICPA published its defi-
nition of internal control structure:

An entity’s internal control structure consists of the policies and procedures estab-
lished to provide reasonable assurance that specific entity objectives will be
achieved. Although the internal control structure may include a wide variety of
objectives and related policies and procedures, only some of these may be relevant
to an audit of the entity’s financial statements. Generally, the policies and procedures
that are relevant to an audit pertain to the entity’s ability to record, process, summa-
rize, and report financial data consistent with the assertions embodied in the finan-
cial statements. Other policies and procedures, however, may be relevant if they
pertain to data the auditor uses to apply auditing procedures. For example, policies
and procedures pertaining to nonfinancial data that the auditor uses in analytical pro-
cedures, such as production statistics, may be relevant in an audit.?

Furthermore, the Auditing Standards Board stated that an entity’s internal con-
trol structure consists of these elements:

¢ The control environment
e The accounting system

 Control procedures?

The Board defined these three elements in this way:

Control environment The collective effect of various factors on establishing, en-
hancing, or mitigating the effectiveness of specific policies and procedures. Such
factors include (1) management philosophy and operating style, (2) organizational
structure, (3) the function of the board of directors and its committees, (4) methods
of assigning authority and responsibility, (5) management control methods, (6) the
internal audit function, (7) personnel policies and practices, and (8) external influ-
ences concerning the entity.

Accounting system The methods and records established to identify, assemble, an-
alyze, classify, record, and report an entity’s transactions and to maintain account-
ability for the related assets and liabilities.

Control procedures The policies and procedures in addition to the control envi-
ronment and accounting system that management has established to provide reason-
able assurance that specific entity objectives will be achieved.*

2Statement on Auditing Standards No. 55, “Consideration of the Internal Control Structure in a Finan-
cial Statement Audit” (New York: AICPA, 1988), par. 6.

3Ibid., par. 8.

“Ibid., par. 67.
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In September 1992, the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of
the Treadway Commission issued its final report, Internal Control-Integrated
Framework. COSO defines and describes internal control as functioning to:

1. Establish a common definition serving the needs of different parties.

2. Provide a standard against which business and other entities—large or small,
in the public or private sector, for profit or not—can assess their control sys-
tems and determine how to improve them.

Internal control is broadly defined as a process, effected by an entity’s board
of directors, management and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the following categories:

Effectiveness and efficiency of operations
Reliability of financial reporting

Compliance with applicable laws and regulations’

An executive summary of COSQO’s four-volume report is presented in Appendix I
on this book’s website, which contains the five interrelated components of inter-
nal control.

In June 1994, COSO published an addendum, which stated in part: The new
addendum “encourages managements that report to external parties on controls
over financial reporting to also cover controls over safeguarding of assets against
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition.” Those controls, according to the ad-
dendum, should be “designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding preven-
tion or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the
entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.”®

COSO provided the illustrative report shown in Exhibit 8.1.

As discussed in Appendix F on this book’s website, the Federal Deposit Insur-
ance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 requires that management and the in-
dependent auditors report on the internal control structure over financial reporting
and compliance with specified laws and regulations. In response, the Auditing
Standards Board has issued two Statements on Standards for Attestation Engage-
ments: SSAE No. 2, “Reporting on an Entity’s Internal Control Structure over
Financial Reporting,” and SSAE No. 3, “Compliance Attestation.” More specifi-
cally, SSAE No. 2 deals with the independent auditor’s report on management’s

SCommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, Internal Control-Integrated
Framework (New York: AICPA, 1992), p. 1. For additional reading, see Statement on Auditing Stan-
dards No. 78, “Consideration of Internal Control in a Financial Statement Audit: An Amendment to
SAS No. 55” (New York: AICPA, 1995) and copies of the four-volume COSO report, which may be
obtained from the AICPA. Also see Thomas P. Kelley, “The COSO Report: Challenge and Counter-
challenge,” Journal of Accountancy 175, No. 2 (February 1993), pp. 10-18. For a good discussion on
internal control, see Wanda A. Wallace, Handbook of Internal Accounting Controls, 2nd ed. (Engle-
wood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1991); and Michael W. Maher, David W. Wright, and William R. Kin-
ney, Jr., “Assertions-Based Standards for Integrated Internal Control,” Accounting Horizons 4, No. 4
(December 1990), pp. 1-8.

®Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, Addendum to “Reporting to
External Parties” (New York: AICPA, 1994), p. 1.
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Exhibit 8.1 Illustrative Report: Reporting to External Parties

XYZ Company maintains a system of internal control over financial reporting and® over
safeguarding of assets against unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition which is de-
signed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and board of direc-
tors regarding the preparation of reliable published financial statements and such asset
safeguarding. The system contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to
correct deficiencies as they are identified. Even an effective internal control system, no mat-
ter how well designed, has inherent limitations—including the possibility of the circum-
vention or overriding of controls—and therefore can provide only reasonable assurance
with respect to financial statement preparation and such asset safeguarding. Further, be-
cause of changes in conditions, internal control system effectiveness may vary over time.

The Company assessed its internal control system as of December 31, 20XX in relation to
criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in “Internal Con-
trol—Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, the Company believes that, as of De-
cember 31, 20XX, its system of internal control over financial reporting and* over safe-
guarding of assets against unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition met those criteria.

Source: Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, Addendum to
“Reporting to External Parties” (New York: AICPA, 1994), p. 7. Copyright (c) 1994 by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. Reprinted with permission.

“In circumstances where all controls over safeguarding of assets against unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition fall within the category of controls over financial reporting, “and” may be changed
to “including.”

assertion regarding the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control structure.
When management presents its assertion in a separate report that will accompany
the independent auditor’s report, the form of report is as shown in Exhibit 8.2.

With respect to SSAE No. 3 and management’s assertion in a separate report
that will accompany the independent auditor’s report, the form of the report is
illustrated in Exhibit 8.3.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL
Management Certification

As described in Chapter 2, Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
the SEC’s final rule requires a registrant’s chief executive officer (CEO) and chief
financial officer (CFO) to certify each quarterly and annual report. Moreover, the
SEC rule requires registrants to maintain disclosure controls and procedures and
assess their effectiveness; included are internal controls over financial reporting
and compliance controls to ensure adherence to SEC disclosure requirements.’

"This CEO and CFO certification is in addition to the certification required under Section 906(a) of
the Act. This criminal provision requires that the CEO and CFO certification accompany each periodic
report that includes financial statements.
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Exhibit 8.2 Independent Accountant’s Report, SSAE No. 2

[Introductory paragraph]

‘We have examined management’s assertion [identify management’s assertion, for example,
that W Company maintained an effective internal control over financial reporting as of De-
cember 31, 20XX] included in the accompanying [title of management report].

[Scope paragraph]

Our examination was made in accordance with standards established by the American In-
stitute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included obtaining an under-
standing of the internal control over financial reporting, testing, and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of the internal control and such other procedures as we con-
sidered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a rea-
sonable basis for our opinion.

[Inherent limitations paragraph)

Because of inherent limitations in any internal control, misstatements due to error or fraud
may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal control
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal control
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

[Opinion paragraph]

In our opinion, management’s assertion [identify management’s assertion, for example,
that W Company maintained an effective internal control over financial reporting as of De-
cember 31, 20XX] is fairly stated, in all material respects, based upon [identify stated or es-
tablished criteria]

Source: Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 2, “Reporting on an Entity’s
Internal Control Structure Over Financial Reporting” (New York: AICPA, 1993), par. 51. See also
Professional Standards, U.S. Auditing Standards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1, AT Sec. 400.46. For
further reference, see Joseph Takacs, “Attestation Engagements on Internal Control Structure over
Financial Reporting,” CPA Journal 63, No. 8 (August 1993), pp. 48-53. This standard has been
recodified as Section 501 of SSAE No. 10.

Internal Control Reporting

As noted in Chapter 2, Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires the
SEC to issue rules requiring annual reports to contain an assessment of the effec-
tiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Additionally, Section 404(b)
of the act requires the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board to issue stan-
dards for independent auditors to attest to management’s report on internal control.
Recognizing that the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of
1991 requires managements of many insured depository institutions to report on
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as well as the inde-
pendent auditors’ report on management’s assertions, the forthcoming standards
are more likely to reflect the current auditing standards, which are consistent with
the COSO report.
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Exhibit 8.3 Independent Accountant’s Report, SSAE No. 3

[Introductory paragraph]

We have examined management’s assertion about [name of entity]’s compliance with [/is?
specific compliance requirements] during the [period] ended [date] included in the ac-
companying [fitle of management report]. Management is responsible for [name of en-
tity]’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assertion about the entity’s compliance based on our examination.

[Scope paragraph]

Our examination was made in accordance with standards established by the American In-
stitute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test
basis, evidence about [name of entity]’s compliance with those requirements and perform-
ing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does not pro-
vide a legal determination on [name of entity]’s compliance with specified requirements.

[Opinion paragraph]

In our opinion, management’s assertion [identify management’s assertion—for example,
that Z Company complied with the aforementioned requirements for the year ended De-
cember 31, 20X1] is fairly stated in all material respects.

Source: Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 3, “Compliance Attestation” (New
York: AICPA, 1993), par. 55. It should be observed that few, if any, companies to date have made
such management assertions along with the independent auditors’ report thereon. This standard has
been recodified as Section 601 of SSAE No. 10.

In June 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission adopted a final rule,
“Management Reports on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Certifi-
cation of Disclosure in Exchange Act Period Reports,” which requires registrants,
other than registered investment companies, to include in their annual reports a re-
port by management on the company’s internal control over financial reporting.
More specifically, the internal control report must include:

* A statement of management’s responsibility for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting for the company

e Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of the end of the company’s most recent fiscal year

e A statement identifying the framework used by management to evaluate the ef-
fectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting

e A statement that the registered public accounting firm that audited the com-
pany’s financial statements included in the annual report has issued an attesta-
tion report on management’s assessment of the company’s internal control
over financial reporting®

8Securities and Exchange Commission, Release No. 33-8238 (Washington, DC: SEC, June 5, 2003),
www.sec.gov/rules/final/33-8238.htm, p. 1.
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Additionally, management is required to evaluate any material change in the
company’s internal control during a fiscal quarter, including certifications to cer-
tain periodic reports.’

The Independent Auditors

According to one former executive audit partner, “the independent auditor’s ex-
ternal review is an indispensable supplement to a corporate system of internal
controls, but it is no substitute for it.”'° As indicated in Chapter 5, the independent
auditors are required to study and evaluate the system of internal control. The
study and evaluation is performed during their interim-period work, ordinarily a
predetermined period prior to the date of the financial statements.

The independent auditors’ major objective is to determine whether the internal
control is adequate so that the financial accounting transactions are recorded prop-
erly and presented fairly in the financial statements. Furthermore, they must evalu-
ate the controls in order to determine not only how much reliance can be placed on
such controls but also the extensiveness of their auditing procedures. Obviously, if
the internal control structure is weak, then the assessment of control risk is high;
thus the auditors must extend their auditing procedures to minimize the risk of er-
rors in the financial statements and limit the level of detection risk. During the audit
engagement, the auditors test the accounting system through verification tests. For
example, tests of controls consist of the auditors’ selection of several transactions
whereby such transactions are traced through the accounting system. Such tests
allow the auditors to determine the degree of reliance they can place on the inter-
nal control structure. However, the auditors’ examination of the cancelled checks in
connection with the bank reconciliation and the examination of the vendors’ in-
voices in support of account balances are substantive tests of transactions.

Since the auditors are required to communicate to senior management and the
board of directors or its audit committee reportable conditions in internal control,
the following form of report is recommended.'!

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the ABC Corpo-
ration for the year ended December 31, 19XX, we considered its internal control in
order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion
on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control. How-
ever, we noted certain matters involving the internal control and its operation that we
consider to be reportable conditions under standards established by the American

°Ibid., p. 1. For additional information, visit the web site and note the SEC’s particular rule that states: “au-
ditors may assist management in documenting internal controls. When the auditor is engaged to assist
management in documenting internal controls, management must be actively involved in the process.”
The audit committee may wish to have discussions with the internal chief audit executive regarding the
extent to which the independent auditors participate in documenting internal controls over financial re-
porting in the context of auditor independence and management’s assertion about internal controls.
10John C. Biegler, “Rebuilding Public Trust in Business,” Financial Executive 45 (June 1977), p. 30.
UStatement on Auditing Standards No. 60, “Communication of Internal Control Related Matters
Noted in an Audit” (New York: AICPA, 1988), pars. 2 and 12. See also Professional Standards, U.S.
Auditing Standards/Attestation Standards, Vol. 1, AU Sec. 325.02 and 325.12. A reportable condition
may be of such magnitude as to be considered a material weakness in internal control.



242 Monitoring the System of Internal Control

Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Reportable conditions involve matters com-
ing to our attention relating to significant deficiencies in the design or operation of the
internal control that, in our judgment, could adversely affect the organization’s abil-
ity to record, process, summarize, and report financial data consistent with the asser-
tions of management in the financial statements.

(Include paragraphs to describe the reportable conditions noted.)

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the audit committee
(board of directors, board of trustees, or owners in owner-managed enterprises),
management, and others within the organization (or specified regulatory agency or
other specified third party).'?

Although the independent auditors may communicate improvements for the
system of internal control, they cannot opine on the company’s compliance with
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, because that is a legal matter. In short, although
the independent auditors cannot express a legal opinion on the entity’s compliance
with the act, management should give strong consideration to their recommenda-
tions in order to indicate its intent to comply with the law.

The Auditing Standards Board’s position in the compliance attestation stan-
dard, specifically states:

A report issued in accordance with the provisions of this Statement does not provide
a legal determination on an entity’s compliance with specified requirements. How-
ever, such a report may be useful to management, legal counsel, or third parties in
making such determinations.!?

Another important element of the internal control environment is the internal
audit function. As discussed in Chapter 2, the internal auditing group plays a sig-
nificant part in establishing and maintaining the internal control structure. Although
its members are engaged principally in compliance and operational auditing, which
deals with the efficiency of the various operating units, they make an important con-
tribution to the financial audit engagements. The independent auditors’ considera-
tion and use of the work of internal auditors is discussed in Chapter 9.

THE ROLE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
General Considerations

According to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-
mission, everyone in an organization has responsibility for internal control. Their
roles and responsibilities are characterized in this way:

*  Management—The chief executive officer is ultimately responsible and should
assume “‘ownership” of the system. More than any other individual, the chief ex-

12The audit committee may wish to discuss the independent auditor’s findings and conclusions with
respect to their assessment of internal accounting controls at service organizations. See Chapter 5 for
the applicable auditing standards. The committee also may wish to consult the AICPA’s auditing guide
and auditing procedures study, which deals with internal control.

3Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 3, par. 3.
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ecutive sets the “tone at the top” that affects integrity and ethics and other factors
of a positive control environment. In a large company, the chief executive fulfills
this duty by providing leadership and direction to senior managers and reviewing
the way they’re controlling the business. Senior managers, in turn, assign re-
sponsibility for establishment of more specific internal control policies and pro-
cedures to personnel responsible for the unit’s functions. In a smaller entity, the
influence of the chief executive, often an owner-manager, is usually more direct.
In any event, in a cascading responsibility, a manager is effectively a chief exec-
utive of his or her sphere of responsibility. Of particular significance are financial
officers and their staffs, whose control activities cut across, as well as up and
down, the operating and other units of an enterprise.

e Board of Directors—Management is accountable to the board of directors, which
provides governance, guidance and oversight. Effective board members are ob-
jective, capable and inquisitive. They also have a knowledge of the entity’s ac-
tivities and environment, and commit the time necessary to fulfill their board
responsibilities. Management may be in a position to override controls and ignore
or stifle communications from subordinates, enabling a dishonest management
which intentionally misrepresents results to cover its tracks. A strong, active
board, particularly when coupled with effective upward communications chan-
nels and capable financial, legal and internal audit functions, is often best able to
identify and correct such a problem.

e Internal Auditors—Internal auditors play an important role in evaluating the ef-
fectiveness of control systems, and contribute to ongoing effectiveness. Because
of organizational position and authority in an entity, an internal audit function
often plays a significant monitoring role.

e Other Personnel—Internal control is, to some degree, the responsibility of every-
one in an organization and therefore should be an explicit or implicit part of
everyone’s job description. Virtually all employees produce information used in
the internal control system or take other actions needed to effect control. Also, all
personnel should be responsible for communicating upward problems in opera-
tions, noncompliance with the code of conduct, or other policy violations or ille-
gal actions. !4

A number of external parties often contribute to achievement of an entity’s ob-
jectives. External auditors, bringing an independent and objective view, contribute
directly through the financial statement audit and indirectly by providing infor-
mation useful to management and the board in carrying out their responsibilities.
Others providing information to the entity useful in effecting internal control are
legislators and regulators, customers and others transacting business with the en-
terprise, financial analysts, bond raters, and the news media. External parties,
however, are not responsible for, nor are they a part of, the entity’s internal control
system.

Moreover, the Auditing Standards Board has issued Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 60, “C